
 

 
Mark Williams, Chief Executive 

Agenda for Strategic Planning Committee 
Tuesday, 27th April, 2021, 2.00 pm 
 
Members of Strategic Planning Committee 
 
Councillors  D Ledger (Chair), O Davey (Vice-Chair), 

P Arnott, M Allen, J Bailey, K Blakey, 
S Chamberlain, P Hayward, M Howe, 
B Ingham, A Moulding, G Pratt, E Rylance, 
P Skinner and I Thomas 

 

Venue: Online via the zoom app 

 
Contact: Wendy Harris 01395 517542; email 

wharris@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 
Issued: Monday, 19 April 2021 
 
Important - this meeting will be conducted online and recorded by Zoom only. 

Please do not attend Blackdown House.  

Members are asked to follow the Protocol for Remote Meetings  
 
This meeting is being recorded by EDDC for subsequent publication on the Council’s 
website and will be streamed live to the Council’s Youtube Channel at 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw 
 
Public speakers are now required to register to speak – for more information please use 
the following link: https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-
meetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content  
  
1 Public speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online 
 

2 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 9) 

3 Apologies   

4 Declarations of interest   

 Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making 
declarations of interest 
 

5 Matters of urgency   

 Information on matters of urgency is available online 
 

6 Confidential/exempt item(s)   

East Devon District Council 

Blackdown House 

Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 

Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/protocol-for-virtual-meetings
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillor-conduct/councillor-reminder-for-declaring-interests/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/matters-of-urgency/


 To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the Press) have 
been excluded. There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt 
with in this way. 
 

7 Initial feedback report - Local Plan issues and options consultation  (Pages 10 - 
64) 

 This report sets out initial feedback on responses received to the local plan 
issues and options report consultation that closed on the 15 March 2021. 
 

8 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Consultation feedback report  (Pages 65 - 132) 

 This report provides information on feedback received to the consultation on the 
local plan sustainability appraisal scoping report. 
 

9 Scoping and vision report for the new Local Plan  (Pages 133 - 168) 

 This reports sets out the issues associated with setting a scope for the new local 
plan having considered the views of respondents to the issues and options 
consultation which are summarised in an appendix to this report. 
 

10 Local Plan engagement with site promoters through the Local Plan process  
(Pages 169 - 172) 

 This report seeks Members views on how site promotors are engaged through 
the plan production process. 
 

11 Call for Evidence: permitted development rights  (Pages 173 - 178) 

 This report details a response to the Government’s Call for Evidence in relation 
to permitted Development Rights outlining the Councils response to a new 
Government Inquiry and advising of issues and matters for the Inquiry to 
consider. 
 

12 Clyst Valley Regional Park masterplan  (Pages 179 - 274) 

 
 
 
Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of Strategic Planning Committee held at Online via 

the zoom app on 30 March 2021 

 
Attendance list at end of document 
The meeting started at 2.02 pm and ended at 4.15 pm.  The meeting was adjourned at 3.30 pm 
and reconvened at 3.35 pm. 
 
 
114    Public speaking  

 
There were no members of the public that wished to speak. 
 

115    Minutes of the previous meeting  

 
The minutes of the Strategic Planning Committee meeting held on 23 February 2021 
were confirmed as a true record. 
 

116    Declarations of interest  

 
Minute 120. Urban Capacity Study. 
Councillor Eleanor Rylance, Personal, Broadclyst Parish Councillor. 
 
Minute 120. Urban Capacity Study. 
Councillor Olly Davey, Personal, Exmouth Town Councillor. 
 
Minute 120. Urban Capacity Study. 
Councillor Paul Arnott, Personal, Colyton Parish Councillor. 
 

117    Matters of urgency  

 
There were no matters of urgency. 
 

118    Confidential/exempt item(s)  

 
There were no confidential/exempt items. 
 

119    East Devon Local Plan - Committee Work Programme for 2021  

 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management presented the 
report which provided a proposed work plan for the coming year.  He updated Members 
on the local plan summarising that Officers were currently going through and analysing 
around 650 responses received from the issues and options consultation that ended on 
15 March 2021 and advised a detailed report highlighting the key issues would be 
brought to the next meeting in April, with a view to bringing a draft local plan to Strategic 
Planning Committee at the end of the year for Members to scrutinize before the start of 
the consultation in the Spring next year. 
 
Members’ views were sought on the draft timetable on page 14 of the report that 
summarised the proposed committee dates that Members would discuss and feedback 
on key papers. 
 

page 3

Agenda Item 2



Strategic Planning Committee 30 March 2021 
 

The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management outlined Section 4 
of the report and encouraged Member discussion on the importance of establishing a 
local plan strategy at an early stage of plan making and drew Members attention to some 
key challenges detailed in Section 5 highlighting the importance of keeping to the work 
programme so that Members receive a draft local plan in December. 
 
Comments made by Non-Committee Members included: 

 Clarification sought on the membership of the external panel detailed on page 22.  
The Service Lead – Planning and Development Management advised the HELAA 
Panel was only an advisory panel made up of Members and professional advisors 
and developers to provide technical advice on viability and deliverability of 
development sites. 

 Concerns raised about the lack of climate change evidence and the need to build 
more energy efficiency homes.  Comment made about when was the Government 
going to stipulate that housing must be energy efficient. 

 Comment made about the possibility of a reduction in demand for employment 
sites due to the impact of homeworking.  The Service Lead – Planning 
Development Management concurred but highlighted it was difficult to look at the 
impacts due to the current lockdown rules and current uncertainties. 

 Comment made whether this was an opportunity to revive town centres by having 
more office space in empty buildings with the opportunity of accommodation.  The 
Service Lead – Planning and Development Management advised these questions 
were asked in the issues and options consultation which would be fed back to 
Members at the next meeting. 

 
Comments made by Committee Members included: 

 Strong concerns expressed about climate change and the need for it to be placed 
centrally within the planning system. 

 The need to build houses that are by design well insulated, cheap to heat and dry 
and warm. 

 The need to incorporate homeworking into the design planning. 

 The need to keep people close to their communities. 

 Clarification sought on the joint strategy work.  The Service Lead – Planning 
Strategy and Development Management advised that since all the relevant 
councils had formally agreed to do a non-statutory strategic plan for the Greater 
Exeter area this council had been working on a timetable for the production of the 
plan and looking at resourcing of external consultants to undertake a lot of the 
work.  He advised a report would be brought to Strategic Planning Committee in 
June to seek Members views. 

 Clarification sought on the Duty to Co-operate.  The Service Lead – Planning 
Strategy and Development Management commented that as well as having a duty 
to co-operate with our partner authorities there was also a duty to co-operate with 
Dorset, South Somerset, Natural England and the Environment Agency among 
others.   

 Clarification sought on whether the Climate Action Officer, when in place, would 
have a role within the work plan.  The Service Lead – Planning Development 
Management advised he was keen to work with the Climate Action Officer 

 Clarification sought about the impact of the timescale if the Cranbrook Plan DPD 
was found to be unsound.  The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and 
Development Management advised he was confident it would be found sound but 
if not there were various scenarios that could be addressed and incorporated into 
the local plan. 

page 4



Strategic Planning Committee 30 March 2021 
 

 A suggestion was made to report to Full Council half yearly to endorse the 
progress.  The Service Lead – Planning Development Management advised 
interim reports could be brought to Full Council if Members wished but highlighted 
this would result in additional work that could delay the progress across the year. 

 
RESOLVED: 

1. That the Committee endorse the proposed programme for committee 
consideration of local plan reports through 2021 and into 2022. 

2. That the Committee agree to work towards an early draft local plan for 
committee consideration in December 2021 

 
120    Urban Capacity Study  

 
The Committee considered the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development 
Management’s report on the Urban Capacity Study which sought Members’ agreement 
to publish work undertaken on the production of a study assessing the potential housing 
capacity within the urban areas of the larger towns in East Devon. 
 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management highlighted the 
joint methodology appended to the report which helped to understand what capacity East 
Devon had to meet the housing needs from within the existing built up areas. 
 
The report outlined the high level assessment and breakdown of the key towns and 
Members noted that there was a potential maximum supply of 766 homes which was 
significantly less than one year’s housing supply. 
 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management sought Members 
guidance on whether to adopt a proactive approach to the delivery of the 766 homes or 
his preferred approach to note that those sites exist with a chance that a number of them 
would come forward as windfall sites.  He raised concerns that the proactive approach 
was likely to be time and highly resource intensive which could have a potential impact 
on the local plan production. 
 
Comments made by Non-Committee Members included: 

 Comment made about a report about how much surplus house building there had 
been in Devon which would help to reach the minimum requirement within one 
year.  The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management 
highlighted that supply ebbs and flows over time and a small surplus one year can 
help to minimise the impacts of underprovision in others.  He also commented that 
if those sites do not come forward the council could be in a position of not being 
able to maintain an adequate supply and not meeting the Government’s 
requirement which is not a position the council wants to be in. 

 

Comments made by Committee Members included: 

 An effort should be made to contact landowners and invite them to bring their 
properties forward for consideration. 

 A comment was made about the amount of commercial properties that might 
become available due to post Covid-19. 

 Clarification sought on what type of dwelling is a notional dwelling.  The Service 
Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management advised that the 
number of homes each site could accommodate was based on an Officer 
assessment taking into account the surrounding area such as  access roads, 
parking, garden spaces 

page 5



Strategic Planning Committee 30 March 2021 
 

 Public perception that there is infill happening all over the district. 

 Clarification sought on historical data of infill sites.  The Service Lead – Planning 
Strategy and Development Management did not have the information to hand but 
directed Members to the annual housing monitoring reports.  

 Joined up and ambitious thinking is needed to achieve the best results from the 
Government’s levelling up fund. 

 Cranbrook cannot be considered as it does not have a defined town boundary. 

 The need to dedicate some Officer time to work on the bigger schemes to actively 
encourage development in towns and work with the towns and the other built up 
area boundaries to bring forward good quality schemes.   

 We do not need to have every single site that you have identified at this stage in 
the local plan we just need to agree in principle that when urban sites come 
forward we make the best possible use of the land. 

 Suggestion made to revisit this again when we discuss the town centres and built 
up area boundaries to encourage the development of higher density.  In response 
the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management advised it 
could be done through policy to encourage the reuse of vacant land within towns 
to promote higher density and through the plan process gather sufficient evidence 
through sites being put forward to allocate some of these sites. 

 
The following amendment to the motion was proposed by Councillor Eleanor Rylance 
and seconded by Councillor Olly Davey. 
 
That Strategic Planning Committee note the work in relation to the Urban Capacity Study 
summary of findings report and related appendices and endorse its use as evidence to 
support production of the new Local Plan with a caveat that we explore higher densities 
in towns. 
 
A further amendment was proposed by Councillor Kevin Blakey and agreed by Councillor 
Eleanor Rylance and Councillor Olly Davey 
 
That Members note the limited capacity available within the existing built up area 
boundaries of the main towns and the potential need to find land outside of these areas 
to meet the future development needs of the district when the identified areas within the 
towns are exhausted. 
 
RESOLVED: 

1. That the Committee notes the work in relation to the Urban Capacity Study 
summary of findings report and related appendices and endorses its use as 
evidence to support production of the new Local Plan with a caveat that we 
explore higher densities in towns. 

2. That Members note the limited capacity available within the existing built up 
area boundaries of the main towns and the potential need to find land 
outside of these areas to meet the future development needs of the district 
when the identified areas within the towns are exhausted. 

 
121    The Future of New Homes Bonus Consultation  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Service Lead – Planning Strategy and 
Development Management on the future of new homes bonus consultation which was 
critical to the financial position of the Council. 
 

page 6



Strategic Planning Committee 30 March 2021 
 

The report outlined the financial implications of reaching the peak of £4.5m funding 
through the new homes bonus in the 2017/18 financial year and receiving approximately 
£2.5m in the 2021/22 financial year. 
 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management gave a broad 
overview of the options being pursued through the consultation and the responses 
received.  
 
Comments made by Committee Members included: 

 Slight concern raised about the planning framework being governed by people 
who do not really understand how local authorities deliver houses. 

 The need for Government support to enable councils to be more incentivized to 
deliver more social housing. 

 Would like to see the delivery of houses that people could actually afford to live in 
on local wages. 

 The need to focus on delivering more social housing that is affordable. 

 Good set of predictable questions. 
 
RESOLVED: 
That Members consider the government consultation on the Future of New Homes 
Bonus. 
 
RECOMMENDED to Cabinet: 
That the proposed responses to the consultation questions form the Council’s 
formal response to be submitted to the government be agreed. 
 

122    National Planning Policy Framework and National Model Design 

Code Consultation  

 
The report presented to the Committee provided details of a current government 
consultation on changes to the National Planning Policy Framework and a new National 
Model Design Code which provided a framework for the production of design codes. 
 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management summarised the 
key issues in the proposed amendments to the Framework which included flood risk and 
climate change and how to make the planning system work in support of better design 
and style in towns and villages. 
 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management drew Members 
attention to the National Model Design Code which was helpful guidance when 
considering aspects of design and beauty. 
 
Comments made by Committee Members included: 

 The need to consider climate change.  It is more important to consider how warm 
and dry the house is rather than it looking pretty.  We should not be able to 
produce houses that are not designed with climate change in mind. 

 Beauty is in the eye of the beholder.   

 Clarification sought on who decides what is beautiful and what is ugly and if a 
building is considered ugly would this become a valid reason for objecting to a 
planning application.  The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development 
Management advised design was very subjective and said design was already a 
key consideration of any planning applications.  In general people appreciate 
something that is well designed irrespective of their particular taste. 

page 7



Strategic Planning Committee 30 March 2021 
 

 The need to look at good design as inspiring. 
 
RESOLVED: 
That Members consider the proposed changes to the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the proposed National Model Design Code and agree the proposed 
responses to the consultation for submission on behalf of the Council. 
 

123    East Devon District Design Guide  

 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management presented a 
report on the East Devon District Design Guide addressing the reasons for the delay and 
summarising the progress made on the production of the Guide. 
 
The Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management asked Members 
to consider a number of key options about how design guides and design coding should 
be taken forward in the district.   
 
These options were: 

 District Design Guide and Checklists 
 District Design Codes 
 Site Specific Design Codes 
 No Design Codes 

 
Members noted that a further report would be brought to Strategic Planning Committee in 
early 2022 to consider the need for and scope of the work. 
 
Points raised by Committee Members during discussion included: 

 Disappointment was expressed about the lack of a design guide template when 
involved with the Axminster Neighbourhood Plan.  The Service Lead – Planning 
Strategy and Development Management said he understood the desire to have a 
design guide but advised there was no requirement to have it as part of a 
neighbourhood plan. 

 A preference was shown to opt for the Site Specific Design Code as each town 
and village in East Devon had an enormous variety of existing buildings that were 
made from all sorts of materials. 

 Concentrating on strategic developments as a district council is absolutely the 
right way to go and local circumstances should be taken into account. 

 It is important to be clear on what the scope of a design code is in the guide. 

 Fully in agreement that where large developments are proposed there is a design 
code that takes some account of the local housing. 

 Fully support neighbourhood plans but concerns were raised about replicating the 
design codes of the past.  Modern designs should not be ignored. 

 
 
RESOLVED: 

1. That Members consider the current position with the proposed East Devon 
Design Guide and the national design guidance and agree that work ceases 
on the Design Guide. 

2. That Members agree that Officers focus on undertaking design coding for 
the main site allocations emerging from the new Local Plan and note that 
this would need to be done through supplementary planning documents 
post adoption of the Local Plan. 

page 8



Strategic Planning Committee 30 March 2021 
 

3. That a further report be brought to Committee in early 2022 to consider the 
need for and scope of design coding needed alongside the draft local plan, 
options for undertaking this work and the likely resource implications. 

 
 
 

Attendance List 

Councillors present: 
D Ledger (Chair) 
O Davey (Vice-Chair) 
P Arnott 
K Blakey 
P Hayward 
M Howe 
B Ingham 
A Moulding 
E Rylance 
I Thomas 
 
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting) 
S Bond 
P Faithfull 
S Jackson 
G Jung 
M Rixson 
E Wragg 
 
Officers in attendance: 
Ed Freeman, Service Lead Planning Strategy and Development Management 
Shirley Shaw, Planning Barrister 
Wendy Harris, Democratic Services Officer 
Debbie Meakin, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Councillor apologies: 
J Bailey 
S Chamberlain 
P Skinner 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman   Date:  

 

page 9



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 27 April 2021 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Initial feedback report – Local plan issues and options consultation 

Report summary: 

This report sets out initial feedback on responses received to the local plan issues and options 
report consultation that closed on the 15 March 2021. 

 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

 

Recommendation: 

That Strategic Planning Committee note the initial feedback received in consultation responses to 
the Local Plan issues and options report. 

 

Reason for recommendation: To give initial advice to the committee of the feedback 

received to the recent issues and options consultation. 

Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management, e-mail - 
efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395 517519 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Climate Action  

☐ Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and Recovery 

☒ Democracy and Transparency 

☒ Economy and Assets 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

  

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; . 

Links to background information – See links in the attached the report.  

page 10

Agenda Item 7

mailto:efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk


 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Outstanding Place and Environment  

☒ Outstanding Homes and Communities 

☒ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services 

 

 

1 Local plan issues and options report – initial consultation feedback 

1.1 A local plan issues and options report was consulted on from the 18 January 2021 to 15 

March 2021.  A first draft report of responses received has been produced.  It is stressed, 

however, that this report only advises on the number and percentage split of responses 

received to the ‘tick box’ questions that were in the questionnaire.  At this stage no attempt 

(with a couple of extremely limited exceptions) has been made to review or summarise 

actual comments received, i.e. the information that people may put in the ‘free text’ boxes.  

Likewise no summary or comment is made on response received that did not use the 

questionnaire – i.e. where people sent in letters, emails or reports. 

2 The interim report on comments received 

2.1 Appended to this committee paper is the initial report of responses received, and as an 

appendix to that is a consultation strategy report that highlights work undertaken to support 

and encourage communications around the consultation and to encourage participation. 

2.2 The consultation exercise received a high number of responses and there was a lot of 

social media activity associated with the consultation.   We encouraged respondents to use 

an on-line response form and most respondents did, though some respondents 

encountered technical problems and submitted a pdf of the questionnaire.  There were also 

a relatively large number of mostly agents (typically acting for land owners or developers) 

who we do not believe encountered technical problems but chose not to make submissions 

via the pdf questionnaire and not on-line. As these submissions did not come through the 

envisaged channels they are taking longer to assess. 

2.3 The draft report of feedback received is an interim report majoring on statistical elements of 

feedback.  For the May 2021 meeting of Strategic Planning Committee the intent is to 

provide a more complete feedback report that summarises some of the key themes and 

messages, and more frequently raised points, made in consultation responses.  It is 

stressed, however, that we will not highlight every point raised, to do so would result in a 

very long report that would take a long time to prepare.  However, we will endeavour to 

make all comments received publically available. 

2.4 In this committee report we have not summarised what is actually in the relatively short 

feedback report that we trust is self-explanatory and an easy to read document. The 

intention is to pick up on the consultation responses in the themed topic papers that we will 

be bringing to the committee throughout the rest of the year.  

page 11

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


3 Next steps 
 

3.1 For the May 2021 Strategic Planning Committee we plan to bring a more detailed feedback 

report to including commentary on matters raised in free text boxes of the questionnaire 

and in other correspondence.   In the May 2021 report we do not intend to provide officer 

comment or suggested policy responses to comments received, rather the intent is that it 

will just be a feedback on information submitted. 

3.2 Through 2021 and potentially in 2022 and beyond, however, we plan to revisit the 

questionnaire response when we bring topic and subject based papers to committee.  This 

will provide a chance to delve into consultation feedback in more depth and also to give 

some more critical comment or observations on feedback in the context of developing and 

refining policy options going forward. 

 

Financial implications: 

There are no specific financial implications to comment on. 

Legal implications: 

There are no legal implications to this interim report. 

page 12



 

E 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

East Devon – an outstanding place 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Plan Issues and Options report – Initial 
consultation feedback report – April 2021 
 

Initial summary feedback report on consultation on the local plan issues and options 

report that was consulted on from 18 January 2021 to 15 March 2021 

 

East Devon Local Plan 

page 13



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
2 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Contact details 

Planning Policy team 

East Devon District Council 

 

 

page 14



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
3 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

2 The issues and options report that was consulted on ......................................................................... 4 

3 The communication strategy .............................................................................................................. 5 

4 Questionnaires and other written responses received ........................................................................ 5 

5 A note on statistical validity of the consultation .................................................................................. 6 

6 Where to view consultation responses ............................................................................................... 6 

7 Background information on those making submissions ...................................................................... 6 

8 Responses received to questions asked ............................................................................................ 7 

9 Issues raised that were not covered in the issues and options document or questionnaire .............. 29 

10 Issues raised by Government agencies and statutory bodies .......................................................... 29 

11 Conclusions and next steps ............................................................................................................. 30 

Appendix 1 – the communication strategy ............................................................................................. 31 

 

 

 

  

 

page 15



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report provides initial feedback on responses that have been received to the East Devon 

Local Plan Issues and Options report consultation.  It is an initial report only and will be 

updated once representations have been reviewed and assessed in fuller detail.  

1.2 In correspondence sent out it was advised that this issues and options report formally met 

Regulation 18 of the plan making regulations The Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (legislation.gov.uk) and was available for public 

comment from 18 January 2021 to 15 March 2021. 

1.3 It is highlighted at the outset that at this stage of reporting submissions received have not yet 

been fully scrutinised or reviewed, this report should therefore be seen as being a first stage of 

feedback.  The intent is that in May 2021 this report will be redrafted to include greater detail of 

comments made. 

1.4 Over the course of 2021 (and potentially beyond) more detailed assessment will be undertaken 

of responses received and this will feed into reports to Strategic Planning Committee of the 

council on specific subject based matters. 

1.5 This report summarises the number and percentage of responses to each question asked in 

the consultation and in future drafts will provides commentary on key themes and issues raised 

in responses.   

2 The issues and options report that was consulted on 

2.1 To start the plan making process and seek initial feedback to inform policy development we 

consulted on a local plan issues and options document.  The consultation document contained 

a series of topic based sections and included questions.  We invited responses to the 

questions asked via an online questionnaire.  We also, however, made a pdf version available 

for those without internet access or who were facing technical or other problems with 

completing it on-line. 

2.2 For more information about the document consulted on and to read a copy of it, containing 

questions asked, see: 

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/emerging-local-plan/initial-consultations/ 

 

page 16

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/18/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/18/made
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/emerging-local-plan/initial-consultations/


Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
5 

3 The communication strategy 

3.1 To encourage participation in the consultation we worked closely with the communication team 

of the Council.  This work involved extensive engagement with potentially interested parties 

and organisations and sending material out to various media sources. 

3.2 Appended to this report is a communications plan and feedback report that highlights key 

communication activities undertaken. 

4 Questionnaires and other written responses received 

4.1 In the issues and options report there were a number of questions asked and we specifically 

requested that people respond using an online questionnaire that was provided. 

4.2 A large majority of responses to the consultation, addressing questions asked, came in via 

completed questionnaires, in total 598 questionnaires are logged on the consultation software.  

Whilst a majority of responses were submitted on-line a sizeable minority (nearly 60 – close to 

10%) were emailed or posted.  We made the pdf questionnaire available to people who had not 

been able to complete the on-line form and in a small number of cases some people did not 

have a computer or internet access.  In other cases there were possible technical problems in 

respect of the operation of the software or the way individuals had their computers set up, this 

appears to have blocked address details being logged.  There were also problems 

encountered by people not being able to save the questionnaire or being aware of the 

relevance of saving submissions that were part completed.  Overall, however, cases of 

technical problems in the software or set-ups appeared limited. 

4.3 There were, however, a number of respondents that we believe could have completed the 

questionnaire on-line but chose not to do so, despite our encouragement.  This was specifically 

the case for agents submitting responses for clients (notably land owners and developers).  It 

is disappointing that these responses did not come in on-line as they have had to be added to 

the software by officers which has taken time, used staff resources and delayed production of 

this report.  Many of these responses also used quantities of characters/words that exceeded 

limits in the online consultation boxes which has caused problems in processing submissions. 

4.4 It should be noted that where respondents submitted pdf questionnaire forms we have sought 

to add them to the consultation software, though where character/word limits were exceeded 

we have not sought to add any text received to the questionnaire, only the ‘tic-box answers are 

recorded.  The only limited exception to this approach was where it was possible to abbreviate 

words used in submissions in order to meet character/word limits. Some respondents 

submitted reports that may have commented on answers they support and some favoured 

elements of more than one answer, in these cases we have not sought to add their responses 

page 17



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
6 

to the questionnaire.  It was not always clear exactly what was being favoured in submissions 

and it was not seen as appropriate for officers reviewing submissions to seek to interpret 

responses, especially not so when a respondent could have made their comments directly 

online.  The questionnaire results noted in this report do not, therefore, record feedback from 

an estimated 25 respondents that commented on questions but did not fill in the questionnaire. 

4.5 There were around 35 respondents that did not use the questionnaire or respond specifically 

or directly to the questions asked, or may be have only briefly alluded to them in their 

submission.  These responses have not been added to the consultation software and do not 

impact on statistics reported on.  Many of the ‘non-questionnaire’ submissions have been by 

public bodies, private companies or land owners (or agents acting for them) or by other 

organisations.   It was always to be expected that some organisations and individuals would 

not fill in the questionnaire or respond to question it asks.  

5 A note on statistical validity of the consultation 

5.1 The questionnaire was made freely available for anybody or organisation to complete and the 

Council encouraged participation.  Choice of filling in the questionnaire was therefore a self-

selecting exercise and the results in this report are the views expressed by those people that 

chose to make submissions.  Responses should not therefore be read as being a verified 

statistically robust representation of the public as a whole, though the level of participation is 

such for the result to be considered as representing valuable informative. 

6 Where to view consultation responses 

6.1 At this stage we have not had time to publish individual responses received to the consultation.  

We will, however, seek to make individual responses available on the Council website in due 

course with contact details redacted, where appropriate and to accord with our privacy 

standards. 

7 Background information on those making submissions 

7.1 In the questionnaire we asked people to provide background information on where they lived, 

their age and whether they were responding as a private individual or in some other capacity.   

These questions were asked to understand more about the characteristics of those 

responding. 

7.2 Most responses received were from people with an East Devon postcode though there were 

also responses from other parts of the country as well, though most of these were from agents 

representing clients or form other bodies or organisations. 

page 18



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
7 

7.3 The overwhelming majority of people responding were in the 56 to 70 and 70 plus age groups.  

Younger people made up a far lower level of respondents.  Data in the graph below sets out 

more information on this. 

 

7.4 Most respondents, 76%, that completed the questionnaire were private individuals. 

8 Responses received to questions asked 

8.1 Set out below are details of the questions asked in the consultation and the number and/or 

percentage mix of response received.  In a later iteration of this report we will make reference 

to some of the key and more common messages coming through in free text responses to 

questions asked.  It is advised, however that we will not seek to identify and highlight all and 

every point raised in comments made.  To do so would result in a very long document that 

could take many weeks to complete.  To see all matters raised in all responses received they 

will need to be viewed in their entirety.  The responses below should be viewed in the context 

of the full issues and options document and specifically the wording in the actual questions 

asked. 

8.2 It should be noted that there was no requirement to complete all or any of the questions 

detailed below.  Where people did not complete a question then the answer is given as a 

blank/no response.   

 

Blank/no 

response 

page 19



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
8 

Question 1 - Local Plan Objectives 

In paragraph 2.1 of the Issues and Options report we set out a series of suggested objectives for 

the future local plan that covered issues to include climate change, meeting housing needs and 

supporting the economy. We asked people if they were the right objectives. 

 

 

Although most respondents (nearly two thirds) ticked the yes box a number of these did suggest 

other objectives as well.  It was the case that many of the 25% that ticked the no box also 

suggested alternatives, as did some of the 11% of respondents that left the box blank. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

blank/no response 

page 20



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
9 

Question 2 – The scope of the local plan 

In paragraph 2.2 of the Issues and Options report we propose producing a single plan, but it would 

be possible to produce a series of plans to cover the different issues. We asked which option 

people favoured. 

 

 

Question 3 - Neighbourhood Plans and the new Local Plan 

Neighbourhood plans have been agreed for many of our neighbourhoods and more are in 

preparation. In paragraph 2.11 of the Issues and Options report we explain the role of 

neighbourhood plans and their relationship with the local plan.  There was a free text box for 

people to fill in, but no options to tick. 

At this point in time analysis of free text responses has not been undertaken.  Though from just a 

superficial review it is clear that many respondents highlighted the relevance and importance of 

neighbourhood planning work.  

 

 

 

Option 1 – A singe local plan 

Option 2 – Multiple Plans 

Blank/no response 

Option 3 – An alternative – not 1 or 2 

page 21



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
10 

Question 4 - Planning for health and wellbeing 

In Chapter 3 of the Issues and Options report we set out the health and wellbeing benefits of 

active lifestyles and the ways in which planning can promote this.  We asked about the importance 

of promoting health and wellbeing throughout the local plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Essential 

Very important 

Limited importance 

Quite important 

Limited importance 

Not important at all 

page 22



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
11 

Question 5 - Energy efficiency of new buildings 

In paragraph 4.4 of the Issues and Options report we identify ways of reducing carbon emissions 

from new developments, including setting higher energy efficiency standards for new buildings. 

We asked about which approaches we should favour. 

 

 

 

Question 6 - Provision of solar arrays/farms and windfarms 

Paragraphs 4.5 to 4.7 of the Issues and Options report deals with maximising energy from 

renewable sources. Question 6 sought views on the approach we should take in respect of solar 

arrays and windfarms.  

 

 

 

 

 

blank/no response 

page 23



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
12 

 

 

Question 7 - Carbon saving measures 

Paragraph 4.8 of the Issues and Options report sets out seven policy objectives for helping to 

achieve carbon neutrality including using ‘waste heat’, and promoting community led renewable 

energy schemes.  We asked if people agreed with these and 59% of respondents answered yes. 

Although most respondents ticked the yes box a number did suggest other objectives as well as 

did many that ticked the no box. 

 

blank/no response 

blank/no response 

page 24



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
13 

Question 8 - How many new homes should we plan for each year? 

In Chapter 5 of the Issues and Options report we set out the current Government requirement for 

us to build at least 928 new homes a year (although this figure can change). Paragraph 5.4 

explains that we may need to almost double the number of affordable homes (to 461 every year for 

the next 20 years) to meet current and future needs. We asked about what level of housebuilding 

people would favour 

 

  

Of the respndents that favoured an alternative number quite a lot stated (or it could be inferred) 

that they favoured a level below 928.  Had below 928 been an option it might be expected that 

some respondents would have ticked that box.  We will seek to do further work looking into 

possible numbers.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

blank/no response 

page 25



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
14 

Question 9 - Sites for small scale housing developments 

Paragraphs 5.5 to 5.7 of the Issues and Options report sets out Government policy that at least 

10% of new homes should be built on smaller sites (below 1 hectare). This provides more 

opportunities for smaller, local businesses and is more likely to reflect local character than mass 

produced homes. We highlighted options, however, of providing more than 10%. 

 

 

 

 

Question 10 - Planning for housing for people at all stages of their life 

Paragraphs 5.8 and 5.9 of the Issues and Options report sets out the reasons for building a range 

of homes that can accommodate different life stage or health circumstances. We asked what 

approach we should take to encourage this, or is it not something the local plan should deal with. 

 

 

blank/no response 

page 26



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
15 

 

 

 

Question 11 - Additional housing policy objectives 

Paragraph 5.10 of the Issues and Options report identifies nine additional housing policy 

objectives, including encouraging more self-build homes, allocating sites for retirement housing 

and setting minimum space standards for new homes. 

Although most respondents, 67%, ticked the yes box a number did suggest other objectives as 

well and we will report on these in a future report. 

 

Question 12 - Preference for location for future job provision 

Paragraphs 6.4 to 6.7 of the Issues and Options report explains why much of the recent 

employment development has occurred near to Exeter and where future job growth could be 

located.  We set out below a number of differing potential areas in East Devon that could 

accommodate future job growth and development and asked people to indicate their level of 

support. 

Option 4  -  None of the above or an alternative 

blank/no response 

page 27



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
16 

 

 

Question 13 - Differing jobs sectors in East Devon 

Paragraphs 6.8 to 6.10 of the Issues and Options report discuss what sort of jobs the local plan 

should encourage, including the opportunities to attract new and emerging sectors with highly 

skilled jobs.  We asked about the level of support for different options. 

 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

12a) Focus on West End

12) Elsewhere close to Exeter

12c) More in towns

12d) villages and countryside

12e) More home working

Q12 - Preference for location for future job provision 

Strongly support Support Neither oppose or support Oppose Strongly Oppose Blank

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

13a) More jobs - attracting large firms

13b) More high tech jobs

13c) More local entrepreneurs

13d) traditional sectors

Q13 - Support for differing job sectors in East Devon

Strongly support Support Neither oppose or support Oppose Strongly Oppose Blank

page 28



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
17 

Question 14 - Additional economic policy objectives 

Paragraph 6.11 of the Issues and Options report identifies six areas where policies could be 

developed to help support the economy. These include promoting jobs close to where people live, 

encouraging people to patronise local businesses, supporting shared workspaces, allocating 

additional employment sites and links between economic development and developing a greener 

economy.  Views were sought on whether these were appropriate. 

Although most respondents (76%) ticked the yes box, a number did suggest other objectives as 

well as some people ticking the no box. 

 

Question 15 - Town centre uses 

Chapter 7 of the Issues and Options report considers options for the roles of our town centres. 

Question 15 sought views on these options and we set out a number of differing potential uses and 

approaches to promoting town centre vitality and activity.  Levels of support were sought. 

 

Question 16 - Additional town centre policy objectives 

Paragraph 7.6 of the Issues and Options report identified three additional areas where policies 

may be appropriate including the use of vacant stories over shops, resisting ‘out of town’ uses to 

support town centres and producing town centre masterplans to identify key areas for 

improvement.  Views were sought on whether these were appropriate. 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

12a) Retail to dominate

12) mixed commercial uses

12c) Small core areas in towns

12d) support change of use to housese

12e) Support community uses

12e) Support leisure uses

Q15 - Prefernces for the future of town centres

Strongly support Support Neither oppose or support Oppose Strongly Oppose Blank

page 29



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
18 

Although most respondents (67%) ticked the yes box, a number did suggest other objectives as 

well. 

 

Question 17 - Designing beautiful spaces and buildings 

Chapter 8 of the Issues and Options report explained how attractive places can be planned and 

Question 17 sought to find out how important you think it is that this is done. 

 

Question 18 - Additional design policy objectives 

Paragraph 8.8 of the Issues and Options report identifies two areas with the potential for additional 

policy work. These are encouraging innovative designs and incorporating wildlife friendly elements 

into developments.  We sought views on whether these were appropriate. 

Although most respondents ticked the yes box, 71%, a number did suggest other objectives as well 

as did people ticking the no box. 

 

Question 19 - The importance of conserving and enhancing heritage assets 

Chapter 9 of the Issues and Options reports describes our heritage assets and sets out the 

positive impacts they can have on our quality of life and local economies.  We sought views on 

how important people thought heritage protection is. 

Essential 

Very important 

Blank/no response 

Quite important 

Limited importance 

Not importance at all 

Not important at all 

page 30



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
19 

 

 

Question 20 - Development in protected landscapes 

Paragraphs 10.3 & 10.4 of the Issues and Options report sets out the importance of protecting our 

protected landscapes and the potential limitations this may place on how much and where 

development should be placed. Question 20 sought views on the levels of restriction that would be 

favoured. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Essential 

Very important 

Blank/no response 

Quite important 

Not importance at all 

page 31



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
20 

 

 

Question 21 - Net gains in biodiversity 

Paragraphs 10.5 to 10.7 of the Issues and Options report explains the new approach of quantifying 

the potential impact of development on biodiversity to inform planning decisions and ensure that 

there is a ‘net gain’. Question 21 sought views on the approach you would favour to gain 

biodiversity improvements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

blank/no response 

page 32



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
21 

 

 

Question 22 - Additional natural environment policy objectives 

Paragraph 10.8 of the Issues and Options report identifies 10 additional themes for the natural 

environment that may benefit from policies in the local plan. We sought views on whether these 

were appropriate. 

Although most respondents ticked the yes box, 69%, a number did suggest other objectives as 

well as did those ticking the no box. 

 

Question 23 - Promoting accessibility by walking and cycling 

Chapter 11 of the Issues and Options report sets out the issues for promoting sustainable 

transport. Question 23 sought views on how important you think it is that new development is sited 

so that it is within walking distance of services and facilities. 

 

 

 

 

blank/no response 

page 33



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
22 

 

 

 

Question 24 - Additional sustainable transport policy objectives 

Paragraph 11.7 of the Issues and Options report identifies 13 key issues that may need to be 

considered around the theme of sustainable transport.  We sought views on whether these were 

appropriate. 

Although most respondents ticked the yes box, 81%, a number did suggest other objectives as did 

some people ticking the no box. 

blank/no response 

page 34



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

blank/no response 

page 35



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
24 

Question 25 - Facilities and services that are important 

Chapter 12 of the Issues and Options report deals with infrastructure requirements and asks what 

facilities are important to people, this information will help us prioritise what may be needed and 

where.  We asked respondents to score listed services and facilities in accordance with their 

importance to where they live or would want to live 

 

Question 26 - Additional infrastructure and service provision policy objectives 

Paragraph 12.9 of the Issues and Options report identifies five other infrastructure and service 

policy objectives.  We sought views on whether these were appropriate. 

Although most respondents ticked the yes box, 66%, a number did suggest other objectives as 

well as did people ticking the no box. 

 

 

0.00% 20.00% 40.00% 60.00% 80.00% 100.00%

25a - Convenience store / Post Office

25b - Supermarket

25c - Childcare and nursery school provision

25d - Primary school

25e - Secondary school

25f - Children's play area

25g - Sports and leisure facilities

25h - Healthcare facilities

25i - Open spaces

25j - Easy access to a range of jobs

25k - Regular bus service

25l - Train station

25m - Paths for walking and cycling

25n - Access to full fibre broadband

25o - Public house

25p - Place of worship (e.g. a church)

25q - High quality road links

25r - Emergency services (police, fire, ambulance)

25s - Community hall

25t - Youth facilities

Q25 - The comparative importance of facilities to people in their 
community 

Absolutely esssential very important Quite important Not important Blank

page 36



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
25 

Question 27 - Retaining and refining the existing settlement hierarchy 

Chapter 13 of the Issues and Options report considers strategic options for the distribution of new 

development expressed in terms of a settlement hierarchy. Question 27 sought views on 

respondents preferred pattern of development. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

blank/no response 

page 37



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
26 

Question 28 - Broad distribution of housing development 

Paragraphs 13.12 to 13.14 of the Issues and Options report considers the strategic spatial options 

for accommodating housing growth. Question 28 asks which broad approach to the distribution of 

housing development respondents favoured. 

 

 

Question 29 - Future options for the type and location of development 

Paragraphs 13.15 & 13.16 of the Issues and Options report sets out a range of option for 

accommodating development. Respondents were asked to give there levels of support.  

blank/no response 

page 38



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
27 

 

 

Question 30 - Establishment of a Development Corporation 

Paragraphs 13.17 to 13.19 of the Issues and Options report explained the role that a development 

corporation could play in delivering very large scale developments. Question 30 asked for views 

on how important a corporation could be. 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Infilling in towns and larger vilages

One or more additonal new towns

New villages

large scale 50+ dwg extensions to towns

small scale under 50 dwg extensions to towns

Q29 - Comprative support for different forms of development

Strongly support Support Neither oppose or support Oppose Strongly Oppose None Blank

page 39



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
28 

 

 

Question 31 - Planning for development beyond 2040 

Paragraph 13.20 of the Issues and Options report considers the timeframe that the local plan 

should consider.  Views were sought on possible end dates with the question asked of whether we 

should plan for an end date that was well after 2040. The options also related this to whether or 

not a new town is proposed.  

Quite important 

Blank/no response 

Very important 

Essential 

Bad thing 

Limited importance 

Not important 

page 40



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
29 

 

 

Question 32 - And finally...? 

As a final question we asked if people had any further comments.  We will provide feedback on 

comments received in a final report. 

9 Issues raised that were not covered in the issues and options 

document or questionnaire 

9.1 A number of respondents raised issues that were not covered in the issues and options report.  

Whilst many of these were planning and local plan relevant issues some were less relevant 

and others not at all.  We will report on these matters in the final report, noting that some 

agents, acting for landowners or developers, submitted representations promoting land for 

development. 

10 Issues raised by Government agencies and statutory bodies 

10.1 In the final feedback report we will include succinct summary text on comments made by 

statutory bodies to include the Environment Agency, Natural England, Historic England, 

Highways England as well as other key service providers and public bodies such as utility 

providers and neighbouring local authorities.  Such consultees have particular importance in 

respect of duty to cooperate considerations. 

Yes - regardless of a new town or not  

Undesirable - stick to 2040 end date 

Blank/no response 

Sensible only if there is a new town 

Does not matter 

None of the options 

page 41



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
30 

11 Conclusions and next steps 

11.1 This report provides a succinct summary of feedback only on the numbers and percentages 

recorded in response to each question asked in the questionnaire.  At this stage no summary 

details or information is made available on free text responses to the questionnaire nor to 

responses received to the consultation where the questionnaire was not filled in. 

11.2 A full detailed report will be produced that includes the contents of this report as well as 

summary information about written text comments received both within and outside of the 

Questionnaire.   

11.3 The information received through the consultation, excluding contact details -  except for 

organisations making comment and people that did not fill in the questionnaire,  will be 

published on the Council web site.  Responses received to the consultation will help inform 

development of the local plan over the coming months and specifically debate on future policy 

choices. 

  

page 42



Initial draft - Local Plan Issues and Options feedback report – April 2021 

 

 
31 

Appendix 1 – the communication strategy 

 

Insert communications strategy here 

 

 

page 43



The New Local Plan Communication Plan, East Devon 
 

Contents 

The New Local Plan Communication Plan, East Devon ................................................................ 1 

Summary ............................................................................................................................................... 3 

Channels ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Audience/stakeholders list in East Devon: ....................................................................................... 3 

Comms objectives ................................................................................................................................ 3 

Action plan ............................................................................................................................................. 4 

Members Options. ................................................................................................................................ 5 

How we planned to evaluate: ............................................................................................................. 5 

What we have done: ............................................................................................................................ 5 

Press Releases: ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Consultation database emails: ....................................................................................................... 6 

Social networking posts: ................................................................................................................. 6 

List of Facebooks Groups that we can share to: ......................................................................... 7 

Response statistics so far: .............................................................................................................. 7 

Week One January 22-28: .......................................................................................................... 7 

Week Two January 28 – February 5: ........................................................................................ 7 

Week Three February 6 – February 12 .................................................................................... 7 

Week Four February 13 – February 19 .................................................................................... 7 

Week Five February 20 – February 26 ..................................................................................... 8 

Week Six February 27 – March 5 .............................................................................................. 8 

Week Seven Friday, March 6 – Monday, March 15 (1 week + 3 days) ............................... 8 

Consultation response numbers: ................................................................................................... 8 

Residents Update E-newsletter ......................................................................................................... 8 

1. Residents update 22/1 ......................................................................................................... 8 

2. Residents update 5/2 ........................................................................................................... 9 

3. Residents update 5/3 ........................................................................................................... 9 

Planning E-newsletter ...................................................................................................................... 9 

1. Planning newsletter: 29/01.................................................................................................. 9 

2. Planning newsletter: 15/02.................................................................................................. 9 

Web statistics: ................................................................................................................................... 9 

YouTube video .................................................................................................................................. 9 

Social Media Graphics: ................................................................................................................. 10 

page 44



Close up on Facebook posts statistics: ...................................................................................... 12 

 

 

  

page 45



Summary 
 Phase one: Eight-Week consultation - January 18th to March 15th 2021. 

 Phase two: Post the first consultation. 

Following EDDC decision to pull out of GESP, we are now running a new consultation on our 

own Local Plan that will help to shape developments in East Devon for the next 20 years. 

We will need to try and engage as many residents as possible. With the pandemic this will 

mean a lot of our efforts will be virtual including a social media campaign of content and 

paid-for posts that will target specific audiences and will include attractive images and 

content, including questions, to promote engagement with residents. Sharing the posts 

within community groups on Facebook especially will be important.  

Other ideas include a 30 second advert similar to one done by Teignbridge District Council - 

(3) Facebook and a new banner for the EDDC homepage. We also plan to feature the Local 

Plan in our newsletter which is delivered to 14,000 subscribers.   

Sell in content for local news organisations will also be an important part – we can work with 

them and ask them what they would be interested in and arrange regular updates and 

pictures for them to use and share with their own audiences – this will also help to reach 

older residents who do not have access to the internet.  

It will be important to gain the support and engagement of local business networks, eg 

Chambers of Commerce in key towns and town councils who can push the campaign 

through their own channels. 

Channels 
 Media 

 Briefing notes for county, town and district council members 

 Website 

 Social media – Facebook, Twitter, NextDoor, Youtube, Instagram? LinkedIn? 

 Newsletters 

Audience/stakeholders list in East Devon: 
 Town, district, parish councillors 

 Residents: 20% are under age 20, 8% in their 20s, 10% in their 30s, 11% in their 

40s, 14% in 50s, 14% in 60s, 23% 70s+. 

 Businesses 

 Voluntary and community sector (sports groups and charity organisations) 

 Business networks: Honiton Forward (?), Totally Locally Honiton, Honiton Chamber 

of Commerce, Sidmouth Chamber, Exmouth Chamber, Totally Locally Axminster, 

Axminster Chamber, …. Budleigh Salterton, Seaton, Ottery Business Forum, 

Cranbrook, ?FSB,(ask Cllrs for recommendations) 

 What key things do people influence when they take part?  

Comms objectives 

 To exceed the number of responses to the issues and options consultations on the 

last Local Plan (478) and GESP (198) and get responses from the full range of age 

groups and geography of the district.  

 Engage with town councils to share the messages 

page 46

https://www.facebook.com/planteignbridge/videos/1337636706428604


 Help residents to feel they are involved (sharing weekly updates of how many people 

have taken the consultations and key emerging themes) 

 Get businesses involved – establish key partnerships with CoC  

 Make the Local Plan as easy to understand as possible using simple language 

Action plan 
What we need to do:  Who we hope to 

reach 
Channels it will be 
published  

Lead What else we 
need? 

Newsletters (internal 
and external) 

Subscribers and 
council worker 

Email – plugged on 
SM 

Comms 
Team 

How often?  
 
Do we want to 
separate them 
and make a 
whole new 
newsletter for 
the Local Plan?  

Social media content 
that nudges residents 
to think about  key 
issues that matter to 
them and take part in 
the consultation  

Residents and 
business owners 

Newsletters  
 
Facebook and 
Twitter posts every 
other day, paid for 
posts and sharing in 
community groups 
 

Comms 
Team 

List of social 
media posts that 
prompts 
engagement  
 
Make eye-
catching 
graphics and 
gifs 

Press Releases and 
Sell-in Content 

Residents, business 
owners, land owners 

PR to media – BBC, 
Devon Live, Archant, 
Nub News, East 
Devon News 

 
EDDC website 

Comms 
Team 

List of potential 
content and 
features  
 
Determine How 
often we need 
it?  

Call for sites  Landowners  Facebook and 
Twitter post once a 
week, paid for post? 
Sharing in relevant 
community groups? 

Comms 
Team 

Prepare posts, 
graphics and 
gifs  

Video on local plan  Residents, business 
owners, land owners 

Youtube and 
plugged on social 
media and in 
newsletters 

Comms 
Team 

Find software to 
do it and content 
 
Make video. 

Partner up with 
chambers and town 
councils 

Residents, business 
owners, land owners 

Different 
organisation 
websites and social 
media accounts  

Comms 
Team 

List of 
organisations 
 
Make contact 
with them 

Ward members  Residents, business 
owners, land owners 

Social media, 
councillor contacts 

Comms 
Team 

Send an email 
out to alert all 
member asking 
for help 

 

page 47



Members Options.  
Do we want to concentrate on topics in the consultations that will promote both positive and 

negative reactions (potentially controversial) to get more people talking about the 

consultation and responding?  A risk maybe that we get more comments about certain topics 

that others.  

To what extent do we want to boost social media posts and target specific groups? Boost 

posts that are already doing well or do we want to focus on promoting the ones that aren’t? 

Do we want a scatter gun to try and get as many people as possible to see the posts or 

focus on specific genders and age groups or do we want to target people with certain 

interests. 

The questionnaire works better and is more relevant to individuals rather than 

groups.  Maybe there is scope now, or perhaps after this event (e.g. in the Spring), to do 

some specific direct contact with groups asking them explicitly about matters most directly 

relevant to them, as opposed to the wide range of matters tackled through the 

document.  For example Chamber of Commerce could be expected (you would 

imagine/hope) to have far more interest in and experience to share in respect of town centre 

matters rather than broad ranging issues that feature in much of the rest of the document – 

so perhaps we should be contacting groups directly and encouraging them to comment on 

the specific element of our future planning work that are most likely directly relevant to them. 

How we planned to evaluate: 
Goal 
 
Communications campaign measured by: 
Increase in social media engagement and 
conversions 

- We are aiming for 500 responses 
 

KPI 
 
Engagement rates: 

 Likes, shares and comments across 
the social media networks used 

 Website click through rate  

 YouTube video/playlist views 

 Facebook video views 

 Twitter video views 

 E-bulletin new subscribers 

 Weekly reviews on Fridays to see 
what does well and can be tweaked 
for following week 

 

What we have done:  

Press Releases: 
18 January 2021 - Have your say on future developments in East Devon Local Plan 

consultation - East Devon 

2 February 2021 - Targets for thousands of new homes met, as East Devon launches new 

consultation on future developments - East Devon  

19 February 2021 - Why do planning applications attract so much interest when the Local 

Plan generates so little? - East Devon 

26 February 2021 - New Local Plan: How should East Devon deal with its climate 

emergency? - East Devon 

page 48

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/news/2021/01/have-your-say-on-future-developments-in-east-devon-local-plan-consultation/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/news/2021/01/have-your-say-on-future-developments-in-east-devon-local-plan-consultation/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/news/2021/02/targets-for-thousands-of-new-homes-met-as-east-devon-launches-new-consultation-on-future-developments/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/news/2021/02/targets-for-thousands-of-new-homes-met-as-east-devon-launches-new-consultation-on-future-developments/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/news/2021/02/why-do-planning-applications-attract-so-much-interest-when-the-local-plan-generates-so-little/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/news/2021/02/why-do-planning-applications-attract-so-much-interest-when-the-local-plan-generates-so-little/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/news/2021/02/new-local-plan-how-should-east-devon-deal-with-its-climate-emergency/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/news/2021/02/new-local-plan-how-should-east-devon-deal-with-its-climate-emergency/


Consultation database emails: 
An emails has been sent out to 830 people on our consultation database of contacts 

advising of the consultation.  The list comprises of private individuals, companies, 

developers, land agents, Government departments etc - anyone that has requested to be 

notified.  

Social networking posts: 
 Have a say in the way your area is shaped in the #EDDCLocalPlan 

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Monday, January 25, 8pm  

 What facilities do you want to see more of in town and village centres? Have your 

say in the #EDDCLocalPlan http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Thursday, January 

28, 7pm 

 What types of developments in your area would help local businesses? Have your 

say in the #EDDCLocalPlan http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Saturday, January 

31, 10am 

 Do you want to help us decide how and where developments should be in East 

Devon? Take part in the our first consultation on the new #EDDCLocalPlan 

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Tuesday, February 2, 6pm 

 How can we improve access to open spaces and encourage healthy lifestyles? Have 

your say in the #EDDCLocalPlan http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Thursday, 

February 4, 6pm 

 How can new development tackle the climate emergency in the future? Share your 

views on wind energy, solar panels and energy efficient buildings in the 

#EDDCLocalPlan http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Saturday, February 6, 7pm 

 Should we continue to protect shops in town centres in the future, or allow other uses 

like housing or leisure? Have your say in the #EDDCLocalPlan 

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Monday, February 8, 7am 

 How many homes should we build in East Devon over the next 20 years? Have your 

say in the #EDDCLocalPlan http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Thursday, 

February 11, 7pm 

 What kind of new homes do you want to see built in East Devon? Bigger or smaller? 

More self-build? Give your views in the #EDDCLocalPlan here: 

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Saturday, February 27, 5pm 

 Where should new homes be built? Should we extend existing villages and towns? 

Or create new ones? Share you views in the #EDDCLocalPlan here: 

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Thursday March 4, 7pm 

 How can we best ensure new development improves wildlife habitats? Give your 

views in the #EDDCLocalPlan here: http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Monday 

March 1,1pm 

 How do you think we can promote sustainable transport in the future? More bus 

lanes and routes? Cycle paths? Electric charging points? Give your views in the 

#EDDCLocalPlan here: http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Sunday, March 7, 8pm 

 Do you have a site you think is suitable for development in the #EDDCLocalPlan? 

Tell us by visiting http://eastdevon.gov.uk/callforsites Monday, March 8, 12pm 

 63% of respondents so far have said we should be identifying suitable land for 

renewable energy developments such as solar and wind. Do you agree? Give your 

views in the #EDDCLocalPlan here: http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Thursday 

March 11, 7pm 

 62% of respondents so far would support converting shops on the outskirts of town 

centres into other uses. Do you agree? Give your views in the #EDDCLocalPlan 

here: http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Friday, March 12, 7pm 

page 49

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/callforsites
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan


 83% of respondents so far believe we should focus on encouraging and enabling 

more home working in the #EDDCLocalPlan. Do you agree? Give us your views 

here: http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Saturday, March 13, 6pm 

 Last chance! Deadline is tomorrow: Have your say on how future developments 

should be shaped in East Devon in the #EDDCLocalPlan here: 

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Sunday, March 14, 7pm 

 

List of Facebooks Groups that we can share to:  
 Axminster Notice Board  

 Broadclyst Station Community  

 East Devon News Group  

 Exmouth Community UK  

 Seaton News Group 

 Sidmouth Community for the People  

 The Honiton Community UK 

Response statistics so far: 

Week One January 22-28: 
4 posts 

 27.1k Reach 

 4.9 k Impressions 

 51 Clicks 

 3 Comments 

 13 Likes 

 13 Shares 

Week Two January 28 – February 5: 
8 posts  
 

 52.9k Reach 

 7.5k Impressions 

 180 Clicks 

 2 Comments 

 15 Likes 

 35 Shares 

Week Three February 6 – February 12 
6 posts  
 

 47.3k Reach 

 7.5k Impressions 

 106 Clicks 

 12 Comments 

 14 Likes 

 24 Shares 

Week Four February 13 – February 19 
Four posts  

 27.6k Reach 

page 50

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/newlocalplan


 4.5k Impressions 

 46 Clicks 

 7 Comments 

 7 Likes 

 19 Shares 

Week Five February 20 – February 26 
0 posts.  

No data.  

We tried just posting at the weekend and got hardly any response.  

Week Six February 27 – March 5 
11 posts  

 74184 Reach 

 23.2k Impressions 

 47 Clicks 

 60 Comments 

 41 Likes 

 62 Shares 

 

Week Seven Friday, March 6 – Monday, March 15 (1 week + 3 days)  
16 post 

 95669 Reach 

 13.1k Impressions 

 93 Clicks 

 16 Comments 

 42 Likes 

 53 Shares 

Note: See appendix for detailed look at individual posts and what topics got more comments and the 

most interest.  

Consultation response numbers: 
 Week one (February 22): 6 

 Week two (February 29): 15 

 Week three (February 5): 34 

 Week four (February 12): 50 

 Week five (February 19):104 

 Week six (February 26): 199 

 Week seven (March 5): 270 

 Week eight (March 12): 499 

 Week nine (March 16: 546 

Residents Update E-newsletter 
See Previous updates - East Devon here. We send out weekly E-newsletter with the latest 

updates and goings on with the council.  

1. Residents update 22/1 - East Devon residents Coronavirus update - Friday 22 

January 2021 (govdelivery.com)  

page 51

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/coronavirus-covid-19/latest-updates/previous-updates/
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2b9df4e
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2b9df4e


 Residents update: January 22:  

 Total sent: 12,598 

 Unique clicks: 256 

 

2. Residents update 5/2 - East Devon residents Coronavirus update - Friday 5 

February 2021 (govdelivery.com) 

 Total sent: 12,384 

 Unique clicks: 136 

 

3. Residents update 5/3 - East Devon residents Coronavirus update - Friday 5 March 

2021  (govdelivery.com) 

 Total sent: 13,074 

 Unique clicks: 53 

 

Planning E-newsletter 
Here is the link to the latest one:  

1. Planning newsletter: 29/01 - East Devon Planning News - Issue 2 (January 2021) 

(govdelivery.com) 

 Total sent: 3,048 

 Unique clicks: 611 

 

2. Planning newsletter: 15/02 - Have your say on the next East Devon Local Plan 

(govdelivery.com) 

 Total sent: 12,895 

 Unique clicks: 1,899 

Web statistics: 
 w/e 22nd January 2021 – 176 page views and 64 unique visitors 

 w/e 29th January 2021 – 72 page views and 54 unique visitors 

 w/e 5th February 2021 – 134 page views and 67 unique visitors 

 w/e 12th February 2021 – 127 page views and 74 unique visitors 

 w/e 19th February 2021 – 111 page views and 74 unique visitors 

 w/e 26th February 2021 – 130 page views and 85 unique visitors 

 w/e 5th March 2021 – 220 page views and 159 unique visitors 

 w/e 12th March 2021 – 722 page views and 427 unique visitors 
 

YouTube video  

Added on 26th February 2021  

 79 views as at 5th March 2021 

 138 views as at 15th March 2021 
 

page 52

https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2bdc2e6
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2bdc2e6
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2c4720b
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2c4720b
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2bd4a21
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2bd4a21
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2c0e30e
https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/UKEDDC/bulletins/2c0e30e


Social Media Graphics: 

  

 

 

 

page 53



 

 

 

 

 

  

page 54



Close up on Facebook posts statistics: 

 

 

page 55



 

 

page 56



 

 

page 57



 

page 58



 

 

 

page 59



 

 

page 60



 

 

page 61



 

 

page 62



 

page 63



 

page 64



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 27 April 2021 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Sustainability appraisal feedback report 

Report summary: 

This report provides information on feedback received to the consultation on the local plan 
Sustainability Appraisal scoping report.  In the light of comments received minor amendments are 
proposed to the scoping report. 

 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

  

Recommendation: 

That Strategic Planning Committee afford delegated powers to the Service Lead – Planning 
Strategy and Development Management – to makes changes to the Sustainability Appraisal 
scoping report to address comments made in feedback received as detailed in Appendix 1 to this 
report.  

 

Reason for recommendation: To ensure that Members are given the opportunity to review 

comments made on the sustainability appraisal scoping report. 

 

Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management, e-mail - 
efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395 517519 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Climate Action  

☐ Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and Recovery 

☒ Democracy and Transparency 

☒ Economy and Assets 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

 

 

 

page 65

Agenda Item 8

mailto:efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk


Equalities impact Low Impact 

  

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; . 

Links to background information – See links in the attached the report.  

 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Outstanding Place and Environment  

☒ Outstanding Homes and Communities 

☒ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services 

 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 At Strategic Planning Committee on the 30 March 2021 a local plan work programme was 

agreed.  The programme advised that for this meeting (27 April 2021) a paper on the matter 

below would be considered: 

“Sustainability Appraisal Feedback - This report will provide information on feedback 

on the Sustainability Appraisal scoping report consultation and more information on how 

the work may inform policy development..” 

2 The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) scoping report and the reasons for consultation  

2.1 Local Plan production needs to be supported by an exercise called Sustainability Appraisal 

(SA).  It is a process that seeks to assess the environmental, social and economic impacts 

that could arise from implementation of plan policy and in so doing the work should help 

inform strategy and policy choices as a plan evolves from early drafts through to the final 

document.  

2.2 SA starts with a scoping report that seeks, amongst other outputs, to establish what East 

Devon is like now so that the potential impacts of future policy can be measured and 

compared against a baseline position. At the Strategic Planning Committee meeting on the 

15 December 2020 approval was given for consultation on the draft scoping report.  The 

consultation ran from the 18 January 2021 to 15 March 2021 in parallel with, but separate 

to, the consultation on the local plan issues and options report. 

2.3 The scoping report that was consulted on can be viewed at: 

151220bpdraftsascopingreporteastdevonlocalplanver02.pdf  

2.4 There is a legal requirement that consultation is undertaken, specifically to include with the 

Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England.  But consultation is also seen 

page 66

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/papers/strategicplanning/151220bpdraftsascopingreporteastdevonlocalplanver02.pdf


as helpful and good practice to help inform the SA work overall.  The consultation was open 

to anyone to respond to. 

3 Feedback received on the scoping report consultation 

3.1 We have logged twelve representation from organisations and individuals that sent in 

representations on the SA scoping report.  These representations were from the 

respondents listed below. 

 A Bentham 

 Environment Agency 

 Forestry Commission 

 Historic England 

 Naome Glanville 

 Natural England 

 Pegasus Group on behalf of Land Value Alliances LLP 

 Savills for FWS Carter and Crealy Farms 

 Sid Valley Association 

 Sidmouth Town Council 

 T Dumper 

 Transition Exmouth 

3.2 It should be noted that in addition to the bodies and organisations that made specific 

comment on the scoping report there were a number of respondents to the issues and 

options report that referred to the relevance and application of SA work in respect to the 

evaluation of future policy choices.  Such submissions did not, however, propose changes 

to the scoping report or assess content.  As such further details of submissions made and 

comments on them are not included in this feedback report.   

3.3 A further note is that there may have been documents that were uploaded, alongside 

questionnaire submissions, to the issues and options report consultation that also referred 

to the SA work.  At this stage it has not, however, been possible to review all uploaded 

documents that were received through the issues and options consultation.  A 

supplementary report (at a later date) will need to be provided to Committee should there 

be further substantive points raised in any of these representations.  In asking for 

comments on the SA scoping report we did explicitly ask for them to be sent in separately 

from issues and report comments, but this (unfortunately) was not followed in all cases by 

all respondents. 

3.4 Appendix 1 to this report forms a summary table of matters raised by respondents to the SA 

report with a brief officer summary of suggested proposed changes to the scoping report.  It 

should be noted that in some representations received comment is made around the 

preferred nature and direction of specific local plan policy, rather than the content of the SA.  

It will be desirable and appropriate for the Council to fully consider the potential approach to 

and options for policy development when it comes to actually writing the local plan.  But it is 

suggested that the SA work should seek, as far as possible, to be policy neutral in its 

stance and in so doing should establish a framework to assess alternative policy options 

page 67



rather than in any sense pre-determining policy choices and outcomes.  In this context it is 

important to stress that the SA forms one consideration in helping to inform possible future 

policy, it forms part of the evidence, alongside other considerations, to inform choices.  

3.5 It should also be noted that some representations raise matters that go outside of the remit 

of planning policy and the local plan falling, for example, into what would be operational 

matters of other departments of the council or beyond the operations of East Devon District 

Council. 

3.6 The full representations to the SA scoping report consultation can be seen in Appendix 2, 

though that is with the exception of the submission made by Pegasus Group on behalf of 

Land Value Alliances LLP. In this case the submission text relevant to the SA formed a 

small part of a much longer issues and options report submission so just the text relevant to 

the SA specific work is reproduced in the table in Appendix 1.  In the case of  Savills, on 

behalf of clients, Appendix 2 just includes extracts, from a fuller issues report submission, 

that are relevant to the SA, 

3.7 Appendix 1 notes that the officer recommendation is for a number of changes to be made to 

the SA scoping report.  These are essentially in respect of matters of detail and 

presentation and they do not significantly change the work or process of undertaking the 

actual SA of the emerging plan proposals.  The SA scoping report was produced to a 

standard type of style and format, extensively used elsewhere in the County and previously 

applied in East Devon, so wholesale changes would not be expected. 

4 Application of the SA in plan making 

4.1 The SA is intended to be an iterative process that is carried out through plan production. As 

strategic and bigger items and issues are considered, and specifically alternative options 

are compared, they should be assessed against sustainability objectives included in the SA 

scoping report.  The comparative assessment should inform thinking on choices made.  

This SA ‘testing’ should carry through as plan making progresses to matters of increasing 

policy detail. 

4.2 The SA process will not just look at wording of policy, it will also apply to specific sites that 

could form potential allocations for development.  A key outcome should be a consistent 

basis to consider possible site choices for land allocations.  This same logic of assessment 

should also apply to policy boundaries that will feature on maps (that are not allocations for 

development).  

5 Next steps 

5.1 In response to the recommendations in this committee report (and any further changes or 

amendments from Committee) the SA scoping report will be amended and updated.  New 

text will be added to advise of the consultation work that has been undertaken to date and 

how this has informed changes to the document. 

5.2 In terms of actual assessment of policy and site choices committee attention is drawn to 

Section 5 (Task A4), from page 54 of the consultation draft SA scoping report onward.  This 

sets out sustainability objectives against which emerging plan policies will be assessed.  

page 68



Policy and site options will be ‘scored’ against possible impacts.  Conclusions drawn from 

the work should help inform (but not dictate) future policy choices. 

5.3 As the SA work progresses additional SA reports will be produced and published.  These 

will specifically be in respect of the proposed draft plan and also the published plan that will 

be submitted for examination.    

 

Financial Implications  

There are no direct financial implication in the recommendation.  There will however be funding 
implication flowing from the Masterplan but these will be assessed and presented to members 
separately for consideration when they arise. 

 
Legal Implications  
The legal position is detailed in the report and no further comment is required. 

 

 

 

 

 

page 69



Appendix 1- Succinct summary and officer response to comments made on the SA scoping 

report 

Please note that table below contains a succinct summary only, by officers of the Council, of 

matters raised in consultation on the SA scoping report. The full text (other than where noted in 

this appendix) of representations made can be seen in Appendix 2 to this report. 

Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

A Bentham 

Reference should be made to local climate 
and ecological emergency declaration and 
associated plan and great weight should be 
attached. 

Whilst we will look to update reference 
in background reports the scoping work 
does need to address all sustainability 
considerations and it would be 
inappropriate to overtly focus through it 
on just some specific issues. 

Use should be made of citizen juries and 
improved engagement work (both for the local 
plan and SA). 

It is suggested that engagement overall 
is a bigger issue than SA production 
and if it has relevance it relates far 
more to the process of local plan 
production.  It is already intended to 
undertake extensive consultation and 
engagement on the Local Plan.  

Page 56, Figure 26 - The table of 
sustainability impacts is considered too vague 
to be useful as many issues require more 
detail in policy with costs hidden as 
externalities. 

The submission made appears to 
address potential policy approaches 
and options for the future local plan 
rather than SA specific matters.  For the 
SA scoping work no changes are 
suggested. 

Concern is expressed about the SA referring 
too much to economic indicators of GDP and 
GVA and should identify alternative indicators, 
such as life expectancy, carbon emissions, 
and education, 

These comments appear more relevant 
to making policy and potential local plan 
content rather than the SA.  For the SA 
scoping report changes are not 
proposed. 

Environment 
Agency 

 
It should be 
noted that the 
EA submitted 
comments on 
the issues 
report and the 
SA in the 
same letter.  
The SA 
comments, as 
summarised, 
appear 
around 2/3rds 
of the way 
down the 
letter. 

Suggested that the first column in Figure 25 
should be expressed more actively, 
specifically asking questions around potential 
outcomes. 

It is agreed that this would be a useful 
amendment. 

In para 3.13 a more precise definition of the 
specific designation interest of the River Axe 
SAC is suggested. 

This is agreed with and changes are 
appropriate. 

Para 3.20 should refer to the Districts rivers. This is agreed with and changes are 
appropriate. 

Para 3.22 – threats to biodiversity should 
include historic legacy impacts to rivers. 

This is agreed with and changes are 
appropriate. 

The climate change section should refer to the 
natural environment response to climate 
change. 

This is agreed with and changes are 
appropriate. 

Para 3.46 – the text relating to the Exe 
Estuary strategy should be updated to note 
the dropping of managed realignment of the 
River Clyst.   

This is agreed with and changes are 
appropriate.  However the SA should 
not update any actual plan policy itself, 
as the submission text could perhaps 
be inferred to read/mean. 

Para 3.57 to 3.62 – text should refer to the 
physical form and function of rivers including 
in respect of biodiversity and landscape value.  
Issues relating to the Rivers Axe, Otter and 
Sid are highlighted. 

This is agreed with and changes are 
appropriate. 

In section 5 – SA objectives 4 and 5 – heat, 
drought and storm extremes should be 
referenced. 

This is agreed with and changes are 
appropriate. 

page 70



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

In Figure 30 the reference to a 2009 document 
- South West River Basin Management Plan 
(Environment Agency, 2009) – is out of date 
and needs updating plus the River Exe 
Restoration Plan should be referred to. 

This is agreed with and changes are 
appropriate. 

Duty to cooperate considerations – the text 
should note and account taken of the fact that 
river catchments do align with local authority 
boundaries. 

Agree and additional text to the SA is 
appropriate. 

The SA text should refer to emerging Local 
Nature Recovery strategies in Devon, Dorset 
and Somerset. 

Agree and additional text to the SA is 
appropriate. 

Forestry 
Commission 
England 

Para 3.17 and 3.18 – extend text to refer to 
ancient woodland and veteran trees – see 
NPPF para 175. 

Agree and additional text to the SA is 
appropriate. 

The representation highlights a number of 
benefits that that tree planting can play in 
respect of green infrastructure matters, flood 
risk and renewable and low carbon energy 

We will seek to adjust the SA text to 
incorporate headline matters raised.  
However these matters will and should 
be considered in more detail in the local 
plan policy making processes. 

Historic 
England 

Comments on - Task A1 – Policy context – 
other relevant, plans, policies and 
programmes and Appendix 1 and Figure 30 – 
 
 A number of additional documents are 
highlighted that should be referenced in the 
SA work. 

5.4 Agree and additional text to the SA is 
appropriate. 

Comments on Task A2 - Task A2 - Collecting 
Baseline Information - The landscape and 
seascape of East Devon. 
 
Historic England highlight a number of areas 
where text in the SA should cover more 
ground, including in respect of: 

 Cultural heritage; 

 Registered parks and gardens being 
heritage assets; 

 presence and density of heritage assets 
along East Devon’s coastline - which 
include the Jurassic Coast World Heritage 
Site; 

 The concept of seascape could be usefully 
explained. 

In general a need is seen for more evidence 
for identifying sustainability issues, predicting 
and monitoring likely effects and assessing 
alternative solutions. 

In principle the matters raised are 
agreed with and attention will be given 
to incorporating amendments to 
address points raised.  There may, 
however, be benefit in further 
conversation with Historic England on 
matters of detail that they highlight. 

Task A2 – Collecting - Baseline Information 
Historic environment, built heritage and design 
quality. 
 
English Heritage identify additional information 
that should inform the evidence base for 
sustainability issues.  They highlight: 

 all heritage asset types should be 
referenced and it should be noted that their 
settings can also positively contribute to 
their significance; 

In principle the matters raised are 
agreed with and attention will be given 
to incorporating amendments to 
address points raised.  There may, 
however, be benefit in further 
conversation with Historic England on 
matters of detail that they highlight and 
there is need for further clarity on a 
number of matters – including in 
respect of whether all points raised do 
really need to be included in the SA and 

page 71



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

 text should explain the difference between 
designated and non-designated heritage 
assets; 

 Figure 4 should provide the information 
source(s) and dates for this data; 

 Figure 4 should also seek to provide 
information on non-designated heritage 
assets including buried, waterlogged 
archaeological and paleoenvironmental 
remains of significant interest; 

 Information should be presented on 
heritage at risk through neglect, decay and 
other threats; 

 Efforts should go into identifying the current 
and likely future condition of East Devon’s 
historic environment, and threats as well as 
opportunities related to the conservation, 
enhancement and enjoyment of heritage 
assets; 

 No information has been provided on the 
existing local plan, including relevant 
policies, how it has performed against its 
vision, issues and objectives for heritage 
assets; 

 The section on design quality does not 
acknowledge positive contribution that 
heritage assets can make to local character 
and distinctiveness as per paragraph 185 of 
the NPPF 2019 and the National Design 
Guide and the emerging National Model 
Design Code. 

It is suggest that a Heritage Topic Paper 
should be prepared to inform the SA and the 
new Local Plan. 

whether inclusion could make the 
document rather unwieldy and long. 

 

Task A3 – Identifying - key sustainability 
issues. 
 
English Heritage identify a number of key 
sustainability issues that should be identified, 
to include: 

 Landscape: should be broadened to 
cover seascape and townscape; 

 Historic and built environment: 
should be broadened to cover all types 
of designated and non-designated 
heritage assets. 

 Quality of new development: should 
recognise the positive contribution that 
heritage assets can make to local 
character and distinctiveness and to 
high-quality development. 

Without addressing these matters the likely 
future trends without a new local plan cannot 
be considered to be robust. 

Points are agreed with and changes 
would be appropriate. 

 

Task A4 – Defining sustainability objectives. 
 
English Heritage advise that changes should 
be made to the following objectives: 
 

It will be relevant to look in further detail 
at the points raised to identify specific 
changes that may be appropriate and 
desirable.  To this end a conversation 

page 72



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

2. Landscape - delete ‘our natural 
environment’ from the objective to recognise 
the historic character of landscapes and 
seascapes and include a reference to 
seascape character in factors. 
 
3. Historic and built environment:  

 reword title to read ‘heritage assets; 

 include reference to World Heritage 
Site, Registered Parks and Gardens 
and locally listed heritage assets 

 incorporate a new bullet point that 
seeks to address heritage at risk as a 
factor 

 reword the second bullet point ‘sustain 
the historic environment and promote 
local character and distinctiveness by 
conserving and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and 
their settings and creating high quality 
new settlements, townscapes, 
developments, built environment and 
public realm’ 

 reword the third bullet point: ‘sustain 
the historic environment and promote 
local character and distinctiveness 
through urban design, build quality and 
detailing of new buildings, 
alterations/extensions to existing 
buildings, streets, and spaces; 

 include a new bullet point that 
focusses on the enjoyment of the 
historic environment given paragraph 
185 of the NPPF 2019. 

Thy conclude by advising that the factors 
should recognise the holistic nature of the 
historic environment and its interrelationships 
with other Sustainability objectives, they cite 
climate change considerations and town 
centres. 

with Historic England would be 
appropriate. 

Naome 
Glanville 

Page 14 – reference should be given to 
presence of otter and beaver in the river Otter.  

Whilst not core to the SA inserting 
reference does give some positive local 
flavour and changes are seen as 
desirable, 

Page 32 – reference should be made to noise 
from the A30 and reference is made to EDDC 
to lobby for resurfacing. 

Referencing noise from the A30 would 
be reasonable for the SA but it would 
not be the job of the SA to lobby for 
resurfacing (if lobbying were seen as 
desirable it would fall outside of the 
local plan and tasks that support its 
production). 

Page 53: No's 1 (Biodiversity) and 2 
(Landscape) – Considered that the value of 
biodiversity and landscape should be 
acknowledged 
as something that should be preserved for 
residents and for visitors to enjoy.  And also 
that biodiversity is important in not just AONBs 

The points raised are not challenged, 
however on review of the existing 
scoping report text it is not clear where 
any changes could be relevant. 

page 73



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

but across East Devon and links to the wider 
planet.  

Encouragement is given for tree planting. Whilst more tree planting is not 
challenged it would not be appropriate 
to amend the SA but in due course the 
local plan can look to tree planting 
related policies. 

Page 53 – SA Objective 4 – encouragement is 
given to home working. 

This can be an issue to consider and 
think about in local plan policy 
production but is not directly relevant to 
the SA scoping report content. 

Natural 
England 

Task A1 - Policy context 
 
Natural England advise of the types of plans 
that should feature in this task of work. 

The list supplied will be reviewed to 
assess whether any changes or 
additions are appropriate. 

Task A2 – Baseline information 
 
Natural England provide general comment on 
this stage of the SA work, including on 
evidence sources.  They specifically comment 
on the relevance of evidence to help inform 
key strategic growth areas. 

The comments made are noted but are 
not identified as generating need for 
changes to the SA scoping report. 

Task A4 - Sustainability objectives 
 
Natural England make a number of comments 
against the SA objectives, these are: 

 Biodiversity – include a sub-objective 
which seeks to ensure current connectivity 
between habitats is not compromised, and 
that future improvements in habitat 
connectivity are not prejudiced. There is a 
need to consider the possible impact 
pathways between policy proposals and 
habitats and species impacted. The 
objective could include a commitment to 
deliver biodiversity net gain.  

 Landscape – the sub-objectives should 
provide a more detailed enquiry into the 
sustainability of the plan by asking 
whether the plan conserves and enhances 
the special qualities and distinctive 
character of the landscape and 
undeveloped coast.  

 Land resources – the sub-objective 
against which the plan will be assessed 
should set out an intention to avoid, and 
not just minimise, loss of best and most 
versatile agricultural land.  

 Health and activity – this objective would 
be stronger if it made it clear that 
assessment of the sustainability of the 
plan with regards to health and activity 
would be seeking enhanced provision of 
recreational resources but will also look to 
avoid impacts on the quality and extent of 
existing green infrastructure assets that 
have a recreational function. 

The points made are agreed with and it 
will be appropriate to incorporate 
changes to the SA scoping report to 
address concerns raised. 

page 74



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

Task A5 – Scope of the SA 
 
Natural England highlight that the SA 
Framework should include relevant indicators 
to monitor the potential significant 
environmental effects of implementing the 
plan.  They suggest some possible indicators 
that could be incorporated. 

It will be appropriate, in due course, to 
look at indicators for incorporation into 
the SA work 

Pegasus 
Group on 
behalf of Land 
Value 
Alliances LLP 
 
Please note 
that the 
representation 
is not included 
in Appendix 1 
but the full SA 
relevant 
submitted 
text, taken 
from an 
issues report 
submission, is 
reproduced.  

Pegasus Group advise: 
10.1 We are largely satisfied with the 
objectives that have been identified in the SA 
Scoping Report. 
10.2 However, we do have concerns with the 
proposed metrics for assessing potential 
development sites. There are concerns that 
proposals for new towns and/or villages will 
perform poorly on the basis that these will be 
proposed in locations where there will be 
limited to no services and facilities available. 
However, a key benefit of new towns is that 
they are able to deliver a comprehensive 
range of jobs, infrastructure and services 
within convenient walking distance of their 
residents. This needs to be captured 
somehow in the SA or acknowledged as the 
conclusions of the SA are used to inform 
potential locations for future development. 

The SA work will indeed need to 
consider the jobs, infrastructure and 
services that a new town may deliver 
and such potential provision will be 
captured, in due course, through the SA 
work. 

Savills for 
Carter and 
Crealy Farm 

Issue is raised that policies judged against 
Objective 8 (Homes) should have a more 
positive score if they deliver a larger number 
and mix of housing, incorporate a diversity of 
supply and include the provision of affordable 
housing. 

As this is a comment about application 
of the SA and not scoping report 
content changes to the SA would not be 
appropriate. 

Concern raised  that some objectives, they 
cite No 3 – Historic and Built Environment, can 
be challenging to quantify and should not be 
measure against just such matters as 
proximity of any proposal to an asset.  A 
judgement should be taken of actual potential 
adverse impacts and possible mitigation. 

The points raised are noted and not 
challenged.  However, it is not regarded 
that changes are needed to the SA 
scoping report in response.  The issue 
at stake is the application of the SA 
work in practice. 

In respect of Figure 27 – distance of potential 
development sites to facilities, the distances 
should apply to both existing facilities and 
proposed new facilities.   

It is reasonable that assessment is 
made based on existing facilities and 
clearly weight should also be given 
where new facilities are coming forward 
as well. Suitable wording to cover this 
point will be added to the SA. 

In para 5.8 the proximity of faculties should 
include employment sites and that a further 
tier of +3 should apply to development sites 
within 800 metres of basic services or bus/rail 
and 1,600 metres of employment opportunities 
with 1,600 metres being considered a 
reasonable commuting walking distance 

It is agreed that employment 
opportunities should feature in para 5.8 
and changes should be made, though 
some thought will need to be given to 
establish what constitutes and 
employment opportunity.  However it is 
not agreed that 1,600 is a reasonable 
walking distance and we are not are of 
any evidence to back this claim up. 

Sid Valley 
Association 

The document should be updated to reflect 
the fact that we have left the EU and comment 
made on any legislative changes and sources 
in the document need to be fully referenced. 

It will be appropriate to review 
reference to legislative matters but it is 
understood that departure from the EU 
does not, at this point, change 

page 75



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

legislative requirements.  Referencing 
in the document can be usefully 
reviewed to ensure consistency. 

On page 13 - Reference should be made to 
where protected sites can be located. 

Whilst we will endeavour to find a public 
record reference this is not required for 
SA purposes. 

Para 3.36 – a query is raised about if a design 
guide is proposed. 

This falls outside of the scope of SA 
wok and no changes are proposed. 

Para 2.41 – concern is raised that agricultural 
carbon emission are not stated. 

It was not previously possible to identify 
a data source but we will review this 
point. 

Para 3.55 - Since EDDC is the waste 
collection authority why is no data available for 
the volume of ED waste? 

This issue can be looked into. 

Para 3.65 - Age table - there is a need to 
break down the over 65s further, this is a 
significant issue and you 
cannot equate a 65 yr old with an 80 yr old. 
This is particularly significant given the large 
increase 
projected by ONS ( quoted in the ORS report) 
in the number of people aged over 75 ( 13,390 
people, 
representing 57% of total population growth) 

For SA purposes it is not regarded that 
a finer grained age breakdown is 
needed. 

Para 3.74 – It is considered that housing and 
household projections re needed, not just 
population projections.   

For SA purposes it is not regarded that 
such information is needed, its 
relevance would rest with policy making 
itself.  

Para 3.79 – its advised that the affordability 
ratios are expressed 'upside down' making a 
nonsense of statements about trends. Figure 
11 expresses this ratio correctly. 

This point is not understood –no 
changes are proposed. 

Paras 3.89-3.94  - The sections on air 
pollution and noise pollution are particularly 
weak, and downplay the impact of traffic on 
main roads passing through the district. 

Whilst we will seek out further 
information and evidence gathering will 
need to be proportionate to relevance 
for SA work and available resources.  It 
may be possible to add changes. 

Para 3.124 - There need to be data on part 
time and casual working. 

If available we will seek to source but it 
is not deemed essential to support SA 
work. 

Para 3.136 - It is the Paddington line that runs 
through the west of the district with no 
stations, not the Waterloo line. Why focus on 
the line that has no stations, rather than the 
one that is important 
locally both as a link to London and as a 
commuter route? 

This line error will be corrected. 

Concern is expressed about lack of reference 
to cycle routes and traffic accident data? 

Whilst not deemed essential for SA 
purposes we will see if relevant data is 
available. 

It is queried why section 4 is included and why 
it sets out impacts in the absence of a local 
plan. 

Inclusion of this section reflects legal 
requirements for the work.  Relevance 
references should be included in the 
text to clarify this matter. 

Figure 25 is regarded as an “ill thought out 
mess, needing a lot more work”.   

The assessment is not agreed and 
changes are proposed. 

Figure 26 is considered to be more 
appropriate if it were to define sub-objectives 

The approach being taken is widely 
used and it is not considered that 
changes are appropriate 

page 76



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

and the respondents advise “are unconvinced 
a mechanistic approach like this is helpful”. 

Sidmouth 
Town Council 

Task A2 
 
The collecting of baseline data is welcomed 
 and it is noted that in the Sid Valley 
hedgerow loss has been great with 
biodiversity loss.  It also noted that Broadband 
performance is variable including poor in 
some town locations. 

Points raised are noted – o changes to 
the SA scoping report are proposed. 

Task 3  
 
Matters raised in respect of Task 3 are noted 
below: 
 

 Information on the relevance and 
importance of hedgerows and trees is 
identified. 

 The plan need consider how the carbon 
footprint of existing buildings can be 
reduced. 

 Take away food outlets are a feature of all 
towns but the litter created by them can be 
significant. 

 The report highlights the poor quality of 
broadband connections in parts of East 
Devon, highlighting the more rural areas. 
However, there are also significant 
broadband issues in towns such as 
Sidmouth. 

The points raised are noted and a 
review will be undertaken to see if there 
is relevance to include reference in the 
scoping report.  However they are more 
relevant actual policy making on the 
plan. 

Task 4 
 
Matters raised include: 

 Biodiversity - EDDC should work with 
local land owners and farmers to examine 
and extend best practice in hedge 
maintenance. It should work with Devon 
County Council and Highways England to 
evaluate and improve the roadside 
hedgerows. 

 Historic and Built Environment – Any 
changes to the Esplanade and sea front 
as part of any Beach Management 
Scheme must be in keeping with the 
character of the area and must maintain 
the connection between the Town and the 
sea. 

 The Council should seek excellence and 
quality in all additions to our built 
environment. The green spaces, corridors, 
conservation areas, and views laid out in 
the Sid Valley Neighbourhood Plan should 
be protected. 

 Climate change and carbon emissions – 
Minimising carbon emissions is indeed a 
vital objective for the plan but the plan 
actions should also include EDDC leading 
by examples in their offices and other 

The points raised are considered to be 
largely operational matters for council 
function or matter that fall to possible 
plan policy rather than content of the 
SA scoping report.  Whilst the Council 
(DDC) may choose to pick up on these 
issues elsewhere they are not directly 
relevant to SA content. 

page 77



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

property as well as in the activities they 
perform. 

 Land Resources – In additional to 
enhanced recycling EDDC should seek to 
encourage reuse or repurposing of both 
personal and council assets wherever 
possible. 

 Wellbeing – Take away food licencing 
should be far more tightly linked to efforts 
to control littering . 

 Town centres – Working with Devon 
County Council, EDDC should seek to 
pedestrianize town centres to make them 
a more pleasant place to be, and to 
support local businesses. 

In their Appendix the town council include a 
matrix comparing Sidmouth Town Council 
policy against, amongst others, EDDC Local 
Plan considerations. 

Whilst an interesting comparative table 
there are no identified changes that it is 
considered should be made to the SA 
in respect of this matrix. 

T Dumper 

The importance of qualitative data is 
highlighted as is the significance of 
biodiversity.  Tough scepticism is expressed 
around Government commitments to resist 
biodiversity loss. 

The points raised are noted. 

Specific topic matters highlighted in the 
submission include: 

 Waste - reducing material use and re-use 
are even more important than recycling, the 
low waste per household in ED needs 
factoring in with  incineration and landfill 
being damaging  

 Public Transport -, we need better services, 
buses and trains, and made cheaper and 
more accessible.  

 Active travel needs to be encouraged 
everywhere, not just to meet Government 
criteria. 

 Population Balance - To maintain balance, 
rather than a perpetually ageing population 
we need sustainable employment and 
housing policies. 

 Housing - There should be proper mention 
and encouragement of social rented 
housing.  

 Employment Policy - We should be doing 
everything possible to minimise commuting 
to Exeter and other places to create self-
sufficient local places.  

The points raised are noted, their 
potential relevance relate, however, to 
the policy making process rather than 
the actual SA work. 

Transition 
Exmouth 

The respondents raise a number of matters in 
their submission, these in summary, are: 
 

 Acknowledgement should be given to the 
‘Shifting Baseline Syndrome’.  We should 
recognise much higher levels of 
biodiversity in the past. 

The points raised are noted, their 
potential relevance relate, however, to 
the policy making process rather than 
the actual SA work. 

page 78



Respondent Succinct officer summary of issue raised Officer response 

 In respect to climate change local 
authorities should educate the public. 

 There should be a baseline understanding 
of cycle land and their se promoted, whilst 
charging points should be available.  

 More weight should be given to securing 
segregated cycle lanes. 

The representation replicates a number of 
matters covered by T Dumper, above. 

 

  

page 79



Appendix 2 – Representations made on the SA scoping report 

 

This appendix reproduces the representations made on the SA scoping report in full. 

 

 

page 80



Response to the Sustainability Assessment Report – Scoping Report 

Relevant and related issues to the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report. 

This report has to be brought up to date by including the local climate and 
ecological emergency declaration and associated plan, which should underpin 
all aspects and spelt out more specifically in term of the effects and the need 
to act to mitigate and adapt.  

The consultations of the local plan and the associated reports, including the 
sustainability appraisal should have improved procedures of citizens’ 
engagement and consultation, which would include more opportunities for 
local people to interact with the process and could include citizens’ assemblies. 

Acknowledging that climate change is man-made means accepting that there 
are lines of human action that can be exposed in accountable ways. More use 
of prohibitive policy to stop bad development and to ensure that the costs are 
not born locally should be included. 

Page 56, Figure 26. The table of sustainability impacts is rather too vague to 
be useful as many issue require more detail in policy and some issues need to 
be more boldly defined in policy to feed into the local plan.  

Issues that have been regarded as a generalised issue and with the costs 
hidden as externalities, should now be subject to strong lines of accountability 
with respect to a clear assessment of the impact of the proposed 
development. The real effects from climate change to the local area must feed 
into development policy in more specific ways – e.g. the effects of increased 
green house gas emissions is causing flooding so this will have environmental, 
social and economic impacts for which specific developments have to take 
account. The lines of accountability have to be made clear and fed within local 
planning policy. Similarly the effects of pollution resulting from development 
must be widened, e.g. the effects of plastic waste from a proposed 
development.  

Give greater weight to the effects of climate change by having more 
meaningful metrics as a policy condition within the planning process. 

 Need to ensure there are more specific metrics as regards local carbon 
emissions and the effects of development in contributing to the increase 
in the areas carbon emissions to enable a fuller assessment of harm. 

page 81

alemon
Typewritten text
A BENTHAM



Recently a planning inspector said about the proposed gas station 
development at Exmouth, that he found it difficult to assess the 
comparative adverse effects of the increased carbon emissions caused 
by the proposed development against the stated benefits of the 
development, because of the lack of such metrics relating to green 
house gas emissions. Such specific metrics must be included in the local 
plan policy as part of the planning process to fully asses development 
against climate change and environmental emergency plans. Developers 
must be fully accountable for unnecessary green house gas emissions 
that will conflict with the limitations set by local emissions targets so 
that proposals can be refused on that basis.  

The local plan needs to ensure that it does not conflict with the climate 
and ecological emergency, should underpin and feed into the local plan 
in a meaning full way when policy is formulated, and include any 
relevant metrics that must be drawn on in assessing development. 

 

Economic Development and job creation. 

I think we should be careful about being drawn into a narrowly framed 
narrative where the definition of jobs, better paid job, higher paid skills often 
ignores many of the essential and real activities that takes place in our local 
community and that need to take place in our community for it to function 
successfully.   

Measures of economic progress are dominated by present established 
economic indicators of GDP and GVA. I think that the scoping report should 
make it clear that even though present national and Government documents 
are driven on the basis of these, there is wide spread criticism of the 
dependence on their use, and for the local plan, it is important to move 
beyond these indicators, focusing instead on a dashboards of alternative 
indicators, such as life expectancy, carbon emissions, and education, which can 
support a reorientation of develop policy goals going into the future. A new 
Development Plan must enable decision-making guidance to be fit for high 
uncertainty in a crisis-prone world and look to other measures of progress. 
Because the Government is behind the curve on this does not mean that local 
government has to be. Other local areas are making these issues clear, that 
economic growth is not enhancing life satisfaction, alleviating poverty, or 

page 82



protecting the environment and is not, therefore, providing a viable vision for 
the future.  

The problem with present established growth indicators are that they fail to 
measure the right outcomes and send us down policy paths that are damaging 
to our communities, producing the wrong sort of development. For example 
houses that generate investment platforms that provide asset base for 
financial speculation and large profits for some but do not add to the 
affordable or social homes required at reasonable rents in the local 
community. Housing becomes a debt based asset class which introduces crisis 
and instability both to the home ownership and the rental sector, rather than 
producing an outcome that meets the fundamental need to have a home. 
Housing development is an endless pursuit of profit, and has led to a policy 
outcome which includes the developers “get out clause” of the viability 
assessment. 

In considering local development we need to reorder priorities and to turn 
away from a growth imperative, that pushes profit through value added in 
financial terms that can only be serviced by high personal, interest bearing 
debt. It turns debts into assets through the process of securitisation (packaged 
up and reproduced on the asset side of accounting sheets) and pressures us to 
consume in quantities and ways that are detrimental to ourselves and our 
communities and that often does not support the wider local economies. 

If this continues to underpin development it is neither sustainable nor stable. It 
is prone to crisis, and local development takes a hit, as do the lives and well 
being of local communities. 

 

page 83



page 84

alemon_1
Typewritten text
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY



page 85



page 86



page 87



page 88



page 89



page 90



South West England
Buller’s Hill, Kennford,

Nr Exeter, Devon, EX6 7XR
Tel 0300 067 5549

southwest.fce@forestrycommission.gov.uk

Area Director
Mark Prior

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

.        
 

Protecting and expanding Britain’s 
forests and woodlands, and increasing 
their value to society and the environment www.forestry.gov.uk/england 

 
Planning Policy 
East Devon District Council 
Blackdown House,  
Border Road 
Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 
EX14 1EJ 
 
18 February 2021 
 
Dear East Devon Planning Team, 
 
Sustainability Apprasial East Devon 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for East Devon. The 
Forestry Commission are a non statutory consultee and are the government’s forestry experts. It is in 
that role that I respond. 
 
Veteran Trees 
I am very pleased to see reference to ancient woodland within the SA. Could you please amend this 
section however to ensure it is expanded to also covers veteran trees. These are covered by the NPPF 
paragraph 175 and are afforded the same protection being irreplaceable, however due as they are 
generally found outside of woodland and are therefore more vulnerable to the impact of development. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
The aim of the SA is in ‘identifying sustainability issues’ and the aim of the SEA is ‘defining the 
environmental protection objectives’.  
 
Whilst trees themselves are afforded protection the plan should also acknowledge the role that trees 
have in protecting against many of the other issues, and are therefore also part of the solution.  
So to help further meet these aims I would like to advise how many of the concerns raised in the plan 
will be mitigated by well-designed tree planting and woodland creation and this should be strongly 
favoured when considering new development consent.  
 
The predicted impacts of Climate Change are well understood within the SA and development allows 
the opportunity to better plan the greenspaces around developments maximising natural benefits. 
Where tree planting is a key component of Green Infrastructure and required ecological net gain of 
development then trees and woodland can: 

 Slow water in surface run-off 
 Capture rainfall and prevent water even reaching ground 
 Increase infiltration to ground water reducing flood risk 
 Improve water quality by absorbing pollutants, thus locking up nitrates and phosphates (particularly 

important given declining condition of UK waters and local RAMSAR sites) 
 Scrub air of pollutants , especially harmful particulates 
 Provide summer shading and winter sheltering acting as ‘natures air conditioner’ 
 Be a key landscape component screening development 
 Help AONB achieve deliver their objective to increase the wooded landscape (Colchester Declaration) 
 Deliver the richest long term biodiversity component when considering biodiversity net gain 
 provide robust recreational opportunities having a large carrying capacity of usage levels 

page 91

alemon_2
Typewritten text
FORESTRY COMMISSION



 

 Capture Carbon faster than any other lad use. Soil carbon increases most rapidly under woodland, if timber 
used then above ground carbon is also locked up. 

 Provide sustainable construction material if well-managed  

If well planned tree planting and woodland creation is required in new development the gains can be 
considerable and the opportunity should not be lost. 
 
Flood risk 
The planting of new riparian and floodplain woodland can help to reduce diffuse pollution, protect river 
morphology, moderate stream temperature and aid flood risk management, as well as meet 
Biodiversity Action Plan targets for the restoration and expansion of wet woodland. The Forestry 
Commission is keen to work in partnership with stakeholders to develop opportunities for woodland 
creation to deliver these objectives. 
 
Renewable & low carbon energy  
The resilience of existing and new woodland is a key theme of the Forestry Commission’s work to 
Protect, Improve and Expand woodland in England. Woodfuel and timber supplies continue to be an 
opportunity for local market growth whilst also enabling woodlands to be brought back into active 
management.  
 
In the wider planning context the Forestry Commission encourages local authorities to consider  
the role of trees in delivering planning objectives as part of a wider integrated landscape approach.  
For instance, through the inclusion of green infrastructure (including trees and woodland) in and 
around new development; and the use of locally sourced wood in construction and as a sustainable, 
carbon lean fuel. 
 
We hope this information and the links to other resources will be helpful to you. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Jon Burgess 
Local Partnership Advisor 

page 92



1

From: Harfield, Rebecca <Rebecca.Harfield@HistoricEngland.org.uk>
Sent: 22 March 2021 17:55
To: Planning Policy
Subject: East Devon Local Plan 2021 to 2040 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report - 

Historic England
Attachments: East Devon LP SA Scoping Report _FINAL.pdf

Dear Sir or Madam 
 
Thank you for your email below acknowledging receipt of Historic England’s comments on the 
East Devon Local Plan 2021 to 2040 Issues & Options Consultation and the Duty to Cooperate. 
 
As we mentioned in our email below and in our written response, we unfortunately did not have 
the capacity to comment on the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report within the consultation 
period but undertook to do this as soon as possible. We have now prepared our comments and 
these are attached to this email in what is Appendix 2 to our original consultation response letter, 
dated 15 March 2021. 
 
As you will see from our comments, we have questioned the robustness of the historic 
environment baseline information in the Scoping Report, which we consider should be addressed 
in the preparation of a Heritage Topic Paper. In our view, this could provide the evidence base for 
both the Sustainability Appraisal and the new Local Plan. We have also made a number of 
suggested changes to key sustainability issues and objectives. We hope these can be addressed 
in the next stage of the SA’s preparation.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you any queries about our comments or would like to 
arrange a meeting. 
 
Kind regards 
 
Rebecca 
 
Rebecca Harfield MRTPI, IHBC, M.ICOMOS 
Historic Environment Planning Adviser (South West) | Project Lead for Tewkesbury High Street 
Heritage Action Zone 
Development Advice | Regions 
Historic England, 1st Floor Fermentation North, Hawkins Lane, Bristol, BS1 6JQ 
Direct Dial: 0117 9750716 | Mobile: 07733 296309 
 

 
  
We offer four, paid-for Enhanced Advisory Services in addition to our existing, free planning and listing 
services. We also provide tailored Service Level Agreements for longer and more complex projects, often 
involving combinations of individual Enhanced Advisory Services. Visit our website for more information: 
HistoricEngland.org.uk/EAS. 
 

From: Planning Policy <PlanningPolicy@eastdevon.gov.uk>  
Sent: 17 March 2021 14:26 
To: Harfield, Rebecca <Rebecca.Harfield@HistoricEngland.org.uk> 

page 93

alemon_3
Typewritten text
HISTORIC ENGLAND



2

Subject: RE: East Devon Local Plan 2021 to 2040 Issues & Options Consultation, Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report & Duty to Cooperate - Historic England 
 

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL:  do not click any links or open any attachments unless you trust 
the sender and were expecting the content to be sent to you 

From: Harfield, Rebecca <Rebecca.Harfield@HistoricEngland.org.uk>  
Sent: 15 March 2021 11:25 
To: Planning Policy <PlanningPolicy@eastdevon.gov.uk> 
Subject: East Devon Local Plan 2021 to 2040 Issues & Options Consultation, Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
& Duty to Cooperate - Historic England 
  
Dear Sir or Madam 
  
Thank you for consulting Historic England on the East Devon Local Plan 2021 to 2040 Issues & 
Options Consultation, Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report and Duty to Cooperate. Please find 
our response attached to this email. 
  
As you’ll see from our letter, we have unfortunately not had the capacity to comment on the 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report in the consultation period. We apologise for this and will 
provide our comments on this as soon as we can in what will be Appendix 2 to our letter. 
  
In our response, we have signalled some matters where we would appreciate early discussions 
with the Council, mostly regarding the historic environment evidence base for the new local plan. 
In the meantime, please do not hesitate to contact me if you any queries about our comments or 
would like to arrange a meeting. 
  
Kind regards 
  

page 94



3

Rebecca 
  
  
Rebecca Harfield MRTPI, IHBC, M.ICOMOS 
Historic Environment Planning Adviser (South West) | Project Lead for Tewkesbury High Street 
Heritage Action Zone 
Development Advice | Regions 
Historic England, 1st Floor Fermentation North, Hawkins Lane, Bristol, BS1 6JQ 
Direct Dial: 0117 9750716 | Mobile: 07733 296309 
  

 
  
We offer four, paid-for Enhanced Advisory Services in addition to our existing, free planning and listing 
services. We also provide tailored Service Level Agreements for longer and more complex projects, often 
involving combinations of individual Enhanced Advisory Services. Visit our website for more information: 
HistoricEngland.org.uk/EAS. 
  
  

 

We are the public body that helps people care for, enjoy and celebrate England's spectacular historic environment, 
from beaches and battlefields to parks and pie shops. 
Follow us:  Facebook  |  Twitter  |  Instagram     Sign up to our newsletter      

This e-mail (and any attachments) is confidential and may contain personal views which are not the views of Historic England unless specifically stated. If 
you have received it in error, please delete it from your system and notify the sender immediately. Do not use, copy or disclose the information in any way nor 
act in reliance on it. Any information sent to Historic England may become publicly available. We respect your privacy and the use of your information. Please 
read our full privacy policy for more information. 
  

Follow us on Facebook and Twitter 

Subscribe to your East Devon Update for regular news and information about what’s happening at East 
Devon District Council. Choose which topics you’re interested in to get a personalised update.  

Email disclaimer 

page 95



 

 

 

Historic England, 1
st
 Floor Fermentation North, Finzels Reach, Hawkins Lane, Bristol, BS1 6JQ 

Telephone 0117 975 1308  HistoricEngland.org.uk 

Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy.  

Correspondence or information which you send us may therefore become publicly available .  
 

1 

Appendix 2: Historic England Comments on the Sustainability Appraisal & Strategic Environmental Assessment Draft Scoping Report for East 
Devon Local Plan 2021-2040 – January 2021 
 
Task Support/Object/Comment Comments and suggested changes 
Task A1 – Policy 
context – other relevant 
plans, policies and 
programmes 
 
And  
 
Appendix 1  
 
And 
 
Figure 30 

Support/Comment Historic England welcomes the inclusion of legislation, national policy and local policy, plans and programmes 
relevant to the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment. 
 
We have a number of  minor suggested corrections as follows: 

• National Heritage Protection Plan (English Heritage, 2012) – please note that that this was replaced by 
Heritage 2020 by the Historic Environment Forum. 

• Heritage at Risk 2015 / South West (Historic England) – this is updated annually and should be replaced 
with a reference to the latest 2020 version. 

 
We also have a number of suggested additions as follows: 

• UNESCO World Heritage Convention 
• European Landscape Convention 
• The Convention for the Protection of the Architectural Heritage of Europe 
• The European Convention on the Protection of Archaeological Heritage 
• Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act 1979 

• Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
• Marine and Coastal Areas Act 2009 
• Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 
• Planning Practice Guidance – Historic Environment (last updated 2019) 
• HEAN 8: Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment (December 2016) 

• HEAN 3: Site Allocations (October 2015)  
• South Inshore and Offshore Marine Plan (2018) 
• Jurassic Coast Partnership Plan 2020-2025 
• East Devon Heritage Strategy (2019-2031) 

• Adopted conservation area appraisals and management plans 
• Guide to the Listing of Local Heritage Assets in East Devon (2019) 
• East Devon List of Local Heritage Assets (2020). 

Task A2 - Collecting 
Baseline Information 
 
The landscape and 
seascape of East 

Support in part/Object in 
part/Comment 

Historic England welcomes the much of the text in relation to landscape and seascape of East Devon. It should be 
noted, however, that there are inter-relationships between landscape, seascape, townscape and the historic 
environment, which could be more explicitly highlighted. For example: 

• The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 states that the conservation and enhancement of 
cultural heritage is an important consideration in AONBs. We also note that the Landscapes Review 

page 96

https://www.theheritagealliance.org.uk/historic-environment-forum/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/historic-environment-and-site-allocations-in-local-plans/


 

 

 

Historic England, 1
st
 Floor Fermentation North, Finzels Reach, Hawkins Lane, Bristol, BS1 6JQ 

Telephone 0117 975 1308  HistoricEngland.org.uk 

Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy.  

Correspondence or information which you send us may therefore become publicly available .  
 

2 

Devon 
 

(2019) included a proposal to make the purpose of AONBs explicitly include cultural heritage.  
• Registered parks and gardens are areas of designed landscape but are also designated heritage assets.  
• Landscapes, townscapes and seascapes often form the settings of heritage assets, as well as being of 

importance in their own right. 
• The presence and density of heritage assets along East Devon’s coastline could be usefully 

acknowledged, which include the Jurassic Coast World Heritage Site (a designated heritage asset).  
• The concept of seascape could be usefully explained with links to seascape character assessment. 

 
We note mention of some issues and threats affecting landscape and coastline. In our view, however, this is not 
suf ficient information to provide an up-to-date and robust evidence base for identifying sustainability issues, 
predicting and monitoring likely effects and assessing alternative solutions in preparing the new local plan. Further 
information can be found in HEAN 8: Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment (2016). 
 

Task A2 - Collecting 
Baseline Information 
 
Historic environment, 
built heritage and 
design quality 
 

Support in part/Object in 
part/Comment 

Historic England welcomes the inclusion of this section on the historic environment, built heritage and design 
quality. However, we do not consider that this provides sufficient information to provide an up-to-date and robust 
evidence base for identifying sustainability issues, predicting and monitoring likely effects and assessing 
alternative solutions in preparing the new local plan. We offer the following comments and suggested changes: 

• The title and text focus on built heritage but should cover all heritage asset types as well as explaining that 
their settings can also positively contribute to their significance. 

• It should acknowledge that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and the statutory duties and 
national policy requirements in respect of their conservation and enhancement (see chapter 16 of the 
NPPF 2019). 

• The text should explain the difference between designated and non-designated heritage assets (note the 
word ‘un-designated’ should not be used given the terms used in the NPPF). 

• The table at Figure 4 should provide the information source(s) and dates for this data. Information on 
designated heritage assets excluding conservation areas can be found in Historic England’s Local 
Authority Profiles 2020 for East Devon (see Heritage Counts Indicator Data). 

• The table in Figure 4 should also seek to provide information on non-designated heritage assets including 
buried, waterlogged archaeological and paleoenvironmental remains of significant interest. Information 
can be obtained from the Devon Historic Environment Record, the Intertidal and Coastal Peat Database 
and the Council’s own website for the East Devon List of Local Heritage Assets (2020). 

• No information is presented on heritage at risk through neglect, decay and other threats and the reasons 
for this. Historic England maintains a Register of Heritage at Risk that is updated annually. Please note 
that our Register does not cover all types of designated heritage asset and does not consider non-
designated heritage assets. Your local authority conservation and archaeology advisers should be able to 
provide further information about other heritage at risk. 

• Little ef fort seems to have been made to identify the current and likely future condition of East Devon’s 

page 97

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/seascape-assessment-for-the-south-marine-plan-areas-mmo-1037
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/
https://historicengland.org.uk/research/heritage-counts/indicator-data/
https://historicengland.org.uk/research/current/heritage-science/intertidal-peat-database/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-register/


 

 

 

Historic England, 1
st
 Floor Fermentation North, Finzels Reach, Hawkins Lane, Bristol, BS1 6JQ 

Telephone 0117 975 1308  HistoricEngland.org.uk 

Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy.  

Correspondence or information which you send us may therefore become publicly available .  
 

3 

historic environment, threats as well as opportunities related to the conservation, enhancement and 
enjoyment of heritage assets, areas that may be particular sensitive to development. In addition to keeping 
assets in ongoing use and management and their vulnerability to poor quality and inappropriate works and 
activities, obvious examples of opportunities and threat include mitigation and adaptation to climate 
change, coastal erosion and flooding, the challenges facing historic high streets and town centres and the 
relationship between the historic environment and individual and community health and wellbeing.  

• Further information will also be available in conservation area character appraisals and management 

plans, as well as in the adopted East Devon Heritage Strategy.  
• No information has been provided on the existing local plan, including relevant policies, how it has 

performed against its vision, issues and objectives for heritage assets. 
• The section on design quality does not acknowledge positive contribution that heritage assets can make to 

local character and distinctiveness as per paragraph 185 of the NPPF 2019 and the National Design 
Guide and the emerging National Model Design Code. 

 
Your local authority conservation and archaeology staff would be well-placed to help you address these points. 
Further information can be found in HEAN 8: Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(2016). 
 
Given this and in light of our comments in our response to the East Devon Local Plan (2021-2040) Issues and 
Options Consultation (dated 15 March 2021), we consider that a Heritage Topic Paper should be prepared to 
address these matters. This would provide an up-to-date evidence base for sustainability appraisal and the local 
plan itself as required by paragraphs 31, 32 and 35 of the NPPF 2019. 
 

Task A3 – Identifying 
key sustainability issues 
 

Support/Comment Historic England welcomes the inclusion of Landscape, Historic and built environment and Quality of new 
development as sustainability issues in Figure 24. 
 
Landscape: we consider this should be broadened to cover seascape and townscape given the baseline 
information collated in Task A2. 
 
Historic and built environment: we consider that that this should be broadened to cover all types of designated 
and non-designated heritage assets as it comes across as focussed on built heritage. 
 
Quality of new development: we consider that this should recognise the positive contribution that heritage assets 
can make to local character and distinctiveness and to high-quality development. 
 
Without addressing our comments on the baseline information above, however, the summary commentary and 
likely future trends without a new local plan cannot be considered to be robust. Further information can be found in 

page 98

https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/features/climate-change-sustainability-and-energy-efficiency/
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/features/climate-change-sustainability-and-energy-efficiency/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/marine-planning/rczas-reports/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/technical-advice/flooding-and-historic-buildings/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/historic-towns-and-high-streets/
https://historicengland.org.uk/research/current/social-and-economic-research/wellbeing/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/


 

 

 

Historic England, 1
st
 Floor Fermentation North, Finzels Reach, Hawkins Lane, Bristol, BS1 6JQ 

Telephone 0117 975 1308  HistoricEngland.org.uk 

Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy.  

Correspondence or information which you send us may therefore become publicly available .  
 

4 

HEAN 8: Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment (2016). 
 

Task A4 – Def ining 
sustainability objectives 
 

Support/Comment Historic England welcomes the inclusion of the following sustainability objectives in Figure 25 subject following 
changes: 
 
2. Landscape: 

• delete ‘our natural environment’ from the objective to recognise the historic character of landscapes and 
seascapes (please see Heritage and the Environment) 

• include a reference to seascape character in factors 
 
3. Historic and built environment: 

• delete ‘built and historic assets’ and replace with ‘heritage assets’ in the objective 
• include reference to World Heritage Site, Registered Parks and Gardens and locally listed heritage assets 

in f irst bullet point in factors 
• incorporate a new bullet point that seeks to address heritage at risk as a factor 

• reword the second bullet point in factors as follows: ‘sustain the historic environment and promote local 
character and distinctiveness by conserving and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and their 
settings and creating high quality new settlements, townscapes, developments, built environment and 
public realm’ 

• reword the third bullet point in factors as follows: ‘sustain the historic environment and promote local 
character and distinctiveness through urban design, build quality and detailing of new buildings, 
alterations/extensions to existing buildings, streets, and spaces’ 

• include a new bullet point that focusses on the enjoyment of the historic environment given paragraph 185 
of  the NPPF 2019. 

 
There may be other factors to add into Sustainability objective 3 when more up-to-date and relevant historic 
environment baseline data is available. 
 
We also consider that the factors should recognise the holistic nature of the historic environment and its inter-
relationships with other Sustainability objectives. For example, Historic England considers that climate change is 
one of  the most significant and fastest growing threats to people and their cultural heritage but that looking after 
and learning f rom the historic environment contributes positively to overall sustainability and can help with climate 
change mitigation and adaptation. We believe that energy efficiency, sustainable technology and reducing carbon 
emissions are compatible with the conservation of our heritage (Sustainability objectives 4 and 5). Another 
example is town centres, most of which are historic, are conservation areas and contain many heritage assets 
(Sustainability objective 13). Further information can be found in HEAN 8: Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (2016). 

 

page 99

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/
https://historicengland.org.uk/content/heritage-counts/pub/2020/heritage-environment-2020/
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/statements/statement-on-climate-change-and-sustainability/
https://historicengland.org.uk/research/current/threats/heritage-climate-change-environment/reponses/#Section3Text
https://historicengland.org.uk/research/current/threats/heritage-climate-change-environment/reponses/#Section3Text
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/


1

From:
Sent: 08 March 2021 21:49
To: Planning Policy
Subject: Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report

Dear East Devon Planning Department 
 
I would like to comment, under the consultation for the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report and ask you to take 
the points below into account, which relate to the pages in the report: 
 
Page 14: 'Wildlife more Generally' - We are very lucky to have both otters and beavers in the River Otter.  Please can 
this be given a special mention as I would like to see any decisions about development under the local plan be taken 
with the protection of wildlife in rivers, river banks and river meadows in mind.  The beavers have particularly been 
mentioned on the national news and they are of interest as a natural 'amenity' for both residents and visitors. 
 
Page 32: 'Noise' - A very significant noise blight across East Devon is the A30 which is surfaced with concrete. When 
it was opened (in around the year 2000?) the local population was assured that it would be surfaced with tarmac 
within 10 years.  This has never happened and I would like to see East Devon District Council a) acknowledging that 
it creates noise pollution in its current state, b) that it should be an objective to lobby for it to be resurfaced in 
tarmac and c) ensure that any further roadbuilding of the A30 eg the proposed new section of road going out to the 
Blackdown Hills should be surfaced in tarmac to minimise noise pollution. East Devon should not accept second 
best! 
 
Page 53: No's 1 (Biodiversity) and 2 (Landscape) - The value of biodiversity and landscape should be acknowledged 
as something that should be preserved not just for the enjoyment of residents of East Devon but because it is a 
precious resource for visitors to enjoy, many of whom come to East Devon to escape from cities and other built up 
areas to our 'green lung'. Additionally biodiversity (or lack of it) in East Devon affects the planet - birds and insects 
migrating here from other places in the world can be affected by plans humans make for East Devon.  We should not 
just preserve biodiversity in AONB's but acknowledge that all environments have a part to play in sustaining 
biodiversity and we should take this into account in our plan. 
 
It would also be great if East Devon could encourage more tree-planting 
- either by grants, or if no money is available, via campaigns - eg social media or newsletters. 
 
Page 53: Sustainability Objectives - No 4 'Climate Change and Carbon Emissions'.  Since the Covid Pandemic, the 
working world has changed and it has been proven that with new technology more people can work more of the 
time from home.  I think East Devon District Council should include the objective of encouraging businesses and 
workers to espouse the idea of more home working wherever possible. This would reduce carbon emissions and 
also reduce the need for building more office space on green fields.  This could also help increase employment 
opportunities for people for whom public transport is lacking, in many of the East Devon villages. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Naome Glanville 

 
 
 

page 100

alemon_4
Typewritten text
NAOME GLANVILLE



Page 1 of 15 

Date:    15th March 2021    
Our ref:   340469 
Your ref:  Review of East Devon Local Plan 2013-2031 

 
Mr M Dickins 
Planning Policy  
East Devon District Council 
Blackdown House 
Border Road 
Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 
EX14 1EJ 
mdickins@eastdevon.gov.uk   
 
 
BY EMAIL ONLY 
 
 

 
Hornbeam House   
Crewe Business 
Park    

  Electra Way          
  Crewe               
  Cheshire   
  C W1 6GJ 
 
  T  0300 060 3900 
   

 
Dear Mr Dickins 
 
Review of East Devon Local Plan 2013-2031 – Issues and Options report, Housing and 
Economic Land Availability Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
 
Thank you for your consultation dated and received by Natural England on 19th January 2021. 
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development. 
 
We have considered the three Local Plan Review documents – the Issues and Options report, the 
HELAA and the SA Scoping report - and welcome the opportunity to provide input to the process at this 
early stage. Natural England has the following comments to make, these are in addition to the 
comments made on the Duty to Cooperate consultation held in December 2020. 
 
Issues and Options report – Jan 2021 
 
Objectives, Scope and background 
 
Local Plans and their reviews should be based on a relevant and up-to-date environmental evidence 
base. Annex A provides a list of sources of evidence which may be useful in ensuring the East Devon 
Local Plan is evidence based, in line with paragraph 31 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and assist in meeting Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) requirements. A range of 
additional locally specific evidence is also likely to be needed to underpin plan preparation , such as the 
Green Infrastructure Strategy for Towns and the Open Space Strategy that the current Local Plan 
identif ied a need for. 
 
Designing for health and wellbeing 
 
Natural England would welcome the preparation of a robust and up-to-date assessment of the needs 
for open space, and opportunities for new provision, to support the achievement of this objective 
through Local Plan policy. The plan should make provision for an appropriate quality and quantity of 
green space to meet identif ied local needs, and to remedy any deficiencies, as part of wider open 
space provision.  
 
The plan should recognise the value of the natural environment to health and wellbeing, including 

page 101

mailto:mdickins@eastdevon.gov.uk
alemon_5
Typewritten text
NATURAL ENGLAND



Page 2 of 15 

through seeking to protect and enhance public rights of way and open access land, and by improving 
public access to and enjoyment of the coast. The plan could include policy to support the creation and 
maintenance of the current and future route of the National Trail around the coast of England. 
 
Tackling the climate emergency 
 
Natural England welcomes the inclusion of this section in the emerging Local Plan and, as per our 
earlier comments, recommends that the clear need for policies to address the impacts of climate 
change on the natural environment are recognised in this chapter.  
 
If the intention is to identify suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy developments in the 
Plan then it will be necessary to prepare an appropriate evidence base to support those proposals. 
This would include an assessment of  the capacity of the natural environment (landscape and 
biodiversity) to accommodate renewable and low carbon energy developments and their associated 
infrastructure.  
 

The Issues and Options report also recognises the need to adapt to the impacts of climate change. In 
addition to adapting to flooding, as identif ied in the report, there may also be a need to implement other 
adaptation measures, such as but not limited to: 

• identifying appropriate policies on coastal change that work with natural coastal processes; 

• recognising the role of green infrastructure in climate change adaptation; 

• enabling the natural environment to adapt to climate change by identifying a local nature 
recovery network; 

• identifying opportunities for new (or improved connectivity to existing) multi-functional green and 
blue infrastructure; 

• requiring public spaces to be more wildlife friendly and climate resilient; 

• requiring the planting of  street trees in new developments, characteristic to the local area, to 
make a positive contribution to urban cooling; and 

• requiring schemes to be designed to encourage wildlife. 
 
These are examples of nature based solutions that act to help adapt to climate change but they also 
offer opportunities for environmental gains, and any habitat creation and/or enhancement as a result of 
the above may also deliver a measurable biodiversity net gain. 
 
 
Meeting housing need 
 
In accordance with paragraph 171 of the NPPF, the plan should allocate land with the least 
environmental or amenity value. Natural England expects sufficient evidence to be provided, through 
the SA and HRA, to justify the site selection process and to ensure sites of least environmental value 
are selected, e.g. land allocations should avoid designated sites and landscapes and significant areas 
of best and most versatile agricultural land and should consider the direct and indirect effects of 
development, including on land outside designated boundaries and within the setting of protected 
landscapes. In order to identify potential impacts on designated sites the Authority is advised to use our 
Impact Risk Zones (available from Magic Map) in assessing their site allocation options. 
 
Site allocation policies should seek opportunities to incorporate biodiversity within the developments. 
 
Supporting jobs and the economy 
 
Our comments set out in the paragraph above, relating to the selection of housing allocation sites, 
apply equally to the selection of site allocations for employment and economic uses. 
 
Natural England would welcome the inclusion of text in the Plan that reflects an understanding of the 
value of the natural environment to the local economy and seeks to maximise the delivery of green 
growth while avoiding or minimising costs to the natural environment. 
 

page 102



Page 3 of 15 

Site allocation policies should seek opportunities to incorporate biodiversity within the developments. 
 
Designing beautiful and healthy spaces and buildings 
 
The Local Plan should contain policies that require high quality design and recognise the role of the 
natural environment in delivering local distinctiveness and sense of place. The Government are 
currently consulting on revisions to the NPPF to implement policy changes in response to the Building 
Better Building Beautiful Commission’s ‘Living with Beauty’ report. The proposed changes recognise 
the contribution that the presence of greenery makes to the beauty of a place, and the proposed 
changes to the NPPF include a requirement for plan policies to ensure that new streets are tree-lined. 
 
Our outstanding natural environment 
 
Protected Landscapes 
Natural England would welcome Local Plan policies that provide protected landscapes (Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty in this case) with the highest levels of policy protection in relation to 
conserving and enhancing their landscape and scenic beauty.  
 
The plan should set out clear criteria for appropriate development within or impacting on AONBs, 
including the major developments test set out in footnote 55 of the NPPF for development within 
protected landscapes. The criteria should consider the nature, scale, location, setting and standards of 
design for such developments. 
 
In addition, the Plan should take account of the character and distinctiveness of different areas; it 
should recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside; it should consider the 
appropriate protection of locally valued landscapes; and it should, where appropriate, identify and 
protect areas of tranquillity. 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
Natural England are pleased to note that the Issues and Options report acknowledges the 
Government’s commitment to introduce mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain. It is expected that the 
Environment Bill, when enacted, will set out the timeline for when and how the mandatory net gain will 
be implemented. Natural England welcomes the proposed interim approach being developed by East 
Devon District Council and advises that the combined approach is likely to be more consistent with the 
emerging National approach. However, the Authority might like to consider the priority which each 
option is given, with onsite delivery of net gain being the preferred option. It might also be necessary to 
consider how the local tariff will operate alongside the National Biodiversity Credits scheme, if and 
when it is introduced. 
 
Biodiversity net gain is a key tool to help nature’s recovery and is also fundamental to health and 
wellbeing as well as creating attractive and sustainable places to live and work in. The National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) highlights the role of policies and decision making in ‘minimising 
impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity’ (para 170). 
 
Planning Practice Guidance describes net gain as an ‘approach to development that leaves the natural 
environment in a measurably better state than it was beforehand ’ and applies to both biodiversity net 
gain and wider environmental net gains. For biodiversity net gain, Defra’s Biodiversity Metric 2.0, can 
be used to measure gains and losses to biodiversity resulting from development. We advise you to use 
this metric to implement development plan policies on biodiversity net gain. Any action, as a result of 
development, that creates or enhances habitat features can be measured using the metric and as a 
result count towards biodiversity net gain. 
 
The Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management, along with partners, has 
developed ‘good practice principles’ for biodiversity net gain, which can assist plan-making authorities 
in gathering evidence and developing policy.  
 
Natural England focusses our advice on embedding biodiversity net gain in development plans, since 

page 103



Page 4 of 15 

the approach is better developed than for wider environmental gains. However your authority should 
consider the requirements of the NPPF (paragraph 72, 102, 118 and 170) and seek opportunities for 
wider environmental net gain wherever possible. This can be achieved by considering how policies and 
proposed allocations can contribute to wider environment enhancement, help adapt to the impacts of 
climate change and/or take forward elements of existing green infrastructure, open space or 
biodiversity strategies.  
 
Designated Sites and HRA 
Natural England advises that the Plan should include the following recommendations: 

• set criteria based policies for protected biodiversity or geodiversity sites or landscape areas, 
distinguishing between international, national and local sites; 

• make clear how specific impacts f rom new development (e.g. recreational disturbance from new 
housing and deterioration in water quality) will be addressed; 

• set a strategic approach to biodiversity which embeds the principle of avoiding impacts and sets 
out the mitigation hierarchy for when impacts can’t be avoided; and 

• map designated sites so they can be clearly identif ied in the context of proposed development 
allocations and policies for development 

 
Our comments made in the previous Duty to Cooperate consultation (Dec 2020), relating to the review 
of the South East Devon European Sites Mitigation Strategy; the amended Habitats Regulations; the 
Nutrient Management Plan for the River Axe SAC; and the air quality guidance, still apply. 
 
Priority Habitats and Protected Species 
Para. 174 of the NPPF states that Plans should ‘promote the conservation, restoration and 
enhancement of priority habitats, … and the protection and recovery of priority species ’. 
 
Priority habitats and species are those listed under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act, 2006 and UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UK BAP). Further information is available 
here. Local Biodiversity Action Plans (LBAPs) identify the local action needed to deliver UK targets for 
habitats and species. They also identify targets for other habitats and species of local importance and 
can provide a useful blueprint for biodiversity enhancement in any particular area.  
 
Protected species are those species protected by law. Further information can be found here. Sites 
containing watercourses, old buildings, significant hedgerows, old mines, caves, heathland, grassland, 
ponds, previously developed land, woodland or substantial trees (to name a few) are possible habitats 
for protected species. 
 
Marine Conservation Zones 
The Otter Estuary Marine Conservation Zone and the Axe Estuary Marine Conservation Zone are 
within the East Devon District boundary. The Local Plan review should consider the inclusion of 
planning policy relating to the appropriate consideration of MCZs and the need for MCZ assessments, 
where applicable.  
 
Networks of Biodiversity and the Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
Para. 174 of the NPPF states that Plans should ‘identify, map and safeguard’ and ‘promote the 
conservation, restoration and enhancement’ of ecological networks. This should include any proposed 
opportunities for habitat enhancement, restoration or creation in the local nature recovery strategy, and 
will require the authority to work collaboratively with the Devon Local Nature Partnership and adjoining 
authorities. The Plan should specify the types of development that may be suitable within each of the 
Nature Areas identif ied through the LNRS. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
A strategic approach for green infrastructure is required to ensure its protection and enhancement, as 
outlined in para 171 of the NPPF. Green Infrastructure should be incorporated into the plan as a 
strategic policy area, supported by appropriate detailed policies and proposals to ensure effective 
provision and delivery. Evidence of a strategic approach can be underpinned by a Green Infrastructure 
Strategy. We encourage the provision of green infrastructure to be included as a specific policy in the 

page 104

https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/uk-bap/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/protected-species-how-to-review-planning-applications


Page 5 of 15 

Local Plan or alternatively integrated into relevant other policies, for example biodiversity, green space, 
flood risk, climate change, reflecting the multifunctional benefits of green infrastructure. 
 
Natural England welcomes the suggested approach of designating Local Green Spaces in the Local 
Plan and advises that the development of the policies and their evidence base should be consistent 
with paras. 99 to 101 of the NPPF which requires the designations to complement investment in 
sufficient homes and jobs; be demonstrably special and local in character; and requires the policies for 
managing development within the designated areas to be consistent with those for Green Belts. 
 
Ecosystem Services and Natural Capital 
To be consistent with para. 170 of the NPPF, the Local Plan should set out policies that demonstrate 
recognition of the economic and wider benefits from Devon’s natural capital assets and the ecosystem 
services they provide. In addition, there should be a plan for the enhancement of natural capital at a 
catchment or landscape scale across local authority boundaries (para. 171). 
 
Natural England have prepared a Natural Capital Atlas for Devon, which maps out key properties of the 
environment to show how much, how good and where your natural capital assets are, and may be a 
useful source of data as you continue preparing evidence to support the new Local Plan.  
 
Soil, Geology and Agricultural Land 
Large areas of the East Devon District are rural in nature. Post-1998 ALC surveys have identified some 
of the areas of Best and Most Versatile agricultural land within East Devon and, for strategic planning 
purposes only, Natural England have prepared Likelihood of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land 
strategic scale maps for each of the English regions. 
 
The Plan should recognise the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural 
land and seek to safeguard its long term capability. Plan policies will make clear that areas of lower 
quality agricultural land should be used for development in preference to best and most versatile land. 
 
The Local Plan, as described in para. 170 of the NPPF, should set out policies that protect and 
enhance sites of geological value and soils. The evidence base supporting the Local Plan should set 
out how impacts on soils and geological conservation have been considered. Circular 06/2005 provides 
further guidance in respect of statutory obligations for biodiversity and geological conservation and 
their impact within the planning system. 
 
Ancient woodlands 
Where a plan area contains irreplaceable habitats, such as ancient woodland, and ancient and veteran 
trees, there should be appropriate policies to ensure their protection. Natural England and the Forestry 
Commission have produced standing advice on ancient woodland, and ancient and veteran trees. 
 
Coastal issues 
Natural England supports the retention of a Local Plan policy which protects the character of the 
undeveloped coast and seeks to protect and enhance its distinctive landscape and seascape. 
 
The Local Plan proposals map should identify the East Devon Heritage Coast, and any policies 
developed to guide development proposals within the defined Heritage Coast area should be 
consistent with para. 173 of the NPPF. 
 
Air Quality, Water Quality, Light Pollution and Noise Pollution 
Natural England supports the retention of Local Plan policies which consider the strategic impacts on 
water quality; water resources; air quality; noise pollution; and light pollution; and which address flood 
risk management. 
 
Where specific environmental issues have the potential to impact sensitive wildlife sites, Natural 
England recommends the preparation of planning guidance to support the implementation of the 
relevant policies. 
 

page 105

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6672365834731520
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5624668800679936?category=5208993007403008
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5624668800679936?category=5208993007403008
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences


Page 6 of 15 

General comments on the natural environment 
The Local Plan should contain a clear strategy for protecting and enhancing the natural environment, 
which sets out the general principle of firstly avoiding harm, then mitigating, and as a last resort 
compensating for adverse impacts on biodiversity. 
 
In particular, the Plan should set criteria based policies to ensure the protection of designated 
biodiversity and geological sites. Such policies should clearly distinguish between international, 
national and local sites.  Natural England advises that all relevant Sites of Special Scientif ic Interest 
(SSSIs), Habitats sites (Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas) and Ramsar sites  
should be included on the proposals map for the area so they can be clearly identif ied in the context of 
proposed development allocations and policies for development. Designated sites should be protected 
and, where possible, enhanced.   
 
The Issues and Options report identifies 10 natural environment issues to be addressed in the new 

Local Plan, and Natural England supports the exploration of all of them. In addition, Natural England 

recommends that each of the other issues raised in this letter, and the previous letter, are also 

addressed, namely the review of the South East Devon European Sites Mitigation Strategy in light of 

revised housing numbers; the implementation of  the Nutrient Management Plan for the River Axe SAC; 

and the adoption of air quality guidance to support good decision-making.  

 
Promoting sustainable transport 
Transport policies (including any proposed transport inf rastructure) should take full account of impacts 

on the natural environment and should have a positive impact on the delivery of the plan’s 

environmental policies. 

 

Paragraph 11.1 of the Issues and Options report identifies the multiple benefits to promoting 

sustainable transport. In addition to those listed, it should be noted that another of the benefits is the 

improved access to nature, which also improves mental health and embeds public appreciation for and 

understanding of the value of nature. 

 
Developing a strategy for the distribution of development 
 
Natural England advises that, for whichever spatial strategy is progressed, the strategy should be 

appropriately justif ied; the sites proposed for development should be those with the least environmental 

or amenity value; and areas that are inappropriate for development should be safeguarded.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 106



Page 7 of 15 

Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 
 
We recognise that HELAAs form a critical component of the evidence base for Local Plans. In order to 
allocate the most appropriate sites to deliver high quality, sustainable development; environmental 
issues and opportunities should be considered as an integral part of the assessment process. 
 
Natural England does not have available staff resources to provide bespoke advice on LAAs or attend 
meetings in connection with them. In line with the National Planning Policy Framework, we offer the 
following generic advice on key natural environment considerations for use in producing or revising 
LAAs, which we hope is of use.  
 
1. Landscape  
 
Avoiding harm to the character of nationally protected landscapes - National Parks, the Broads 
and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty - and locally valued landscapes. 
Impacts of new housing upon landscape may be positive or negative, direct or indirect, short or long 
term and reversible or irreversible. Cumulative impacts may also occur as a result of the combined 
effects of more than one housing development. 
 
The assessment of potential housing sites should be informed by the landscape character approach. 
The National Character Area (NCA) profiles will provide useful information. These update the national 
framework of Joint Character Areas and Countryside Character Areas that are used to inform LCAs.  
Further information is available at NCAs 
 
Landscape Character Assessments (LCAs) identify the different landscape elements which give a 
place its unique character and can help inform the location and design of new development. Further 
information on LCAs is at Landscape Character Assessment. 
 
More detailed study (e.g. Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment) of the sensitivity of the landscape 
and capacity to accommodate change may be necessary to determine the suitability of potential 
housing sites, particularly those within or near protected landscapes.  
 
 
2. Biodiversity  
 
Avoiding harm to the international, national and locally designated sites of importance for 
biodiversity.  
International sites include: Special Protection Areas (SPAs); Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and 
Ramsar sites1.  National sites include biological Sites of Special Scientif ic Interest (SSSIs) and National 
Nature Reserves (NNRs), Local sites are Local Wildlife Sites (a variety of other terms are also in use). 
 
The potential impacts of new housing upon such sites may be positive or negative, direct or indirect 
and short or long term. Cumulative impacts may also occur as a result of the combined effects of more 
than one housing development. 
 
Indirect impacts may be experienced several kilometres distant from new housing e.g. water pollution. 
The key to assessing these is to understand the potential impact pathways that may exist between the 
development and sensitive sites.   
 
Impact Risk Zones (IRZs) are a GIS tool that can be used by LPAs to consider whether a proposed 
development (or allocation) is likely to affect a SSSI.  They define zones around each SSSI which 
reflect the particular sensitivities of the features for which it is notif ied and indicate the types of 
development proposal which could potentially have adverse impacts.  Information about using this data 
can be found here. 

 
1 The following wildlife sites should also be given the same protection as European sites: potential SPAs, possible SACs, 

listed or proposed Ramsar sites and sites identified, or required, as compensatory measures for adverse effects on European 
sites 

page 107

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/landscape-and-seascape-character-assessments
http://magic.defra.gov.uk/Metadata_for_magic/SSSI%20IRZ%20User%20Guidance%20v2.3%20MAGIC%2014Aug2015.pdf


Page 8 of 15 

 
The Magic website is a useful source of information on the location and qualifying features of the 
international and national designations.  Local Environmental Records Centres should also be of 
assistance and often hold information on Local Wildlife Sites. 
 
Avoiding harm to priority habitats, ecological networks and priority and/or legally protected 
species populations  
Priority habitats and species are those listed under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act, 2006 and UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UK BAP).  Further information is available 
here UK BAP priority species and habitats.  
 
Protected species are those species protected under domestic or European law. Further information 
can be found here Standing advice for protected species. Sites containing watercourses, old buildings, 
significant hedgerows and substantial trees are possible habitats for protected species. 
 
Ecological networks are coherent systems of natural habitats organised across whole landscapes so as 
to maintain ecological functions. A key principle is to maintain connectivity - to enable free movement 
and dispersal of wildlife e.g. badger routes, river corridors for the migration of fish and staging posts for 
migratory birds. 
 
Priority habitats can be found on the Nature on the Map website referred to above. Natural England 
does not hold records of priority or legally protected species but Local Records Centres may be able 
provide these. 
 
It may also be necessary to undertake a basic ecological survey in order to appraise the biodiversity 
value of any potential development site.  A Phase 1 Habitat Survey is the commonly used standard for 
habitat audit and provides a starting point for determining the likely presence of important species. 
More information is available here Phase 1 Habitat Survey. 
 
Seeking opportunities to contribute to the restoration and re-creation of habitats, the recovery 
of priority species populations and biodiversity enhancement  
Where Nature Improvement Areas (NIAs) are identif ied they can provide a focal point for creating more 
and better-connected habitats. Where housing allocations are proposed in the environs of NIAs the 
potential to contribute to habitat enhancement should be considered. Further information on NIAs is 
available here NIAs. 
 
Local Biodiversity Action Plans (LBAPs) identify the local action needed to deliver UK targets for 
habitats and species. They also identify targets for other habitats and species of local importance and 
can provide a useful blueprint for biodiversity enhancement in any particular area. Further information 
through the UK BAP link above. 
 
Seeking opportunities to enhance and create Green Infrastructure  
Green infrastructure is a term used to refer to the living network of green spaces, water and other 
environmental features in both urban and rural areas. It is often used in an urban context to provide 
multiple benefits including space for recreation, access to nature, flood storage and urban cooling to 
support climate change mitigation, food production, wildlife habitats and health & well-being 
improvements provided by trees, rights of way,  parks, gardens, road verges, allotments, cemeteries, 
woodlands, rivers and wetlands.  
 
Green infrastructure is also relevant in a rural context, where it might additionally refer to the use of 
farmland, woodland, wetlands or other natural features to provide services such as flood protection, 
carbon storage or water purification. Green infrastructure maintains critical ecolog ical links between 
town and country. 
 
The SHLAA should consider the availability of GI and opportunities to enhance GI networks when 
considering sites for development. 
 

page 108

http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-5705
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/planningdevelopment/spatialplanning/standingadvice/default.aspx
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-4258
http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/natural/whitepaper/nia/


Page 9 of 15 

3. Geological conservation  
 
Avoid harm to nationally and locally designated sites of importance for geological conservation 
- geological SSSIs and Local Geological Sites (also known as RIGS - Regionally Important 
Geological Sites).  
The Nature on the Map website referred to above is a useful source of information on the location and 
qualifying features of geological SSSIs. Local Environmental Records Centres should also be of 
assistance and often hold information on Local Geological Sites. 
 
Housing development may present opportunities for the enhancement of geological sites e.g. exposure 
sites in road cuttings. Further information on geological conservation is available on the Natural 
England website here Geodiversity. 
 
Seeking opportunities to contribute to landscape restoration and enhancement. 
The NCAs profiles identify potential opportunities for positive environmental change. LCAs also identify 
opportunities for landscape restoration and enhancement. These can help identify potential 
opportunities for housing developments to contribute to landscape enhancement in an area. 
 
4. Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land 
 
Avoiding Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land 
Land quality varies from place to place. Information on Best and Most Versatile Agricultural land 
(grades 1,2 and 3 a) is available f rom the Agricultural Land Classif ication (ALC).  ALC maps are 
available on the MAGIC website. Not all land has been surveyed in detail and more detailed field 
survey may be required to inform decisions about specific sites. Further information is available here 
ALC. 
 
5. Public rights of way and access 
 
Seeking opportunities to enhance public rights of way and accessible natural green space.  
Housing allocations should avoid adverse impacts on National Trails and networks of public rights of 
way and opportunities should be considered to maintain and enhance networks and to add links to 
existing rights of way networks including National Trails. More information  is available here National 
Trails. 
 
Accessible natural greenspace should be provided as an integral part of development. Housing should 
make provision for appropriate quantity and quality of green space to meet identif ied local needs as 
outlined in paragraph 96 of the NPPF.  Natural England’s work on Accessible Natural Greenspace 
Standard (ANGSt) may be of use in assessing current level of accessible natural greenspace and 
planning improved provision.   
 
Existing open space should not be built on unless the tests of NPPF para 97 have been met.  Open 
space is construed in the NPPF as all open space of public value which offer important opportunities 
for sport and recreation and can act as a visual amenity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 109

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140605090108/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/geodiversity/default.aspx.
http://magic.defra.gov.uk/
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/35012
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140605090108/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/enjoying/places/nationaltrails/default.aspx
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140605090108/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/enjoying/places/nationaltrails/default.aspx
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140605090108/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/regions/east_of_england/ourwork/gi/accessiblenaturalgreenspacestandardangst.aspx
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140605090108/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/regions/east_of_england/ourwork/gi/accessiblenaturalgreenspacestandardangst.aspx


Page 10 of 15 

 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
 
As statutory consultee under Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 

(the SEA Regulations) we are providing advice in relation to the proper legal application of these 

regulations in particular, with a view to protection and enhancement of the natural environment. Natural 

England are also keen to contribute in a manner that sees the SEA process adds real value to the Plan 

development process. 

 

Task A1 – Policy context 

Natural England has not reviewed the plans listed. However, we advise that the following types of 

plans relating to the natural environment should be considered where applicable to your plan area; 

• Green infrastructure strategies 

• Biodiversity plans 

• Rights of Way Improvement Plans 

• Shoreline management plans 

• Coastal access plans 

• River basin management plans 

• AONB management plans. 

• Relevant landscape plans and strategies 

• Emerging South West Marine Plan 

• Devon Climate Emergency Plan 

• Water Resource Management plans 

• Emerging Environment Bill 

 

Task A2 – Baseline information 

Existing environmental evidence can be gathered from various sources including online data sources 
like MAGIC, Local Environmental Record Centres (LERCs) and strategies for green infrastructure, 
open space provision, landscape character, climate and ecosystem services and biodiversity 
opportunity mapping.  
 
Biodiversity data can also be obtained from developments that were subject to Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA). This can help establish a baseline to understand what assets exist and how they 
may relate to wider objectives in the plan area. Cross boundary environmental opportunities can also 
be considered by working with neighbouring authorities, local nature partnership and the local 
enterprise partnership.  
 
The relationship between environmental assets and key strategic growth areas may help to highlight 
potential opportunities that development could bring for the natural environment. The following may 
also be useful when considering biodiversity priorities in your plan area: 

• What biodiversity currently exists, what is vulnerable or declining? 
• How are existing assets connected, are there opportunities to fill gaps and improve 
connectivity? 
• How does the above relate to neighbouring authority areas, can you work collaboratively to 
improve links between assets or take strategic approaches to address issues or opportunities? 

 

Please see the attached annex for our advice on sources of local plan evidence on the natural 

environment.   

 

Task A3 – Key sustainability issues 

No comment. 

 

page 110



Page 11 of 15 

Task A4 – Sustainability objectives 

Biodiversity – to reduce the creation of islands of biodiversity it would be advisable to include a sub-

objective which seeks to ensure current connectivity between habitats is not compromised, and that 

future improvements in habitat connectivity are not prejudiced.  

 

It will also be necessary, when using the SA Framework to assess the sustainability of the plan, to 

consider the possible impact pathways between the features likely to be introduced by the policy being 

assessed and the habitats and species that may be affected, and to not just consider proximity in the 

appraisal. 

 

This SA objective could include a commitment to deliver biodiversity net gain, which can then be tested 

as the plan develops. 

 

Landscape – the sub-objectives should provide a more detailed enquiry into the sustainability of  the 

plan by asking whether the plan conserves and enhances the special qualities and distinctive character 

of the landscape and undeveloped coast. 

 

Land resources – the sub-objective against which the plan will be assessed should set out an intention 

to avoid, and not just minimise, loss of best and most versatile agricultural land. 

 

Health and activity – this objective would be stronger if it made it clear that assessment of the 

sustainability of the plan with regards to health and activity would be seeking enhanced provision of 

recreational resources but will also look to avoid impacts on the quality and extent of existing green 

infrastructure assets that have a recreational function. 

 

Task A5 – Scope of the SA 

The SA Framework should include relevant indicators to monitor the potential significant environmental 
effects of implementing the plan. Suitable monitoring can provide a much better understanding of the 
impacts of development on the natural environment, raise the status of the natural environment 
amongst decision makers, and provide much greater accountability and transparency. The proposed 
indicators should relate to the effects of the plan and not wider change.  
 
Whilst it is not Natural England’s role to prescribe what indicators should be adopted, the following 
indicators may be appropriate: 

• Number of planning approvals that generated any adverse impacts on sites of acknowledged 
biodiversity importance. 

• Percentage of major developments generating overall biodiversity enhancement.  

• Hectares of net biodiversity habitat delivered through strategic site allocations. 

• Amount of new development in AONB/Heritage Coast with commentary on likely impact.  

• Percentage of the district's population having access to a natural greenspace within 400 metres 
of their home. 

• Length of greenways constructed. 

• Hectares of accessible open space per 1000 population. 
 

We would be happy to work with the Council to help ensure a suitable indicator set is developed.  
 
For any queries relating to the specific advice in this letter only please contact Stephanie Parker-
Stephenson on 07799438517 or stephanie.parker-stephenson@naturalengland.org.uk. For any new 
consultations, or to provide further information on this consultation please send your correspondences 
to consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 
 
 
 

page 111

mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk


Page 12 of 15 

 
Yours sincerely 
 
Stephanie Parker-Stephenson 
Lead Adviser 
Sustainable Development - Devon, Cornwall & Isles of Scilly 
 
 
 
Annex A - Sources of local plan evidence on the natural environment 
 
The following sources of evidence may be useful in ensuring local plans are evidence based, in line 
with paragraph 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and assist in meeting Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) requirements. A range of additional locally specific evidence is also 
likely to be needed to underpin plan preparation.  
 
General natural environmental evidence  
 
National Character Areas (NCAs) divide England into 159 distinct natural areas. NCA profiles contain 
descriptions of the area and statements of environmental opportunity, which may be useful to inform 
proposals in your plan.  
 
Natural England has also published downloadable natural capital maps. These are a suite of ten maps, 
of different aspects of natural capital, contributes to our understanding of where our natural capital is.  
 
The Magic website will provide you with much of the nationally held natural environment data for 
your plan area in downloadable GIS format. Specific data sets are listed under the environmental 
topics below.  
 
Local environmental record centres may hold a range of additional information on the natural 
environment, principally ecological.  
 
The following local organizations may also hold environmental information where applicable: Local 
Nature Partnerships, Wildlife trusts, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and Nature Improvement 
Areas.  
 
Evidence relating to the significant environmental effects of the current local plan should be 
available (in line with SEA legislation), as should suitable biodiversity evidence for any plan adopted 
after the NPPF came into effect (27 March 2012), usually through the current plan’s Annual Monitoring 
Report.  
 
Landscape  
 
The Magic website provides data on the extent of protected landscapes (National Parks and Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty).  
 
National Park/Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plans may also be a source of 
useful evidence. These are usually found on these organisations’ websites.  
 
Most areas have local landscape character assessments. These are tools to help understand the 
character and local distinctiveness of the landscape and identify the features that give it a sense of 
place. It can help to inform, plan and manage change in the area.  
 
Data on tranquillity is held by CPRE. They also hold mapping data on light pollution.  
 
 
 

page 112



Page 13 of 15 

Biodiversity and geodiversity  
 
The most relevant layers on Magic for you to consider are Ancient Woodland, Local Nature 
Reserves, Priority Habitat Inventory, Sites of Special Scientific Interest (including their impact risk 
zones), Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas, and Ramsar Sites (including, 
where relevant, marine designations).  
 
You may also wish to draw on more detailed information on specific Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest and the Conservation Objectives and Site Improvement Plans for Special Areas of 
Conservation and Special Protection Areas.  
 
Priority habitats and species are those listed under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act, 2006 and UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UK BAP). Larger areas of priority habitat will 
usually be mapped either as Sites of Special Scientific Interest on the Magic website or as Local 
Wildlife Sites or Local Geological Sites. Local wildlife site data is usually held by local planning 
authorities themselves as is local geological site data. Local Environmental Record Centres and local 
wildlife and geo-conservation groups are also a source of information on Local Sites.  
  
Natural England maintains the Open Mosaic Habitat on Previously Developed Land Inventory (a 
priority habitat dataset currently not integrated into the Priority Habitat Inventory on Magic) and is 
available on request from Natural England via email; 
NaturalEnglandGIDataManagers@naturalengland.org.uk.  
  
Local Biodiversity Action Plans (LBAPs) identify the local action needed to deliver UK targets for 
habitats and species. They also identify targets for other habitats and species of local importance and 
can provide a useful blueprint for biodiversity enhancement in any particular area. Local Geodiversity 
Action Plans (LGAPS) identify agreed local action for geodiversity, a list of active LGAPs can be found 
at UK Geodiversity Action Plan (http://www.ukgap.org.uk/getting-involved/lgaps.aspx).  
  
Some areas have identif ied Biodiversity Opportunity Areas or similar for spatially targeting 
biodiversity restoration work.  
  
Protected species are those species protected under domestic or European law. Local environmental 
record centres are likely to hold much of the available data on such species.  
  
APIS holds data on air pollution in particular in relation to protected nature conservation sites.  
 
Access  
  
The Magic website holds the following access related data: National Trails, Public Rights of Way (on 
the Ordnance Survey base map), Open Access Land (the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000 layer), together with national and local nature reserves, country parks and the England 
Coast Path.  
  
Locally held data will include the definitive Public Rights of Way, and may include Rights of Way 
Improvement Plans where they exist, and any locally mapped open space audits or assessments.  
  
Natural England’s work on Accessible Natural Greenspace Standards (ANGSt) may be of use in 
assessing current level of accessible natural greenspace and planning improved provision.  
  
Green infrastructure  
Green infrastructure strategies may comprise or contain useful evidence sources where they exist.  
 
Soils  
A provisional Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) map is on Magic, and the GIS layer ‘Likelihood of 
Best and Most Versatile Land’ is available on request from Natural England via email; 
NaturalEnglandGIDataManagers@naturalengland.org.uk.  

page 113



Page 14 of 15 

 
Some areas already have detailed ALC maps. The coverage of existing detailed MAFF post 1988 ALC 
surveys is shown on Magic. The MAFF post 1988 ALC survey reports and maps themselves are 
available from Natural England or from Gov.UK.  
Our publication Agricultural Land Classification: protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land 
may also be of help.  
 
General mapped information on soil types and Agricultural Land Classification is available (under 
’landscape’) on the Magic website and also from the Land IS website, which contains more information 
about obtaining soil data.  
 
Climate change  
 
The Climate Change Adaptation Manual provides evidence to support nature conservation in a 
changing climate.  
 
The National Biodiversity Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment Model provides a spatially explicit 
assessment of the relative vulnerability of priority habitats. The data files can be accessed here: 
National Biodiversity Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment data.  
 
The LWEC Climate Change Impacts Report Cards present the latest evidence on how climate change 
is affecting different aspects of our environment, economy and society.  
 
Coastal and Marine issues  
The following may be of help:  
 

• Catchment flood management plans (considers all types of inland flooding, from rivers, 
groundwater, surface water and tidal f looding).  

• Shoreline management plans (considers flooding from the sea).  

• Any estuary or harbour management plans that are held locally.  

• River basin management plans (covers entire river systems, including river, lake, groundwater, 
estuarine and coastal water bodies).  

• Coastal Erosion Maps.  

• The Marine Management Organisation has a marine planning evidence base which supplies a 
range of information on marine planning.  

• There may be specific Heritage Coast information held locally, such as a management plan.  

  
Water Quality and Resources and Flood Risk Management  
The Planning Practice Guidance provides guidance on information sources for the water environment, 
such as: 

• Water Industry National Environment Programme 

• Water Cycle Studies 

• Water and Sewerage Company Drainage Strategies and business plans 

• Water Resource Management Plans 

• Flood and Coastal Risk Management Plans and Strategies 

• Abstraction Management 

• Groundwater Vulnerability maps 

• Location of Source Protection Zones 

page 114



Page 15 of 15 

• Information from Environmental Statements 

• Diffuse Water Pollution Plans 

• Nutrient Management Plans 

 

page 115



 

 

 

East Devon Local Plan

Issues & Options (Reg 18) Consultation 

 

  

F W S Carter & Sons Ltd and Crealy Farms  March 2021  27 

Sustainability Appraisal 

3.1 We welcome the opportunity to also comment upon the content of the Sustainability Appraisal 

(SA) and the proposed assessment process. 

3.2 Broadly speaking we support the majority of the content within the SA Scoping Report. The 

Sustainability Objective within Figure 25 cover a wide range of topics which are relevant to an 

assessment of planning policies. 

3.3 There are certain objectives which will be easier to quantify than others. For example, policies 

judged against Objective 8 (Homes) w

would deliver a larger number and mix of housing, incorporate a diversity of supply and include 

the provision of affordable housing. 

3.4 Other impacts are far less easy to quantify. For example, the rationale for Objective 3 (Historic 

and Built Environment) is to conserve and enhance built and historic assets and promote high-

quality design. A fair and true judgement against this objective is not as simple as saying that a 

potential development falls within a specified distance of a heritage asset as this would 

oversimplify the judgement of whether the

importance to what can be measured instead of measuring what is important; as a consequence 

they are therefore less accurate and helpful to the plan-making process. 

3.5 

compare alternative options but there is no reason why this could not be achieved through a 

consistent application of judgement as opposed to binary measures such as distance. Indeed, 

this is how the planning system operates when matters such as harm to heritage assets is to be 

taken into consideration in the determination of a planning application. 

3.6 Furthermore, it is only through the application of judgement that it is possible to assess the 

s an example, a 

page 116

alemon_6
Typewritten text
SAVILLS ON BEHALF OF FWS CARTER AND CREALY FARMS



 

 

 

East Devon Local Plan

Issues & Options (Reg 18) Consultation 

 

  

F W S Carter & Sons Ltd and Crealy Farms  March 2021  28 

potential allocation boundary could be in close proximity to a protected habitat, however, given 

the scale of the proposals there is potential to eradicate harm through the incorporation of 

appropriate mitigation. Furthermore, the overall effects of the development could be positive as a 

consequence of net biodiversity gain. To judge a development proposal negatively in such 

circumstances would lead to not only an inaccurate, but a perverse outcome.  

3.7 Applying a degree of judgement in the manner proposed would ensure that the SA is more than 

just a mechanical exercise but one which provides real value and benefit to the plan-making 

process. 

Suitability of potential development sites for walking and cycling 

3.8 Paragraphs 5.5-5.11 of the SA Scoping Report explain the process that will be adopted in 

determining the accessibility of a location by walking and cycling; essentially a proxy tool to 

establish whether a site is sustainably located. The principle of assessing accessibility in this way 

is supported, as is the broad approach. We do however have one comment / suggestion 

regarding the approach and a further recommended ch  

proposed beneath Figure 27. 

3.9 There are a range of sites being promoted for development across East Devon. Some of these 

are small and will deliver just housing whereas others are larger, mixed-use developments will 

also incorporate a range of services and facilities. The Greenhayes proposal falls into the latter 

category and includes a relocated and expanded farm shop and café, primary school, community 

number of new homes. To provide a fair and consistent assessment of all opportunities within 

East Devon, it is crucial that the proposed services and facilities are taken into consideration in 

the scoring and not just those that already exist. 

3.10 It is presumably the case that the range of services listed under paragraph 5.8 are those 

frequently used by residents and therefore accessibility within walking and cycling distance would 

reduce the likelihood of future residents travelling by car. The notable absence from the list 

page 117



 

 

 

East Devon Local Plan

Issues & Options (Reg 18) Consultation 

 

  

F W S Carter & Sons Ltd and Crealy Farms  March 2021  29 

commuting, it would be logical also to take into account the proximity to major employment 

locations. Indeed, if there are a wide range and number of employment opportunities available in 

close proximity to a site then there is a higher likelihood of future residents commuting on foot or 

by bicycle.  

3.11 To reflect the sustainability advantages that exist as a result of the proximity of employment 

opportunities, we recommend that a further tier of scoring is included in Figure 27. We propose 

ttributed to those locations 

service or railway station and 1,600m of . A distance of 1600m 

is considered a reasonable walking distance for the purposes of commuting. 

 

 

page 118



1 
 

 

 

MARCH 1ST 2021 

SVA COMMENTS ON EDDC Sustainability appraisal and strategic 

environmental assessment draft scoping report 
 

All references below are to paragraphs unless otherwise stated 

General 

The document should be updated to reflect the fact that we have left the EU. How much of the 

legislation/protection mentioned still applies? At least a comment on this is required. This is 

especially important in Appendix 1. 

Everything in the document needs to be fully referenced to source material using a consistent 

referencing/footnote/endnote system  - as is done in the section on social baseline data. 

Section 3 

pages 13ff  The various protected and notable sites - especially paras 3.17, 3.18 - needs a reference 

to a comprehensive list and where a map of them can be found ( sites are too small to be mapped 

within the report): if no such list/map exists it should be a priority to create one. 

3.36 Design quality. It might help to raise design standards if there were a design guide. Is one 

envisaged? Or is this a matter for the revised neighbourhood plans, since guidance would need to 

vary across the district? 

3.41 The CO2 emissions graph excludes agricultural land use - a major omission given the 

importance of livestock farming locally. This needs more than a passing mention, it needs some 

analysis, particularly differentiating between intensive and extensive livestock farming systems.  

3.55 Since EDDC is the waste collection authority why is no data available for the volume of ED 

waste? 

3.65 Age table - there is a need to break down the over 65s further, this is a significant issue and you 

cannot equate a 65 yr old with an 80 yr old. This is particularly significant given the large increase 

projected by ONS ( quoted in the ORS report) in the number of people aged over 75 ( 13,390 people, 

representing 57% of total population growth) 

3.73 The link to the housing needs report referred to in footnote 10 is broken. Without access to this 

report it is impossible for members of the public to make informed comment on the housing targets 

page 119

alemon_7
Typewritten text
SID VALE ASSOCIATION



2 
 

contained in the issues and options paper. I did eventually track it down and it contains a lot of 

useful information. 

3.74 We need to see household projections and projections of additional dwellings required, not just 

population projections, broken down by household size and affordability needs and showing in-

migration separately. The following figures from the ORS report are illuminating: 

• Assessed housing need over 20 years = 15,143 dwellings 

• Government assessed housing need = 18,000 dwellings 

• Difference is made up of: 

o 1180 dwellings to meet pent up demand 

o 1677 dwellings to meet additional net in-migration   

3.79 All the affordability ratios are expressed 'upside down' making a nonsense of statements about 

trends. Figure 11 expresses this ratio correctly. 

3.89-3.94  The sections on air pollution and noise pollution are particularly weak, and downplay the 

impact of traffic on main roads passing through the district. 

3.90 Air pollution from traffic. Why only mention NO2? What about particulate matter? 

3.124ff There need to be data on part time and casual working 

3.136 It is the Paddington line that runs through the west of the district with no stations, not the 

Waterloo line. Why focus on the line that has no stations, rather than the one that is important 

locally both as a link to London and as a commuter route? 

3.138 Why no mention of cycle routes - an important gap in local connectivity 

Why no road traffic accident data? 

Section 4 

The purpose of this chapter is unclear- it seems to be ' why do we need a local plan?' Why is this 

argument necessary? Rather than expressing the right hand column as ' trends if there were no local 

plan' it could more powerfully and understandably be expressed as ' what benefits can a local plan 

bring?' This looks like a ' tick box' exercise which misses an opportunity to think carefully about what 

a local plan can and should do. 

Climate change - more could be made of the contribution land use planning can make to a carbon-

efficient development pattern (e.g. out of town shopping vs town centre) 

Section 5 

Figure 25: this table is an ill thought out mess, needing a lot more work. As such it will not be fit for 

purpose as a framework for assessing the local plan. It is important to get this table right, given the 

way it is intended to be used. The central column contains not ' factors' but a mixture of topics and 

objectives. 

The proposals for assessing the plan are confusing. We hope this is work in progress!! 

page 120



3 
 

It looks from Figure 26 as if the intention is to assess the plan against the headline objectives, using a 

composite score. Given possible conflicts between the things termed ' factors', and probable 

differences between them in relative importance,  it would be more meaningful to define sub-

objectives and use these as the major level of analysis, so that any tradeoffs and weighting would be 

transparent. But we are unconvinced a mechanistic approach like this is helpful. 

 

page 121



1 
 
 
 
 

 
Sidmouth Town Council (STC) Feedback to East Devon District Council (EDDC) 

on 

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment Draft Scoping 
Report – January 2021 

as part of the development of the 

East Devon Local Plan 2021 - 2040 

Task 1A – Policy Context 
Sidmouth Town Council recommends that the following documents are considered part of the context for the 
SA and SEA 

 Sidmouth Town Council Environment Policy,  
 Sid Valley Neighbourhood Plan,  
 STC Feedback to DCC Net Zero Task Force 

A Gap Analysis has been conducted between these documents and the EDDC Sustainability Appraisal and 
Strategic Environmental Assessment Draft Scoping Report – January 2021. The results are summarised in the 
Appendix below. It is also recommended that this analysis forms part of the Policy Context. 

Task A2 – Collecting Baseline Information 
Sidmouth Town Council welcomes the collection of baseline information as part of the development of a new 
plan and would like to make the following recommendations with regard to the collection of baseline 
information 

Biodiversity – The recently formed Sid Valley Biodiversity Group are undertaking baseline studies of a range of 
species and should be consulted on their findings. In particular the 2020 Hedgerow Survey conducted by 
Sidmouth Arboretum revealed that the hedgerows of the Sid Valley are in decline, and it is likely that the same 
is true across East Devon.  Many hedgerows have failed and become relict because of lack of appropriate 
maintenance.  Others are in a poor state because of excessive use of tractor mounted flails.   

Connectivity – Broadband performance is generally thought of as being poor in the Sid Valley and whilst we 
welcome the focus this issue has been given; it would be helpful to collect some baseline information to 
determine the actual speeds being achieved as most people report less than is commonly advertised by 
suppliers. 

Task A3 - Identifying key sustainability issues 
Sidmouth Town Council welcomes the consideration of the 14 areas listed as part of the development of the 
new local plan and would like to highlight the following observations, in addition to the policy considerations 
listed in the recommended documents under Task A1. 

Biodiversity – Hedgerows make a significant contribution to the look of East Devon and they also have 
significant environmental importance but are absent from the specific issues identified. Hedgerows perform 
the following functions:   

 They increase biodiversity as a home for many species of animals from invertebrate groups through to 
small mammals, and plants and fungi, and they are a food source for many species of animal. 

 They increase tree cover. 
 They increase carbon sequestration. 
 They reduce the spread of traffic pollution, especially particulates. 

page 122

alemon_8
Typewritten text
SIDMOUTH TOWN COUNCIL



2 
 
 
 
 

 They slow surface water flow in times of heavy rain. 
 They reduce soil erosion caused by wind. 
 They contribute to public wellbeing through these effects, and by being a visually attractive landscape 

feature 

Mature standard trees have a particular environmental and social value.  The survey estimated the reduction 
in the number of standard trees and young trees that are the future standard.  The combination of Ash 
Dieback and tractor mounted flailing will leave the valley's hedgerows with only 20% of the hedgerow tree 
population that would have been present 100 years ago. 
 
Climate change and carbon emissions – Whilst welcoming the need for reduced carbon footprint from new 
buildings, the plan needs to also consider how the carbon footprint of existing buildings can be reduced. Sid 
Energy was set up some years ago to foster local power generation but the take up was not sufficient, despite 
there being significant feed in tariffs available; something that is no longer available. 

In addition, it is noted that transport emissions have not reduced in East Devon as much as other emissions. 
Provision of alternatives to private car transport are vital. However lower usage is more important than rapid 
migration to electric cars as the carbon emissions from manufacture are roughly the same as from usage.   

Wellbeing – Take away food outlets are a feature of all towns but the litter created by them can be significant. 
Much of this has the sellers name written on it and yet there appears to be no attempt to discourage 
unthoughtful disposal. Litter also appears on the beach and esplanade, and it often relies upon volunteers to 
remove it before it ends up in the sea. Much of this waste is plastic, adding to the mountain of such materials 
already polluting the world’s oceans. Waste bins are provided and some residents and visitors do attempt to 
dispose of their waste thoughtfully but bins are not always emptied often enough. The emptying schedule 
appears to be governed by the clock whereas the weather has a far greater impact on the volumes of waste 
generated. Not surprisingly more people come to the beach when it is sunny rather than raining. 

Connectivity and transport – The report highlights the poor quality of broadband connections in parts of East 
Devon, highlighting the more rural areas. However, there are also significant broadband issues in towns such 
as Sidmouth where many have to rely on significant lengths of copper wire to the fibre boxes some distance 
away. 

Task A4 - Defining sustainability objectives 
Biodiversity - EDDC should work with local land owners and farmers to examine and extend best practice in 
hedge maintenance.  It should work with Devon County Council and Highways England to evaluate and 
improve the roadside hedgerows. 
 
Historic and Built Environment – Any changes to the Esplanade and sea front as part of any Beach 
Management Scheme must be in keeping with the character of the area and must maintain the connection 
between the Town and the sea. 

The Council should seek excellence and quality in all additions to our built environment. 

The green spaces, corridors, conservation areas, and views laid out in the Sid Valley Neighbourhood Plan 
should be protected. 

Climate change and carbon emissions – Minimising carbon emissions is indeed a vital objective for the plan 
but the plan actions should also include EDDC leading by examples in their offices and other property as well 
as in the activities they perform. 

Land Resources – In additional to enhanced recycling EDDC should seek to encourage reuse or repurposing of 
both personal and council assets wherever possible. 

page 123



3 
 
 
 
 

Wellbeing – Take away food licencing should be far more tightly linked to efforts to control littering with 
deposit schemes, or similar, introduced to discourage unsociable disposal of waste. Location of bins in the 
vicinity of take away outlets should be reviewed, acknowledging many will eat whilst walking. Current litter 
blackspots should be targeted with new, or relocated, bins. 

Seaside town litter reduction strategies need to tie bin emptying to the weather rather than a timetable.   

Town centres – Working with Devon County Council, EDDC should seek to pedestrianise town centres to make 
them a more pleasant place to be, and to support local businesses.  

page 124



4 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 
 

Sidmouth Town Council 
Environment Policy 

Sid Valley 
Neighbour
hood Plan 

STC submission to DCC Net Zero 
Taskforce  

EDDC Local Plan 2021 - 2040 

N
at

ur
al

 E
nv

ir
on

m
en

t 

Protect, and where 
possible enhance, the 
designated green 
spaces and corridors, 
conservation areas, 
and views, as laid out 
in the Neighbourhood 
Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy 1 

Food, land and sea – Support RHS 
Greening Great Britain encouraging 
horticulture and public space 
rewilding with DCC and EDDC 
 
Food, land and sea – Protect open 
spaces and encourage use for 
wellbeing activities 

Sustainability Objectives – Landscape: 
To conserve and enhance the 
landscapes/ seascapes of our natural 
environment. 
Issues: 2/3 within AONB but scope for 
policy protection for other areas 
 
Sustainability Objectives - Health and 
activity: To support healthy and active 
communities where people have access 
to attractive and functional recreation 
spaces.  
Issue: Allow people to be physically 
active 
 
Sustainability Objectives - Wellbeing 
To support safe communities where 
people are not exposed to pollution. 
Issue: Minimal pollution and crime 

Support and encourage 
the creation of a 
sustainable built 
environment through 
the planning process. 

BN03 The Built Environment - Higher 
building standards to improve 
appearance of public spaces 
 
The Built Environment – Promote 
energy efficient housing and refuse 
permission if not 

Sustainability Objective - Historic and 
built environment: To conserve and 
enhance our built and historic assets 
and promote high quality architecture, 
design and accessibility in new build 
development. 
Issues: Heritage asset protection whilst 
offering town centre regeneration 
 
Sustainability Objective – Homes: To 
provide and maintain a sufficient supply 
of good quality, financially accessible 
homes of mixed type and tenure. 
Issue: Affordable housing 
acknowledging different people have 
different needs 

 
Sustainability Objective – Climate 
change and carbon emissions 
To minimise greenhouse gas emissions.  
Issue: High quality buildings with 
minimal emissions 

Consider impact on 
biodiversity and 
sustainability of the 
management and use 
of the Sidmouth Town 
Council estate. 

BN02 Food, land and sea – Create 
Biodiversity Plan 
 
The Built Environment – Encourage 
urban community allotments and 
use planting as barriers rather than 
fencing 

Sustainability Objective – Biodiversity: 
To conserve and enhance the habitat 
and wildlife of our natural environment. 
Issues: Ongoing threats and 
development can be directed to areas 
of lesser sensitivity. 
 

page 125



5 
 
 
 
 

Lo
w

 C
ar

bo
n 

T
ow

n 
Reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions from 
Sidmouth Town 
Council activities year 
on year until carbon 
neutrality is achieved, 
and promote the same 
in the community. 

 
 
 
BN01 

Mobility – Enhance Electric car 
charging stations 
 
The Built Environment – Promote 
energy efficient housing 
 
Energy and Waste – Use Green 
energy suppliers 

  

Support the 
appropriate generation 
and use of renewable 
and low carbon energy 

 
 
 
 
Policy 19 
Policy 20 
 
Policy 19 

The Built Environment – 
Encourage clean growth projects 
and the circular economy 
 
Energy and Waste – Encourage 
renewable energy projects 
 
Energy and Waste – Encourage 
owners of larger buildings to 
generate their own electricity/heat 

Sustainability Objective – Climate 
change and carbon emissions 
To minimise greenhouse gas emissions.  
Issue: Support for renewable energy 
generation projects 

Encourage use of 
public and shared 
transport, bicycles, and 
walking for both 
residents and visitors 
by provision, or 
promotion with others, 
of appropriate assets 

AC03 
AC05 
 
AC02 
Policy 15 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy 21 

Mobility - Create network of bike 
paths 
 
Mobility – prioritisation of 
pedestrians and bicycles over cars 
and develop out of town parking 
 
Mobility – Use electric powered 
buses with bike racks on them 
 
Mobility – Promote walking routes, 
especially around schools 
 
Mobility – Provide electric bike 
docking points and more cycle 
racks 
 
Mobility – Enhance long distance 
walking paths as alternative to SW 
Coast Path 

Sustainability Objective – Connectivity 
and transport : To connect people and 
businesses digitally and physically 
through the provision of broadband, 
walking, cycling, public transport, road 
networks and other transport 
infrastructure both within and beyond 
East Devon. 
Issue: Broadband and non car 
infrastructure. 

Su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 

Practice recovery, 
reuse, repair, 
remanufacturing and 
recycling in Sidmouth 
Town Council’s 
activities and promote 
the same in the 
community. 

 Food, land and sea  -Work with 
local schools on projects on food 
waste reduction 
 
The Built Environment – Repair 
rather than replace infrastructure 
(e.g. bus shelters) 
 
Energy and Waste – Encourage 
zero waste and no single use 
plastics events 
 
Energy and Waste – Support beach 
clean and litter picking events 

 

Preferentially engage 
local contractors who 

 Mobility – Produce Devon 
sustainable tourism strategy 

 

page 126



6 
 
 
 
 

demonstrate 
alignment to the 
Sidmouth Town 
Council’s 
Environmental Policy 

 
The Built Environment – Use 
locally sourced materials for new 
housing 
 
Energy and Waste – Select 
Contractors based on 
environmental commitments 

Consider the impact of 
future climate change, 
such as sea level rise, 
intensity of storms, 
and drought, on all 
decisions 

 Food, land and sea – Support 
reduced water use initiatives with 
SWW 

Sustainability Objective – Climate 
change adaption: To adapt to the 
possible effects of climate change. 
Issue: Address flooding and erosion 
 
Sustainability Objective – Water 
resources :To utilise our water 
resources efficiently and minimise their 
loss or degradation. 
Issue: Maintain water quality 

En
ga

ge
m

en
t 

Inform and engage 
Sidmouth’s residents 
and businesses, 
schools and event 
organisers of the 
Council’s 
environmental 
activities, and respond 
and react to feedback. 

BN03 - 
Trees 
BN04 – SiB 
 
 
CC04 

Food, Land and Sea – encourage 
local environmental groups to 
thrive and expand activity 
 
Energy and Waste - Create library 
of documents to help individuals 
reduce their environmental impact 

Stage D: 
Consulting on proposed local plan and 
the SA report. 
 

Support individual, 
business, charity, and 
event organiser 
behaviour change and 
adoption of low 
environmental impact 
practices. 

BN02 
 
 
 
Policy 17 

Food, land and sea – Encourage 
horticulture/allotments and 
collective growing 
 
Mobility – encourage working from 
home and enhance broadband 
 
The Built Environment – Promote 
cross generational volunteering 

 

Set biannual targets 
and report on 
progress, undertaking 
periodic audits of the 
Sidmouth Town 
Council’s 
environmental 
management system 

 The Built Environment – Upgrade 
Town Council buildings to ensure 
they have zero carbon emissions 
and publish progress to that goal 
 
Energy and Waste – Promote 
measuring carbon footprint 

 

  ET04 Food, land and sea –  
Beach Management Plan and Flood 
Planning 

 

   Food, land and sea - Encourage 
local plant based alternatives to 
meat and dairy 

 

   Food, land and sea – Stop plastic 
getting into sea by redesigning 
drains 

 

page 127



7 
 
 
 
 

    Sustainability Objective - Land 
resources 
To utilise our land resources efficiently 
and minimise their loss or degradation. 
Issue: Sensitive exploitation of natural 
resources 

    Sustainability Objective - Water 
resources 
To utilise our water resources efficiently 
and minimise their loss or degradation. 
Issue: Protection of water quality 

    Sustainability Objective - Access to 
services 
To provide accessible and attractive 
services and community facilities for all 
ages and interests. 
Issue: Provision for rural areas 

    Sustainability Objective  - Jobs and 
employment 
To foster a strong and entrepreneurial 
economy and increased access to high 
quality skills training to support 
improved job opportunities and greater 
productivity. 
Issue: Historically low unemployment 
but low wage – attracting skilled jobs 

    Town centres 
To safeguard and strengthen the vitality 
and viability of town centres. 
Issue: Challenge of online retail to 
existing shops 

 

 

 

Sidmouth Town Council Environment Policy uses 4 heading: 

 Natural Environment 
 Low Carbon Town 
 Sustainability 
 Engagement  

 

DCC Zero Carbon Document uses 4 heading: 

 Food Sea and Land 
 The Built Environment 
 Energy and Waste 
 Mobility 

 

 

page 128



8 
 
 
 
 

 

EDDC Plan used 14 heading in defining sustainability Objectives 

1. Biodiversity 
2. Landscape 
3. Historic and built environment 
4. Climate change and carbon emissions 
5. Climate change adaption 
6. Land resources 
7. Water resources 
8. Homes  
9. Health and activity 
10. Wellbeing 
11. Access to services 
12. Jobs and employment 
13. Town Centres 
14. Connectivity and transport 

 

 

page 129



1

From: Tim Dumper
Sent: 15 March 2021 10:55
To: Planning Policy
Cc:

Subject: Sustainability Appraisal

Thankyou for this carefully worked document, and the ability to contribute. I do so in an individual capacity, but as a 
member of Exmouth Town Council's Planning Committee, and an active environmental person, involved with 
Transition Exmouth. 
 
If I had 6 months, and was an expert in everything, I would no doubt comment thoroughly, but I haven't and I am not, 
so will restrict myself to a few specifics, along with more general comment. 
 
General comment 
 
Please give due weight to qualitative information - in many areas quantitative data is either unavailable or diffcicult or 
impossible to measure. The mantra "If you can't measure it, you can't manage it" should be ignored where possible! 
 
You have resources available to you in the putting together of this plan - your own in house Countryside Team, the 
AONBs, Wildlife Trusts and other voluntary but well-informed bodies for instance. I hope EDDC may have an ecoogist 
in house soon to draw on their expertise. 
 
The issue of EU Policy and protections is well-made, but in the wake of Brexit we have to do our best to replicate 
those protections. I am very sceptical about your statement at 3.24 that Government policy seeks to protect against 
biodiversity loss, both from some of the decisions we have seen, and in comments made by the PM and other senior 
ministers. I would ask the Council to be similarly sceptical in building sustainability into the new plan in the wake of 
Brexit. I was pleased to read your 3.21, recognising that biodiversity loss had been happening over decades, so this 
needs some building back, as well as protection from future threats. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans are in place in many towns and parishes, including here in Exmouth, many of which have 
actions and policies connected with sustainability. These should be consulted.  
 
The recovery from Covid is very important, and we can learn lessons from the positives and negatives in building the 
more sustainable East Devon we all want. 
 
Other key areas mentioned in your draft: 
 
Waste - yes, reducing material use, and re-use are even more important than recycling, and the recent figures for 
waste per household - ED the lowest in England are hugely encouraging. This needs somehow factoring in. The 
message that incineration is also damaging as well as landfill, and we need to find other ways to heat houses etc 
other than burning waste. 
 
Public Transport - Actually, we need better services, buses and trains, and made cheaper and more accessible. At 
present people tend to jump in the car at any opportunity. If there is a chance to lobby it should be to re-regulate 
buses. Active travel needs to be encouraged everywhere, not just to meet Government criteria. 
 
Population Balance - To maintain balance, rather than a perpetually ageing population we need sustainable 
employment and housing policies. 
 
Housing - There should be proper mention and encouragement of social rented housing. By lumping all under 
"Affordable" whatever the definition used, you diminsh the perceived need. At present private renting is expensive, 
and often of poor quality. This leads to divided communities - not sustainable. 
 
Employment Policy - We should be doing everything possible to minimise commuting to Exeter and other places to 
create self sufficient local places. Use of electronic communication, improvement of broadband etc should also help 
facilitate this. 
 
Tim Dumper 

page 130

alemon_9
Typewritten text
T DUMPER



page 131

alemon_10
Typewritten text
TRANSITION EXMOUTH



page 132



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 27 April 2021 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Scoping and vision report for the new local plan 

Report summary: 

This report sets out the issues associated with setting a scope for the new Local Plan having 
considered the views of respondents to the Issues and Options Consultation which are 
summarised in an appendix to this report. Member’s views are then sought on the proposed single 
plan approach, the objectives for the plan and starting to establish a vision for the plan that will 
help to focus officer’s work moving forward on the issues of highest priority to Members.  

 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

 

  

Recommendation: 

1. That Strategic Planning Committee endorse, in principle, the approach of producing a single 
local plan only that covers all key planning policy matters.  

 
2. That Members consider the consultation responses to the proposed objectives for the new 

Local Plan and confirm that these remain the objectives that they wish the plan to focus on.  
 

3. That Members consider the issue of a vision for the future of the district and identify some 
initial key priorities and outcomes for the new Local Plan to provide a focus for future plan 
production. 

 

Reason for recommendation: To ensure that Members are given the opportunity and are 

encouraged to provide an early steer on the scope and vision for the new local plan. 

 

Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management, e-mail - 
efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395 517519 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Climate Action  

☐ Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and Recovery 

☒ Democracy and Transparency 

☒ Economy and Assets 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 
page 133

Agenda Item 9

mailto:efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk


☐ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

 

Financial Implications  

The general financial considerations of the local plan are wide ranging, not only upon planning 
specific budget areas but also impacting the council’s major income streams such as Business 
Rates, Council tax and New Homes bonus.  There are no specific financial implications within the 
report that require comment at this early scoping stage.  

 

Legal Implications  

The Council’s approach to delivering the Development Plan is set out in the adopted Local 
Development Scheme and should there be any change in the agreed approach this will 
necessitate approval by Council to a revised Scheme. Otherwise, as the report relates to the early 
stages of the development of the Local Plan there are no specific legal implications requiring 
comment. 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

  

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; . 

Links to background information – See links in the attached the report.  

 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Outstanding Place and Environment  

☒ Outstanding Homes and Communities 

☒ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services 

 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 At Strategic Planning Committee on the 30 March 2021 a local plan work programme 

was agreed.  The programme advised that for this meeting (27 April 2021) a paper on 

the matter below would be considered: 

“Scoping and Vision of the plan - This paper will set out commentary and suggested 

options for the scope of the plan. Specifically whether it should cover all issues or only 

selected matters, for example strategic policies only, with more detailed policy matters 

to follow in subsequent plans or documents. It would also consider the vision for the 

plan and seek Members views on their key aspirations for what they want the plan to 

achieve for the district.” 

 
page 134

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


2 The proposed scope of the local plan 

2.1 The scope of the local plan can, in simple terms, be seen as the issues and topics and 

matters that it may cover.  In the issues and options consultation report, see: 

issuesandoptionsreport-jan2021.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) the Council set out in 

paragraph 2.2 that: 

“We consider that it is best to produce a single local plan for East Devon covering all 

key planning matters rather than a series of separate plans. However, an alternative 

option might be to first produce a strategic plan covering core issues and then to 

produce one or more separate plans addressing additional less strategic matters or 

particular concerns in greater detail.” 

2.2 Question 2 of the associated consultation questionnaire sought views on the 

appropriateness of this suggested approach.  The on-line responses received show that 

43% of respondents favoured producing one plan only and the same amount, 43%, 

favoured producing more than one plan.  A small number of respondents, 10%, 

favoured an alternative and 5% did not answer the question.  Note that all percentages 

are rounded to the nearest whole number.  

2.3 Appendix 1 to this report provides a schedule of on-line comments received in respect 

of the alternative options for plan production, noting that not all respondents made 

comments (some just ticked a choice preference).  Please note that comments are 

reproduced exactly as logged on to the questionnaire software.  In some cases answers 

given to this question, by some respondents, may cross-reference to answers they 

gave to other questions.  It has not been possible in this report to highlight the other 

question answer/s so in limited cases there may not be full relevant information 

displayed (such cases are, however, limited).  This same comment/caveat applies to 

other reporting of feedback received – noted later on in this report. 

2.4 The consultation exercise showed that there was no clear consensus on the question of 

whether to produce a single plan or multiple plans.  However having considered the 

consultations responses and evaluated the issues highlighted in the table on the next 

page officer’s recommendation is to progress on the basis of producing a single local 

plan that covers all key relevant policy matters that fall to the council’s planning 

responsibilities. This is primarily because there are inherent links between the plan 

strategy and detailed policy requirements that can best be maintained in a single plan. 

A single plan is also simpler, cheaper and will not take significantly longer to produce. It 

should be noted that in taking this approach it does not preclude producing separate 

supplementary policy guidance on detailed policy matters, design codes or other 

guidance for specific development sites.  Nor, very importantly, does it in any way 

prevent Neighbourhood Plans from coming forward.  

2.5 In progressing work on a single local plan it does not prevent changing the approach at 

a later date, but in starting work on a single plan now it does give clarity over the 

preferred direction and potential work ahead.  Furthermore, we would envisage starting 

by looking at strategic matters, this forms the thrust of the work plan for the next few 

months, and these strategic matters are relevant and applicable whether we ultimately 

produce a single plan or multiple plans. 

page 135

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3721875/issuesandoptionsreport-jan2021.pdf


2.6 In the table below we highlight some key possible positives and negatives associated 

with each approach and ask Members to consider these alongside the public comments 

appended to this report.  

 

Some key issues associated with 
producing a single local plan 

Some key issues associated with 
producing  multiple plans 

 It would provide all policies in a single 
document and therefore should make it 
easier to use and promote consistency 
in decision making. 

 It should be easier to clearly establish 
links between strategic policies and 
local policies, given that they are 
developed, tested and examined 
alongside one another. 

 Demonstrating financial viability plan 
policy and the plan as a whole (a key 
plan test) should be simpler under a 
single plan. 

 It should be quite a lot cheaper in the 
long run as it would only involve single 
(as opposed to multiple) plan production 
and examination costs. 

 A single plan can be lengthy and at 
worst uninviting to the public, it may 
discourage public participation. 

 It could be quicker to produce a 
strategic plan in the first instance, 
though longer in terms of subsequent 
detailed policies (i.e. longer to get full 
policy coverage). 

 Producing a speedy strategic plan first 
would allow for the council to firmly 
establish its overall ‘big-picture’ agenda 
and make large scale strategic choices. 

 Future Government changes to the 
planning system could place an onus on 
producing strategic plans, with many or 
all detailed policy concerns falling to 
national policy or guidance (i.e. we 
could avoid ‘wasted’ effort). 

 Initial plan production costs should be 
lower for a strategic plan only, but costs 
for subsequent plans, to gain full district 
policy coverage, would increase overall 
costs. 

 It may give flexibility to allow area or 
subject based plans to come forward at 
speed and could allow for specific 
issues to be dealt with in greater detail.  

 If detailed policy production happened 
at a later date it could lead to 
uncertainty in decision making before 
plans are in place. 

 
3 The vision for the plan  
 

3.1 Irrespective of whether we produce a strategic plan first followed by subsequent 

detailed plans, or whether we do a single plan only, it is important that we seek to 

establish an overall direction for the plan to take.  This is about starting to think about 

some of the big and potentially challenging matters that it could be relevant for a plan to 

seek to potentially address. 

3.2 At this stage it is not considered that it is necessary to have a defined vision established 

for the plan. However, it is desirable for thought to be given to what East Devon might 

or should be like in future years and how a new local plan may assist in getting to that 

point. 

page 136



4 East Devon as it has evolved in recent years 

4.1 In debate around potential change in the future it may be appropriate to cast eyes back 

to look at changes in East Devon in recent years. 

4.2 The greatest changes in East Devon (at least in so far as development and building is 

concerned) have occurred at the West End of the District close to the city of Exeter.  

Planning work initiated by Devon County Council back in the 1970s and 1980s, under 

the then responsibly to produce a county Structure Plan, lay the starting foundations for 

the growth and development we are now seeing at the West End.   Of course the 

growth agenda in this part of East Devon has now and continues to be promoted and 

evolve through work being done by this council working with a range of partners.  It 

would probably be fair to say that many of the GESP priorities (as set out the GESP 

vision) align with much of the current and evolving thinking about planning for West End 

growth that has occurred and is committed to in the future.  The future being relevant as 

there is still much committed growth that is to occur at the West End, including for 

example Cranbrook going from its current scale, under 3,000 homes, to a future scale 

of close to 8,000 homes, or Skypark and the Science Park being built out from their 

current partially developed states. 

4.3 Away from the West End growth levels and changes in recent years, specifically to the 

built environment, have been more varied.  Areas of more significant growth 

(specifically including comparative changes in built development – amount of 

development before compared to that after) have been greatest in housing terms in 

Axminster and Ottery St Mary.  Employment development (specifically in terms of land 

developed) has been greatest at Hill Barton and Greendale business parks.    

4.4 In much of East Devon built development growth levels have been considerably lower, 

an outcome not surprising given that Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty cover two 

thirds of the District whilst other natural and built heritage designations place constraints 

on scope for development.   

4.5 Wider than (just) development related planning policies and initiatives have also bought 

about changes in East Devon in recent years.  Significant work has gone into protecting 

key wildlife assets (specifically including the River Exe and the Pebblebed Heaths – 

though much of the ‘protection’ afforded mitigates development happening) and, for 

example, conserving and enhancing built heritage assets has been a key concern. 

4.6 In thinking about a future vision for East Devon Members are invited to think about how 

much, in what ways and to what degree changes and patterns in the past are relevant 

to and should help shape the future of East Devon.  There is, for example, a very 

simple question of whether we are happy to see the past carried forward into the future.  

On this basis, leaving what has happened and is already planned in the West End, a 

‘passive’ plan might take the view that things in East Devon are pretty good (if not 

excellent) as they are and we don’t want to see any real changes.  Indeed it would not 

be surprising if this were an opinion held (more or less) by many East Devon residents 

– though it’s much more doubtful if it’s the position that someone in poor quality housing 

or who is unemployed would take!  Furthermore with the Government promoting 

growth, for example currently requiring an average of 928 homes per year are built in 

page 137



East Devon, a ‘let’s not really change anything’ approach to plan making would not 

seem tenable. 

5 The role of the Council’s Statement of Intent 
 

5.1 The leaderships published statement of intent identifies a number of priorities that may 

help to inform a vision for the Local Plan. These are: 

“Our vision is to achieve a positive difference to residents’ lives and our environment in 

East Devon and this vision is integral to this Statement and will inform our Council Plan. 

We believe that EDDC can achieve this through four key themes:  

(1)  A Greener East Devon, which prioritises climate change and our natural 

environment (Appendix 1)  

(2)  Better Homes and Communities for all with a priority on the importance of good 

quality, affordable housing suitable in size and location. Poverty caused by the 

loss of employment, illness or disability is an increasing issue and will be a high 

priority for EDDC to tackle through all means available to us. (Appendix 2)  

(3)  A Resilient Economy bringing prosperity to the district notwithstanding the current 

challenging circumstances (Appendix 3)  

(4)  Services that matter to all of us (Appendix 4)” 

5.2 From a planning perspective points 1 – 3 identify the 3 dimensions of sustainable 
development (Environment, Social, Economy). These will each need to be addressed 
through the plan however it is the specifics of what the plan seeks to achieve in each of 
these areas and how these are balanced which is the challenge for the Local Plan.  

 
5.3 It is understood that a new Council Plan is being developed for publication in July but a 

vision for the local plan is a slightly separate and more planning and development 
focused statement. Some clarity over the key priorities for the plan at the earliest 
opportunity would help to inform the development of a strategy for the plan and help us 
keep to the set timetable for plan production.  

 
6 Does the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan offer any help? 

6.1 In thinking about the future, and as a starting point, there could be some value in 

looking back at the vision that was proposed in the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan 

(GESP) work. It should be borne in mind that the GESP vision was inherently strategic 

in nature given the scope of the plan envisaged and the scale of the area covered. It 

does however highlight a number of key issues that Members may see as key to Local 

Plan production.  The proposed (but not progressed) GESP - Draft Policies and Site 

Options Consultation document, see: Draft Policies and Site Options (Cancelled) - 

Greater Exeter Strategic Plan (gesp.org.uk) set out the following vision on its page 16: 

 

 

page 138

https://www.gesp.org.uk/consultation-phases/stage-two-policy-and-options/
https://www.gesp.org.uk/consultation-phases/stage-two-policy-and-options/


“The Plan 

The Greater Exeter Strategic Plan makes the big, cross-boundary decisions about 

growth, infrastructure and environment in the Greater Exeter area looking many years 

ahead. The innovative planning and ambitious investment decisions taken together by 

the local authority partners aim to realise our potential by creating great places for all 

people to live full lives. 

The Place 

In 2040 we are a sustainable, accessible and networked city region of linked but distinct 

communities. Our economy is carbon neutral and productive. We invest in our citizens, 

celebrate the area’s beauty and continue to work together for mutual long term benefit. 

We fully utilise our unique south western city-town-country-coast environment and our 

growing academic and skills base for smart growth. We enable prosperous and healthy 

lives in high quality homes and increasingly self-sufficient communities with access to 

great greenspaces and high quality jobs linked by a reliable, sophisticated and 

sustainable transport system. 

The Priorities 

• Greater efficiency - to be carbon neutral by 2040 

• Greater ambition - hardwiring delivery in from the start 

• Greater innovation - fast growth in cutting edge businesses including becoming the 

UK centre for data analytics, environmental futures, health innovation, smart 

transport and other digital future businesses 

• Greater connectivity - gigabit ready communities with majority sustainable travel 

• Greater prosperity - local wages rise to above the national average 

• Greater places for people - providing the homes we need in high quality 

neighbourhoods with the right infrastructure in the right places 

• Greater places for nature - rebuilding biodiversity and peoples’ access to it 

• Greater education - nurturing, attracting and retaining a world class workforce 

• Greater wellbeing - healthy active communities with a range of facilities and services” 

6.2 As drafted the GESP vision (and the proposed plan strategy and proposed plan policies 

that followed) was aiming to deliver quite substantial changes into the future.  In this 

context it is probably reasonable to say that the GESP agenda was not about 

maintaining a status quo outcome (a state of a continuation of ‘things as they are’). 

6.3 Members are asked to consider whether the GESP vision or something similar or 

indeed something else that promotes potentially big changes is appropriate and 

desirable for East Devon looking into the future.  Further to this change is probably 

always inevitable (at least to some degree) and a local plan can play a role in seeking 

to direct and assist with change.  Though as an alternative to actively prompting major 

changes (or at least major changes in many areas) a plan could be more modest in its 

aspirations for change and could actually be neutral in its approach.  A neutral plan 

could leave it to other means and mechanisms to bring about change, and in so doing it 

could be a plan that has an onus on reacting to things that are happening rather than 

seeking to directly shape and inform them.  

page 139



7 Local plan Issues and option report objectives 

7.1 A further way to look at and think about possible futures for East Devon is to re-look at 

the objectives set out in the local plan issues and options.  There is also scope to relook 

at these in the context of GESP priorities, as noted earlier in this report, noting that 

there are a number of clear overlaps between the GESP priorities and our local plan 

issues report objectives. 

7.2 The local plan issues and options report contained 10 proposed objectives, these are 

reproduced below. 

Designing for 

health and well-

being  

Objective 

1 

To encourage healthy lifestyles and living environments for 

all East Devon residents.  

Tackling the 

climate 

emergency 

Objective 

2 

To ensure all new development moves the district towards 

delivering net-zero carbon emissions by 2040 and that we 

adapt to the impacts of climate change. 

Meeting future 

housing needs 

Objective 

3 

To provide high quality new homes to meet people’s needs. 

Supporting jobs 

and the 

economy 

Objective 

4 

To support business investment and job creation 

opportunities within East Devon and support a resilient 

economy. 

Promoting vibrant 

town centres 

Objective 

5 

To promote the vitality of our town centres, encourage 

investment, greater flexibility and a wider range of activities 

to increase footfall and spend. 

Designing 

beautiful and 

healthy spaces 

and buildings 

Objective 

6 

To promote high quality beautiful development that is 

designed and constructed to meet 21st century needs. 

 

Our outstanding 

built heritage 

Objective 

7 

To conserve and enhance our outstanding built heritage. 

 

Our outstanding  

natural 

environment 

Objective 

8 

To protect and enhance our outstanding natural 

environment and support an increase in biodiversity. 

 

Promoting 

sustainable 

transport 

Objective 

9 

To prioritise walking, cycling and public transport and make 

provision for charging electric vehicles, whilst reducing 

reliance on fossil fuelled vehicles.  

Connections and 

infrastructure  

Objective 

10 

To secure infrastructure needs at an appropriate time to 

support new development 

 

7.3 These objectives received generally positive endorsement in the issues and options 

questionnaire responses.  Results from Question 1 of the consultation show that 65% of 

respondents agreed with the objectives, 25% did not agree and 9% did not answer the 

question.   

7.4 Appendix 2 to this report sets out comments made by respondents on the objectives.  

At this stage no attempt has been made to seek to assess representation text though 

from a superficial review it is clear that there are a number of high level matters noted in 

comments as well as responses that get into matters of some detail.   

7.5 At a future date it will be relevant for committee to return to look at objectives in more 

detail.  At this stage, however, it is useful to consider how in practical terms what they 
page 140



may mean and how they could be carried forward and implemented in practice and in 

this context what they may imply or mean for a plan vision and how a plan therefore 

may (or  may not) shape an East Devon of the future. 

8 Bidding for and access to government grant aid and securing other funding 

8.1 In terms of considering a vision for the plan and potential future outcomes it is relevant 

to note that much Government grant aiding and funding is linked to promoting growth 

agenda’s and higher levels of development.  The Government has a clear objective to 

promote and support development, most notably additional house building, and they do 

target funding to areas where higher levels of development are planned. 

8.2 Committee may consider that it is relevant to take into account the potential for 

Government funding and access to monies when developing a vision for the local plan.   

8.3 Further to Government funding developer contributions from development, and direct 

developer improvements to or delivery of infrastructure to accommodate their own 

schemes, can also be important means to secure positive planning outcomes.  For 

example most of the affordable housing that is built comes forward as a proportion of 

open market housing schemes.  If great importance is attached to securing more 

affordable housing then serious consideration should be given to whether housing 

numbers should go up to help achieve this outcome.  On a separate front it can often be 

a case that developers need to provide new infrastructure to serve their development, 

and make it acceptable in planning terms, but in so doing that infrastructure may also 

have wider positive community benefits as well.  

8.4 Developing a vision and thereafter having strategy and policy that follows from that has 

the potential to secure wider benefits and outcomes that may not otherwise be 

delivered or achieved. 

 
9 Key challenges and questions for committee 

9.1 In this paper we have sought to explore and set out some issues around what East 

Devon could be like in the future and how the plan may help us get there.  It is not 

expected that this committee meeting will or should draw definitive conclusions but it 

would be desirable in terms of helping to inform plan preparation to get a strong steer 

on thinking and approaches to a vision, including what’s most important and why, that 

we should be taking forward. 

9.2 To assist with discussions, focus thoughts and encourage possible conclusions to be 

reached we have set out a series of questions that we consider would be valuable for 

committee to debate, these are set out below. 

a) Do we want a plan that is bold, ambitious and challenging in its approach?  If so 

what significant changes do Members want to see? 

b) Alternatively are Members happy with things as they are and content to continue 

the path set by the previous Local Plan?  

page 141



c) Do we think that the GESP vision addresses matters or contains content that we 

should carry forward into a new local plan? 

d) Are there particular growth and development agendas that we should be following 

or avoiding – for example are there economic, environmental or social aspirations 

that the plan should be aiming to meet? 

e) Do the objectives in the issues and options report set out the right kind of thinking 

to inform a vision or understanding of a desirable future?  

f) Should other local plan objectives be identified or existing ones amended? 

g) If we had to prioritise matters in terms of plan outcomes – how should we go about 

it and how do we determine things that are of greatest importance?  For example if 

we sought the highest and earliest outcomes in terms of zero carbon buildings it 

could significantly reduce ability to secure affordable housing delivery – should we 

and how might we prioritise one over the other?  

 
 

  

page 142



Appendix 1 – Comments made by on-line response to Question 2 of the issues and options 
report consultation 
 
The issues and options report contained the following question: 
 

 
 
Option 1 comments - Respondents that ticked option 1 and who also provided comment, in their 
comments, said: 
 

Keep it simple. 

A single plan that covers all aspects and has inherent DESIGN principles and STANDARDS 
included, will mean it is a "one stop shop" for all interested parties. 

These need to be integrated and local people LISTENED to. Too often residents get very upset 
and angry when 'consultations' appear to be form only. 

Many of the plan policies are inter-related so it is essential that a holistic approach is used 
across all sectors of the plan so that policies can be integrated. 

I believe a single plan has more impact and easier to review. 

Multiple reports simply gives East Devon council staff the excuse to waste more time 
generating politically motivated reports 

But see comments below about Neighbourhood Plans 

I do think all too often when developers are building housing Estates they segregate the 
planning of houses through financial means. This means that all the low income families and up 
in the same place which creates pockets of poverty and occasionally Encourages or 
exacerbates a problem of antisocial behaviour. This design style of Estates, creates not only an 
element of home shame, but is not only visually attractive to be have such clunky design. It 
also does create further social segregation. A much more holistic process would be to chop 
and change the houses so that it seemed more fluidAnd welcoming to all. 

Multiple plans can result in less cohesion 

Further to my comments above, I thin a single strategic plan is essential that includes more 
localised sections to deal with particular needs etc. 

Multiple plans will bring problems of consistency and confusion. 

The important thing is to produce one plan and start acting on it rather than wasting valuable 
sub dividing it into several smaller plans. Too much time is wasted in Councils and Goverments 
by dithering and ot actually doing anything. 

the plan needs to be comprehensive and avoid confliting statements, this is best achieved in a 
single vison 

page 143



A clear and specific plan makes it easy for all to access and leaves less room for 
misinterpretation. 

Two years ago you held a vote for a development plan where the options were "Do you agree 
with the plan?" or "Do you not?" and I spoiled my paper because the choice was too polarised.  
Now, I think that a single plan will commit you to carrying out all of it.  
With many plans there is a danger that "the bigger stuff", unspecified, gets done and the other 
stuff runs out of budget, or just gets forgotten. 

option 2 is a recipe for pushing through a few pieces of infrastructure without considering their 
ultimate effect.  For example , they might drastically reduce or eliminate options for other policy 
matters. 

A single Plan is best as it will promote the best commitment of all parties involved. If it is broken 
down into multiple Plans   those Planners, Contractors, Businesses will be prevented from 
controlling the Council and diverging from the wishes of those living inn East Devon. 

A single plan would help provide a district overview in the one document 

Multiple plans require more work and potentially dilute effort. They will represent evolving 
thoughts rather than at a particular time - it's better to build on a single report than guess which 
follows the other. More likely to introduce delays, duplication, lack of clarity and contradictions 

Otherwise plans might disagree or cover same matter twice 

Best not to be too ambitious ...its been a touch year for everyone. It would good if something 
would 'just happen'. I believe this would be best achieved with a single plan. Just do it! 

Multiple plans sound appealing in theory but in practice they are hard to manage effectively. 

In reality I think this is the way government policy is heading, so there are advantages in getting 
an all-encompassing plan adopted relatively quickly. Otherwise the danger is that applications 
will be allowed on appeal in the absence of an up-to-date plan, and development in East Devon 
will be developer-led rather than plan-led. 

There are quite enough different plan fragments floating around that planners have to take 
account of, without adding to the burden by breaking up one of the existing levels.  Indeed, I 
would like to see the current Villages and Gypsies/Travellers plans subsumed into the new LP. 

If you have more than one plan, people could get confused! 

I think simplicity in planning is best. 

Producing multiple plans runs the risk of losing sight of the main objectives. 

Whilst the suite of development plan documents in an LDF is a good idea in principle, my view 
is that one comprehensive plan document that is internally consistent is far preferable.  Ease of 
production and making amendments should not take precedence over having a clear 
expression of development plan policy. 

I only agree with Option 1 if the Neighbourhood plans and local town councils have a proper 
say in the developments. Locals know about their area (flooding, social issues, traffic issues) 
as they live with them day in, day out therefore at the local level know better than beauracrates 
sat in their offices 

Paragraph 17 of the NPPF clearly outlines the importance of strategic policies within plans. It 
highlights the importance of local planning authorities setting out their priorities for the 
development and land use. Strategic policies are key to setting out a clear vision for the 
development of the district. This comfort for landowners and developers can be undermined 
somewhat when there are numerous policy documents to review, increasing the risk of 
confusion and missed information. Our clients’ agree with the Council’s decision to adopt one 
single plan that clearly demonstrates the approach to planning matters for the district. This will 
give clarity to landowners and developers, rather than multiple plans. 

Single Plan maintains focus and speed but both rural and built up areas need to be 
represented equally. 

A Single Plan could have strategic policies and more local/detailed matters in other policies, as 
in the current Local Plan. The Cranbrook Masterplan could be incorporated as a section in the 
Local Plan. 

Producing a single plan would presumably be less expensive than multiple plans but the option 
should be retained to look at parts in more detail as matters arise. 

page 144



Employ all the latest online technical innovations for plan and map making and working online. 

has to be cost effective, doing more than one plan must cost more! 

A single plan should ensure that there are no conflicts between various policy objectives. 

All the issues are interlinked 

all of the objectives are inter linked, and dependent. One plan seems sensible. 

The preparation of a single plan will ensure that key issues are addressed at this review stage 
and not delayed for future consideration.  A single plan will also provide certainty in relation to 
decision making.  If necessary additional guidance can be provided in the form of 
Supplementary Planning Documents once the new plan is adopted. 

The whole thing needs to be cohesive, multiple plans might have less weight and hang 
together less well than a single plan will. 

Option 2 would be a developers charter. 

Must be a single plan as otherwise retaining the same criteria and equity throughout. 

Paragraph 17 of the NPPF clearly outlines the importance of strategic policies within plans. It 
highlights the importance of local planning authorities setting out their priorities for the 
development and land use. Strategic policies are key to setting out a clear vision for the 
development of the district. This comfort for landowners and developers can be undermined 
somewhat when there are numerous policy documents to review, increasing the risk of 
confusion and missed information.  Our clients’ agree with the Council’s decision to adopt one 
single plan that clearly demonstrates the approach to planning matters for the district. This will 
give clarity to landowners and developers, rather than multiple plans. 

A single plan is satisfactory provided that it is comprehensive as regards all relevant issues. 

The overarching plan needs to be totally integrated with internal consistency. 

A single plan provides the best way to secure policies that are connected and coherent as a 
whole 

East Devon is diverse in many respects. To ensure that diversity is recognised a single plan is 
required. Within that plan, consideration of the urban areas must always recognise the potential 
impact on the rural areas, in particular, encroachment of the urban into the rural requires 
constraint. 

This has hung over communities for too long and needs addressing in the medium term. 

I would rather wait for a considered, overall plan than option 2 or 3. 
Separately, on your local plan document, I think 2.5 would be a more representative statement 
with the insertion of 'older' between 'our' and 'residents' in line 1. 

Local concerns should be covered by the bigger strategic view, if it has been well formulated. 

Paragraph 17 of the NPPF clearly outlines the importance of strategic policies within plans. It 
highlights the importance of local planning authorities setting out their priorities for the 
development and land use. Strategic policies are key to setting out a clear vision for the 
development of the district. This comfort for landowners and developers can be undermined 
somewhat when there are numerous policy documents to review, increasing the risk of 
confusion and missed information. Our client agrees with the Council’s decision to adopt one 
single plan that clearly demonstrates the approach to planning matters for the district. This will 
give clarity to landowners and developers, rather than multiple plans. 

I always find it more beneficial and easier to locate if it is within one document to avoid 
confusion. Then you can use the search function within one webpage rather than having to 
switch between them. 

I think a single plan will be able to give a consistent view across the district that people across 
the district can work to.  NB - I think although the plan needs to co-operate with adjoining 
councils, we should stand our ground - no more GESP, and preserve what is good about East 
Devon - the countryside, biodiversity, a wonderful place for residents and visitors.  I do NOT 
want us to become part of Exeter or their plans. 

Although it might be a large document I believe it will be easier to maintain. if you have multiple 
plans they will potentially get out of step and may conflict therefore leading to debates about 
what plan takes precedence when issues arise. 

One plan so that subsequent plans don't get ignored or set aside. 

page 145



Local Plans appear always to be overtaken by events - political and other .  Consequently the 
production of tiered / multiple plans would probably never get to deliver the local / lower tiered 
stuff and would instead be stuck at the strategic level .  Nevr good. 

Multiple plans are too complex to comment on or understand. 

A single plan is more likely to provide an integrated approach , as issues will affect each other- 
clearly, there is no point in developing housing if there are no jobs in the vicinity e.t.c. 

this would provide maximum cohesion. 

Because if you go with Option 2 then timing will be key for production of the detailed plans and 
it may be harder to align all the plans. 

Including all objectives, strategic and more local policies and key detailed matters in a single 
plan makes it a comprehensive source of information that in our view will facilitate better 
understanding of and engagement with planning issues than multiple plans. However, if 
multiple documents are produced, they should be referenced in the main plan, which needs to 
include at minimum the objectives, policies and maps. 

Although on balance we think a single plan is the best option, this is on the proviso it takes full 
account of all local concerns. 

the idea of multiple plans is reasonable in theory, but I have seen over the years in other 
authorities that multiple plans can make it less clear for people, can get caught up in policy 
change and delays in the system, and good intentions do not always follow through to plan 
production. 

Paragraph 17 of the NPPF clearly outlines the importance of strategic policies within plans. It 
highlights the importance of local planning authorities setting out their priorities for the 
development and land use. Strategic policies are key to setting out a clear vision for the 
development of the district. This comfort for landowners and developers can be undermined 
somewhat when there are numerous policy documents to review, increasing the risk of 
confusion and missed information.  Our clients’ agree with the Council’s decision to adopt one 
single plan that clearly demonstrates the approach to planning matters for the district. This will 
give clarity to landowners and developers, rather than multiple plans. 

To enable clear focus on getting defined policy achieved at all levels of the community 

I am concerned that Option 2 would equate to 1 top level binding policy/plan and multiple sub 
plans given no more weight in law other than simple guidance to developers. 

Paragraph 17 of the NPPF clearly outlines the importance of strategic policies within plans. It 
highlights the importance of local planning authorities setting out their priorities for the 
development and land use. Strategic policies are key to setting out a clear vision for the 
development of the district. This comfort for landowners and developers can be undermined 
somewhat when there are numerous policy documents to review, increasing the risk of 
confusion and missed information.  Our client agrees with the Council’s decision to adopt one 
single plan that clearly demonstrates the approach to planning matters for the district. This will 
give clarity to landowners and developers, rather than multiple plans. 

This should be able to be updated as a whole or in part when it becomes out of date. For 
example housing numbers need to be updated regularly whereas issues such as conserving 
the natural and built environments have remained relatively static for years. 

Paragraph 17 of the NPPF clearly outlines the importance of strategic policies within plans. It 
highlights the importance of local planning authorities setting out their priorities for the 
development and land use. Strategic policies are key to setting out a clear vision for the 
development of the district. This comfort for landowners and developers can be undermined 
somewhat when there are numerous policy documents to review, increasing the risk of 
confusion and missed information. Our clients agree with the Council’s decision to adopt one 
single plan that clearly demonstrates the approach to planning matters for the district. This will 
give clarity to landowners and developers, rather than multiple plans. 

page 146



Paragraph 17 of the NPPF clearly outlines the importance of strategic policies within plans. It 
highlights the importance of local planning authorities setting out their priorities for the 
development and land use. Strategic policies are key to setting out a clear vision for the 
development of the district. This comfort for landowners and developers can be undermined 
somewhat when there are numerous policy documents to review, increasing the risk of 
confusion and missed information. Our clients agree with the Council’s decision to adopt one 
single plan that clearly demonstrates the approach to planning matters for the district. This will 
give clarity to landowners and developers, rather than multiple plans. 

There should also be an infrastructure delivery plan 

One plan, provided it covers a long term view, will provide a more strategic approach.I 

Option 2 comments - Respondents that ticked Option 2 and who also provided comment, in their 
comments, said: 

An overall plan to deal with strategic matters and National frameworks.  In addition East Devon 
is a varied area with many different localities with their own set of concerns.  Incorporation of 
Neighbourhood Plans both existing and emerging to deal with local matters will add detail for 
further subsequent plans. 

Plans need to have consistency from central planning, however local plans should be absolutely 
paramount. 

Whatever you do probably needs to be iterative and updated. 

Need examples for this question. Don't understand what "the bigger stuff" and the smaller stuff 
might be?! 

Beneath the overall plan there should be scope for specifics and variations at local levels. 

I think a single plan would be too complex. Multiple plans would make it more efficient to 
respond to changes in our needs 

There need to be the same rules for everyone, but there will be different situations that will need 
different plans 

Strategic plans need strategic thinking.  The smaller plans need to be addressed on a 1:1 basis 
as they affect all individuals in the location. 

There should be a plan that covers large building companies and another that covers the 
general public 

It would be helpful if a complete 'Top-Down' Report could be provided to show how each 
Neighbourhood - Parish (?) - Local  - District - Regional Plan related to each other. 
I believe there is confusion at so many 'Plans' and 'Consultations' .. . . added to which, threre is a 
feeling that whatever the residents may say, they're views are ignored, so why bother ??! 

There is a risk of loosing important details with a single strategic plan. 

Think even if option 1 is taken first, it would almost inevitably have to become option 2 when 
Neighbourhood Plans are taken into consideration. 

Planning should be twofold: 1 - strategic planning outlining the objectives and ambitions of the 
areas, defining an overall strategy for East Devon; 2 - local planning based on the type of area 
that is represented rather than individual locality, for example rural areas, market town, village, 
AONB. 

the quality of life to residence that already live in the area. 
the roads , new school , new library , new shops ect 
to create a local sustainable village or town to provide local jobs and affordable housing 

it is easier to allocate work for subsequent plans to working groups, rather than take the whole 
council's time at every meeting. 

A general ‘apple pie and motherhood’ report then more detailed reports for specific areas so 
West Hill not lumped in with Ottery St Mary or other unrelated areas and their needs 

With a strategic plan being produced with more local plans coming forward to take account of 
local aspirations and better reflect existing neighbourhood plans to prevent uncertainty. 

page 147



A plan needs to be slightly flexible. Very few foresaw the pandemic which has devastated many 
and has severely damaged the economy. However, there are core values that need to be 
addressed - preservation and improvement of current economy, preservation and improvement 
of current infrastructure, preservation of the historical, cultural, and environmental ethos, and the 
rebuilding of community, that must be the heart of any plan. 

Usually there are local factors which affect planning permissions and related decisions. 

makes more practical sense and gets the plan moving ahead quicker 

Prefer to get the overall strategy agreed before we progress to the detail 

Members felt that dividing the Plan up enabled local matters to be updated more easily and 
Option 2 allows residents to get involved in the detail and for the Neighbourhood Plan to be 
considered fully. 

How long will it take to complete a single plan?  I would be concerned that wrong decisions 
could be made in the meantime if it takes years. 

The bigger and wider the plan, the less likely that private individuals will take part in the 
consultations 

Maintaining some flexibility allows for responding to the unexpected. 

I support multiple plans but not too many when it becomes difficult to cross check one with the 
other and where they start to contradict each other. Neighbourhood plans must still hold full 
weight. 

I think to break the plan down will encourage more participation from the public.  Everyone will 
have more interests and may not want to do questionnaires on subjects that don't concern them. 

If a single plan can ensure the minutia is included then that is the way forward.  If not then 
Multiple plans may be required as long as they join up somehow. 

Locals must be able to clearly see the impact on them and easily able to respond. 

I read the entire plan. It is very long.  
A series of targeted plans would be more digestible and encourage accessibility and 
participation. 

As long as dealing with "more local concerns and detailed matters later" doesn't mean they get 
put on the back-burner and ultimately get forgotten. 

Option 2 should enable incorporation of the Neighbourhood Plans that have been - and are 
continuing to be - prepared.  It is vital, however, that if Option 2 is adopted in this way then the 
Neighbourhood Plans which inform the Local Plans need to be considered and respected at the 
time of preparation of the Strategic Plan. 

Option 2 gives a more flexible approach. Local input must be sought in areas where there are 
particular problems to be addressed.  Single issue plans may involve delay and confusion. 

East devon is very diverse from farming communities to small hamlets to villages to towns and a 
city a single plan would be idiotic. 

Option two would allow for a strategic direction to be laid out (the why) but allow a more 
incremental and tactile approach which might stand a better chance of delivering more 
immediate impact and benefit by way of being supported by smaller plans (the what and the 
how) for particular issues and initiatives. Having smaller plans that reee up to the wider strategy 
would allow for more measurable progress to be made against them and quicker decision 
making. 

This is clearly a huge and important undertaking. An overall plan seems an essential starting 
point but with specific 'addendums' featuring key issues like housing, transport, energy efficiency 
- to name a few! 

Having one large plan covering all the items might not be the most useable format, whereas 
theme-based plans might be less weighty to use. 

All towns should have a local plan agenda that can then marry up to an East Devon local plan. It 
would be far fairer and democratic and allow towns a sense of being in control and not just an 
ignored backwater playing homage to the whims of the elite. 

Small towns & villages have completely different needs to Exeter and their voices need to be 
heard and not eclipsed or obliterated by the needs and ambitions of Exeter. 

The scope is much too far reaching to be covered with a single plan. 

page 148



Decisions should be made locally and therefore a central plan is not a suitable medium. 

to enable local community plans to be considered. 

Ensure local people are contacted and consulted before any new housing plans are passed. 

Strategic plans (climate emergency, healthy lifestyle, biodiversity and waste), with other plans 
showing how they support these ends. 

Strategic planning will enable best use of resources, experience, learning & finance for the 
benefit of East Devon a whole, however due consideration must be to the unique characteristics 
of each local area in East Devon. 

There needs to be one core Plan which is predicated on National Planning Guidance and which 
incorporates villages, towns and parish Neighbourhood Plans within an overall strategic 
document similar to the existing Neighbourhood plan with the maximum transfer of policies from 
the 2014 plan to avoid unnecessary change. This will help developers be comfortable that the 
maximum stability between plan periods is maintained. 

Plans never survive first contact with the enemy. So if you make 1 big plan that will immediately 
get ruined on day 1, it is a really bad idea to think you can try and make 1 plan to cover 
everything, everywhere. Really dumb. 

Gives scope for flexibility as technology progresses and economy changes 

It may be able to provide more detail and cover more issues on multiple plans. 

Option 2 seems to offer more flexibility to respond to changes 

smaller chunks more easy to understand 

One local plan will struggle to meet the needs and all criteria of relevance in any one area. 

Option 2 would give the new Local Plan more flexibility meaning strategic matters could have a 
lifespan of fifteen years and the subsequent plans dealing with more local concerns and detailed 
matters could be updated every three to four years as required. 

The overall strategy needs to be set out 1st (see key items above) then others can follow on. 

Any plan which is developed needs to be overseen by an independent or government source.  
leaving any development to EDDC with just lead to fudge and stalling at every level. 

subsequent or simultaneous plans should include leisure; culture; housing; neighbourhood plans 

The issues which affect rural areas/villages do not pertain to towns 

Multiple Plans – but make it clear that existing Local Neighbourhood Plans are included. 

A single plan means that any updates that may be needed to specific components or elements 
of an all encompassing plan because of changes in legislation, budgetary constraints, 
compliance or other external factors mean that the whole plan has to be revised. It is far more 
practical to have an overall strategic plan with specific plans for each of the key elements. It is 
also easier to assign responsibilities to each specific plan with the owner for that plan reporting 
to the  owner for the overall strategy - this ensures the same standards and disciplines are used 
throughout. 

There are always layers of complexity at local level and differing opinions, hence the local plans, 
many will need updating as the demographics change and so do housing needs and 
infrastructure needs.Feed the local neighbourhood plans into the bigger picture. 

It's normal in any planning process to outline overall objectives then drill down to the more 
detailed matter later. Having subsections allows these to be examined in detail and if necessary 
modified without needing to charge the top level document. 

Option 2 as long as the largest town does not get overlooked again in the mileau of local politics 
which seem to concentrate on other weathier areas.  Exmouth is key in ED, sandy beach and 
easy access, it is becoming an overflow for Exeter and brings with it anti social behaviour which 
is now leading to people leaving the area, or not being able to use the natural facilities available. 

As long as the multiple plans are linked, these would give residents the opportunity to focus on 
objectives that are of particular interest. 

LOCALISED PLANS CAN ENCOMPASS LOCAL ISSUES AT THAT LEVEL RATHER THAN A 
BROAD BRUSH APPROACH 

basic concepts sound positive, to improve rather than exploit the region. 

page 149



A higher level strategic plan should be completed first to set the overall priorities and boundaries 
and then local plans completed afterwards which address the specific needs of particular areas 
and address the different needs of urban and rural communities. For example: Parishes/villages 
in protected landscape areas such as AONB’s; Coastal parishes/villages/towns; Parishes with 
trunk roads or motorways through them carrying heavy traffic volumes; Parishes which are 
effectively suburbs of towns or cities. 

There is a need for urgency because, with the absence of an up-to-date Local Plan and a failure 
to have a 5-year bank of housing land available, developers would be free to determine where 
housing should go with little regard for the locally determined requirements. For this reason, it is 
suggested that having a core strategic set of policies in place quickly, backed up by a set of 
DPD’s as time goes forward is probably the best option. 

I think this would be more streamlined, and allow local place-specific consultation.  It would also 
be more able to respond to changing circumstances. 

Let's have the big picture clear first - there is a climate emergency happening in front of our 
eyes. That is the strategic imperativea nd from that all other policies flow eg new green jobs, 
green housing, will flow. 

It is pointless going straight into too much detail until the overall strategy is agreed 

space to small to comment 

producing an overall single plan will take too long 

In order to tackle climate change adequately, we need to produce far more granular detail than 
the old plan provided for. Allowing people to live near where they work, and to work near where 
they live, in houses that do not require huge amounts of energy to heat or keep dry, is crucial. 
More self builds, more Passiv house standard and renewable heating, more small scale 
development in villages for local young people to set up home. 

This depends on the Plan's approach to the Historic Environment and if it does contain relevant 
objectives and policies for conservation and enjoyment of archaeology and historic landscape as 
well as historic buildings. There may be a need for a separate Archaeology/ Historic 
Environment Supplementary Planning Document. 

More chance of progress 

Subsequent detailed plans should be more dynamic and evolve otherwise they will be soon 
outdated. 

Option 3 comments - Respondents that ticked Option 3 and who also provided comment, in their 
comments, said: 

I don't fully understand why you are developing a new rather than revised LP when the current 
one is just 5 years old, and the government are considering a zonal approach in the future - 
surely better to review and wait and see? 

fix the priorities as they do not match the views of the general public.  Too much emphasis on 
PC stuff. 

A single plan is unachievable, due to the timelines involved. I would propose the plan is broken 
down to manageable chunks that can be delivered either simultaneously by different 
departments or sequentailly. 

Neither of the above, East Devon is rural / agricultural and should remain mainly that. 

option 2 in reverse 

A single plan would need to be more sensitive to local issues. Not do the BIG plan ignoring local 
needs 

Do more than endless planning - Seaton Seafront Enhancement was in the last plan but hasn't 
been delivered 

Look for more Brown sites, and leave our beautiful Devon Countryside alone. 

Just improve on what we have got, like improve the beaches, improve promenades, improve 
road surfaces, tackle overgrown bushes, do some weeding, cleaning etc 

Local Plan too large for people to read and understand in a single document. 

page 150



Again, you do not control what developers do in the area, therefore again this statement is null 
and void 

Local matters need attending first. 

Option 3 - Produce a plan that deals with the District-wide Strategy, policies and proposals, with 
more detail Inset Settlement Plans to cover the specific settlement policies and proposal within 
those areas. 

Produce a plan to deal with supporting and make more sustainable existing villages as in the 
NPPF para 78 to promote sustainable development in rural areas housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities... where there are groups of 
smaller settlements, development in one village may support services in a village nearby as in 
the case of Ebford and Clyst St George where we have in excess of 45 businesses within an 
800 meter radius of both communities, School, Church, Darts village shopping centre, cricket 
ground children's play areas and more. These should be considered before developing large 
areas of open agricultural land. 

The problem with creating a single plan, is that it takes longer to formulate and things are 
constantly changing, making it difficult to keep such a plan current and fit for purpose. There is 
also the potential issue of so many stakeholders with differing agendas and priorities to facilitate. 
The problem with creating multiple plans is that it is difficult to effectively manage timescales, 
priorities and costs, with local concerns often being watered down or totally neglected. 
Any plan MUST aim to get it right first time, and so preparation is key. 
IF the right stakeholders are engaged early on an Option 3 could entail coordinate parallel sets 
of plans, whereby local plans were created simultaneously to a master plan, ensuring that these 
fed into the master effectively. This would require strong effective management with the ability to 
be fluid to unforeseen changes caused by Social, Economic, Ecological and Political events, as 
well as any Legal, Ethical and Natural challenges. 

I would like to see villages and towns produce their own plan, which then come together as a 
whole.  I appreciate this would take time as committee decisions always do.  The Multiple plan 
might work but one is always apprehensive that smaller local concerns would get lost in the 
whole and be forgotten. 

Climate change should be a plan in it's own right as per Devon County Council and be part of 
that plan. 

no comment. 

The important thing is that the strategic plan and the subsidiary plans are properly meshed, so 
that the master plan clearly informs and shapes all the subsequent ones.  That can presumably 
be done in either a single document or linked ones. 

Whichever is chosen, it will be essential that (1) there is enough specific detail, not leaving too 
much open to interpretation and (2) that they are 'joined up' at all levels. 

Happy with one main Plan,but there will be design guides and other ‘ little stuff’ which may be in 
annexes. A New Town Option may need its own document! 

No option selected but comments still made – some respondents did not tick any box but they 
still provided comment, in their comments, they said: 
 

no comment see objective 10 section 12 questions 

Provided that environmental concerns are paramount , either single or multiple plans can work . 

The format of the existing Local Plan is preferred - a single Plan but one that also sets out more 
detailed guidance for the main towns. 

The need to prioritise in the face of limited funding is key. 
East Devon has a strange shape, so there needs to be overall strategy on roads e.g. large 
vehicles (full size school coach) on lanes with passing places. 
Just because Cullompton is in mid Devon, cannot excuse the poor public transport from Honiton 
to get there or the state of the road. 

No comments 

page 151



Appendix 2 – Comments made by on-line response to Question 1 of the issues and options 
report consultation 
 
The issues and options report contained the following question: 
 

 

Question1Comment 

I am essentially interested in  
Chapter 3 - Designing for Health and Wellbeing (as it affects residential care homes) and this 
section is very well considered in my opinion.  
Chapter 5 - Housing which fails to mention design of 'Lifetime Homes' those that can be adapted 
into larger units if the owner chooses to extend or wants to work from home. (There should be 
initiatives for loft conversions providing there are no means of escape issues). 
Chapter 6 - To promote high quality beautiful developments is all very well but what is generally 
built is poor quality without any local distinctiveness and lacking chimneys which are an essential 
feature of our sky line.  Maybe chimneys are now redundant with electric heating schemes but 
these could be considered in historic areas.  You don't mention the excellent work produced by 
Cabe in the Building for Life 12 (principles for delivering good design) which appears in the 
NPPF. 
Chapter 9 - Our outstanding heritage - meaning of non-designated? 

The objectives are a little 'thin' on a focus on the needs of local people - and their involvement in 
the plan's preparation so that it is 'their plan' and not simply one imposed on them.  To that 
extent, extant neighbourhood plans have taken a lot of local investment and must of necessity 
be accorded a very high standing in any new plan proposals not least because they provide a 
wealth of local knowledge and expectations. 

Climate change should be top of the list 

Yes these objectives are broad enough. 
The most fundemental aspect of this plan should be inherent DESIGN principles and 
STANDARDS, that reflect the desires to enhance health and well being; tackle the climate and 
biodiversity emergencies and other priorities 
 
These DESIGN principles/ standards should be overtly clear for all, whether citizen, councillor, 
planner or DEVELOPER meaning that development applications come forward based on these 
STANDARDS so that  " beautiful places and buildings can be planned at the outset through the 
local plan rather than relying on subsequent master planning or individual planning applications. 
" ( Chapter8 ( 8.5) 

Rather vague and I worry that they will be ignored when the reality of the economy hit 

I think an objective should be to focus as much development as possible on brownfield sites, 
and also within existing BUAB's 

Objective 3, should limit housing to within existing boundaries of villages and towns, no further 
expansion outside of the existing footprint 
 
Development should only be allowed where there is existing infrastructure in place for any new 
occupants 

Retain youth 
Control building 

page 152



This planet cannot comfortably sustain more and more people with their associated needs for 
infrastructure and housing.Taking the natural environment away fro wild life for our needs 
will,inevitably, end in extremely uncomfortable circumstances whereby such events as 
pandemics originating from crossover of animal viruses will become more common. 
Furthermore,our children's right to be left a sustainable natural environment must not be denied 
them by our generation's greed for gobbling up the natural environment. 

Consideration should be given to maintaining/increasing the "vitality" of the many small 
villages/hamlets across East Devon. 

Ob 3; should read "To provide high quality new homes to meet local people's needs 
Ob 5 :delete "to increase footfall and spend" The aims are a "a healthy town centre economy, 
convenient access to local services and an attractive town centre environment 
Ob 10; should be broader, not just focusing on Infrastructure in new development, but looking at 
connectivity across the district   Replace with " To ensure that residents and businesses in both 
existing and new developments have  the connectivity they need"  
Add Objective; One which relates to local employment and services 

Yes, the right objectives, with a few additions please!   
Ob.2:  Not giving planning permission to build on any traditionally natural flood plain.  Aim to 
ensure net zero before 2040. 
Ob.3:  Utilise existing empty property and insentivise the public to do this and down size when 
possible, therefore freeing  
           up family accomodation. 
Ob.4:  Giving priority to Eco business and helping existing businesses trying to be more eco 
friendly.  Ensure local hubs  
           small business start ups and low rent, to encourage entrepreneurship.  
           Reduce business rates, otherwise we will have ghost towns.  Up taxes on non eco 
friendly businesses and  
           services. 
Ob.9:  Reduce the cost of public transport for users, otherwise it is just easier and cheaper to 
take use the car. 

objective 3 - housing -  no more retirement blocks of flats, we are now over run with these - what 
we need is small housing for our young people either to rent, buy, or part buy, rent - when we 
see affordable housing at £250.000  like Plumb Park etc, many of our local young do not earn 
enough money to get a mortgage - EDDC has sadly never addressed this issue in the 50 years I 
have lived in Exmouth 

Under 'Health and Wellbeing, provision should be made for the spiritual lives of people: places of 
worship, etc.. (Possibly shared with community centre facilities, etc..) 

However I would like to see more of an integration between Objection 3 and 10. Meeting future 
housing needs needs to be linked with Connections and Infrastructure. Without the adequate 
infrastructure any development needs to be severely restricted. 

Why are you putting so much emphasis onto an imaginary issue - Climate Emergency, this is 
simply a political policy being introduced into what should be non political local affairs 

The proposed set of objectives is confusing in its order.  It would be clearer to lead with those 
that express what the plan is essentially there to provide space for; the “What’s”, Objectives 3 
(housing), 4 (jobs), 5 (services) and 10 (infrastructure). Then follow with the supporting 
objectives that express the manner in which it is hoped the substantial objectives should be 
achieved; the “Hows”, Objectives 1 (well-being), 2 (zero carbon), 6 (design quality), 7 
(conservation), 8(environment protection), 9 (sustainability).  I would also suggest a further 
“How” - Objective 10 “Protecting established communities from the adverse impacts of new 
development including increased flood risk, traffic nuisance and danger, environmental 
degradation and overloading of existing services and infrastructures” 

Yes. But I also believe that you should create some opportunities for young people, to design 
and think about planning. if you want to keep young talent to stay in the area then invest in the 
futures of our amazing Exeter College and Tiverton College students by providing opportunities 
in which they can take part in shaping the world, environment, locality in which they live.This can 

page 153



be done through design competitions in partnership with certain design lead courses as well as 
open brief put out to young professionals and architecture agencies in Devon. 

The priority is wrong, too much money is wasted on local climate emergency activities when this 
needs to be led by national government.  The saved resources need to be spent on housing and 
amenities for local people as priority. 

Disagree with number 9. Prioritise parking and do not penalise car users 

Greater diversity to minority groups of people 

no comment see objective 10 section 12 questions 

With emphasis on Nature and Climate Change! 

There should be no ribbon development in East Devon.  It has ruined Torbay and other parts of 
the UK.  Villages should be left as villages - good communities, small and self supporting.  
Joining up villages, towns/cities is not a good or viable option as people will not want to live in 
such large groups. 

There are people in the area who want to live off grid and be self sustainable and this would not 
only realease housing for other people it will also be more environmentally friendly and help 
environmental issues but these people seem to be snubbed by the planners this needs to 
change people should have the right to go off grid and enjoy the things they own 

I think they are a good list of objectives and I think numbers 9 and 10 are more strategic and 
should be given a higher rating, I suggest becoming 3 and 4 with the remainder moving down 
two levels. 

No direct reference to promoting the Tourism Industry. 

In light of the recent approval for a gas fired power station in Exmouth, and an attempted 
application at Woodbury, there needs to be an objective concerning power generation including 
renewables. 

Infrastructure and lack of amenities need to be addressed. Exmouth requires more 
supermarkets to accommodate the increase in people living in the town. Tesco has the 
monopoly and charges higher prices because of no competition 

Sustainability, regeneration and conservation 

More facilities and funding for youth projects 

East Devon needs to retain its special appeal and not become an overloaded housing 
development. This is an area whereby people choose to live because of its current ambiance. 
 
There is so much housing development in close proximity-  there is no need to expand in this 
area. This would only satisfy the local land owners not consider the current local communities. 

Transport 

The environment. 

I think there is a conflict between high quality and beautiful developments and meeting local 
houseing needs which have to be affordable to locals 

At least 6 years ago Councillor Bruce de Sarum came to a meeting of Foxholes Residents' 
Association, touting his involvement in the preparation of your last Local Plan.  I cannot see that 
the resulting current plan makes any difference to the way that gullible councillors, stupid 
planners and greedy developers either collude with or employ 'smart alec' planning advisors 
(often ex planning officers) to gain permission to 'run rings round' and to 'work the system' in 
order to do whatever they like.  Until the Government change the Planning Laws in a meaningful 
way to provide good common sense, but most importantly, ENFORCIBLE development in this 
country, your efforts on this new plan are a waste of everyone's time and my portion of your 
Council Tax. 
PLEASE APPLY THIS COMMENT TO ALL YOUR QUESTIONS. 
Please do not just disregard my opinion as frivolous and unimportant.  These are my honestly 
held beliefs. 

I agree with the objectives, but would ask council to look more deeply into the sustainability of 
new houses, in terms of solar panels, grey water capture etc. 

Brighten up the tired seafront areas and encourage investment therein 

page 154



I believe its important to retain the facilities and environment the east Devon offers. Significant 
develops like Cranbrook and West Clyst do not retain the East Devon environment or facilities 
that people desire. 

That ANY housing built should have solar panels and rainwater collection built as standard. The 
houses should be insulated using recyclables.  
 
And you have the goals in the wrong order. What separated East Devon is that it’s beautiful 
countryside. The more we build, the less that the case. Yes, to improving access for eco tourism, 
healthy activities. Yes, to bigging up our current, beautiful heritage. Yes to finding more of it! 
Yes, to protecting flood-plains, woods, marshes, heathland. Yes, to bigging up the small 
businesses that supply the communities in East Devon.  
 
Before we can can build more houses we need to secure our community services - hospitals, gp 
surgeries, fire departments, etc. 

I think the road system around our neighbour Exeter proves that just increasing road capacity 
only increases car journeys and light railway might be an alternative 

It is vital to have a comprehensive Plan for all these objectives as they are likely to affect the 
lives of all living in East Devon. Also the Council will have better control on it development. 

Traffic volume and road safety 

There is a limit to what a Dictrict Council can achieve but the emphasis on environmental issues 
is still crucial and is the key to several of the other objectives. 

10 objectives represent a substantial body of work to deliver. Any additional objectives will dilute 
the effort 
Objective 6 is very subjective. It would be better to be more objective in the wording 

They are excellent objectives - the implementation is the key and being BOLD enough to do 
them justice 

Need to maintain 'Devon look and feel' for the region not letting it become a clone of others 
regions. 
Also need to fulfil promises made in previous developments and plans - eg the green wedge to 
the east of Cranbrook 

Sounds good but need deal with practicalities, Egs is housing affordable? 

It broadly covers all areas necessary for 21st century living, health, housing, businesses, 
environment (including climate), infrastructure and investment. Where it says To provide high 
quality new homes to meet people’s 
needs.'... I would like this to say 'To provide high quality affordable new homes to meet people’s 
needs especially families with children'. 

We welcome that tackling the climate emergency and protecting & enhancing the natural 
environment are key objectives. We highlight the importance of responding to the climate and 
ecological crises in an integrated way. 

I am only interested in the environment issue at present, and as I have mentioned previously I 
believe Hydrogen fuel is the long term answer to a better air quality.  Battery power has 
limitations that will not with current technology provide sufficient benifits. Speaking as a retired 
engineer from my experience. 

Members are broadly supportive of the objectives but feel that they closely mirror the white 
paper (Planning for the Future) and had the following comments: 
Objective 3: should include the words "safe" and "for rent and purchase" 
Objective 5: what does greater flexibility mean? Does this imply that use classes will be 
undermined? 
Objective 6: "beautiful" is very subjective. Also how does this fit with meeting the needs of the 
community? 
Objective 8: the scope should be expanded to include the words "protect and conserve" 
Objective 9: "promote" is a better word than prioritise. Members wondered how this can be 
achieved in rural parishes with little/ no public transport and how the reduction in reliance on 
fossil fuelled vehicles fits with Devon County Council's objectives as well as that of the current 
public transport stakeholders? 

page 155



Objective 10: should be broadened to include "and correct infrastructure deficiencies of the 
past." 
Do the objectives and scope address Hierarchy of needs? 

Generally agree, but more should be done to discourage car use---park and ride eg. And the 
seafront should be reconfigered in Exmouth  to give pedestrians and cyclists priority over cars. 
So more sustainable and environmental planning. 

Have the objectives been listed in order of priority?  If they have I don't agree with that order.  
However, that is probably not too important at this stage. 

Less restrictions for self-builders looking to build out of the BUAB 

To protect the existing infrastructure of the district from the inevitable effects of climate change 
and the extreme weather events that will increasingly occur. 

Far too costly, unachievable and there are greater priorities. 

There is no mention of community/communities or cultural aspects of the area. The pandemic 
has raised awareness  of the need for a strong community to support individuals and 
organisations stay healthy, sustainable, supporting public services and voluntary organisations. 
We have been lucky in "normal" times to have a strong cultural economy which contributes to 
wellbeing of residents and whcih promotes tourism and day visits. 

Policies required for Spatial targeting of development & Environmental land Management, as per 
Agriculture Act 2020, and Environment Bill & 25 yr Government strategies 

I support the objectives but In terms of development, we need to demand standards, not merely 
promote or encourage. We must move away from being fobbed off by ‘feasibility’ part way 
through development. Outline planning should be given cautiously as this is where the slippery 
slope into poor end result begins. Feasibility plans need to go in early. 

\More social housing on developments , Less room for developers to get out of providing this, 
Less affordable housing as this is not affordable more than initial purchase 

Due to East Devon location it is becoming a place where more and people wish to live.  Corvid 
and working from home will compound this so environment, housing and infrastructure are vital. 

AIDS to crossing major roads with slowing traffic or pedestrian lights. A376 in particular at Clyst 
St George. 

Glad to see an objective related to tackling the climate emergency!  Also pleased at the 
increased emphasis on building higher-quality properties in attractive settings rather than driving 
for house numbers at all costs. 

Objective 6:  Beauty is in the eye of the beholder.  When considering development that is 
sustainable and affordable east Devon has to consider superb design not beauty.  Design is key, 
well designed modular housing can look fantastic against a backdrop of trees or parks/lakes.  
Look to Scandanavian countries to bring Devon a very modern look which can live in harmony 
alongside the old. 

Focus on connecting local domestic buyers and suppliers/producers to reduce food miles, 
increase quality and choice, and drive down costs. This builds a vibrant local economy and the 
Devon brand. 

Objectives 8 & 9 could be higher up the list - reading objective 1 as "healthy lifestyles on a 
healthy planet" makes it a good over-arching aim 

More help should be given to local residents in the form of affordable housing and homes to rent 

Please commit to actions not just words.  These are all worthy objectives but I don't see much 
action happening to deliver them. 

Re Objective 9 I agree with the the objective of reducung reliance on fossil fuels, but this does 
not automatically create a need to provide charging for electric vehicles.  The whole transport 
strategy needs to be considered  as a whole system which may not need to spend huge sums of 
money, use of 3rd world cheap labour for mining natural resources (producing copper for large 
capacity cables, for example) and plastic the cable and its infrastructure.  Better public transport; 
use of shared or dial-up driverless transport which will come about in thye future will reduce the 
need for individuals' cars in the local shopping and town centres - indeed the use of personal 
vehicles could be discouraged not encouraged.. 

page 156



Reduce the number of 2nd homes in ED by preventing new sales for 2nd homes and aplying 
extra charges to current owners. 

No reference is made to solving the existing traffic congestion which seriously affects this parish. 
There is a desperate need to improve road networks, particularly in the East Devon 'west end.  
Objective 9 will not improve traffic flows! 

I object strongly to further planned building on our countryside green sites. You have over 
delivered by 37 percent over the last three years and 33 percent over the past five years. The 
planning of Cranbrook is a disgrace, have you driven around at the weekend? there are cars 
parked everywhere, badly parked preventing emergency vehicles from getting through. Extra 
houses have been built by the greed of the Contractors, with no thought except for themselves. 
The thought about Climate change completely ignored. I know we need affordable housing, but 
to encroach on more green belt in this area is ludicrous. 

We would like to see this expanded, or an additional objective created, so that the objective is to 
not only encourage but to provide a safe and secure environment with low crime with the 
necessary police infrastructure in place to help police, and facilitate, a healthy lifestyle which can 
be enjoyed free from crime and the fear of crime. The local plan needs to acknowledge the 
importance of policing and police infrastructure in achieving this objective. 
 
It is clear that a safe and secure environment, free from crime and fear of crime, is key to health 
and wellbeing; this can be achieved by proportionate investment in the necessary police 
infrastructure. 
 
We would like to see objective 10 and paragraph 12.1 amended to include police infrastructure. 

Coastal erosion 

Objective 2 sets out to deliver net zero carbon emissions by 2040. This is in 20 years time and a 
lot of damage can be done between now and then. I wonder if this can be brought forward and 
more immediate preventative measures put in place? Committing to using property developers 
that build more sustainably and recycle recycle materials and waste generated from all the new 
homes being built.  
 
Objective 8- could be expanded to include no development on green belt sites and planting of 
new trees to compensate for the additional housing. 

Your website is very difficult. You should stick to what we have got and improve that first before 
moving on./ 

The VGS consider all the objectives to be 'right'; however, others could be added to the LP: 
1) 'Agriculture' is only referred to as forming part of the 'traditional economy'; however, 
supporting an actively sustainable agricultural system should become a key objective, as 
outlined in the the government's recent 'Path to Sustainable Farming' which considers 
biodiversity, local food production and distribution, and support for small-scale traditional family 
farms: https://tinyurl.com/yrayctsf  
2) 'Young people' are scarcely mentioned and 'future generations' only once; issues such as 
'more housing' or 'climate change' only imply a concern with the next generation; rather, the 
interests of young people and real long-termism should be made a key objective, on the lines of 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: https://tinyurl.com/6ar7m7cp 

Transport links and infrastucture. As an example if you wish for example Ottery St Mary to thrive 
as a town it needs a Bi-pass road crcling the town to take away through traffic and allow the 
town centre to be pedestrianised . This would attract businesses to the centre, provide a focal 
point for town events and improve the carbon footprint of the town centre. 

Climate change needs to take a backseat in light of the difficult financial times out country faces 
and that couples up with the great need to support the high street, small and local businesses. 
Much more is needed to be done with regards to our heritage including enforcement on those 
who do not sufficiently maintain such structures/buildings. Housing is a priority but needs to be 
designated more towards brownfield sites as open countryside is fast becoming a rare 
commodity 

page 157



Objective 3:  
The majority of new homes should be for local people & robust research should be carried out to 
understand the needs of everyone and not just jump on the bandwagon of affordable housing. 
There are older people in the East Devon  who would like to step down to easy care/supported 
living in the villages they have lived in all of their lives and yet is is only executive homes or 
un/affordable housing that are built. 
Today houses are built without infra structure or community facilities.  Second homes destroy 
communities and do little to contribute to the local economy. East Devon should become a great 
place to live and work and not a theme park for holiday makers and second home owners.  
Objective 4. 
It would be great to see better paid year round jobs for local people.  You also need to provide 
training so that those who were born here can obtain better paid jobs and remain in the area.  If 
you keep increasing the population you will lose what people love best. 

no comment 

1. There is nothing about enhancing the local existing community. New developments should be 
at a pace to enhance the local community rather than replace. In Ottery the present LDP has 
seen 550 new homes built/approved between 2015 and 2021. This has increased the population 
by around 20% in less than 5 years (in fact a bigger increase in Ottery than in the preceding 110 
years). What makes Devon towns are the character of their communities - their differences. 
Recent development fails to take this into consideration and is  leading to homogenised towns. If 
the character of the town changes so does its cultural uniqueness/diversity 
2. Shouldnt the objective be the order in which things are done. At present housing is thrust into 
towns when there is inadequate resources (school places, doctors surgeries, water supply, 
sewage capacity, road ways, parking for residents who live in older buildings which give the 
town its character). Towns are becoming commuter towns for mainly Exeter 

Development needs more control keep the hedge rows and trees, you can't keep taking  away 
the homes of wild life. The UK has the highest wildlife extinction level of the whole of Europe, I 
want to see councils showing genuine concern before it is to late! 
The planet before profit! 

The objectives are very high level soundbites. This is usually difficult to translate in to meaningful 
practical actions. Each point should have subsections with how it is possible to acheive the 
objectives and what impact this is going to have on the lives of the local community. 

Our client supports the objectives laid out in paragraph 2.1 and believe their reasoning to be 
“sound”, in-line with the NPPF.  
Nevertheless, the importance of delivering new homes to meet and ambitiously surpass the 
housing requirements of the District should be an objective. In doing so, the district will be able 
to improve affordability, providing housing to those in the greatest need, create jobs and boost 
the economy. This objective should of course be cognisant of viability, ensuring that policy 
requirements create a platform for financially viable development. 

It is unrealistic to expect cycling and walking to be a major means of travel in a country area.   
Distances are too great.   It is also foolish to provide affordable housing in villages that force 
people to run two cars that they cannot afford.  Affordable housing is needed, but should be built 
near centres of employment and shopping centres. 

The objectives are not, in my opinion, of equal importance. I am in full agreement with objectives 
1, 2, 8, 9 and 10. Whilst the others are important, they should not complete on a the same 
playing field as those five, and should be progressed in such a way as to support these five. 

As part of the sustainable transport and in particular public transport more should be done to 
make buses in towns electric. 

Objective 1, 3 & 4 need to give clarity about how the needs of people with disabilities including 
those with Learning disability will be met to ensure equitable access & opportunity. 

If the objectives are in order of priority then I think the objective for protecting our natural 
environment should be listed in at least the top three and arguably top given it's importance to all 
species. 

I would like to see more information regarding improvements to road for pedestrians, particularly 
on roads that have a high percentage of traffic.  The main road leading from the Exmouth 

page 158



roundabout to Budeilgh High Street is a major concern as there is little provision for footpaths so 
pedestrians have to zig-zag across the road from one pathway to another.  The increase in 
traffic over the last few years has been enormous and if the Plan as stated goes ahead, I can 
only see there being more traffic.  We have seen this already since Evans Fields has been 
developed on the outskirts of Knowle Village - which could become an area where further 
housing could be developed. It is also clear that many vehicles do not observe the 30 m.p.h., 
limit as they approach the T junction at Knowle Village and some totally ignore the 30 m.p.h. 
light that flashes on the main road.  Could something also be done about the T-junction at 
Knowle Village - the noise of vehicle horns is extremely worrying. 

There need to be very clear quotas for disabled access and affordable housing on all potential 
sites both in Rural and Town areas. There needs to be a clause about viability assessments 
being based on existing land values if agricultural land is to be used for housing or commercial 
development and there needs to be a clear allocation of small and large business units to 
specific zones including Honiton and Dunkeswel. There needs to be very clear design principles 
and community quality of life design policies built into the new plan 

I would like to see investment to increase tourism in East Devon all year around, rather than just 
over the traditional peak months. I would like to see Sidmouth and Seaton developed into 
watersport destinations. 

Please refer to my answer to chapter 14 

Infrastructure and public transport 

They are just management speak words on a page. Anyone can write them, very few can follow 
through. 

Health and wellbeing are important as well as zero carbon. Vitality of our towns could be helped 
by using all of the empty floors of buildings above shops to bring more people to live in towns. 
NO NEW DEVELOPMENTS are needed particularly on greenfield sites. Re-use brownfield sites. 
Affordable housing is not necessary. 

no 

Generally excellent objectives, but I think there ought to be provision to ensure that habitat  & 
biodiversity loss do not occur as a result of following the other objectives. 

Security from criminals and from terrorists.  Safety for children from pedophiles. 

I would give conserving the natural environment a higher priority 

Large scale development needs to be considered along side available hospital beds and 
facilities. The pandemic highlighted Devon would have been in serious trouble if COVID had hit 
us hard, due to over development without comparable beds in hospital 

that's enough to handle 

A scheme where lower priced properties, usually in or on the outskirts of towns are purchased 
by Councils and improved, instead of perpetual 'new builds' would not only provide alternatives 
to new build affordable housing, but would speed up housing needs as these properties already 
exist, usually in areas where employment exists. Improvement of these types of property would 
enhance the local area and add a much needed boost to the housing market. There seems to be 
a trend of CLT's claiming a need for affordable housing in rural areas with no infrastructure or 
employment prospects, which is not in keeping with the objectives of a sustainable development. 

What a wast of time. You can not control what developers do, and yet this is trying to set out that 
you are doing all the buildings in the area which is false therfore this statement is a waste of time 

To allow for affordable housing solutions to enable local families to remain in the area. To 
consider a balanced housing stock for a wide mix of households 

nice objectives but several are pipe dreams. In past 5 years employment is still dire, public 
transport not fit for purpose and proposals to reduce reliance on the car obviously not coming 
from those attempting to live in the area. Need for more housing now decreasing. 

The objectives for the Local Plan are a mixture visions, aims, desires and aspirations without 
any clear rational or structure for their selection.  The Local Plan needs to make a clear 
distinction between: 
  The Vision for the future 
  High Level Aims 

page 159



  Objectives  
 
It is critical for the Vision, Aims and Objections to be clearly stated so they can be used as a 
benchmark to ensure appropriate planning and land use polices and proposals are included in 
the Plan.  The Local Plan Plan should set out Objective that seek to: 
A - Conserve and Enhance East Devon’s Environment  
B - Prudent use of Resources  
C - Community Self Sufficiency 
D - Meeting the need for Housing  
E - Dynamic and Healthy Economy  
F - Sustainable Transport Networks 
G - Meeting the need for Infrastructure  
The suggested  "List of Objectives" are set out in the pdf attached to this response. 

Rejuvenation of high streets and town centres is also essential 

I agree all the given objectives.  I think you are missing an objective related to pollution and 
recycling.  While CO2 emissions and habitat loss are major causes of concern, we often 
overlook the impact of plastics, chemicals and other human generated waste.  I would like to see 
an objective specifically aimed at reducing / eliminating locally generated waste. 

In objective 5 there could also be reference to charities social enterprises voluntary and 
community groups, 

Support people to be able to buy and live in existing property in East Devon. Many properties 
are snapped up as second homes/holiday lets - it is difficult for first/second-time buyers to buy, 
move, and live in East Devon (new homes alone will not solve this). Objective 8 - we should 
strive to increase biodiversity with measurable outcomes, not just 'support it'. 

It’s not clear whether these objectives are in any order of priority. Since there are inevitable 
conflicts, surely they need to be? Objectives 8 & 9 should be very high priority. 

It has been glaringly obvious for several years that the A376 needs to be upgraded for 
productivity and safety reasons. Despite the population growth of Exmouth and some other 
nearby settlements nothing has been done for many many years. Is the council unaware that 
productivity is one of the UK's major economic problems and that infrastructure improvements 
are known to make significant improvements to these improvements. 

"Climate change" should not be a major priority for a local district council. 

I applaud the ethos the plan is based upon 

Plan for younger generations to live and work in East Devon and in particular rural areas to 
balance the age demographic of the population and ensure healthy vibrant rural communities for 
the future. 

These are all good general aims - but think EDDC should concentrate on objectives 3, 4 5 and 
10. 

Only build where the area has resources to support the additional population 

There is a need to prioritise these objectives at some point. 

The plans in relation to the economy and housing etc are totally inadequate.   On every 
endeavour dealing with the EDDC is so difficult as there overriding remit is to prevent and stall 
all and any development they have the capability of doing this too which does not fall into their 
aim of keeping any development to an absolute minimum as required by law and letting all the 
surrounding areas take the strain.  It is a clearly visible in everything they do and as a show of 
this they recently pulled out of the area development plan which the other areas were involved 
in, which means they lose funding and other incentive but this is irrelevant as they are not 
interested in funding and development. 

I think an additional objective relating to established communities: Protecting these communities 
from adverse impacts of new development for example in our current climate flood risk, 
increased traffic nuisance and added danger on the narrow lanes, overloading of existing 
services and infrastructure. 

Yes - fine 

page 160



The date in Objective 2 should be reduced to 2030 in line with the wishes of the Devon Interim 
Carbon Plan. Objective 3 should include the refurbishment of existing dwellings to reduce 
reliance on new build, which is NOT carbon friendly, and more brownfield development should 
be encouraged. Objective 10: new infrastructure, particularly roads, should be minimal to 
discourage vehicle use. 

In accordance with the NPPF the presumption in favour of sustainable development should be a 
fundamental aspect of the plan's focus.   This will ensure that new development is located in 
sustainable places, in close proximity to complementary uses (i.e houses close to jobs, shops 
and community infrastructure) with the least environmental impact. Whilst climate change, 
design and the environmental are important issues to consider the plan should fundamentally 
identify and provide for objectively assessed needs (NPPG Paragraph: 036 Reference ID: 61-
036-20190723). 
 
Linked to the ‘presumption’ the inter relationship between East Devon and Exeter should also be 
included as a fundamental issue. The concentration of jobs, facilities and services in Exeter 
cannot be overlooked. Locating development near to Exeter is likely to result in the most 
sustainable form of development, subject to relevant environmental constraints and 
designations. 

There should be a specific objective to support retail and related services in villages 

An additional Objective: Protecting established communities from the adverse impacts of new 
development including increased flood risk, traffic nuisance and danger, environmental 
degradation and overloading of existing services and infrastructures. 

My only comments are, having spent several years now since living in Whimple making my own 
objections to planning proposals, making my own remarks and attending planning meetings, so 
far absolutely zero, absolutely nothing of what I have said, suggested or offered as an opinion 
has been taken into consideration or made any difference.I absolutely believe in my heart that 
this is purely a paper exercise. I have no belief or evidence to suggest the east Devon district 
Council will give any consideration whatsoever to any personal individuals remarks. Therefore in 
my opinion there is no point whatsoever in completing this document because I do not believe 
that the Council are going to pay any attention to it whatsoever. You are offering this opportunity 
to make our comments out of obligation but in my opinion you have absolutely no intention 
whatsoever to listen to what the individual residents request, or desire. It is incredibly sad and 
disappointing. 

Objective 2 - please expand to include encouraging renewable energy and its infrastructure  
Objective 3 - please add 'in the right places' 

There is no clear plan to support rural communities to keep them as vibrant communities in their 
own right. 

All houses built should be of low energy, low carbon design. 
A programme of retro fitting heritage housing stocks to be more energy effecient. 
Encouragement for rainwater collection projects. 
Some areas where very dense growth of trees and plants can be achieved 

Reduce development. Preserve our rural landscape. 

Maintaining the existing character of Devon's towns and villages (not trying to stop all 
development, but future development should be sensitive and in character with existing styles, 
size/proportions, of individual homes etc. 

More cycle paths. 
Ottery at Mary to Sidmouth 
Sidbury to Sidford 
Kilmington to Seaton Sea Front 
Propper designated cycle paths no roads. 
Every new road built should have a cycle path. 

Objective 3 needs to be more of a focus on housing needs for local residents.  
If Consultation is key, then include it as an objective and also add: Respect and take into 
account Local Neighbourhood Plans. 

page 161



Develop more villages to make them more sustainable encourage housing ,business 
development therefore encouraging the retention of generated monies for the benefit of the local 
community to enhance the vitality and facilities of the village community 

I think environmental considerations should be at the for front. 

Large scale areas for recreation must be included. 
Large scale areas for biodiversity 
Problem of second homes 

Most of the objectives are so self-evident as to hardly need stating. No-one in their right mind 
would argue for the contrary. 

Education needs more prominence. 
A radical solution is required to the affordable home problem that a substantial percentage of our 
residents have. 

 Would support these objectives but feel that current infrastructure particularly a community 
resource such as The Beehive, Charity no 1162412, which belongs to East Devon residents, 
should be supported financially. This would help sustain the charity and enable more support for 
the community health & wellbeing and add to the economic and cultural/tourism offer for the 
region. Can you include building upon and increasing the offer of current infrastructure ?I'm sure 
this would be a cost effective approach. 

Address the planning implications of the Covid pandemic eg retail/town centres, employment 
and transport issues - both current and anticipated ( para. 2.6 ) 

Provide more Electric Vehicle public Charging points, both on street and in Car Parks, but 
without a charge being made to use them at the latter. 

Objective 6.  Sadly the word 'beautiful' does not spring to mind when I  see some of the appalling 
designs of housing which have been approved and built. Some even in the Conservation Area of 
Budleigh Salterton. 

Several of our rivers in East Devon are degraded and polluted. They need to be upgraded and 
then protected as part of the environmental objectives. 

Little/no involvement of the public - other than where there is a valid neighbourhood plan which 
must be respected fully. 

More protection for green corridors between Exeter and the nearby villages, to prevent the likes 
of Broadclyst merging with either the city or Cranbrook 

Think of the younger generation , support them  with more local opportunity 

I couldn't see any plans for promoting affordable housing/addressing local housing needs. we 
live in an area where house prices are not matched with salaries and there is an abundance of 
second homes. 

I do not think that land at The Grange field Rockbeare or around Cobden towards Whimple 
should be built on. Villages are being swallowed up by Cranbrook 

For both residents and visitors to the area greater introduction of connected cycle paths for both 
leisure and commuting. I would love to cycle to work but the lanes and roads I would use have 
high volumes of car, lorry and bus traffic it would be unsafe. 

Community Care or Care in the Community. 
Supporting/funding the use of solar, wind and other alternative energy provisions to existing 
buildings. 

Heritage: to preserve the heritage of Exmouth; the villages within and the history which has led 
this to be a visitor town. To preserve the open spaces, i.e., the Maer valley as it is. To preserve 
with English Hertiage and NT the ancient lanes of Gore and Castle.  In short to limit the amount 
of building in and around Exmouth which has become too large and with too many 'sink' estates. 
 
Exmouth: now is too large, too many estates.  We must have a mission to use all available 
empty buildings for housing and limit second homes here which fuels the high cost of housing. 
Help for real local people should be available to help get on the housing ladder or rent at 
reasonable cost.  Other towns must now take more of the building quota. 
 
Anti social behaviour: which comes from the sink estates and from those visiting, mostly local to 

page 162



other parts of ED and Exeter and other towns.  We need to come down hard on all types of anti 
social behaviour; littering, dog fouling, bad behaviour etc. 

Our client supports the objectives laid out in paragraph 2.1 and believe their reasoning to be 
“sound”, in-line with the NPPF as mentioned above. 
Nevertheless, the importance of delivering new homes to meet and ambitiously surpass the 
housing requirements of the District should be an objective. In doing so, the district will be able 
to improve affordability, providing housing to those in the greatest need, create jobs and boost 
the economy. This objective should of course be cognisant of viability, ensuring that policy 
requirements create a platform for financially viable development. 

The objectives in themselves are “right” as principles, in that most people won’t disagree with the 
broad sentiment.  The key issues however are “how” will these be achieved, particularly when 
some of them may conflict eg objective 3 (meeting future  housing needs) while still conserving 
and enhancing our built heritage and natural environment ( objectives 7 and 8). This includes 
protecting established communities from the worst impacts of development. 

Objective 3 - I would like this to specify more affordable and/or social housing. And 
Objective 7 - to Use derelict sites for infill housing and to encourage those who own heritage 
sites that have been derelict for years to do something to correct those particular eyesores. 

Objective 2, Tackling the climate emergency:  Target date should be moire ambitious, i.e. 2030. 

Need to allow people the right to build, adhering to guidance. 

Objective 2 - I would like to understand if local government can set its own higher standard for 
any new construction.  Current planning seems to allow vast estates to be thrown up with a 
relatively poor standard  particularly in terms of sustainability. Why can developers not be forced 
to include more insulation, ground source pumps, solar panels etc instead of conventional 
approaches. 
Objective 3 - How can the council control/limit  2nd home ownership which drives prices up and 
prices locals from the market. More affordable and social housing should be incorporated in any 
new developments - not just a token gesture. 
Objective 7 - Many older properties are structurally sound, but could benefit from investment to 
bring up to a higher standard of sustainability and to reduce emissions. 
Objective 9 - I totally support sustainable local transport, the plan should also consider the 
importance of Exeter airport to local tourism and business.  The loss of Flybe was a major blow 
to the area. 

We particularly note Objective 7 (To conserve and enhance our outstanding built heritage), and 
Objective 8 (To protect and enhance our outstanding natural environment and support an 
increase in biodiversity). With respect to Objective 7 - we endorse the conservation of our built 
heritage. However, we find the words 'and enhance' lacks clarity in the context of conservation – 
‘enhance’ implies an alteration that maybe in conflict with conservation. 

Protection of green wedges between communities and important landscape features in smaller 
settlements. Imposing designs on developers to avoid generic house builds within communities 
to avoid the emergence of a loss of identity. 

Objective 3 should recognise that urban and rural housing needs are different and be restated 
as: “To provide high quality homes to meet people needin both urban and rural areas”. 
Objective 10 talks about “Connections”. It’s not clear what this means and we suggest the word 
should be Connectivity. Only infrastructure is mentioned in the objective. It should read: 
“Objective 10: Connectivity and Infrastructure: To secure infrastructure and connectivity needs at 
an appropriate time to support new development” 

support objective 1 and objective 6.  synergy with Active Environments - one of the 5 key issues 
in our New Strategy ‘Uniting The Movement’ is a 10-year vision to transform lives and 
communities through sport and physical activity. We believe and will advocated  sport and 
physical activity has a big role to play in improving the physical and mental health of the nation, 
supporting the economy, reconnecting communities and rebuilding a stronger society for all. 

There needs to be more recognition, service and investment in the small villages of the area - 
these are too often left till last when there is no money left in the bank. 

page 163



I have raisewd a specific issue in relation to Objective 3: Meeting Future Housing Needs( see 
below). However, the objecives are sensible and Toray specifically supports Objective 2 
Tackling the Climate Emergency. 

The list of objectives is extensive, but the trick is to balance the attempts to meet one objective 
rather than another. Our experience is that the main objective is always to meet targets of 
house-building at the expense of all other objectives 
 
Objective 1 could be achieved under the other objective headings; it would be difficult to prove 
and achieve in isolation for all residents in East Devon. This objective is all about good “Design” 
which is covered under objective 6. It is Important that planning is seen by all residents in East 
Devon as more than housing and employment and that these objectives do not lead and 
determine the Plan and lip-service is paid to the other objectives. 

The objectives are supported but it would help at this point to refer explicitly in some form to the 
need to secure and encourage social sustainability and connectivity. The issue is picked up later 
in Chapter 3 but given its strategic importance, it should really included in the headline 
objectives. For example, Objective 1 could be usefully expanded to "healthy lifestyles, living 
environments and supportive social connections for all East Devon residents". 

Protecting the sustainability of East Devon villages and the local communities 

Nevertheless, the importance of delivering new homes to meet and ambitiously surpass the 
housing requirements of the District should be an objective. In doing so, the district will be able 
to improve affordability, providing housing to those in the greatest need, create jobs and boost 
the economy. This objective should of course be cognisant of viability, ensuring that policy 
requirements create a platform for financially viable development. 
Furthermore, alongside an objective focusing specifically on housing deliver, another is needed 
to address the delivery of employment/commercial space within the district. If East Devon 
District Council wants to create an area where people not only want to live, but businesses want 
to locate themselves, they must ensure the delivery of an adequate amount of innovate 
employment/commercial space, in a timely manner. 

Improve and support Biodiversity, reduce pollution, support renewable energy, encourage 
demonstration of enhanced public access to and within the marine area, infrastructure between 
the terrestrial and marine environment. 

We should include an objective to support the arts in East Devon. 
Development of housing should be the MINIMUM to meet people's needs - not to satisfy the 
profit developers want to make. 
Further to the pandemic, working practices are changing to more home-working, so improved 
broadband is a suggested objective for the district. 

But suggest consider the following - 
1. Promote opportunities for leisure activity 
2. Promote access to open spaces for exercise 
3. Take prompt and appropriate action to prevent ingress of the sea to communities (particularly 
in view of climate change), such as at Sidmouth 

I'm pleased to see the Climate emergency & Health & Wellbeing are at the front. 

I would delete Objective 3 and give Objective 8 and 9 higher priority 

Less emphasis on green issues and huge emphasis on providing enough homes for young 
people in Devon 

The issue of sustainability is glaringly missing.  Growth for  the sake of it is ultimately pointless 
and damages all of you objectives. 

The climate emergency is an emergency, measures need to be taken in the next 10years ie by 
2030 not 2040. Major and irreversible change affecting East Devon will have already happened 
by 2040. 

Existing people on assessed as being in need of council managed social housing should be 
prioritised in the provision of new housing. There is no excuse for people being on local housing 
lists in the Exeter/East Devon area in view of the extensive house building which has recently 
taken place. 

page 164



Protection of farm land and rural villages.  Protection of countryside from housing development 
and general damage by roads or building. 

Given the gravity of climate change and environmental concerns, a ten year plan would be more 
appropriate. 

How about: 
Relief Of Poverty - Objective ? - To provide the support, opportunities and resources to enable 
people to climb out of poverty 
Support of the Vulnerable - Objective ? - To identify and support vulnerable residents of East 
Devon 
 a) who need significant support and encouragement before they can even begin to access all 
the opportunities provided by this plan, and/or 
b) who will always need significant support because of their physical, mental or other needs 

Yes, but so not necessarily agree the order 

Recreation and biodiversity 

I think something explicit needs adding about recycling household rubbish - improving the 
amount that is both collected and actually recycled and reducing the amount of landfill waste 
disposal.  I don't think objectives 1 and 8 are enough to cover this. 

Stop overbuild!  Provide far more parking per house. People don’t use garages for cars, but for 
storage as modern houses have no room inside for storage.  Houses advertised as 4 bedroom a 
joke!  2 bedrooms with 2 dressing rooms more like!  Usually 2 cars are owned per house 
minimum, let alone visitors!  Roads are so narrow, then cars are parked on footpaths, no chance 
of east access for emergency vehicles. 

...meet ‘ people’s needs’ or ‘residents needs’? 

Objective 2 = Climate change = reduce date to 2030 
Objective 3 = Housing needs = Remove "industry" from town centre and develop housing (I.e 
Halses yard to Daisymount  and replace with cottage housing similar to Poundbury, Dorchester 
including local 'village Shop'. make spine road to create oneway system with Mill Street 
Objective 3 = Housing needs = Remove Bradfords to Heath Park and replace with Garden 
village with open green spaces 
Objective 4 - Job creation = Introduce "artistic and creative" atmosphere with studio shops 
Objective 5 = Town Centre = (a) Reduce high street width to twoway in curved format 
                                               (b) Pedestrian width to include trees and street furnitue and cafe 
culture 
                                               (c) Remove traffic light sysem and introduce 'belisher beacons 
                                               (d) Designated Performance areas 

Additional comment possibly under objective 1: "To encourage the creation of wealthy and 
sustainable COMMUNITIES". 

Broadly, the objectives need to address the impact of the global pandemic and Brexit. We are 
too reliant on tourism and importing fruit, veg, and even trees from the EU. We have an 
opportunity to develop our agricultural skills to supplying the UK, while improving our own 
resilience at the same time. The adverse impact of tourism with second homes, traffic, stressing 
our limited health care resources have really got our attention. 

These objectives are right but I'm concerned about how they will be met without damaging the 
natural environment or the already established local communities. 

No you need more & wider objectives - this is too focused on housing provision. 

In our view, support for an increase in biodiversity is not sufficient and the Council needs to act 
positively to conserve and enhance nature. RSPB considers an equal level of commitment to 
restoring biodiversity in tackling the Nature and Climate Emergency is necessary. We 
recommend Objective 8 is strengthened to “To protect, restore and enhance our outstanding 
natural environment and biodiversity”. This including ensuring all developments adhere to the 
mitigation hierarchy (avoid harm as a priority, mitigate where not possible, compensate as a last 
resort), and deliver biodiversity net gain (BNG). In achieving this, Council policy and decisions 
should ensure designated sites and species are protected, that biodiversity offsetting is not used 
when development would destroy irreplaceable habitats, and that BNG contributes to delivery of 

page 165



local nature recovery strategy priorities and objectives. BNG will be required from all new 
developments once the Environment Bill is law. 

The NHS would like to confirm that Objective 10 would cover provision for accessible and 
sustainable healthcare. 

We believe that objective 8 is of the utmost importance.  Indeed this objective is vital for 
achieving objectives 1 and 2. 

Yes, I would like to see the new local plan articulated primarily around the need to tackle climate 
change. The old local plan was distressingly quiet on environmental damage and climate 
change, and put the emphasis on the delivery of houses, rather than on the quality of the houses 
and communities this plan produced. 

Our client supports the objectives laid out in paragraph 2.1 and believe their reasoning to be 
“sound”, in-line with the NPPF as mentioned above.  
 
Nevertheless, the importance of delivering new homes to meet and ambitiously surpass the 
housing requirements of the District should be an objective. In doing so, the district will be able 
to improve affordability, providing housing to those in the greatest need, create jobs and boost 
the economy. This objective should of course be cognisant of viability, ensuring that policy 
requirements create a platform for financially viable development. 

NPPF (185) requires a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic 
environment. Objective7 therefore needs to be broadened to cover the whole of East Devon's 
outstanding Historic Environment, not just its Built Heritage. Archaeology and historic landscape 
are otherwise excluded from this objective. This would balance Objective 8 on the Natural 
Environment - much of which is historic/cultural as well as 'natural'. 

Local community knowledge should play a greater part in planning for sustainability.  
More emphasis on promoting a green economy.  
Housing design should be more flexible, to suit households' evolving needs over time. 

Always a contentious start; are the objectives in the right order of priority and would this ordering 
have “put off” those who wished to have their say? 

My initial thoughts are that these are largely the right objectives. However, if these are in a 
priority order of 1 - 10, I am not sure that this is right, however perhaps that is one of the 
purposes of this consultation.  
 
I would also like to see the addition of collaborative "place shaping". While this would draw on 
elements from most if not all of the other objectives, its focus is more based on giving 
communities resiliance and vibrancy, beyond (but including, of course,) just the highstreet.  
 
This would help define and assert the individual characters of the various towns and villages 
across the district (perhaps giving extra weight to neighbourhood plans) and help shape and 
define the identity of East Devon as a whole.  
 
In short, give the district a strategy for growth that is focused on what our communities need and 
want, and define the USP of East Devon. 

Our client supports the objectives laid out in paragraph 2.1 and believe their reasoning to be 
“sound”, in-line with the NPPF as mentioned above. The objectives; 
· Objective 1: Designing for health and wellbeing 
· Objective 2: Tackling the climate change emergency 
· Objective 3: Supporting jobs and the economy 
· Objective 5: Promoting vibrant town centres 
· Objective 6: Designing beautiful and healthy spaces and buildings 
· Objective 7: Our outstanding built heritage 
· Objective 8: Our outstanding natural environment 
· Objective 9: Promoting sustainable transport 
· Objective 10: Connections and Infrastructure 
Nevertheless, the importance of delivering new homes to meet and ambitiously surpass the 
housing requirements of the District should be an objective. In doing so, the district will be able 

page 166



to improve affordability, providing housing to those in the greatest need, create jobs and boost 
the economy. This objective should of course be cognisant of viability, ensuring that policy requ 

It is important, in the drive for alternative forms of transport to the private car, not to forget that 
the East Devon area has a large rural environment with relatively poor accessibility by public 
transport and infrastructure (including fast internet access). Many of these areas have an older 
population for whom cycling and walking are not viable options for day to day living. These area 
depend on good access to their market towns and the use of private transport. 

To provide nature corridors for wildlife. This has a huge potential to aid our diversity. Even small 
patches of wilderness will help. For this reason, I would not support infilling. 

We feel that Objective 7 should reflect the wider historic environment, including archaeology, not 
just historic buildings. The National Planning Policy Framework refers to the Historic 
Environment. If Objective 7 is not widened then there should be a separate Objective to cover 
conservation, access and enjoyment of archaeological sites and monuments and historic 
landscapes. 
Objective 1 (Section 3.5) should include access to the historic environment and landscape as 
well as the natural environment for health and wellbeing. 

Our clients support the objectives laid out in paragraph 2.1 and believe their reasoning to be 
“sound”, in-line with the NPPF as mentioned above.  
Nevertheless, the importance of delivering new homes to meet and ambitiously surpass the 
housing requirements of the District should be an objective. In doing so, the district will be able 
to improve affordability, providing housing to those in the greatest need, create jobs and boost 
the economy. This objective should of course be cognisant of viability, ensuring that policy requ 

Our clients support the objectives laid out in paragraph 2.1 and believe their reasoning to be 
“sound”, in-line with the NPPF as mentioned above. Nevertheless, the importance of delivering 
new homes to meet and ambitiously surpass the housing requirements of the District should be 
an objective. In doing so, the district will be able to improve affordability, providing housing to 
those in the greatest need, create jobs and boost the economy. This objective should of course 
be cognisant of viability, ensuring that policy requirements create a platform for financially viable 
development. 

An additional Objective: Protecting established communities from the adverse impacts of new 
development including increased flood risk, traffic nuisance and danger, environmental 
degradation and overloading of existing services and infrastructures. 

Currently there is no reference to meeting the community, cultural and social needs of the 
community.  We would note paragraph 8 of the NPPF states the planning system has a social 
objective to support communities’ health, social and 
cultural well-being, and paragraph 20 seeks strategic policies which make provision for 
community facilities including cultural infrastructure. We recommend insertion of an additional 
objective to support, provide and protect such uses for the benefit of the community. 

An additional Objective: Protecting established communities from the adverse impacts of new 
development including increased flood risk, traffic nuisance and danger, environmental 
degradation and overloading of existing 
services and infrastructures. 

Tipton St John needs a school in the village that is climate and flood resilient! 

I don’t agree with building any more houses and retail parks, but Climate Change should be 
extremely high on the agenda. 

There should be a specific social housing objective delivered by  
1) EDDC buying land deevloping and selling houses purely or predominantly for Social Housing 
2) a requirement that a proportion of the land on any major development is transferred to EDDC 
sufficient to build 25% of the total number of dwellings. On this land EDDC would then build and 
sell the  target number of social housing. There are too many examples where developers end 
up committing to a much lower % of social housing than their original commitment e.g. 
Goodmores Farm (final 5% vs >20% in outline permission.) resulting in significant overall 
delivery of the Social Housing target. 

 

page 167



 

 

page 168



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 27th April 2021 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Engagement With Site Promoters Through The Local Plan Process 

Report summary: 

The report seeks Members views on how site promoters are engaged through the plan production 
process with many having already approached officers and/or Members wishing to present their 
proposals following the call for sites. It is considered important that a process for their engagement 
is established at an early stage of plan production to provide clarity to all parties.  

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

1. That the Committee consider the proposed options for engaging with developers and site 
promoters on production of the Local Plan and agree to pursue option 5 as detailed in the 
report.  
 

2. Should Option 5 be the Committee’s preferred approach to engagement the Committee are 
asked to agree that a special meeting of the committee be held in November to hear 
presentations from those developers and promoters who wish to present their site to 
Members. The detailed arrangements for the meeting to be delegated to the Service Lead – 
Planning Strategy and Development Management in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
Strategic Planning.  

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To ensure that there is appropriate engagement with developers and site promoters through the 
production of the new Local Plan and that this is carried out in an open and transparent way that 
informs plan production while minimising the impact on officer time.  

 

Officer: Ed Freeman – Service Lead - Planning Strategy and Development Management  

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Emergencies 

☐ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☐ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport 

☒ Democracy and Transparency 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

page 169

Agenda Item 10



☒ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

. 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; . 

Links to background information . 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Outstanding Place and Environment  

☐ Outstanding Homes and Communities 

☐ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services 

 
 

Introduction 

Members will be aware that alongside the Issues and Options Local Plan consultation undertaken 
earlier this year there was a call for sites as part of the Housing and Employment Land Availability 
Assessment (HELAA). This generated a lot of interest from land owners, developers and site 
promoters who have put forward sites either through this call for sites or the previous call for sites 
under GESP. A number of these parties wish to make representations to Members and officers 
about their site and their proposals. It is considered necessary to establish a process for handling 
such requests and potentially accommodating them.  

 

Current Position  

At present developers approaching officers seeking an audience to discuss their proposals for 
sites being promoted for development are directed to submit a pre-application enquiry through the 
established process so that their proposals can be commented on formally by officers or where a 
Members Advisory Panel is requested a panel can be convened in accordance with Members 
previously agreed protocol. A number of developers are however arguing that this is a process 
appropriate for developments that they wish to promote now through the development 
management process. In many cases developers are promoting sites which they know are 
currently contrary to the current Local Plan and are not seeking officer or Member views to confirm 
this but seeking an audience to present their proposals for how the site could be brought forward 
in a new Local Plan and a different policy regime. There is currently no established process for 
doing this.  

 

During the production of the now adopted Local Plan similar requests were made and officers met 
with developers to receive a presentation from them to help them to understand what was 
envisaged and the work that the developers had done to investigate the constraints of the site and 
how it could be developed. This was useful information to inform consideration of sites but officers 
were always clear that it would not be appropriate for them to express an opinion and so this led to 
conversations simply about points of fact. Despite this many of those same site promoters are 
keen to engage in a similar way with the production of the new Local Plan. There are a number of 
options for how the Council may wish to respond to such requests in future and on these Members 
views are sought.  

 

page 170

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


Options  

1. No engagement 
There is no requirement to engage with developers and site promoters outside of the formal 
consultations on the Local Plan during its production and then through the examination 
process. It would therefore be possible to simply decline all such requests for meetings and 
only engage through the established formal consultation processes. This approach would 
prevent the additional work that engagement entails, however there may be useful 
information about the constraints of a particular site that would benefit plan production. 
Equally an understanding of the developer’s intentions, the site capacity, envisaged timing 
and phasing of delivery etc can all be useful information as well, albeit some of this 
information may already have been provided in written submissions for consideration by the 
HELAA panel.  

 
It is however important to understand the role that developers and land promoters play in 
ensuring that the housing and employment needs of the district are met and development is 
brought forward and so there are considered to be benefits in showing that East Devon is 
“open for business” and happy to discuss proposals. A no engagement approach would 
potentially send out a bad message suggesting that East Devon is not open to development 
and developers may choose to invest elsewhere. The consequences of this could be few site 
options and developments not being brought forward making it all the more challenging to 
deliver the developments that are needs to meet the needs of the district and the 
communities living within it.  

 
2. Written engagement only 

We could restrict engagement to written submissions thereby ensuring that any additional 
information that developers/ site promoters want us to be made aware can be made available 
and can be considered but that we have clear records of what has been submitted and when. 
This approach could potentially limit the impact on officers and member’s time of arranging, 
attending and recording meetings, however it could potentially lead to the Council being 
bombarded with correspondence, plans and details all of which would need to stored and 
managed. It would also lead to an entirely one way conversation that would not represent 
good engagement and would not be a very friendly way of addressing the issue.  

 
3. Engagement through site specific meetings 

An alternative option would be for officers and potentially Members to meet with developers 
to hear presentations regarding the sites that they are promoting to help inform consideration 
of the sites that have been put forward. There is however a danger that this could take up a 
significant proportion of officer’s (and Members) time as to be fair to all parties this would 
have to be made available to any developer/site promoter who wishes to meet with officers. 
Making arrangements for these meetings, attending the meetings and keeping appropriate 
records could be very time consuming and resource intensive.  Given the demanding 
timetable that has been set for local plan production there is a significant danger that this 
approach would delay plan production.  

 
4. Engagement via a working party or other group 

It would be possible to establish a working party of Members supported by officers to hear 
presentations about specific sites and engage with site developers and promoters. This 
approach has some benefits from the developers perspective of enabling them to engage 
with potentially a number of Members but could generate significant work in setting up 
meetings and problems over how such meetings could be recorded and whether they should 
be held in public.  

 
5. Engagement through Strategic Planning Committee only  

A further option would be to provide an opportunity for developers and site promoters to 
present through Strategic Planning Committee. The agreed timetable for plan production 

page 171



proposes a debate of potential site options by the Committee in November. It is considered 
that part of this meeting could include providing a time slot for developers and site promoters 
to present to the Committee to aid Members understanding of the options prior to making 
decisions regarding which options they wish to put forward for consultation in the draft plan.  

 
It is considered that this option presents the most open and transparent option given that the 
presentations would then be given in a public meeting that is minuted by Democratic 
Services. It would also ensure that all of the committee could hear each presentation 
whereas this would be difficult to accommodate if separate meetings were to be held for each 
site. It could however lead to the need for an additional committee meeting in November to 
accommodate this given the other areas of work set to be considered in November. It may 
also cause some frustration among developers and site promoters if they have to wait until 
much later in the year to engage more fully in the process. They may also not wish to make 
their plans open to wider public scrutiny but clearly this would be their choice. If this approach 
is favoured it is suggested that a special committee meeting be arranged and that each 
presentation be time limited to ensure parity across all of the sites being presented and to fit 
the time available. 

 

Conclusion  

Overall it is considered that there are sufficient benefits to having engagement with developers/site 
promoters through the local plan production process that arrangements should be made to 
accommodate this. In order to minimise the impact on officer time and ensure that this is done in 
an open and transparent way for the moment it is recommended that a special Strategic Planning 
Committee meeting be arranged for November and any interested parties that come forward be 
offered the opportunity to register for a time slot to present at the meeting nearer the time. It is 
considered that this would be sufficient while all site options are being considered, however once 
favoured sites have been identified for inclusion in the draft Local Plan it would be necessary for 
there to be wider engagement on the sites to be included in the draft plan. It is considered that at 
draft plan stage through to the examination meetings such as those envisaged in option 3 would 
be a more appropriate means to enable the wider engagement that would be required.  

  

 

Financial implications: 

Any increases in officer’s time can potentially have financial implications and are addressed within 
the body of the report. 

Legal implications: 

As the report identifies, there is no requirement to engage beyond the formal consultations 
required as part of Local Plan production. Members may wish to increase engagement during the 
process but will need to ensure that the information obtained is used in a fair and even handed 
way as part of the process of site allocation. 

 

page 172



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 27th April 2021 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Call for Evidence: Permitted development rights 

Report summary: 

This report details a response to the Governments Call for Evidence in relation to permitted 
Development Rights outlining the Councils response to a new Government Inquiry and advising of 
issues and matters for the Inquiry to consider. 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That the Committee agree the contents of the report and that the report form the basis of the 
response to Government on the Call for Evidence Inquiry. 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To enable the Council to engage in the Call for Evidence and to ensure that the Council’s views 
are considered by the Inquiry.  

 

Officer: Ed Freeman, Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management, e-mail – 
efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel: 01395 517519  

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Climate Action and Emergencies 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☒ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport 

☒ Democracy and Transparency 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☒ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

. 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; . 

page 173

Agenda Item 11

mailto:efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk


Links to background information Permitted Development Rights - Committees - UK Parliament 
New inquiry: Permitted development rights - Committees - UK Parliament 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Outstanding Place and Environment  

☒ Outstanding Homes and Communities 

☒ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services 

 

Call for Evidence. New Inquiry: Permitted Development Rights 

1.1 The Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee has launched a new Inquiry to 
examine the Government’s approach to permitted development rights. 
 

1.2 The aim of the inquiry is to examine the Government’s recent and proposed changes to 
permitted development rights in respect of large-scale development, commercial to residential 
conversions and changes of use between different types of commercial and retail premises. In 
particular, the inquiry will explore their role in supporting economic growth and their impact on 
local authorities, including their ability to plan development holistically, developer contributions, 
the provision of services and social housing and the supply of quality new homes.  

 
1.3 The terms of reference for the Call for Evidence is as follows: 

 

With specific reference to permitted development in respect of large-scale development, 
commercial-to-residential conversions and changes of use between different types of commercial 
and retail premises: 

 What role should permitted development rights (PDR) play in the planning system? 
 What is the impact of PDR on the quality and quantity of new housing, including affordable 

and social housing? 
 What is the impact of PDR on local planning authorities, developer contributions and the 

provision of infrastructure and services? 
 Is the government’s approach to PDR consistent with its vision in the Planning White 

Paper? 
 What is the impact of PDR on the ability of local authorities to plan development and shape 

their local communities? 
 Is the government right to argue that PDR supports business and economic growth? 
 What is the impact of PDR on the involvement of local communities in the planning 

process? 
 Should the government reform PDR? If so, how? 

In addition, written submissions may touch on any other matter relevant to the government’s 
approach towards these kinds of permitted development. 

 
1.4 Launching the inquiry, Chair of the Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee, 

Clive Betts MP said: 

“Local communities face an unprecedented challenge. The Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown 
has placed severe pressures on urban environments that were already struggling. As we look 
to return to normal life we still don’t know what the long-term outlook will be, both in terms of 
the viability of existing commercial and office space or the need for domestic housing. 

page 174

https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1131/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/1131/permitted-development-rights/news/153026/new-inquiry-permitted-development-rights/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


“Given these uncertainties it is crucial that the right framework is in place to support local 
communities to adapt to meet the new reality, whatever it may be. The Government has 
indicated its intention to use permitted development rights to allow greater flexibility in how 
buildings are used, removing the need for planning approval for switching use between offices, 
shops and housing under certain circumstances. 

“We have launched this inquiry to understand the implications of this approach. Does it provide 
sufficient scope for local authorities to set out a coherent plan that addresses local needs? 
How well does it support the Government’s broader goals for economic development and 
housing capacity? Fundamentally, do they enable the economic and societal recovery we 
need.” 

 

Council’s evidence for submission 

 

2 Taking each of the questions posed by the inquiry it is suggested that the Council make the 
following submissions for their consideration: 

 
What role should PDR play in the planning system? 

 
2.1 There is a role for permitted development rights in the planning system but this should be for 

very small scale development that would have very limited and localised impacts. Prior to the 
introduction of recent changes to Schedule 2 Parts 3 (Changes of Use) and Part 20 
(Construction of New Dwellings), the PDR’s worked fairly well in terms of allowing small scale 
development with limited impacts and which, crucially, were not generally in conflict with 
Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plan Policies.  

 
2.2 There is a particular concern with regard to Classes M-U of Part 3 and the whole of Part 20 

of the General Permitted Development Order. 
 

2.3 It is recommended that the PDR’s revert back to the position prior to the introduction of the 
Prior Approval route for Changes of Use under Classes M-U of Part 3 and Part 20.  

 

3 What is the impact of PDR on the quality and quantity of new housing, including affordable 
and social housing? 

 
3.1 As these PDR applications generally limit what Local Planning Authorities can consider, it 

means that local and neighbourhood plan policies that contain policies regarding the quality 
and quantity of development become redundant. This can limit the quality of development. It 
can also lead to communities feeling disenfranchised from the planning system when they 
have given up a lot of their time to produce a neighbourhood plan only for the policies to be 
overruled by new permitted development rights.  

 
3.2 Whilst the new PDR’s may have increased the quantity of new housing, the numbers are 

limited with any benefits outweighed by the fact that most new dwellings are located in 
unsuitable and remote locations in the countryside. 

 
3.3 For example, the current PDR’s allow agricultural buildings in very rural, isolated and often 

sensitive locations to be converted to dwellings, shops, hotels and other uses with minimal 
assessment by the local planning authority and via a process that the local planning authority 
and wider public find less than democratic. 

 
3.4 As a planning authority for a very rural planning authority we feel we have lost necessary 

control over some developments. The planning system is supposed to be plan-led yet this 
page 175



legislation often over-rides consideration against local plan policies and neighbourhood plan 
policies. The result of this is that local communities, despite engaging in the local plan 
process, and in many cases spending years and many thousands of pounds preparing a 
neighbourhood plan for their area, find themselves with development being granted under 
the PDR process contrary to local and neighbourhood plan policies.  

 
3.5 The process has resulted in increases in travel and use of private transport in unsustainable 

rural areas, making it very difficult to achieve our carbon neutral target for the District. 
Inhabitants of these countryside villages and hamlets are understandably very concerned 
that their Neighbourhood Plans and the East Devon Local Plan, which have been years in 
the making, are rendered ineffective, and that Central Government is dictating development, 
often outside of the Built Up Area Boundaries to the benefit of individuals only and at the 
expense of wider objectives. 

 
3.6 Examples of such situations are as follows with example application references provided. 

Further details of these applications are available from our website at: Simple Search 
(eastdevon.gov.uk): 

•   Having to grant consent for the conversion of an agricultural building to a shop in the small 
hamlet of Combe Raleigh against the wishes of all of the residents and resulting in a shop 
that will encourage people to drive there from established settlements with the associated 
traffic movements and disturbance to residents – See application 20/2563/FUL; 

•   Having to grant consent for the conversion of employment buildings to residential use 
undermining local employment opportunities – See application 20/2856/PDO that allowed 
the loss of an office on a business park at McBains Business Units to residential use 
undermining the employment provision on the site and resulting in the loss of employment 
land and provision of a residential unit in an undesirable location on a business park; 

•   Having to grant consent for agricultural buildings to be used as hotels in unsustainable 
locations undermining our existing hotels and guest houses in our main towns – see 
20/0396/PDR at Musgrove Farm, Dunkeswell Abbey; 

•   Having to grant consent for a chicken house to a 3 shop units in a very rural area 
undermining our already struggling town centres – 18/2388/PDR at Greendale Farm, 
Farringdon. 

 

3.7 In addition to the above, there is a general concern that the planning legislation allows 
people to use just the possibility of being able to gain Prior Approval under this legislation as 
justification for other development. For example, the fact that somebody could apply for a 
change of use of an agricultural barn to a dwelling under the Prior Approval process is 
enough for somebody to be able to justify a new build dwelling in its place without actually 
having to apply for Prior Approval. This results in the Local Planning Authority having to grant 
planning permission for new dwellings in place of a barn, even though it has not been 
converted or have consent for residential use. And to make matters worse, the local planning 
authority then find it almost impossible to refuse permission for a replacement dwelling of a 
larger footprint and different design.  Therefore, instead of a sensitive barn conversion, the 
local community end up with a new house that does not resemble the barn that was 
supposed to be converted. This is then very hard to justify to the public. Ultimately the PDR’s 
give developers a fall-back position which makes resisting other inappropriate developments 
very difficult.  

 

4 What is the impact of PDR on local planning authorities, developer contributions and the 
provision of infrastructure and services? 

 

page 176

https://planning.eastdevon.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planning.eastdevon.gov.uk/online-applications/


4.1 Unwelcome consequences from the latest changes to the PDR’s on local authorities is as 
follows: 

 

 Loss of income – the new PDR processes involving Prior Approval have fees that are 
considerably less than the equivalent planning application fee but cost the local planning 
authority considerably more to process. The fees are far less than the actual cost of 
processing the application generating an additional cost burden to the local authority; 

 

 These applications often involve more work for the local planning authority due to the 
shortened timescales for consideration, need to explain complex processes to the public 
and stakeholders, the need to be constantly adapting to the fact that the PDR’s are 
constantly changing and due to the number of different PDR’s available. In addition, it is 
usually the case that the grant of PDR Prior Approval application leads to a further 
planning application and more work and processes. It is particularly confusing that the 
courts have now determined that the presence of a fall-back under the PDR’s (even if not 
granted) can be used to justify the grant of planning permission;  

 

 It is very difficult to explain and justify the processes to the general public – particularly 
when such proposals go against local or neighbourhood plan policies that have been 
through considerable public consultation and are suddenly redundant; 

 

 The PDR process makes it harder to secure developer contributions as the legislation 
rarely allows for such matters to be considered or secured – this is particularly relevant 
where development is affected by the Habitat Regulations. Separate consent under the 
habitat regulations can often be required simply to secure a financial contribution to an 
established mitigation strategy because suitable provisions were not made in the PDR 
process; 

 

 It results in planning permission being granted for development that is contrary to local 
and neighbourhood plans. This is at best confusing and at worst undemocratic. 

 

5 Is the government’s approach to PDR consistent with its vision in the White Paper? 
 

5.1 It may be consistent in terms of getting more dwellings constructed, but it is not consistent 
with having a simpler planning system and one that the public can understand. The system 
used to be relatively simple in that there were only two options as in most cases you either 
needed planning permission or you didn’t. The PDR’s introduce a complicated half way 
house which much of the planning profession do not understand nevermind developers and 
the community. Then within the prior approval process there are different factors that can be 
considered depending on which permitted development rights are being used thus making 
the process even harder to understand. This runs totally contrary to the principles of the 
white paper around engaging the public in the planning process, making it easier to 
understand and greater transparency. 

 
5.2 It is also contrary to having a plan led system undermining the importance of the plan and the 

reasons why the public should engage with its production. Why would people engage in the 
preparation of a local plan or neighbourhood plan, only to see such policies disregarded by 
PDR’s? 

 

6 What is the impact of PDR on the ability of local authorities to plan development and shape 
their local communities? 

 

page 177



6.1 As the PDR’s can result in development contrary to local and neighbourhood plan policies, it 
makes it difficult for the local authority to adequately control and plan development. 

 
6.2 Local authorities, and local communities through neighbourhood plans, seek to shape their 

local communities in the best interests of the area. The PDR’s currently over-ride this and as 
such make it difficult to shape communities. 

 
6.3 Examples of this being that it can be difficult to retain rural shops and businesses, difficult to 

guide uses to appropriate locations, and difficult to retain a particularly local characteristic or 
landscape. 

 

7 Is the government right to argue that PDR supports business and economic growth? 
 

7.1 Yes. But the benefits are limited, and often at the expense of other planning objectives such 
as ensuring sustainable development and addressing climate change. It is also at the 
expense of keeping the public engaged in the planning process, having a plan-led system 
and protection of the countryside.  

 
7.2 It can also be the case that the PDR’s result in the loss of businesses (e.g. shops to 

residential use) with any economic benefits very limited and at the expense of wider public 
benefits. 

 

8 What is the impact of PDR on the involvement of local communities in the planning process? 
 

8.1 The impact is severe and very worrying. Local communities do not understand the PDR’s as 
they are very confusing and it is difficult to explain why a development has to be approved 
contrary to a local plan or neighbourhood plan policy as it is not a consideration. After all of 
the time, effort and money put into producing a local plan and/or neighbourhood plan, this 
gives the impression that the work was not worthwhile and that the views of the community 
are being ignored. This results in the public losing faith in the local planning authority and 
feeling disenfranchised from the wider planning system and this must be addressed. 

 

9 Should the government reform PDR? If so, how? 

9.1  It is recommended that the PDR’s are shortened, streamlined and in particular this should be 
achieved through Parts 3 and 20 of the GPDO reverting back to the position about 4 years 
ago before the introduction of Classes M-U and Part 20.  

 

 

Financial implications: 

There are no specific financial implications impacting the council at this stage.  The potential 
financial implications of reform, with regards to fees, officers time and developer contributions in 
particular, have been addressed within the body of the report.  Detrimental impacts to the planning 
income streams would have knock on impacts to both council services and investment in local 
communities. 

Legal implications: 

It is within the terms of reference of this Committee to agree responses to Government 
consultations on planning related matters on behalf of the Council. Otherwise the report does not 
raise any other legal implications which require comment. 

page 178



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 27th April 2021 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan 

Report summary: 

SPC approved a draft masterplan for public consultation on 20th October 2020. 

The consultation ran for 10 weeks (5th Nov 2020 to Mon 18th Jan 2021). 

Despite lockdown, exhaustive efforts were made to ensure that all stakeholders were made aware 
of the consultation and given time to submit comments. We advertised the consultation via a press 
release, social media, posters at greenspaces and on Public Right of Way fingerposts (prior 
approval was obtained), and direct email/letter. 

241 responses were duly received; 195 were submitted online using our ‘SNAP’ software and 46 
via email. The analysis of responses is included as Appendix A (online responses) and B (emailed 
responses). 

A final masterplan is now presented for approval. 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That Members approve the Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan as a guidance document to 
inform the future delivery of the Regional Park and to support decision making on planning 
applications within the policy boundary of the Regional Park. 
 

Reason for recommendation: 

The masterplan is detail supplementary to Strategy 10 – Green Infrastructure in East Devon’s 
West End and is intended to be a material consideration in assessing planning applications that 
come forward within the existing Clyst Valley Regional Park policy boundary only. However, 
it should be noted that the full potential of the Regional Park cannot be achieved simply through 
development control. With objectives for health and wellbeing, nature gain, climate mitigation and 
adaptation, education and volunteering, soil and water, heritage, and jobs, this is a complex, multi-
stakeholder initiative requiring coordination, innovative funding and the cooperation of private 
landowners. The masterplan is the first attempt to achieve a shared vision, objectives, and values, 
and agree on the priorities for the next five years. 

 

Officer: Simon Bates, Green Infrastructure Project Manager sbates@eastdevon.gov.uk 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Climate Action and Emergencies 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

page 179

Agenda Item 12



☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☒ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport 

☒ Democracy and Transparency 

☒ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

. 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; . 

Links to background information Appendix 1 Consultation Analysis Emailed Responses 
Appendix 2 Consultation Analysis Online Responses 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Outstanding Place and Environment  

☒ Outstanding Homes and Communities 

☒ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

☐ Outstanding Council and Council Services 

 
 

Report in full 

1. Introduction  

 
1.1. The concept of the Regional Park originates from the Green Infrastructure (GI) Strategy 

(Exeter & East Devon Growth Point Team, 2009). The GI Strategy was sponsored by East 
Devon District Council, Exeter City Council, Teignbridge District Council and Natural 
England, working in partnership with Devon County Council. In 2013, a GI Board was 
established to drive forward delivery of the projects within the strategy. In addition to the 
organisations named above, Devon Wildlife Trust, Environment Agency and the National 
Trust joined the Board, which was chaired independently.  The Strategy was part of the 
evidence base for the present East Devon Local Plan (2013 to 2031). 
 

1.2. In 2014, the GI Board commissioned a discussion document on the Clyst Valley Regional 
Park. What emerged from this was the idea to give the Regional Park traction by applying 
for funding from the Heritage Lottery for a project focussed on trees. The bid was 
successful, and ‘Great Trees in the Clyst Valley’ was born, with the aim of:  “encouraging 
the public to explore, record and restore the heritage of trees in fields, hedges, parks and 
orchards across nine priority parishes.”  The project has been a great success, illustrated 
by the infographic on page 6 of the masterplan. 

 
1.3. Keen to maintain the momentum that the partners in this project have achieved, EDDC 

pursued a second bid to the National Lottery Heritage Fund. This was also successful and 
‘Routes for Roots’ begun in July 2020 with the aim of: “working with the public, charities, 
landowners and public bodies to research, explore and plan a network of inter-
generational, all ability routes; To use art, performance, and play to enable a wide 
spectrum of the public to discover their route way heritage; To create opportunities for 
young families, inactive people and those suffering from mental ill health to build new trails 

page 180

http://www.eastdevon.gov.uk/papers/strategicplanning/270421bpAppendix1%20CVRPConsultationAnalysisEmailedResponses.pdf
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/papers/strategicplanning/270421bpAppendix2Clyst%20ValleyConsultationAnalysisOnlineResponses.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


and improve the quality of the existing network through better surfaces, signage and 
interpretation.” 

 
1.4. In parallel with this work, a delivery plan was prepared for the Clyst Valley Trail and 

considered by Strategic Planning Committee in February 2018. Members asked for an 
entirely off-road alignment to be explored. Consequently, a revised delivery plan is being 
developed for consideration by SPC later in 2021. 

 

2. Process leading up to development of masterplan 

 
2.1. A Task & Finish Group (TFG) was established to support the development of the 

masterplan.  The TFG is supported by officers and councillors from Broadclyst Parish 
Council, Cranbrook Town Council, Devon County Council, East Devon District Council, 
Environment Agency, Exeter City Council, LiveWest, National Trust, Natural England, and 
Sustrans. 
 

2.2. To support the development of the draft masterplan the following engagement activities 
were undertaken: 

 July 2019 - a questionnaire was sent out via direct email and social media channels with 
the aim to understand which places people visit in the Clyst Valley; what they regarded as 
special or unique; and what was understood by the phrase ‘regional park’.   80 responses 
were received to the questionnaire. 

 October 2019 – Officers attended the Killerton Apple Festival. Conversations were held with 
more than 200 people and 36 signed up to receive the masterplan once out to consultation. 
During the weekend, a draft logo for the Regional Park was also tested. 

 Presentations have been offered to all Parish/Town Council’s and Aylesbeare, Bishop’s 
Clyst, Broadclyst, Clyst St George, Cranbrook, Plymtree, West Hill and Whimple all took up 
that offer between October 2019 and January 2021.  

 Conversations with many (but not all) of the landowners in the Regional Park have taken 
place either to explore the possible route of the Clyst Valley Trail, or to broker support for 
activities delivered during the two Lottery-funded projects. 
 

3. Consultation 
 
3.1. The consultation was carried out in accordance with the Statement of Community 

Involvement.   However the process was adapted due to Covid-19 restrictions, with 
exhibitions and roadshows being replaced with online communication.  
 

3.2. The masterplan was published on the Clyst Valley Regional Park and East Devon District 
Council webpages. Printed copies of the document were available in local libraries, and 
sent on request to consultees. 

 
3.3. A total 218 people received direct emails with links to the documents. This included 44 

county and district council members and officers, 40 businesses, 36 private landowners, 29 
charities, 17 parish/town councils, 16 statutory agencies, and 10 
schools/colleges/universities. 

 
3.4. In addition to the excellent level of response, we now have 600+ people/organisations 

signed up as ‘Friends of the Clyst Valley’ and receiving updates on the Regional Park. 
 

4. Main alterations made in response to representations 
 

4.1. Appendices 1 & 2 summarise the representations we received (‘you said’) and the changes 
we have made to the masterplan in response (‘we did’). 

page 181

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/policy-work-whats-new/what-policy-documents-will-we-produce-and-how-will-we-consult-on-them/statement-of-community-involvement/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/policy-work-whats-new/what-policy-documents-will-we-produce-and-how-will-we-consult-on-them/statement-of-community-involvement/


 
4.2. Whilst the majority of comments were supportive, Members attention is drawn to objections 

that were received from Turley, McMurdo Land Planning and Development Ltd, and 
Church Commissioners. These consultees principally objected to Figure 26, a plan of 
potential projects, which they maintained was attempting to control land outside the 
approved Regional Park policy boundary. As a result of these objections, Figure 26 has 
been removed from the final masterplan.  

 
4.3. However, four new Figures in the final masterplan do show land outside the approved 

Regional Park policy boundary; Fig 11 Nature Recovery Network, Fig 28 Green commuting 
routes, Fig 29 Green recreation routes and Fig 37 Recreational zones/hubs. Text has been 
added to all of these Figures and the supporting text on pages 45, 49 and 66 to make 
explicit that they are indicative only, and that they are technical guidance only in support of 
relevant policies and strategies of the approved East Devon Local Plan, most notably 
Strategy 10 on the Clyst Valley Regional Park. 

 

5. Conclusion 
 
5.1. Every effort has been expended to ensure that all stakeholders have sight of the draft 

masterplan and the time to comment. Considering the limitations of Covid, the number and 
geographical distribution of consultation response has been excellent. 
 

5.2. Every single response has been read and in the vast majority of cases, changes have 
been made to reflect those individual requests. The final Clyst Valley Regional Park 
masterplan will support the implementation of Strategy 10. Major funding will be sought to 
implement the action plan. Evidence will be gathered to inform changes to the boundary of 
the Regional Park to be proposed, alongside any revisions to policy, in the new Local Plan.  

 

Financial implications: 

There are no direct financial implications in the recommendation.  There will however be funding 
implications flowing from the Masterplan but these will be assessed and presented to members 
separately for consideration when they arise.  

Legal implications: 

As this report relates to a planning policy related document it is within the powers of the 
Committee to consider and adopt. Once adopted this Master Plan will become a material 
consideration in determination of any planning applications falling within the policy boundary of the 
Clyst Valley Regional Park. 

 

 

 

page 182



1 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

  

25 Year Masterplan 

page 183



2 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Contents 
 

Foreword ............................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 4 

Setting the scene .................................................................................................................. 9 

Our vision and values.......................................................................................................... 10 

Objectives ........................................................................................................................... 12 

The assets of the Clyst Valley ............................................................................................. 14 

Drivers of change ................................................................................................................ 33 

Delivery ............................................................................................................................... 39 

Framework projects ............................................................................................................ 42 

Action plan .......................................................................................................................... 60 

Recreational strategy .......................................................................................................... 67 

Funding strategy ................................................................................................................. 69 

Summary & next steps ........................................................................................................ 72 

References ......................................................................................................................... 73 

Appendices ......................................................................................................................... 77 

 

  

page 184



3 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Foreword 
 

Councillor Geoff Jung 

As the East Devon District Council Portfolio Holder for Coast, Country & Environment, I’m 
delighted that this exciting plan has gone through a full public consultation. The Coronavirus 
pandemic has been a stark reminder of the importance of spending time outdoors to our 
health and wellbeing. We received more than 240 representations from people and 
organisations, with much support for the Regional Park. We have carefully considered each 
one and this revised plan is the result. 

Devon is well-known for its countryside with national parks, areas of outstanding natural 
beauty, estuaries and beautiful coastline. But there is greater pressure than ever on these 
stunning locations. With a growing population, it is necessary to provide much-needed 
homes, jobs and infrastructure. As more people explore the countryside, it is imperative that 
we protect and enhance our green spaces because getting active outdoors keeps us healthy 
and happy, plus the countryside can help us address climate change by storing carbon and 
water, as we work towards becoming carbon neutral by 2040. 

The Clyst Valley Regional Park will play a valuable role in providing new open spaces near 
major growth areas. The idea for a Regional Park was included in the East Devon District 
Council Local Plan in 2016: Strategy 10 - Green Infrastructure in East Devon's West End will 
ensure that the new town of Cranbrook and developments close to Exeter are provided with 
large scale, high quality greenspace. 

The Clyst Valley Regional Park will enhance the land surrounding the River Clyst and its 
tributaries, with linked green corridors enabling people to visit the outdoors via cycleways 
and footpaths. The Park will improve biodiversity, for example through natural woodland 
regeneration, urban tree planting, creating nature reserves, and helping to reduce flooding 
by careful natural, water flow management. The creation of the Regional Park will help 
reduce the pressure on more environmentally sensitive locations and help to conserve 
heritage assets, protecting our cultural identity. It will be managed to the highest standards. 

The numbers of organisations financially supporting the Park has grown to 171 and many 
more are pledging in-kind support. The Clyst Valley Regional Park is becoming a reality. 
Pieces of this jigsaw are coming together: There are Country Park’s at Cranbrook and at Pin 
Brook; the first sections of the Clyst Valley Trail are being built; 3,500 broadleaved trees and 
shrubs have been planted through the ‘Great trees in the Clyst Valley’ initiative. The next 
step is to bid for significant funding from the National Lottery Heritage Fund in order to 
deliver the priorities identified in our action plan over the next 5 years. 

Please join with us in creating space for nature and people, for now, and for future 
generations. 

                                                

1 Active Devon, Broadclyst Parish Council, Clyst Honiton Parish Council, Cranbrook Town 
Council, Devon County Council, Devon Gardens Trust, East Devon District Council, 
Environment Agency, Eon, LiveWest, Move More Cranbrook, National Trust, Poltimore 
Parish Council, Sport England, University of Exeter, Whimple Parish Council, and the 
Woodland Trust. 

page 185



4 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Introduction 
 

What is the Regional Park? 
The Clyst Valley Regional Park (hereafter referred to as ‘the Regional Park’) is a large 
protected greenspace. It is protected from development through Strategy 10 in East Devon 
District Council’s Local Plan (see Appendix 2 for the full text of the strategy). Strategy 10 
states: "Development will not be allowed in the designated area [i.e. the Clyst Valley 
Regional Park] unless it will clearly achieve valley park specific objectives for people and 
wildlife. Countryside policies of the plan will still apply in non-allocated development 
locations and areas." Strategy 7 states: "Development in the countryside will only be 
permitted where it is in accordance with a specific Local or Neighbourhood Plan policy that 
explicitly permits such development". The area of the Regional Park is presently 2,338 
hectares, which is roughly half the size of Exeter. 

The concept of the Clyst Valley Regional Park is that a number of greenspaces will be linked 
by greenways. There is no intention that the whole of the Regional Park will become 
accessible to the public, as most of it is in private ownership. However, 762 hectares is 
currently accessible and the ambition is to increase that by a further 740 hectares over 25 
years. A large proportion of the Regional Park is within the National Trust’s Killerton estate. 
40% of the Regional Park is within a floodplain. 

The concept of the Regional Park originates from the Green Infrastructure Strategy (Exeter 
& East Devon Growth Point Team, 2009). The diagram below is taken from this strategy and 
shows the ‘clyst meadows’ as a “well defined network of accessible semi-natural 
greenspaces and less accessible biodiversity rich areas…creating a strong buffer between 
[Exeter] and the countryside”.  

 

Figure 1 Concept of 'clyst meadows' 

The key diagram below illustrates the general extent of the Regional Park and how it relates 
to existing settlements, rivers and transport infrastructure. 

  

page 186



5 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Figure 2 Policy boundary 

page 187



6 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Who is supporting the Clyst Valley Regional Park? 
The Green Infrastructure (GI) Strategy 2009 was sponsored by East Devon District Council, 
Exeter City Council, Teignbridge District Council and Natural England, working in partnership 
with Devon County Council. In 2013, a GI Board was established to drive forward delivery of 
the projects within the strategy. In addition to the organisations named above, Devon Wildlife 
Trust, Environment Agency and the National Trust joined the Board, which was chaired 
independently. 

In 2014, the GI Board commissioned a discussion document on the Clyst Valley Regional 
Park. What emerged from this was the idea to give the Regional Park traction by applying for 
funding from the Heritage Lottery for a project focussed on trees. The bid was successful, 
and ‘Great trees in the Clyst Valley’ was born, with the aim of: 

“encouraging the public to explore, record and restore the heritage of trees in fields, hedges, 
parks and orchards across nine priority parishes.” 

The project has been a great success, illustrated by the infographic below. 

 

page 188



7 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

 

Figure 3 Pupils from Broadclyst Primary School planted 150 English Oaks on a single day in February 
2019 on farmland at Clyst Honiton next to a public footpath 

Keen to maintain the momentum that the partners in this project have achieved, EDDC 
pursued a second bid to the National Lottery Heritage Fund. This has also been successful 
and ‘Routes for Roots’ began in Summer 2020. The goal of Routes for Roots is to: 

“work with the public, charities, landowners and public bodies to research, explore and plan 
a network of inter-generational, all ability routes. We will use art, performance, and play to 
enable a wide spectrum of the public to discover their routeway heritage. We will create 
opportunities for young families, inactive people and those suffering from mental ill health to 
build new trails and improve the quality of the existing network through better surfaces, 
signage and interpretation.” 

  

page 189



8 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

The purpose of this plan 
The purpose of this masterplan is to define a shared vision, objectives, and values as a 
platform for partnership in developing the Regional Park. The unique social, environmental 
and economic context (the ‘drivers of change’) are identified, as are the policies, strategies 
and targets of organisations that could be delivered in the Regional Park. The key natural 
and human assets are described.  

The draft masterplan included plans and descriptions of potential projects and invited 
stakeholders to identify their priorities to inform an action plan with short (five-year) and 
longer timescales for delivery. This was successfully achieved. However, it did draw criticism 
from some consultees as seeking to control the use of land beyond the designated policy 
boundary. It has therefore been replaced by four key diagrams which are indicative only. 

The masterplan will be a material consideration in assessing planning applications within the 
Clyst Valley Regional Park policy boundary. It should be used by land owners, developers 
and their agents as additional guidance on how, and where, green infrastructure can be 
delivered. It adds detail to Strategy 10 in the Local Plan. Changes to the policy boundary will 
be brought forward in the new Local Plan for 2021-2040. 

The plan sets out a funding strategy and we intend now to work with partners on a major 
funding bid to deliver the five-year actions. The masterplan contains a wealth of background 
information to support bids and is evidence itself of extensive public support for the park’s 
objectives.  

  

Figure 4 Looking north from a Whimple orchard 

page 190



9 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Setting the scene 
 

The River Clyst begins its journey at Clyst William, 6 kilometres south east of Cullompton, 
and enters the sea via the estuary at Topsham. The word “clyst” is thought to be derived 
from the Celtic word for “clear stream”. Downstream of Broadclyst, the river spills out into a 
broad floodplain.  

The landscape is gently rolling but rises to a high point of 167 metres at White Down Copse, 
part ancient woodland. From this and other hills it’s possible to getting sweeping views of the 
valley below. Ashclyst Forest forms the major area of woodland in an otherwise sparsely 
wooded landscape, due in part to the loss of hedgerow elms. However, individual trees, in 
fields, hedges, and parklands, are a very significant feature of the landscape. There are 
some rare black poplars at Clyst St Mary. Killerton estate alone has more than 1,500 ancient 
or veteran trees.  

The landscape around the villages of Clyst Hydon, Clyst St Lawrence, Aunk and Westwood 
is very intimate. There are thatched cottages and Barton farms2, and beautiful, tranquil river 
valleys. There is great potential for more natural habitat here and throughout the river 
system, and for greater public access along the footpaths that link up the villages. 

Whimple is justly proud of its orchard heritage, made famous by the arrival of Henry 
Whiteway in 1891. The village has extensive remaining traditional orchards, augmented by 
more recent commercial planting. Many are accessible via footpaths. The revival of the 
traditional wassail in 1993 and the growth of local cider production has reinvigorated this 
heritage. 

The National Trust is a significant land owner; the Killerton estate covers 42% of the 
proposed Park and is already a major recreational, heritage, and landscape asset. There are 
52 kilometres of permissive rights of way on the estate, including 27 kilometres of permissive 
bridleway. This is a huge asset which largely remains undiscovered because these paths are 
not shown on the Ordnance Survey maps and there are few public leaflets available. With 
more information, use would increase.  

Moving south, the impact of growth becomes more noticeable: the new town of Cranbrook; 
the noise and visual intrusion of the M5, A30, and Exeter Airport; and major new 
employment centres at Sky Park and Science Park. However, there are also some surprising 
natural and historic treasures. A mosaic of fen habitats at Hellings Parks, just north of 
Cranbrook; the tranquillity of old Sowton village; and the gothic splendour of Bishops Court 
are just a few examples. 

In the Lower Clyst between Topsham and Clyst St Mary, there is a large expanse of mainly 
freshwater grazing marsh. Rising sea-levels will inundate this flat landscape more frequently 
in future. 

You can watch a short film about the Clyst Valley here: YouTube film about the Clyst Valley 

  

                                                

2 A Barton farm was the land retained and farmed by the lord of the manor in the Middle 
Ages. 

page 191

https://bit.ly/2GvtEfX


10 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Our vision and values 
 

Our partnership’s 25-year vision 
Lying just east of Exeter, there is a tranquil haven for people and wildlife centred on the 
River Clyst, its floodplain and tributaries. This little river has become great by virtue of the 
clear waters which nourish new wild woods and wetlands from its source at Clyst St 
Lawrence, to the estuary at Topsham. The Clyst Valley is resilient to a changed climate. 

More than 740 hectares of new, high quality greenspace are now accessible to the public. 
Residents and visitors spend lots of time outdoors, and are able to explore the Regional 
Park via a network of traffic-free trails that link with trains and buses. They have a great 
choice of places to go, and things to do: birdwatching and tea at Topsham; glamping, biking, 
riding and den building at Ashclyst Forest; cycling to the rugby at Sandy Park; a stroll 
beneath the spring blossoms of Whimple; a charity run at Cranbrook Country Park; feeding 
the pigs at Heathfield Farm; or watching a play at Poltimore House. 

Despite the increased population in Exeter and out to the new town of Cranbrook, nature is 
thriving in designated sanctuary areas. Our globally important wildlife on the Exe Estuary 
and the Pebblebed Heaths has been protected by providing Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace. A vast number and variety of new trees are beginning to dominate the 
landscape through planting in parklands, orchards and farmland, natural regeneration in 
valleys and around woods, and nurturing in hedgerows. 

Traditions remain strong in vibrant villages and the historic setting of the Killerton estate 
remains a great gift to the country. A new culture of discovery and self-sufficiency is evident 
in Cranbrook. New jobs and volunteering opportunities have been created to enable people 
to enjoy and understand this wonderful new Regional Park, and to give back, to ensure it’s 
there for future generations. 

Recognising that there will be some difficult choices to make about how the Regional Park is 
managed and used, our partnership will be guided by the following core values. 

Environmental sustainability 

 Our projects and actions will deliver a rapid reduction of greenhouse gases, and we 
will encourage farmers and businesses to achieve net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions and nature recovery 

 Where public access might damage priority habitats or reduce populations of priority 
species, the needs of nature will take precedence 

 Natural capital and natural processes will increase in the Regional Park; clean water 
& air, healthy soils, and greater resilience to extreme weather events. 

 The quality and extent of natural habitat and the populations of key species will 
increase, as will natural beauty 

 The understanding of the time depth and quality of the historic landscape above and 
below ground will be increased, its fabric protected and its stories told in exciting and 
inspiring ways. 

Inclusive for everyone 

 We will be a champion of The Equality Act 2010 by ensuring that every opportunity is 
taken to improve facilities and communication for those with protected characteristics 

page 192



11 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

 Our strategic trails will be multi-use whenever practical and affordable, and we will 
promote ‘share this space’ behaviours, but segregation will also be used if it can 
create a more enjoyable experience for specific users 

 Our places will be safe but not sanitised – the ability for teenagers in particular to 
explore their environment independently will be promoted 

 We will make local customs and cultures relevant to where people live their daily 
lives 

Locally distinctive 

 We will value the process of co-design in creating new culture and art 

 We will promote high quality, distinctive local food and drink produced in an 
ecologically sustainable way 

 We will promote local character, for example, the lime wash paint of Killerton estate 
cottages, and the use of local Breccia stone in buildings 

 We will encourage everyone to connect with place (environment, culture) and each 
other 

Working landscape 

 We will support job creation where it promotes the Parks objectives 

 We respect the rights of private landowners and encourage everyone to follow the 
new Countryside Code 

A place of greater understanding, action and collaboration 

 We will create opportunities for people to learn from each other, to break down 
barriers, and to understand the health of the environment, causes of problems and 
solutions 

 We listen actively to understand personal and organisational objectives, share 
resources, play to each other’s strengths, and act in unison – the sum will be greater 
than the individual parts 

  

Figure 5 Winter mist in the Clyst Valley (courtesy of James Cook Photography) 

page 193



12 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Objectives 
 

People  To enhance the health and wellbeing of 
residents 

Education 

 

To create opportunities for people of all ages 
and abilities to learn outside the classroom. 

Nature  

To protect irreplaceable habitats, restore 
natural processes, ensure that internationally 
important wildlife sites achieve their 
conservation objectives, and increase the 
size, quality, quantity and connectivity of 
priority natural habitat and populations of key 
species. 

Climate 

 

To rapidly reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
and increase resilience to extreme weather 
events and rising sea levels. 

Water & Soil 
 To achieve good ecological status in the 

River Clyst and tributaries, enhance natural 
flood storage, and restore soil health. 

Landscape 

 

To restore landscape character and promote 
local distinctiveness and to maintain the high 
landscape setting of Killerton. 

Heritage  
To protect historic landscapes, sites, 
buildings and their settings, enhance them 
where appropriate and promote public 
access to and enjoyment of them. 

Employment 

 

To increase and sustain high value jobs. 

  

page 194



13 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

A note on the objectives for people 
 
Delivering a network of walking and cycling trails well connected to public transport is one 
way in which we can improve physical and mental health, including for those with limited 
mobility, visual and or hearing impairments and people with hidden disabilities. Easier 
access will benefit almost all of us at some stage in our lives, whether it is as a parent 
pushing a buggy or older people finding steps more difficult. Activity is considered a ‘wonder 
drug’ in reducing and preventing non-communicable diseases and in enhancing general 
mental health and wellbeing.  

However, health benefits do not just accrue from active travel. Improved access to natural 
space in general and the range of activities and opportunities that provides is important. 
Taking part in physical activity in a natural setting is associated with improved mental health 
outcomes when compared with physical activity indoors. There is emergent evidence that 
biodiversity is important to human health through a variety of mechanisms, notably biophilia, 
our innate tendency to seek connection with the natural world.  

Being active, volunteering and learning together outdoors, all provide opportunities for 
individuals and communities to connect, learn new skills and give to others. Unstructured 
play in a natural setting is vital for children’s cognitive and physical development. 

The Regional Park has huge potential for cross-curricular outdoor learning by all ages from 
nursery to U3A. Whilst some of this should be structured, simply creating opportunities to 
explore the countryside will benefit personal development. The Park has quite diverse 
geology accessible via quarry faces and hollow-lanes. These can help to tell the story about 
traditional buildings and the growing importance of local, low carbon building materials. 

We will therefore promote the five ways to wellbeing:  

1. Connect with other people  
2. Be physically active  
3. Learn new skills  
4. Give to others  
5. Pay attention  
 

Other objectives are important for human’s to thrive. Clear interventions are required to 

prevent and mitigate the risks associated with greenhouse gases and public health (e.g. 
heatwaves and cardiovascular and respiratory health). Flooding of property can have 
significant effects on longer term mental health and wellbeing. The Covid pandemic has 
shown just how important mindfulness is to our wellbeing. We have all found sanctuary 
during a time of reduced noise and air pollution, and it is important that there are places near 
to home where such solace can be found. Finally, employment is also fundamentally 
important. Promoting environmental quality will attract inward investment and visitor spend, 
and help to sustain high value jobs in the area. 

  

page 195



14 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Figure 7 

The assets of the Clyst Valley 
Geology 
The bedrocks of the Regional Park were laid down during a long hot dry period between 300 
and 200 million years ago, known as the Permian and Triassic. The climate was like that of 
the Sahara Desert today. Seasonal flash floods swept large quantities of sediment into the 
valleys and the plains fringing the deserts and both the red mudstone and the Pebble Beds 
found in east Devon are classic examples of such deposition.  

An excellent display of the large 
scale dune cross-bedding 
characteristic of the Permian 
sandstone is at the Bishop’s Court 
Play Area, Sidmouth Road, Exeter 
(Fig 6). 

Devon also featured volcanoes at 
this time. The lava erupted from the 
deposits found around Exeter, 
known as the ‘Exeter Volcanic 
Series’. This beautiful pink/purple 
stone was widely used to construct 
high status buildings across the 
Clyst Valley, such as the ‘Chapel of 
the Holy Evangelists’ in Killerton 
Park (Historic England, 2017). 

The ‘Heavitree Breccia3 is also a 
classic building stone and the 
parish church of St Michael and All Angels at Sowton is a fine example (Fig 7). The finer 
grained ‘Poltimore Sandstone’ is found in many buildings of the Poltimore and Broadclyst 
area. 

  

                                                

3 Breccia (from the Italian for ‘rubble’) consists of rock fragments cemented together, and 
was formed from sediments washed out during flash floods. 

Figure 6 

page 196



15 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Soils 
There are essentially two types of soil in the Regional Park. The freely draining, sandy, 
slightly acidic loam soils of the ‘Devon Redlands’ occur on the eastern and northern fringes 
of Exeter. Some of this land is Grade 1 for agriculture and has the greatest potential to grow 
cereals, fruit and vegetables. However, it is erosion prone and if not managed sensitively, 
this leads to water pollution. Grade 1 land is also under pressure from building. 

 

Figure 8 Classic red soils at Clyst St George, with the church and its tall Wellingtonia tree breaking the 
skyline 

In the floodplains, the soils are of clay or clay loam and are only slowly permeable and are 
prone to winter flooding. They generally support livestock (predominantly dairy & beef cattle). 

Three more soil types are far less extensive. A small but very significant area of peat soil 
occurs at Hellings Park. It is the deepest and the most extensive peat deposit within the 
catchment and is associated with some high quality fen meadow habitat (see Fig 10 below). 
Poorly drained clay soils over the inlier of Carboniferous (Culm) rocks characterise Ashclyst 
Forest and White Down. Then on the moderately well drained soils along the eastern 
boundary of the Regional Park are clay loams over reddish clay (Mercia mudstone), which 
extend out beyond Whimple. These form a marked landscape contrast with the Devon Red, 
as can be seen in the photo at Clyst St George, where these soils are under the grassland, 
the village and the Wellingtonia! This soil and geology is the main source of the River Clyst 
alluvium, in which are formed predominantly red clayey soils. 

An excellent introduction to the soils of East Devon in relation to natural flood management 
has been produced by Dr Richard Smith (East Devon Catchment Partnership, 2017). 

  

page 197



16 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Biodiversity 
A description of the priority habitats found in the Regional Park and their associated key 
species is given below. In terms of nationally important designations, the whole of the 
Regional Park is covered by a Nitrate Vulnerable Zone because the permeable soils do not 
protect the underlying aquifer from nitrate pollution. There is one Site of Special Scientific 
Interest; Killerton. This is nationally important for its igneous rocks. However, further SSSI lie 
just outside the Regional Park 

Habitats and species of principal importance (Section 41 of The Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act) are indicated with an asterisk. 

  

Figure 9 Poltimore Parkland* 

Figure 10 Lowland fen* at Hellings Park 

page 198



17 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

  

Figure 11 Nature Recovery Network 

Please note that Figure 11 is indicative and provides 
technical guidance only in support of relevant policies and 
strategies of the approved East Devon Local Plan, most 
notably Strategy 10 on the Clyst Valley Regional Park. page 199



18 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Lowland mixed deciduous and wet woodland* 

The oak and ash woodlands of Farringdon, Cat Copse, Columbjohn Wood, Park Wood, the 
north-west corner of White Down Copse, and Paradise Copse are ancient i.e. they have 
existed since at least the 1600’s. It is here that we find carpets of bluebells, primroses, dog’s 
mercury, enchanter’s nightshade, ferns, and early-purple orchids. Plants characteristic of 
ancient woodland can also be found at Dane’s Wood (Moschatel) and Burrowton Copse 
(Wood Spurge).  

Cutton Alders is the largest area of wet woodland, dominated by downy birch and alder. It is 
on valley bottom wet sandy soils with a peaty surface that extends across the motorway to 
Broadclyst Moor. The ground flora includes greater tussock sedge, wood club-rush and a 
single specimen of royal fern, which is uncommon nationally. Ashclyst Forest is an important 
site for butterflies, particularly pearl-bordered and small-pearl bordered fritillary.  

Parkland*, wood pasture*, ancient and veteran trees 

The UK supports more than half of all the ancient and veteran trees in Europe, many of 
which stand within parkland and wood pasture, priority habitats that are specific to the UK 
and of international importance. Mature and ancient trees are a very special feature of the 
Clyst Valley. The National Trust’s 6,400 acre Killerton estate is outstanding in the context of 
Devon and Cornwall, supporting 1,218 ancient, veteran & notable trees. Many other 
parklands support ancient trees; Bishop’s Court, Bluehayes, Poltimore, Redhayes 
Rockbeare, and Winslade Park. 

Pedunculate oaks are the most frequent species but there are also ancient specimens of 
ash, crack willow, hawthorn, holly, field maple and introduced species such as those found in 
Killerton Park and at Sprydon including turkey oak, Luccombe oak and sweet chestnut. 
Many of the more ancient oaks are pollards in excess of 400 years of age. They are 
concentrated around the higher ground – around Dolbury and Sprydon Beacon – and 
especially along old route-ways up onto what was then the common grazings of the parish; 
the trees are effectively former wood-pasture trees. The old deer park of Killerton was almost 
certainly located there because of the existing large old trees which created an instant 
parkland effect. 

The older generation trees of the fields and their boundaries provide important habitat for 
lichens, fungi, insects and bats*. They are the last vestiges of ancient wood pasture. The 
hollowed rotting heartwood of these old trees supports a specialist insect fauna. On Elbury 
Farm, one hedgerow oak is the only tree in Devon known to have a population of the rare 
wood-decay beetle Dorcatoma flavicornis – it requires the special form of heartwood decay 
created by the fungi called ‘chicken-of-the-woods’. Many other trees harbour Nationally 
Scarce darkling beetles. Fourteen species of bat* have been recorded in Farringdon parish, 
including the extremely rare Alcathoe bat*, which was confirmed by an expert in Germany 
from a sonogram. 

Overall, the wood-decay beetle fauna of the Killerton estate is one of the richest known 
anywhere in Devon. Although the fauna is concentrated in Killerton Park and around 
Ashclyst Forest, uncommon species also occur within the surrounding agricultural 
landscape. Most recently the ‘Great trees in the Clyst Valley’ project added 300+ more trees 
to the database, many of which are outside the Killerton estate. Their successful 
conservation is dependent on active measures throughout the Regional Park, not just in the 
core areas. 

page 200



19 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Traditional orchards* 

Despite large losses in the past 50 
years, orchards with old fruit trees 
provide very valuable habitats for fungi, 
insects, birds and bats. Orchards are 
particularly valuable in association with 
ancient trees that have had long 
continuity of mature timber and wood-
decay habitat. The apple orchard at 
Higher Comberoy supports a large 
population of the Nationally Scarce 
orchard bark beetle Scolytus mali on 
the dead bark of the dying or fallen 
trees. Old pear trees at Winters Garden 
provide decaying heartwood for the 
Nationally Scarce beetle Aderus 
populneus,  

Hedgerows* 

Species-rich hedges often support five or more woody native shrubs. In the Regional Park, 
blackthorn, hawthorn, elm, spindle, and field maple are typical. Those also supporting 
frequent mature trees, particularly Pedunculate oak, are most valuable. Ditches and streams 
are often associated with the hedges, many of which are traditional Devon hedgebanks. The 
spring-time displays of bluebells, early-purple orchids, red campion, and stitchwort are very 
distinctive. 

Where hedges are being allowed to grow up, such as those at Elbury Farm, Hellings Park, 
Caddihoe, Merry Downs and Little Loxbrook they provide nesting and feeding sites for bats, 
dormice and birds such as the spotted flycatcher*. Hedges are vital “flight-lines” for all 
species of bats which use them to navigate to feeding and roosting sites.  

Flower-rich lane verges are now vital for pollinating insects. Vehicles kill bees, flies, 
butterflies and beetles, so the adoption of quiet ways will benefit nature as well as people. 

Figure 13 A hedgerow* in spring

Figure 12 Traditional orchards* at Whimple

page 201



20 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Small changes can have a huge positive impact; leaving individual hawthorn and blackthorn 
bushes to flower and fruit provides food for insects, small mammals and birds. 

Coastal and floodplain grazing marsh* 

This is seasonally waterlogged grassland (and associated ditches) which is grazed by 
livestock. There is extensive evidence of their creation and management by humans over 
the centuries. The Lower Clyst (a County Wildlife Site) is the best example, comprising herb-
rich unimproved grassland, fresh, brackish and salt water marsh, and small areas of reed 
bed. The meadows are dissected by ditches and are rich in plant life, including several 
county rarities e.g. wild celery, horned pondweed and bulbous foxtail grass. They are also a 
refuge for rare insects such as the hairy dragonfly.  

At Dart’s Farm, the grazing marsh is used in winter by feeding and roosting curlew*, black-
tailed godwit, wigeon, shoveler and dark-bellied brent goose*. These birds are the reason 
that the Exe Estuary is internationally important as a Special Protection Area (SPA). The 
reed bed supports breeding warblers (reed, sedge and Cetti’s) and reed bunting. 

Although the Lower Clyst does support valuable habitat, man-made flood embankments 
prevent the natural daily flow of tidal water across the whole floodplain. Unless this natural 
process is restored, sea-level rise is highly likely to reduce the extent of mud, sand and 
saltmarsh in the Exe Estuary, and the internationally important populations of birds will 
decline. 

Rivers* 

The River Clyst and tributaries still provides habitat for a range of freshwater species, for 
example, European eel, coarse and salmonid fish. However, the wildlife value is much 
reduced due to historic management such as field drainage, channel straightening and 
dredging. As a consequence the rivers are often narrower and flow through deep, steep-
sided gullies so that emergent vegetation is limited. The lack of semi-natural riparian habitat 
(trees and fen), resulting from farming right up to the river bank, further constrain wildlife. 

Figure 14 Kingfishers feed on the River Clyst

page 202



21 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

However, there are some stretches with fragments of riparian habitat e.g. at Jarvishayes 
Farm, where purple loosestrife, celery-leaved buttercup, floating sweet-grass, tansy, square-
stemmed St. John’s-wort and water plantain occur. Kingfishers and otters* are found 
throughout the river system, though their breeding status is unknown. The Nationally Scarce 
whirligig beetle Gyrinus urinator has been found in the River Clyst at Wishford Farm. There 
are no records of white-clawed crayfish within the Clyst catchment and water voles are 
locally extinct too. 

Ditches and streams 

Good quality ditches and streams have a variety of plants such as hemlock water-dropwort, 
brooklime, meadowsweet, water-mint, and water-figwort. One of the best ditches at Wishford 
Farm supports celery-leaved buttercup, common spike-rush and trifid bur-marigold. Ditches 
on Broadclyst Moor have the short-winged conehead (a bush-cricket) – a coastal species 
which is gradually spreading inland in Devon along the river valleys. There are many other 
particularly valuable ditches and streams including those at Hellings Park, Ashclyst Farm 
(with Nationally Scarce beetles and flies), and in the fields to the west of Elbury Farm. 

Ponds* 

Ponds are frequent on the farmland and all provide valuable habitats for wildlife such as 
frogs, toads, newts and freshwater invertebrates. As far back as the 1500s, farmers are 
recorded as rotationally cleaning out ponds in September as part of the good husbandry 
calendar, to provide marl (lime-rich clay) for fields, and to keep the water accessible for 
livestock. 

Great crested newt* breed at Farringdon, where long-term monitoring indicates a growing 
population and scope for expansion into surrounding ponds as part of a meta-population. 
Other sites include Rockbeare Court, Hellings Park, the front park at Killerton and several 

Figure 15 Marsh marigolds by a reed-fringed River* Clyst

page 203



22 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

ponds in Ashclyst Forest. Nationally Scarce water beetles occur at Burrow Farm and 
Caddihoe. Ponds which dry out in summer, and those open to grazing and poaching, create 
a variety of microhabitats for insects. Ornamental ponds, such as those at Killerton Park and 
Bishop’s Court, and irrigation lagoons such as those at Elbury Farm and Mosshayne Farm 
do provide larger areas of standing water which is scarce in the area. Some support 
breeding little grebes. Newly created ponds at Dart’s Farm have been colonised by scarce 
chaser dragonfly. 

Lowland meadows* 

The better quality hay meadows in the Clyst Valley have a variety of herbs in association 
with sweet vernal-grass and red fescue; selfheal, ribwort plantain, yarrow, bird’s-foot trefoil, 
germander speedwell, cat’s-ear, autumn hawkbit, smooth hawk’s-beard and occasional 
common and greater knapweed. Small heath butterfly occurs in the dry grassland on the 
hillocks around the electricity sub-station, and populations of brown argus butterfly appear to 
be increasing. 

The nationally uncommon species corky-fruited water-dropwort is frequently found in damper 
fields alongside the River Clyst. Hellings Parks, Yarde Farm, and Highfield Farm near 
Topsham are known locations. Extensive areas of herb-rich marshy grassland are found at 
Hellings Park on Wishford Farm and support beautiful southern marsh orchids and a rare 
cross between southern marsh and common spotted orchids Dactylorhiza x hallii. The insect 
fauna associated with them is diverse. The barn owl relies on meadows for abundant vole 
and mice prey. They breed at one location in the Regional Park. 

Lowland fens* 

In addition to the small stands of reed bed, mainly in the Lower Clyst, Hellings Park is an 
area of fen peat of regional nature conservation interest and there are smaller areas at 
Higher Comberoy and Southerlake. 

Arable field margins* 

The rare cirl bunting*, whose national population is confined to areas of traditional mixed 
farming, mostly in south Devon, is now breeding in parts of the Regional Park area in East 
Devon. It is particularly dependent for its winter seed food on spring-sown barley that is 
harvested and left over winter as stubble while arable margins can support good populations 
of invertebrates that are important food for its chicks. Wildlife-friendly arable management 
supports a range of declining and scare species. 

Unsprayed and unfertilised field margins are a haven for plants, insects, small mammals and 
birds (including ground-nesting species). Several uncommon species of plants have been 
recorded at Wishford Farm, including stone parsley, bugloss, stork’s-bill, common poppy, 
common fumitory and sharp-leaved fluellin. Heathfield Farm and Winter’s Garden are good 
for beetles associated with arable margins. 

  

page 204



23 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Figure 16 Tree planting at Mosshayne Farm, Clyst Honiton February 2019 (Lidl warehouse on right) 

Water 
 

Water quality 
The Environment Agency have assessed that waterbodies within the Regional Park are 
currently failing to meet Good Ecological Status/Potential under the Water Environment 
(Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 2017. The Upper Cranny 
Brook catchment is in ‘bad’ condition due to high Biological Oxygen Demand, poor fish 
status (in part attributable to physical barriers), and high phosphate levels; much of the 
remainder of the Clyst and tributaries is in ‘poor’ condition. 

Failures are caused by poor agricultural practice, in-channel barriers and urbanisation. More 
specifically, growing and harvesting maize on erosion-prone soils, farming right up against 
the river, cattle and slurry in rivers , run-off from roads and misconnected residential waste 
pipes all cause pollution. 

There is high potential for habitat creation along the Clyst, Crannybrook, Rockbeare Stream 
and at Clyst Honiton to mitigate poor water quality whilst also sequestering carbon, 
ameliorating flooding, and boosting nature. 

Water quantity 
Much of the Regional Park is underlain by Permian sandstones which are a Principal Aquifer 
(Environment Agency, 2021). Abstraction for public water supply is from boreholes whilst 
private users abstract from boreholes and springs. Natural habitats, and particularly 
woodlands, scrub, and hedges all have much higher infiltration rates than poorly managed 
farmland, because the soil structure is better. They therefore have an important role in 
enhancing resilience to drought. 

Natural flood management 
Floodplains and rivers are significant assets that (along with flood defences) help to prevent 
local communities from flooding. There is potential to remove river embankments in some rural 
locations, increasing the area of fully functioning floodplain, and reducing the risk of flooding 
to property downstream. 

page 205



24 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

The greatest potential to ameliorate flood risk through soft engineering (tree planting, hedge 
planting, ponds, buffer strips) is within small catchments, where there are properties at risk, 
and good hydrological connectivity. The prime locations are the headwaters of the following 
rivers: 

 Pin Brook (properties at Beacon Heath, Pinhoe and Monkerton); 

 Grindle Brook (properties at Woodbury Salterton and Higher Greendale); 

 Crannybrook and Southbrook (properties at Whimple); 

 Rockbeare stream at Allercombe and Marsh Green (properties at Rockbeare); 

 River Clyst at Plymtree 

 Stream at Clyst St George (properties around Pytte) 

The potential for beavers to reduce flood peaks and maintain base river flows during drought 
has been proven (Brazier, 2020) 

Many of the parish councils with neighbourhood plans have defined flood protection policies, 
but few promote natural flood management as a solution. 

Landscape 
 
The Regional Park is entirely within the Devon Redlands National Character Area and the 
Clyst Lowland Farmland Devon Character Area (Devon County Council, 2020). A key 
objective is to protect the landscape quality of Killerton estate; the ‘Killerton setting study’ 
sets out how this can be achieved (Land Use Consultants, 2013). The Landscape Character 
Assessment for East Devon has recently been reviewed and updated (Fiona Fyfe 
Associates, 2019). It can be accessed here East Devon Landscape Character Assessment 

The Regional Park is defined by the prominent ridge of Beacon Hill (also the administrative 
boundary with Exeter); Stoke Hill; the slightly lower ridge and forest of Huxham Brake; the 
wooded hills of Killerton and Ashclyst Forest, on the harder igneous rocks; the long skyline 
of the East Devon Pebblebed Heaths; and the hard urban edge of Exeter, specifically the M5 
motorway. It is extremely important that the views to the ridges and hills are protected, and 
that the landscape of those natural features is enhanced. They provide a strong sense of 
place and help with orientation. Indeed, Stoke Hill, Killerton and Woodbury Castle all have 
Iron-age hillforts, denoting their strategic importance.  

Figure 17 View from White Down Copse (the highest point in the Regional Park) towards Ashclyst Forest 

page 206

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2816886/lca_complete_final_march-2019_low-res.pdf


25 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Once away from the built up areas, the lanes that wind through the low-lying undulating 
topography of fields and hedges can be disorientating, something that needs to be born in 
mind when promoting greater access for less confident countryside users. A unique feature 
are the many villages with ‘Clyst’ in their names, which means ‘clear water’. There are many 
small tributaries of the River Clyst, and tranquil, intimate river valleys. 

As we have seen in the biodiversity section above, mature trees in hedges, fields, and 
parklands, traditional orchards, and the seasonally flooded grazing marshes are an 
extremely valuable and distinctive feature. The strong vernacular e.g. thatch, Breccia, and 
limewash seen in the conservation areas of Broadclyst, Sowton and Whimple are also 
unique features. The priorities for landscape protection, management and planning are set 
out in Appendix 3. 

There are many important viewpoints from where people can get a good sense of the 
Regional Park landscape. This is not an exhaustive list, but moving from south to north, 
these are: 

 

Figure 18 The ridge running from Dart’s Farm, Topsham north towards Winslade Park giving fine views of 
the Lower Clyst valley, Exe Estuary and Haldon ridge 

The Medieval bridge at Clyst St Mary is a major historic crossing point of the river, though 
the setting is now dominated by traffic on the A376; 

page 207



26 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

 

Figure 19 Views to, and from Bishops Court Palace must be protected; the hard edge of Sowton 
industrial estate is viewable from here 

The intimate, historic and surprisingly tranquil Sowton village, which sits in the valley and 
has an ‘otherworldly’ feel; 

Trafalgar Way at Clyst Honiton, another major historic transport corridor, being the start of a 
Roman road to London; 

The Mosshayne Lane railway bridge, which gives elevated views up and down the valley 
and, on the negative, across towards the airport and Sky Park; 

The tranquil river valley below West Clyst, with views to some important historic buildings at 
Brockhill and Kerswell Barton; 

page 208



27 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

 

Figure 20 The old windmill at Dog Village, which can be seen from a great many points in the Regional 
Park 

Views up river from the knoll at Jarvishayes; 

Views from and towards Pinhoe ridge; 

Views of Ashclyst Forest and Killerton from many points in the park; 

Picturesque landscaped registered parks and garden and the importance of designed views. 

These assets form important destinations, distinctive features, and focal points where trails 
intersect.  

  

page 209



28 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Cultural heritage 
 

Introduction 
Since 1975 and the building of the M5, the Devon County Council Historic Environment 
Record (available on-line) has recorded many hundreds of sites, areas and buildings of 
archaeological and historic interest within the Park area and its immediate environs. Here, a 
summary of the heritage assets in the Regional Park is given. 

The Clyst Valley has many centuries-old villages, hamlets, farms and houses. Many of these 
habitations are documented in the Medieval period but some are older. For example, in his 
1966 book ‘Old Devon’, W G Hoskins wrote about the reclamation of the ‘Clistwick’ (now 
Clyst St George) saltmarshes by William Sukespic in 1170, who lived at Marsh Barton (now 
Grade II listed). The ancient routes can still be followed here e.g. Marsh Lane. Some 
settlement sites are known to be prehistoric, such as the iron-age hillforts at Stoke Hill, 
Killerton and Woodbury. Some places are linked to known individuals, families, and their 
stories. For example, Killerton House is associated with the Aclands, Poltimore House with 
the Bampfylde family, and Bishops Court, Sowton, was formerly the palace of the Medieval 
Bishops of Exeter.   

Modern archaeological methods are revealing new sites in the valley day by day. Between 
2014 and 2016 an archaeological aerial survey centred on the catchments of the Rivers Exe, 
Culm, and Clyst, was completed under the National Mapping Programme, funded by Historic 
England (Devon County Council, 2016). The accompanying report (Hegarty, Knight, & Sims, 
2016) provide full details. Development-led archaeological excavation at Cranbrook revealed 
an exquisitely-crafted archers arm-bracer from a burial mound that was built where there had 
been a tree, showing how the landscape had evolved from ancient woodland to a more open 
landscape. LIDAR4 surveys at Killerton revealed the previously unknown earlier house, and 
as this survey now continues across the whole estate, more secrets may come to light.  

Below ground archaeology 
The Regional Park is rich in archaeology from the Stone Age (Mesolithic and Neolithic) right 
through to modern times. Farms and field systems from the Bronze Age, Iron Age and 
Romano-British periods demonstrate just how ancient the landscape here is. They are 
mostly below plough soil now, but could be better protected within public open spaces. The 
finds (in the Royal Albert Memorial Museum) and records have great potential to help create 
a sense of place and contribute to cultural and educational programmes linked to access to 
the countryside.  The Bronze Age barrows are a particularly significant feature of the area – 
giving rise to existing settlement names such as ‘Burrow’. 

The floodplains and fens are an important part of the region’s paleoenvironmental record. 
Preserved macro-fossils and pollen provide a record of the environment in the past, and 
human impacts on its, back into prehistory. Hellings Park and Broadclyst Moor for example 
have been cored for paleoenvironmental material, as has land at Mosshayne – looking at 
evidence dating back as far as 7000 BC. 

Iron Age Hillforts 
Stoke Hill, Dolbury (Killerton) and Woodbury Castle are all Scheduled Ancient Monuments 
and thus of national interest. These hillforts have the potential to be physically linked via the 
rights of way network. Access and interpretation at Woodbury Castle and Dolbury has 

                                                

4 Laser Imaging, Detection, And Ranging (LIDAR) 

page 210



29 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

recently been improved. A possible ‘marsh fort’ is now part of the Pin Brook Country Park. 
There is a possible fort or camp by the Roman road at Killerton  

 

Roman road alignments 
The old A30 from Dorchester to Exeter is the route of the main Roman Road. The section 
preserved in Cranbrook Country Park (west of Jack in the Green) awaits interpretation under 
a planning condition. There were possible alternative routes into Exeter from the east 
following the present day A3052. There is also a route heading north from Exeter's East 
Gate to the Roman fort on St Andrew's Hill in Cullompton. Sections of the road are visible as 
earthworks on LIDAR images, or preserved in field boundaries and existing roads. However, 
some sections are conjectural. The Exeter-Cullompton Roman Road has good potential to 
be part of the recreational network, as much is on either exiting rights of way, lanes or 
National Trust land. The fortlet at Stoke Hill is a Roman signal station and is a Scheduled 
Ancient Monument. 

Prayerbook Rebellion Battlefields 
On the night of the 3rd/4th August 1549, a battle 
took place at a windmill near Woodbury. 
Windmill Hill just south of the A3052 is thought 
to be the location. The battle proceeded 
westwards, crossing the Clyst via the bridge 
and causeway at Bishop’s Clyst and continuing 
up into what is now Digby & Sowton. Clyst St 
Mary Bridge is a Scheduled Ancient Monument 
comprising several arches linked by a walled 
causeway. The two low arches at the west end 
of the bridge are thought to be the oldest part 
of the structure, possibly dating from 1238. 
There is an interpretation panel here. The 
eastern arches may date from 1310. 

Figure 21 Stoke Hill 
Iron Age Hillfort in 

March 1990 

Figure 22 The bridge and causeway at Clyst St Mary 

page 211



30 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

This nationally important battle site is still highly legible on the Clyst St Mary side of the river 
– the sunken lane the armies fought over, the outflanking of the bridge from the mill, and the 
windmill mound next to Greendale industrial park (south of the A3052). 

Medieval lanes and field patterns 
Much of the landscape is derived from Medieval, if not earlier, division of the land into fields. 
The area contains a number of intact Medieval field systems (see Devon Historic Landscape 
character mapping, available on-line). The pattern of Medieval lanes and fields often forms 
the setting of the area’s Listed or undesignated farmsteads and also the Conservation 
Areas. There are a number of shrunken or deserted Medieval settlements, including Aunk 
and at Ashclyst Forest. 

Tithebarn Lane, Quarry Lane, Blackhorse Lane, and Langaton Lane are all Medieval and 
some much older e.g. Clyst St Mary bridge. Some of these are sunken holloways, defined by 
banks, hedges and trees, themselves often hundreds of years old and significant features in 
the historic landscape. These routes are important because as well as linking stately homes, 
they were the means by which ordinary folk got to work (water, saw mills, corn mills, 
orchards), to worship, to trade, and to communicate. They are ‘common inheritance’. 

The animal pound on Woodbury Road is a Scheduled Ancient Monument. It is a highly 
prominent feature, being sited just off the road from Clyst St George to Woodbury and it acts 
as a visible reminder of former countryside practices. The term animal pound is derived from 
the Anglo-Saxon word `pund' meaning enclosure. Stray or illegally pastured stock, and 
legally-kept animals were rounded up at certain times of the year from areas of common 
grazing. The management of the floodplains for stock grazing and hay meadows has also 
left its mark.  

Large houses and gardens 
It is in the parklands associated with large houses where the links between history, 
landscape and biodiversity are most evident. These parklands were once more extensive, 
but surviving veteran trees point to the potential for wider parkland restoration/biodiversity 
enhancement/connectivity. The principle properties of interest are Bishop’s Court, Killerton, 
Poltimore, Rockbeare Manor and Winslade Park. There is also the former Redhayes House 
by the M5 where some of the parkland is protected as open space, and Ratclyffe at Aunk. 

Bishop’s Court is a Grade I listed building 
dating back to approximately 1265, 
although the ‘Manor of Clist’ dates back to 
at least 1086. It was a Palace for the 
Bishops of Exeter and has also been 
subsequently owned by the Earl of 
Bedford, Admiral Lord Graves, and the 
notable Beavis and Garratt families. The 
mid-14th century tithe barn & early 16th 
century stable block are also Grade I 
listed. The barn has an arch-braced base-
cruck roof of seven bays. The owners 
undertook an English Heritage grant-
aided feasibility study into potential uses, 
completed 2011. They are eager to 
restore both properties.  

Killerton House is a Grade II* listed 
building dating from the 16th century, with 
an extensive grade II* registered park and garden. The house was acquired by John Acland 

Figure 23 Reverend Swete's 1801 watercolour 'South view of 

Bishops Clyst House' shows the great tithe barn to the right 

page 212



31 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

in the 17th century and remained in his family until 1943, when Richard Acland gave the 
estate to the National Trust. Sir Thomas Acland employed John Veitch in 1770 to lay out a 
landscape park around Dolbury Hill which was intended to form the setting for a new 
mansion. The Sections of two deer park pales, a watering pond and Dolbury Hillfort are all 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments at Killerton Park. Veitch developed pleasure grounds from 
1808 on land enclosed from the park. Features included gravel walks, shrubberies and a 
grove of tulip trees. Under the direction of John Veitch's son, James, the pleasure grounds 
and areas of the park were planted with trees and shrubs newly introduced to cultivation by 
Veitch's expanded nursery which had relocated from Budlake to Exeter in 1832. 

Poltimore House is a Grade II* listed 16th century country house with later additions. One of 
the gems of the Regional Park, Poltimore House & Park has a fascinating history. During the 
English Civil War, an agreement was negotiated in the house between the Roundheads and 
Cavaliers. Dating from the 16th century, the house was originally built for Richard Bampfylde 
(from where we get Bampfield Street in Exeter) and last century it served as a school and 
hospital. The parkland was laid out at the same time as the original house and was grazed 
by a herd of fallow deer. The gardens to the rear of the house were designed by James 
Veitch in 1840 and still retain some significant trees; five huge Wellingtonia (one is 137 foot 
tall), established from seed, and the first handkerchief tree Davidia involucrata, brought back 
as seed from China in 1902 for the Veitch nurseries. 

Poltimore House was acquired by the Poltimore House Trust with funding from English 
Heritage and EDDC in 1997. A roof cover erected in 2006 has made the building weather 
tight. A feasibility study was undertaken in 2007 with grant from the Architectural Heritage 
Fund and English Heritage. 

Rockbeare Manor is a Grade II registered park and garden. 

Winslade Park is a late-18th century mansion built for an East India merchant. The sale 
particulars of 1905 noted the ‘pleasure grounds of great natural beauty'. They slope away 
from the mansion in a southerly direction, and contain a large number of specimen trees. 
The terrace walk (early-19th century) along Grindle Brook, an ornamental lake formed by the 
widening of the stream, and parts of the kitchen garden survive. 
The tithe barn and stables at Bishop’s Court and Poltimore House are on the ‘Heritage at 
Risk’ register (Historic England, 2019). 

Other historic buildings 
There are many examples throughout the Regional Park, with particular clusters in 
Broadclyst (including the National Trust estate buildings), Sowton, Whimple, Clyst Hydon, 
and Aunk. They all contribute to the quality of the landscape. There are stories to be told 
about the farmed landscape and local geology. Many of the buildings sit within earlier field 
systems, and used local stone such as the distinctive red Breccia.  

Mills, some of medieval origin, and their associated water management infrastructure are 
widespread and important. Often these were originally corn mills but converted to textiles 
and associated processing. Cottage industry is brought alive at places such as Marker’s 
Cottage, Broadclyst. 

Most of the Grade I listed buildings are churches at Broadclyst, Clyst St Lawrence, Clyst St 
Mary, Killerton (chapel), Poltimore and Sowton. The churchyard crosses at Clyst St 
Lawrence, Clyst Hydon, Broadclyst, and Poltimore, and the remains of a Medieval manor 
house just north of St John the Baptist's Church, Broadclyst, are all Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments. There are opportunities for enhancing the setting of Listed and non-Listed 
buildings and also biodiversity (some have important bat roosts). 

page 213



32 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Orchards 
Orchards often provide the setting for historic farmsteads and villages/hamlets. Devon is 
known for its cider, and cider apples were crucial to the agricultural economy of this area 
especially in the 19th and 20th century. The importance of the industry is clearly reflected by 
the preponderance of the earthwork remains of tree planting banks. These aided drainage 
and provided adequate soil depth for the fruit trees. Whiteways Cider Company at Whimple 
came to dominate the industry and gave rise to local apple varieties called the Whimple 
Wonder and Whimple Queen. 

Water meadows 
The majority of ‘catch meadows’ have been recorded in the steeply rolling hills and sharply 
incised tributary combes at Thorverton, Silverton and Butterleigh. However, there are 
examples at Westwood/Clyst St Lawrence, at Clyston Mill and Wishford Farm (Broadclyst) 
and possibly other examples at Hayes Farm & Dymond’s Farm in the Clyst Honiton area. 
The Tale Valley Trust have restored and interpreted a water meadow in the Tale Valley. 

Reclamation landscapes 
Much of the Clyst valley has been reclaimed from natural wetland since Medieval times, right 
up to the advent of modern field drainage. There are examples of 19th century engineering 
that straightened rivers, built leats and water mills. 

Second World War 
RAF Exeter is the main site (Battle of Britain onwards) but there are a range of outlying sites 
including accommodation and anti-aircraft sites. The Sector Control Room (and later 
Observer Corps HQ) at Poltimore Park is of at least regional if not national importance 
(WAAF buildings also survive at Park Farm). Interpretation panels and a leaflet have been 
prepared and will be released to the public when the permissive paths are opened to the 
public. There will be a preserved aircraft dispersal bay, with war memorial, within Sky Park. 
RAF camps and later US bases were set up within the grounds of larger houses, e.g. 
Winslade Park. The Prisoner of War Camp at Dymond’s Farm has an intriguing escape story 
– the one that nearly got away!  

Figure 24 Traditional orchard at Whimple showing ridge banks 

page 214

http://www.exeter-apples.org.uk/apples.html
http://www.exeter-apples.org.uk/apples.html


33 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Drivers of change 
Development 
The ‘West End’ of east Devon is undergoing major development and this is planned to 
continue for the next 20 years, with potentially 26,600 jobs created and 20,000 new homes 
built. This development is already changing the character and tranquillity of the area, 
increasing road traffic, noise and light pollution (Natural England, 2013), and putting more 
pressure on water quality and supply. The growing population could harm internationally 
protected wildlife sites through increased recreational disturbance. However, the Regional 
Park has a key role in creating Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANGS) to 
mitigate this impact.  

Dawlish Countryside Park is a successful SANGS. The primary goal of creating an attractive 
greenspace where people can safely exercise their dogs off leads has been achieved, whilst 
also increasing populations of cirl buntings and introducing a rare arable plant (small-
flowered catchfly) as part of the Back from the Brink project. 

The draft Cranbrook Development Plan Document 2013-2031 (East Devon District Council, 
2019) allocates land to take development to around 7,750 homes for 18,000 or more 
residents. 

Health & wellbeing 
Broadclyst Electoral Division covers all of the Regional Park and in 2017 had a total 
population of 14,056 (Devon County Council, 2020). It has significantly more young people 
in the 0-15 age group (23% compared to an East Devon average of 16%), and significantly 
fewer people aged 65-84 (16% versus 25%). Significantly more children aged 0 to 24 are ‘in 
need’ of assistance, 4.7% compared to an East Devon average of 2.7%. 19% of the 
population (aged 16+) is estimated to be getting less than 30 minutes of moderate physical 
activity per week.  

Cranbrook has a unique demographic with early population profiles estimating over 4 times 
the national average of 0-4 year olds living in the town (Exeter City Council, 2019) and twice 
as many children on free school meals compared to the national benchmark. 40% of children 
entering nursery at Cranbrook have under developed gross motor skills (personal 
communication). There is an urgent need to get those children active outdoors. There is an 
opportunity now to change the behaviour of parents and their children aged 11-14, typically 
the age at which behaviours are ‘remembered’ in later life. Walking is a very cheap form of 
exercise that has most chance of becoming habitual. Brisk walking for 150 minutes per week 
can significantly improve health. 

There is now 10 years of data on outdoor recreation gathered through the Monitor of 
Engagement with the Natural Environment (Natural England, 2020). Most people’s 
experience of nature is within 2 miles of their home, and visits have doubled in the last 10 
years. During lockdown, a 65% increase in walking has been recorded at Woodbury 
Common and a 60% increase in cycling in Exeter. Co-Bikes have reported 400% increase in 
use of their hire bikes. On cycle routes around Exeter, usage has been increasing 10% 
every year. 

Improved access to outdoor field study centres could offer more opportunities for disabled 
students. Inclusive access could also open up opportunities for employment or volunteering 
and enable anyone to actively participate in the community. Disabled people can also 
contribute to the economy. In the UK, the Purple Pound, the spending power of disabled 
people and their families, is worth £274 billion and is estimated to be rising by 14% per year, 
yet less than 10% of organisations have a targeted plan to access the disability market. This 

page 215

https://wearepurple.org.uk/the-purple-pound-infographic/#:~:text=The%20Purple%20Pound%20refers%20to,the%20members%20has%20a%20disability.


34 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

is not only a huge frustration for disabled people, but is also a missed opportunity for 
organisations who could be benefiting both socially and commercially by accessing the 
disability market. 

The Equality Act (Government, 2013) is about people and provides a legal framework to 
protect the rights of individuals and advance equality of opportunity for all.  

Historic places convey a sense of uniqueness and awe and are strong emotional pillars 
connecting communities across England. Heritage can also improve personal wellbeing, by 
helping us understand our past, our individual and communal identity and help us connect 
with the places where we live. 

In Devon fewer than 1 in 5 people aged 15 are active for at least an hour a day, whilst just 
over half of young people are classed as physically active. Around 1 in 5 adults are not 
physically active, with activity lower in more deprived areas. Active travel can also help 
reduce air pollution, at present around 3.4 in 100 deaths in Devon are attributable to 
particulate air pollution. Increasing active travel and reducing impact of other forms of travel 
also assists in meeting climate change targets, with climate change being one of the biggest 
potential impacts on public health that we all face.  
 

Climate 
The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has advised that carbon emissions 
must reach net-zero by 2050 if we are to avoid the worst effects of climate change by 
keeping warming below 1.5oC. The 2018 UK Climate Projections (Met Office, 2019) indicate 
that mean summer temperatures in the Clyst Valley will increase by 5oC by 2080 and that 
precipitation will increase by 20 – 30% in the winter and decrease by 30 – 40% in the 
summer. 

The Regional Park has a significant role to play in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and 
adapting to future climate by: 

1. Increasing carbon sequestration through habitat creation within Nature Recovery 
Networks 

2. Increasing ecologically-sustainable food production and local consumption 
3. Providing walking and cycling infrastructure, including electric bikes, and promoting 

better public transport 
4. Increasing woody biomass to partly replace fossil fuels and provide building materials 
5. Changing agricultural practices to reduce emissions associated with farming 

operations, manage soils sustainably and replenish soil carbon 
6. Increasing flood storage in soils, aquifers and ponds, and through restoration of the 

full natural extent of floodplain, creating new riparian woodland and promoting 
Natural Flood Management5. 

7. Providing shade and cooling, particularly through street tree planting and biodiverse 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) 

Because 1 & 2 above appear to be contradictory, it is worth exploring the science more fully. 
Carbon is stored in soil and vegetation. Soil organic matter (SOM) is comprised of a range of 
organic molecules ranging from simple sugars through to large molecules that can resist 
degradation for decades. SOM is approximately 58% carbon (Garnett, 2017). Peatlands 

                                                

5 Natural Flood Management involves the use of a variety of measures including tree planting, river 
bank restoration, building small-scale woody dams, reconnecting rivers with their flood plains and 
storing water temporarily on open land (Defra, 2018). 

page 216



35 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

store the most soil carbon, followed by boreal forests, then temperate and tropical 
grasslands. The total stock of soil carbon on earth is approximately twice the amount found 
in vegetation and three times that in the air. Avoiding carbon release is thus even more 
important than trying to sequester it. We must therefore avoid ploughing grasslands, 
conserve our peaty soils, and look after our existing woodlands, trees and hedgerows. 

Storage is the total stock of carbon whereas sequestration is the net transfer of carbon from 
air to the soil or biomass (living and dead organisms). Carbon can be sequestered by 
several means, for example: 

 Creating new woodland and wetland habitat 

 In croplands, by adding manure, reducing tillage, growing perennials e.g. fruit/nut 
trees, or sowing legumes. 

 In grasslands, by planting deep rooted grasses, legumes, adding manure, optimising 
the water/nutrient balance to stimulate forage productivity, changing the timing and 
intensity of grazing. 

It’s important to understand that sequestration can be undone by a change of land use and 
that, except in the case of natural forest creation, an equilibrium is reached at about 30-70 
years and no more carbon is sequestered. 

What land use change has the potential to deliver the largest carbon sequestration? This 
depends on the original land use. The largest gains measured are converting arable to 
wetland which lie in the range 8 to 17 tonnes of CO2 equivalents per hectare per year6. 
Converting improved grassland to woodland sequesters approximately 8 tCO2eq/ha/yr. 

It is often stated that grass-fed livestock production as a system plays an important role in 
storing carbon. This is true. However, when it comes to sequestering carbon, grazing 
ruminants can only make a minor potential contribution to soil carbon sequestration; about 
1%. Livestock supply chain emissions contribute about 14.5% of global greenhouse gas 
emissions. Added to this are the methane emissions, which will remain in the atmosphere as 
long as ruminant numbers continue to rise. And although ruminants do provide nitrogen to 
soils in a form that is readily used by plants, they are only recycling it, and any nitrate lost is 
critical because it is both long lived and has global warming potential. 

The argument that grass-fed ruminants are using ‘spare’ land is not true either. Our land is 
finite and can be used for different purposes if there is a strong case. This is certainly not to 
say that livestock production should cease. Far from it. Ruminants are good at recycling 
residues and crop by-products, and land that can less easily be cropped. When used 
alongside feeding food waste to non-ruminant animals e.g. pigs and poultry, it is estimated to 
provide a population of 9 billion with 20 g of animal protein per person per day, much less 
than current Western levels (which are leading to an obesity epidemic) but a useful amount 
nevertheless. 

At a global scale, reforestation has the greatest potential for climate mitigation. In the UK, 
which is a net importer of timber, increasing the amount of carbon sequestered through land 
use change is likely to result from expanding woodland cover, retaining old growth stands of 
woods (including looking after our ancient trees in hedges and fields) and greater use of 
timber products in buildings (Burton, 2018). However, it is worth re-stating that we need to 
plant the right tree in the right place, to ensure existing natural and cultural heritage is not 

                                                

6 CO2 equivalents are a standard way of measuring carbon footprints 

page 217



36 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

damaged, and that species chosen are likely to be resilient to future pest, diseases and 
climate.  

16% forest land cover by 2050 could be equivalent to a 10% reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions at that time. However, far more 
measurements of actual sites are needed 
(as opposed to modelling) before we have 
a good handle on changes in SOC in 
woodland/forest (Natural England, 2012). 
This research need could be met by the 
Regional Park, lying as it does on the 
doorstep of Exeter University. 
 

Water 
The Water Framework Directive sets out 
a target for the UK Government to 
achieve ‘good’ existing or potential 
ecological status for water bodies by 
2027. For the Rivers Clyst and Cranny 
Brook, the present condition is ‘moderate’ except for the Lower Cranny Brook, which is in 
‘poor’ condition. Water quality in the River Clyst is negatively affected by manures, slurry, 
and soil from rural areas, compounded by soil compaction. Sewage and runoff from urban 
areas is also a problem. However, the greatest pressure is from manure and slurry. In terms 
of pollution loading, a single herd of 250 dairy cows is equivalent to a population of 12,500 
people, about the size of Honiton.  

Nature 
The River Clyst discharges into the Exe Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA), Ramsar, 
and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and the quality of the water is therefore critical 
to the birds for which the site is internationally important. Some of the mud and sand flats off 
Exmouth are in unfavourable condition but considered to be recovering (Natural England, 
2021). However, populations of water birds as a whole, and oystercatcher, grey plover and 
dunlin in particular, are unfavourable at the site level, causes unknown. 

The State of Nature report (Hayhow D B, 2016) for England confirms that nature is in crisis. 
Since 1970, the Wild Bird Indicator has declined by 6%, but the Farmland Bird Indicator has 
fallen by 56%. The Farmland Butterfly Indicator has declined by 27% and the Woodland 
Butterfly Indicator by 51% since 1990. Going further back, the facts remain stark:  

 97% of the lowland meadows in England and Wales were lost between the 1930s 
and 1984 

 The area of coppiced woodland fell by 90% between 1900 and 1970 

 Wetlands were drained at a rate of 1,000km2 per year in the middle of the 19th 
century 

An increase in cereal cultivation has resulted in larger fields and hedgerow loss, particularly 
on the valley floors. The national Countryside Survey 2007 recorded a 4.5% loss of 
hedgerow trees over 10 years, and there is no reason to suspect that trees in the Clyst 
Valley are faring any better. The same survey recorded a dramatic decrease in the number 
of young or small trees. Modelling reveals that for a stable population, 45% of hedgerow 
trees need to be 20 cm or less diameter. In Devon, parish surveys carried out between 2007 
and 2009 suggest that just 26% of our trees fall into this size class. The reasons for the 
decline in hedgerow trees include Dutch elm disease, the advent of modern hedgerow 

page 218



37 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

cutting with tractor and flail, and felling along roads and public rights of way, because they 
pose a perceived, or actual, risk to human safety. 

Traditional orchards are becoming increasingly rare due to neglect, intensification of 
agriculture and pressure from land development. In 2007, the Peoples Trust for Endangered 
Species (PTES) identified 16,990 ha of traditional orchard habitat in England from aerial 
survey. In Devon, 198 ha were surveyed by volunteers. Of these, 46% were in poor 
condition, 36% were in good condition and only 18% were in excellent condition. A survey by 
the National Trust in 2016 found that causes of poor condition in orchards on the Killerton 
estate were either ‘abandonment’ or ‘inappropriate management’ e.g. over-hard pruning.  

The Devon Hedge Group has produced an ash dieback action plan 2016. The current 
consensus is that over 90% of ash trees in the county will die or be severely affected within 
woodlands over the next 5-15 years, whilst 50% of non-woodland trees will be damaged to 
the extent that they shed limbs. Other threats to trees include: ‘Sudden oak death’; Oak 
processionary moth; and ploughing beneath the crown of large infield trees leading to 
compaction of soil and lack of oxygen and water to roots, leading to death. Tree planting and 
natural regeneration now will mitigate this landscape loss and reduce flood damage, improve 
water and air quality, and provide crucial biodiverse wildlife habitats. 

page 219



38 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

  

Figure 25 Sunlight through an ash tree at Ashclyst Forest by Jenny Steer Photography 

page 220



39 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Delivery 
 

Introduction 
Several excellent projects have already been delivered in the Regional Park. Examples 
include the Redhayes Bridge over the M5 which has seen a 64% annual increase in use by 
cyclists, joggers and walkers as the principal route linking Cranbrook to Exeter. The design 
of the associated crossing of the Tithebarn Link Road is functioning well to give cyclists 
primacy. The nearby Pin Brook Country Park has been laid out to a high specification. 
Orchards, hedges and ponds at Cranbrook Country Park are maturing and management is 
excellent. Heathfield Farm is embarking on an exciting new journey as a land centre, whilst 
Poltimore House Trust and its dedicated volunteers continue to improve lives. 

The challenge now is to make a step-change in ambition, delivering projects that are not 
directly linked to development, to secure these gains through sustainable resourcing, to link 
up the pieces of the jigsaw, and achieve something greater than the sum of all of these 
parts. 

Prioritisation 
Our aim is to generate a pipeline of projects, and always have some ready to secure funds 
that often materialise at short notice. 

Projects are prioritised against how well they meet the objectives of the Regional Park. 
However, particular weight is given to those projects that deliver most for climate mitigation 
and adaptation, for nature and for people. In delivering for people, we will use the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment - Devon Health and Wellbeing to further prioritise projects for 
communities in greatest need. The priority within nature is to protect the Natura 2000 sites 
and therefore projects that mitigate impact of development on Natura 2000 will be given 
substantial weight. This approach has clear support from stakeholders. Table 1 ranks 
projects by number of votes. Where no project code was specified, access was mentioned 
17 times, cycling routes and habitat creation 9 times, and climate change 5 times. 

Emphasis was given to projects that were easy or quick to deliver, or where there was a 
specific opportunity. The deliverability of projects is clearly a determining factor. 

Table 1 

Project Votes 

Lower Clyst habitat conservation and access projects 38 

Clyst Valley Trail 38 

Habitat corridors 16 

Bishops Court 15 

Ashclyst Forest 10 

Crystal Clear Clyst 9 

Grindle Brook 9 

Cranbrook to Exeter traffic-free route 8 

Winslade Park 7 

 

page 221

https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/jsna/
https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/jsna/


40 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Project types 
There are two types of project; framework and site specific. Framework projects will enable 
the Regional Park to achieve its full potential, to be experienced as a coherent entity and 
deliver on its potential to be greater than the sum of its parts. Framework projects require: 
(a) working across boundaries (geographical, sectoral, and organisational); (b) bringing the 
right mix of skills and knowledge around the table; (c) thoroughly exploring problems and 
solutions; (d) sharing information; (e) constantly learning. 

Framework projects centre on: 

 Sustainable movement - comprehensive, joined-up, seamless public transport 
coupled with a traffic-free trail network 

 Complex, multi-objective projects such as Crystal Clear Clyst, Clyst Canopy, and 
Nature Recovery Network 

 Education 

 Community engagement & volunteering 

 Information service to users and supporters of the Regional Park 

Delivery board/group 
A group will be tasked with setting the direction of travel, deciding which projects should be 
prioritised, generating funding and other resources, and benchmarking progress against 
other Regional Parks e.g. River Nene, Colne, Lee, and Wandle Valley, and projects e.g. 
Lower Otter Restoration, Stover & Wray Valley Trail, Dawlish Countryside Park. An equality 
champion will be sought to ensure every opportunity is taken to optimise infrastructure for 
those with protected characteristics. Local business and landowners will also be represented 
on this group. 

Delivery teams 
Delivering the projects on behalf of the board will be an ‘engine room’ of mixed discipline and 
organisation delivery teams. Common to most projects is the need for skills in development 
control (EDDC + DCC), highways (DCC), water (DCC + EA), and agri-environment (NE, or 
perhaps the new Office for Environmental Protection).  

Land purchase 
EDDC is presently negotiating the purchase of 10 ha of land which will then be managed to 
optimise its value for nature, people and climate mitigation. As a local authority, we are able 
to borrow money at low interest rates from the Public Works Loan Board. Targeted 
acquisition will be part of the delivery strategy, particularly where long-term benefits and 
return on investment accrue. Clearly, in order to secure value for the public purse, details of 
proposed acquisition will need to be confidential but we will work with our partners to identify 
opportunities, and regularly review priorities. 

Additionally, our charitable partners could buy land, or we could work with charities such as 
the Land Trust, as Teignbridge District Council has successfully done in establishing the 
excellent Dawlish Countryside Park. Another option is to create a new charity. 

Charitable Incorporated Organisation 
We asked consultees how much they would you be willing to pay per year to support a not-
for-profit organisation which supported delivery of the Regional Park. 161 people responded 
to this question and the results are heartening (see table below). No decision has been 
made on whether to form a not-for-profit organisation, and what functions it would need. 
However, a small Charitable Incorporated Organisation could buy land and other assets, 
have a self-appointed board of directors, and could invite the public to become paying 
members, thereby generating annual income that could be used as match-funding. 

page 222



41 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

 

Figure 26 How much consultees were willing to pay per year to support a not-for-profit organisation 
delivering green infrastructure in the Regional Park 

  

Nothing
16%

Under £10
14%

£10 to £20
38%

£20 to £50
23%

£50 to £100
6%

More than 
£100
3%

page 223



42 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Framework projects 
Volunteering 
There is clearly a huge appetite and potential for more grass roots action in the Regional 
Park; “thinking globally, acting locally”. The National Trust has an established army of well-
trained and supported volunteers carrying out diverse tasks. Poltimore House Trust have 
volunteers carrying out maintenance, managing the grounds and events, and researching 
history. Heathfield Farm (formerly Broadclyst Community Farm) has had volunteers helping 
to manage the farm and like Poltimore, takes referrals e.g. people with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities. Cranbrook Town Council has volunteers helping with practical 
activities in the Country Park. Broadclyst Environment Group have weekly litter picking and 
recently planted trees. Wild East Devon has 180 active volunteers, 50 of whom carry out 
land management and wildlife surveys on EDDC’s nature reserves, though none are in the 
Regional Park yet.  

During the ‘Great Trees’ project, more than 100 volunteers took part in tree and orchard 
surveys, tree planting, and historic research. As soon as restrictions allow, more of these 
activities will take place through the ‘Routes for Roots’ project. We have established Friends 
of the Clyst Valley and already 600+ people have signed up to receive updates on progress. 
Our aim is to hold an annual forum, ideally a mixture of talks and practical action, ensuring 
that the format appeals to young people. Additionally, we could reach out to Exeter 
University who hold ‘Student Volunteering Week’ in February. 

Volunteering activities in the Regional Park could include: 

 Monitoring the condition of trails and greenspaces 

 Maintenance and repair of trails 

 Practical conservation 

 Tree wardening 

 Giving talks and walks 

 Surveys/research of wildlife, heritage, water quality, businesses etc. 

 Event management 

It is clear that more resources will be needed to harness this potential, and the existing 
providers will have to work together. We’ve committed to exploring this in the action plan. 

Community engagement 
There are broadly four communities that we want to work with. There are the established 
residents in towns and villages within the Regional Park, landowners and managers, 
younger residents in new housing estates, and Black and Minority Ethnic communities from 
Exeter. 

Established residents 
Not everyone welcomes the green initiatives we propose. A growing population exploring the 
countryside leads to issues of littering, lack of respect for privacy and the Countryside Code. 
On the other hand, established residents often have great knowledge of their parish, a desire 
to share it, keep local customs alive and maintain cherished community assets. Our priority 
is to hold conversations with parishes at least once every year. 

Landowners and managers 
Where we have sought to progress site-specific projects, such as the Clyst Valley Trail, we 
have established relationships with land managers. However, the resources at our disposal 
have been insufficient to enable us to talk to every land manager in the Regional Park. We 
plan to rectify that over the next 5 years by employing project officers to work on the Crystal 
Clear Clyst and 10% for Nature projects.  

page 224



43 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Younger residents 
Many new residents do not have the confidence or ability to access greenspaces. Often 
there is a fundamental lack of knowledge of their existence in the first place. Thus whilst 
much of our work is about creating green infrastructure, there is also a need to understand 
barriers and to educate. There is a need to promulgate the Countryside Code, and we are 
starting to do that through our ‘Devon Loves Dogs’ initiative, visiting greenspaces and talking 
to the public about minimising the impact of dogs, whilst championing the benefits to health 
and wellbeing. 

Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities 
In the 2011 national census, 7% of the 117,000 Exeter residents were from Black and 
Minority Ethnic groups. Exeter Communities Together (ECT) is enabling BAME residents in 
Exeter to have a voice and increased visibility in the wider community. We are keen to work 
with them to resolve the specific barriers that these residents face in accessing greenspace.  

For all of these communities, we want to progress swiftly along the spectrum of engagement, 
from informing and consulting, to involving, to collaborating and finally to empowering. A 
seed-funding grant and/or our existing Crowdfunder programme (link) could be a great way 
of building partnerships and momentum. 

Education 
Our priority for the next 5 years will be to engage with those with a stake in outdoor 
education and produce a strategy to grow provision. Key partners will be National Trust, who 
have an established relationship with all of the schools in the Killerton estate and regularly 
cater for Exeter College students, and EDDC’s own Countryside Team, with experience of 
delivering activities at Seaton wetlands and Exmouth Local Nature Reserves. Key existing 
hubs with further potential include: 

 Cranbrook, where the Town Council’s Country Park Ranger delivers activities and 
there are thriving forest schools; 

 Heathfield Farm; 

 Poltimore House; 

 Caddihoe 

The Outdoors Group recently applied for planning permission for a new education centre at 
Ratsloe. This wasn’t successful, but the aims of the group align with ours, and collaboration 
will be explored. 

Information 
A website for the Clyst Valley Regional Park is presently under construction. Key audiences 
are supporters (the Friends of the Clyst Valley), visitors to/users of the Park, and potential 
investors, for example, local businesses. Users of the website will be able to plan a day out, 
track project implementation and understand opportunities for investing. 

Sustainable movement 
Patronage on buses and trains has been hit hard by the pandemic. Over the next two years, 
the priority must be to recover use to pre-Covid levels, working closely with DCC transport 
teams and through them, the main providers Stagecoach and South West Trains. A new 
national bus strategy is expected this year and access to leisure is a priority for the 
Government. Through our Routes for Roots project, we can deliver some led bikes rides 
from Cranbrook and Pinhoe stations, where e-bikes have been installed.   

page 225



44 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

In the next 5 years, we might establish a charity that 
delivers benefits for paying members. That might include 
reduced ticket fares on buses and/or trains. We will draw 
on DCC’s expertise in route planning, so that our traffic-
free trail network works for commuters and leisure. 
Through ‘Gear Change’ (Department for Transport, 2020), 
the Government have signalled a change in policy: more 
space for bikes on trains (except on peak-hour services) 
and better linkage, more bikes on buses, and more cycle 
parking at transport hubs. 

We recognise that small changes to the traffic-free 
network can bring about large improvements in usability. 
For example, when our mobility champion identified a 
problem kerb on the Broadclyst to Killerton trail, DCC were 
able to install a drop-kerb.  An audit of paths on the 
Killerton estate is already underway, with volunteers 
entering data on an app when in the field. This app might 
be rolled out across the Regional Park. It would allow 
improvements to be identified, prioritised and costed, with 
a focus on upgrades for disabled users, horse riders, and 
strengthening weak links in the chain.  

Where existing trail infrastructure is already vulnerable to flooding, measures will need to be 
explored to increase resilience and ensure public safety. New trail infrastructure will be 
planned to avoid floodplains as much as possible. We’re committed to resolving the long-
term maintenance of cycleways through a partnership approach. The present system, in 
which only the most used commuter routes are gritted, for example, is not likely to bring 
about the transformation increase in cycling that is needed. 

  

Figure 27 Electric bikes outside St 

Martins' School, Cranbrook 

Please note that Figures 28 & 29 are indicative and provide technical guidance only in 
support of relevant policies and strategies of the approved East Devon Local Plan, most 
notably Strategy 10 on the Clyst Valley Regional Park. 

page 226



45 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Figure 28: Green Commuting 

Please note: All planned routes are indicative 
only. No agreement from landowners is 
implied. No public right of access exists until 
formally declared as such. 

page 227



46 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

  

Please note: All planned routes are 
indicative only. No agreement from 
landowners is implied. No public 
right of access exists until formally 
declared as such. 

Figure 29: Green recreation 

page 228



47 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Traffic-free network – standards and types 
 
Footpath 
A footpath is a highway over which the public has a right of way on foot only. 
 
Bridleway 
A bridleway is a highway over which the public has a right of way on foot, horseback and on 
a pedal cycle (including mountain-bikes). There may also be a right to drive animals along a 
bridleway. The Countryside Act 1968 states that cyclists must give way to pedestrians and 
equestrians. 
 
Traffic-free route 
This is a route free from motor vehicles over the majority of their length. There may be short 
sections where there is no alternative to using an existing road, but traffic on these will be 
low. Traffic-free routes will meet the nine criteria listed below (Sustrans, 2018). They will be 
planned, designed, built and maintained to be inclusive for all types of user, in accordance 
with The Equality Act 2010. 

 

1 Be traffic-free or quiet 

 

2 Be wide enough to comfortably 

accommodate all users 

 

3 Be designed to minimise 

maintenance 

 

4 Be signed clearly and 

consistently 

 

5 Have a smooth surface that is well 

drained 

 

6 Be fully accessible to all 

legitimate users 

 

7 Feel like a safe place to be 

 

8 Enable all users to cross roads 

safely and step-free 

 

9 Be attractive and interesting 

Fig 30 Nine criteria that our traffic-free trails will meet 

  

page 229



48 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Quiet way 
A quiet way is a highway used by motor vehicles but where traffic calming measures are 
employed to make them safe for use by pedestrians7, cyclists8, and horse–riders. Well-
designed quiet ways will be in addition to, not in place of, a high quality arterial network of 
dedicated traffic free routes. 

The general cut-off for safety is fewer than 1,000 vehicles 
per day (vpd) and speeds of <35mph at the 85 percentile 
(DfT, 2006). Ideally, the carriageway needs to be 4.5m wide 
(see diagram opposite). However, many Devonshire lanes 
are not this wide, so the ability to create regular passing 
places with good inter-visibility will often be a determining 
factor. Each case will be unique, and treated as such. 

We will consult with users and the highways authority on 
measures to give primacy to pedestrian, cyclists, and horse–
riders on quiet ways. Those measures might include: 

 Closure of lanes to vehicles at weekends (except for 
dwelling access and farm traffic); 

 15 mph speed limit; 

 Passing places; 

 Road humps; 

 Surface treatments; 

 Gateway features 

Following consultation, where there is support, some quiet ways could be formally 
designated as Quiet Lanes (DfT, 2006). 

  

                                                

7 The terms pedestrian and walking include people using mobility aids such as wheelchairs 
and mobility scooters, and people with physical, sensory or cognitive impairments who are 
travelling on foot. 
 
8 The term cycle includes hand-cranked cycles and cycles that conform to the Electrically 
Assisted Pedal Cycle Regulations 1983 (as amended), which we shorten to e-bikes for ease. 
It does not include mopeds, stand-on scooters or other powered two-wheeled vehicles. The 
terms cyclist and cycling refer to anybody using a human powered vehicle as described 
above. 

page 230



49 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Specific traffic-free projects 
 

Clyst Valley Trail 
The Clyst Valley Trail will be a commuting and recreational trail for walkers, cyclists, mobility 
scooters and where feasible, horse riders. It will link the Exe Estuary trail with the historic 
Killerton House and Park, via an 
existing multi-use trail from 
Broadclyst. There is future 
potential to reach the Exe Valley 
Way9 and create a superb coast-
to-coast trail linking Exmoor with 
Exmouth. The CVT will provide a 
direct, safe, green route to 
employment centres at Science 
Park, Sky Park, and close access 
to Exeter Business Park & 
Sowton Industrial Estate. On the 
way, it passes through historic 
parkland and attractive river 
valleys, forming the backbone of 
the new Clyst Valley Regional 
Park.  

A separate delivery plan will be 
produced and the priority over the next 5 years is to build half of the total 13 km. It is hoped 
that the existing section of E2 (Exeter-Broadclyst), which no longer meets Government 
standards, can be bypassed as a co-benefit of delivering the CVT. 

Cranbrook to Exeter 
As Cranbrook expands eastwards and new housing comes forward at Tithebarn and 
Mosshayne, this will deliver a traffic-free commuting and recreational route additional to the 
existing old London Road facility. The route begins at Station Road and proceeds around the 
back of the Amazon/Lidl warehouse alongside the railway line (thus not impacting on the 
wildlife corridor provided for bats). A new bridge crossing of the River Clyst is required. 

Broadclyst to Cranbrook 
The green commuting and recreation key diagrams include two proposed trails linking these 
communities. One uses the existing level railway crossing and Elbury Lane to join Cranbrook 
Education Campus with Clyst Vale College. The other is more directly linking Dog Village 
and Clyst Vale College to Cranbrook station. This latter route would probably require a 
bridge over the railway at old Broadclyst Station. However, all possible options for creating a 
safe crossing of the railway at this point will be explored. 

Nature Recovery Network 
The principle of nature gain through better, bigger, more and joined up natural habitat 
(Lawton, 2010) will be achieved by targeting priority habitat creation and restoration within 

                                                

9 The Exe Valley Way is a walking trail, but much of it is on quiet lanes suitable for cycling 
More information about the Exe Valley Way 
 

Figure 31 The latest progress towards delivering the Clyst Valley Trail; a 
crossing at Blackhorse Inn 

page 231

https://www.exploredevon.info/activities/walk/short-walks/city-coast/


50 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

the defined Nature Recovery Network. The NRN will be revised once Devon Wildlife Trust 
have published their version on behalf of the Devon Local Nature Partnership.  

However, many formally widespread species will continue to decline unless action is taken 
on all land. Much of the farmland in the Regional Park area is not currently in any agri-
environment scheme, and of those that are, fewer are in the higher tier options that deliver 
the most valuable outcomes for biodiversity. Our objective then is to encourage all farm 
holdings within the Regional Park to manage 10% of their area in wildlife-friendly ways to 
produce year-round food and breeding sites for a range of farmland species. This will be 
known as our ‘10% for nature’ target. 

Much of the Regional Park area overlaps with RSPB’s Cirl Bunting Priority Landscape, 
encompassing the current range of cirl buntings. The last national survey in 2016 showed 
breeding territories at a few locations in the Regional Park. These territories represent a 
recovery in range east across the Exe Estuary and so the RSPB is very keen to support 
farmland management that provides more habitat suitable for cirl buntings. Habitat 
requirements are invertebrate-rich grazed pasture, dense hedges and scrub patches and, 
crucially, arable management where spring sown barley is left as winter stubbles to provide 
vital seed food for cirl buntings (and a range of other farmland birds including finches and 
larks). 

Wildlife Corridors 
Wildlife corridors link nature enhancement areas and are likely to be delivered primarily 
through agri-environment schemes. Many follow waterways where the priority will be to 
improve water quality by creating or restoring natural habitat adjacent to rivers or streams. 
Others link patches of woodland by maintaining mature hedgerow trees and planting 
replacements, serving as feeding and commuting routes for bats. Some also follow quiet 
lanes where the creation or restoration of wildflower verges are essential for the survival of 
pollinating insects.  

All of them link area projects with the intention that wild species can move through the 
landscape to ensure populations can be maintained as the climate changes. There is also 
tremendous potential to enhance the historic environment associated with these corridors, 
and tell the human story. For example, the listed Medieval Holy Well on Frogmore Lane in 
association with the stream corridor linking Ashclyst Forest to the River Culm. 

The Aylesbeare Stream and Holbrook are important wildlife corridors connecting extensive 
habitat on the heathlands at Aylesbeare with extensive habitat in the Lower Clyst valley. 
They also connect with hotspots of biodiversity at Rockbeare (parkland), Beautiport Farm 
(broadleaved woodland and grasslands), and Farringdon (parkland and ancient woodland). 
The known biodiversity interest in the project area are the tree-lined streams, old traditional 
orchards, small riverine woods and at Spain Farm, small fields with good hedgerows. A 
small percentage of the project area is within a Countryside Stewardship Mid-Tier 
agreement. There is little or no buffer protecting the rivers from inputs of agricultural 
chemicals. Dymond’s Farm and Higher Holbrook Farm are both Grade II listed and with 
surviving orchards and Dymond’s was also the site of a Prisoner of War camp during World 
War II. 

The Grindle Brook is an historic, early Medieval boundary characterised by smaller 
floodplain meadows, hedgerows and patches of riverine woodland on clayey alluvium. There 
are also some traditional orchards. Kiddicott Farm is in Higher Level Stewardship but no 
other land is in an agreement and in many places intensive arable cultivation takes place 
right up to the river. The reversion of arable to pasture and new woodland via natural 
regeneration would considerably enhance biodiversity, landscape, water quality and provide 
greater natural flood storage.  

page 232



51 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Clyst Canopy 
This is a multi-agency & landowner project to bring about a generational transformation in 
tree cover. 

Tree canopy cover in the Clyst Valley is estimated at 9.3%. Broadclyst parish, which 
includes Ashclyst Forest, has 14.3%, precisely the amount measured in a recent study of 
Cranbrook. To tackle the climate crisis, it is recommended that UK forestry cover is 
increased from 13% to at least 17% by 2050 by planting around 30,000 hectares (90 – 120 
million trees) of broadleaf and conifer woodland each year (Committee on Climate Change, 
2020). Because trees have multiple positive benefits, we are proposing a minimum target of 
20% canopy cover is achieved during this 25-year plan period. 

The importance of maintaining the trees that 
we already have cannot be overstated. 
Ancient trees and woodlands in particular are 
huge stores of carbon and hotspots of 
biodiversity. But many are threatened through 
damage to roots, competition from conifers or 
simply a lack of management or natural 
processes in woodlands. Lack of after care 
can result in trees not reaching their potential 
canopy. In urban areas, this is often through 
lack of water, deliberate or inadvertent 
vandalism. In rural areas, grey squirrels and 
deer are a major threat. 

There are multiple opportunities to increase 
tree and shrub cover in the Regional Park 
through either natural regeneration where 
there is a source of seed, assisted natural 
regeneration where it is important to nurture 
trees of local provenance, and planting. 
There is a direct link to the Crystal Clear Clyst 
project here, whereby the reversion of 
intensively managed pasture or arable to 
woodland should be sought. The restoration 
of several large historic parklands is 
underway or planned, and new public parks 
and SANGS delivered by developers should 

feature more trees. Silvo-pastoral & silvo-arable systems can also make an important 
contribution in future. 

The mantra of the right tree in the right place must be practiced, not least to protect existing 
or potential non-woodland priority habitat, and valuable heritage features. Thorough 
assessment, including ground survey, by qualified persons, is critical before schemes are 
implemented. 

So how does 20% canopy cover break down as a target? The Clyst catchment is 155 km2 
(15,500 hectares) of which about 10% (1,550 ha) is tree canopy, so a doubling would equate 
to about 1,550 ha or up to around 3.8 million trees planted. We can further break that down 
to a 5 year rolling target of 300 ha or up to say 150,000 trees planted per year. 

Figure 32 An aerial view of Rockbeare, with about 

15% tree cover in the middle distance 

page 233



52 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Crystal Clear Clyst 
Introduction 
This a catchment-scale, multiple objective project that has been sub-divided into five main 
areas. The principle aim is to work with landowners, the Environment Agency, Natural 
England and the Forestry Commission to promote natural habitat and river restoration from 
source to sea. The new Environmental Land Management Scheme (ELMS) will be a major 
plank of the funding strategy. There may, for example, be a mandatory target to buffer 100m 
of land either side of rivers. Securing resources for field officers who can work with farmers 
is proven to be successful, particularly where collaboration across farm holdings is needed. 
Other funds should come via the capital programmes of Environment Agency, South West 
Water and Devon County Council. However, there are also opportunities to create new 
markets for paid ecosystem services, and the recently launched Natural Environment 
Investment Readiness Fund signals the Government’s intention to do that. 

The Environment Agency have identified a number of mitigation measures for the waterbodies 
in the catchment. These include the removal of physical barriers, river and bankside 
restoration, tree planting, and Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS). We will 
investigate whether this project could help to deliver some of them. 
 
Whilst the promotion of natural riverine processes and restoration of natural habitats is a key 
aim, so also is conservation of the historic environment. Humans have been living with and 
adapting the river environment for thousands of years. The evidence remains; 
embankments, irrigation channels, mill leats, catch-meadow systems, meadow divisions and 
stock control are all built into the floodplain landscape. It’s important to understand the past 
in order to shape the future of the Park. Therefore, an historic characterisation of the river is 
a key project to complete in the next 5 years. 

There is a very real possibility that beavers will colonise the Clyst catchment soon. They are 
now thriving in the headwaters of the River Tale, less than 1km from the source of the Clyst. 
Evidence of the environmental benefits of beavers continues to grow and they would 
accelerate habitat restoration. However, they would also have to be controlled and mitigation 
measures put in place, ideally in advance of their arrival. For example, where ancient, 
veteran or notable trees and orchards were within 100m of a water course or floodplain, they 
would need to be protected, for example, with mesh guards. Over the next 5 years, 
resources should be secured to commission some preliminary work on beavers in the Clyst. 
This would look at the benefits of a controlled release, identify infrastructure at risk and 
consult with landowners and statutory agencies in those high risk areas to identify mitigation. 

Away from main rivers and their floodplains, it is absolutely critical that the ability of the land 
to absorb and retain rain water is improved. The organic content and structure of soils in 
fields, particularly those bordering streams, must be improved. This will reduce flooding, 
increase resilience to drought, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and enhance biodiversity. 
An increase in the cover of trees, of the right type, in the right place, will also provide all of 
those benefits, and support animal, fruit, nut and vegetable production. More on this is 
covered in the ‘Clyst Canopy’ project. 

In the urban environment, building in the floodplain must continue to be avoided. High quality 
SUDS must grow in importance in order to prevent pollutants and sediment entering the 
watercourses. 

Upstream of Ashclyst 
The upper catchment of the River Clyst stretches from Talaton to Ashclyst Farm, 
immediately south of Ashclyst Forest. The floodplain is about 200 m wide, and though the 
river is tree-lined, there is no buffer to arable cultivation or cattle grazing. These floodplains 
have poorly drained soils of mixed texture, especially wet in back-lands well suited to wet 

page 234



53 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

woodland or marshy grassland. Even narrow alluvial valley bottoms often have both levee10 
and back-land developed giving a variety of target habitat options. Perennially wet soils here 
remove nitrate from ground and surface-waters as well as retaining sediment (with 
phosphorus) during periods of flooding (Clayden, 1971). 

Although large areas of land in the upper catchment are in Middle Tier Countryside 
Stewardship agreements, these do not always protect known biodiversity or heritage assets. 
In addition, it is clear that information on the habitat resource is out-dated and a 
comprehensive River Habitat Survey is an essential first step. 

Broadclyst 
This section covers the area from Ashclyst Farm through Broadclyst to the B3181. At Burrow 
Farm, the floodplain broadens to about 350 m wide. Much of the land has been in an HLS 
agreement, and this has enabled the tenants to provide excellent educational visits e.g. 
Open Farm Sunday. There are some measures to prevent soil erosion or run-off into the 
river (arable reversion to unfertilised grassland & 6 m buffer strips on cultivated land), but 
there is no action on the creation of riverine woodland or species-rich grassland, and small 
areas of riverine woodland are excluded from the HLS agreement, yet the river forms a vital 
wildlife corridor in this location. 

Broadclyst Moor is an extensive area of semi-natural habitat with permissive access. Soil 
textures are mixed depending on whether the parent material was derived from sandstones, 
siltstones or clay shales. The present NT tenant at Martinsfield Farm runs a Lambing Open 
Farm Sunday which is well attended. The farm has been in agri-environment schemes for at 
least 20 years and in that time many hedges have been planted and some parkland trees, 
though establishment success has been mixed. The present organic HLS agreement ended 
in 2019 but had high nature value options e.g. restoration of species-rich grassland. 

Jarvishayes Farm is presently in the Mid-Tier scheme. More information is needed on the 
extent and condition of habitats on the farm, and the potential for biodiversity enhancement. 

Cranny Brook 
This is the area of greatest immediate potential for river and habitat restoration. It 
encompasses the NT farms at Elbury and Wishford, the former being managed in hand by 
the NT, the latter under an Agricultural Holdings Act farm tenancy. It also includes floodplain 
at Mosshayne and West Clyst Farms, and Kerswell Barton. The extensive clay soils of the 
floodplain behave differently to the more mixed soil textures along the streams to the east. 

The National Trust are beginning a 40 hectare wetland habitat restoration in the floodplain at 
Elbury Farm. This is taking a ‘rewilding Knepp-style’ approach to management, initially using 
small numbers of pigs and cattle to develop a more dynamic, heterogeneous plant 
community, where hedgerows can billow out and scrub develop along the river. In the longer 
term the vision is to create scrapes and paths/hides for quiet nature enjoyment. Again, the 
impact on prehistoric archaeology around Elbury Farm and associated palaeoenvironmental 
features in the floodplain will need to be assessed. 

                                                

10 A levee is a ridge of sediment deposited alongside a river by overflowing water, or a man-made 

earth bank. 

page 235



54 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

At Mosshayne Farm, an initial report into options for river restoration has been received from 
Royal Haskoning. The owner is keen to explore options for willow biomass in conjunction 
with river restoration on 16 hectare of land north of the railway line (a further 14 hectares of 

river restoration is planned south of the railway. The potential impact on prehistoric, 
Romano-British and palaeoenvironmental features will need to be explored in full. 

In between these two farms lies Wishford. The main biodiversity hotspot on this landholding 
is Hellings Park. All of the approximately 50 hectares of floodplain is in an Organic HLS 
agreement which expires in 2023. The 30 hectare field west of Station Road (which regularly 
floods) is a former water meadow. The tenant at Wishford Farm has recently secured 
planning permission for conversion of farm buildings to 14 stables and 1 tack room, and 
construction of a sand school for commercial use. 

Wish Meadow Lane has the potential to become a permissive or public bridleway to 
complement the new equestrian business at Wishford Farm. Wish Meadow Lane would link 
with the multi-use Clyst Valley Trail to the west and Cranbrook to the east, though this is 
subject to feasibility assessment of using the railway underpass that floods regularly, or of 
securing a bridge over the railway. A potential footpath at West Clyst Farm could link with 
Wish Meadow Lane and the existing public footpath to Jarvishayes Farm.   

Sowton 
This section south of the A30 is now mostly managed by the owner of Dymond’s Farm, 
which was a WW2 Prisoner of War camp with an intriguing escape story! The floodplain here 
is some 500 m broad. There is a good public footpath network from the village of Sowton, 
which is a heritage Conservation Area. The land is not in any agri-environment schemes and 
the opportunities for nature conservation are unknown at present. Subject to the owner’s 
agreement, a primary habitat and soil survey would be a good start. 

Figure 33 Aerial image of the floodplain areas south of Broadclyst village (top right) 

page 236



55 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

The section from Sowton to Bishop’s Clyst is primarily managed by the owner of Sowton 
Barton Farm. The floodplain is about 300 m wide. An existing public footpath links the two 
villages and the proposal is for this to be upgraded to form the Clyst Valley Trail.  

The plant diversity of the floodplain meadows is presently quite limited. The main natural 
interest is in the river itself, which supports otters, kingfishers, breeding reed and sedge 
warblers and dragonflies, including the uncommon white-legged damselfly. There is a small 
but high nature-value wet woodland by the weir. The land immediately upstream of the A376 
dual carriageway floods regularly and the Environment Agency has built a flood wall to 
protect properties on Frog Lane from flooding. There are some fine and rare black poplars 
here and the owner has agreed that cuttings can be taken for planting elsewhere in the Clyst 
Valley. 

The potential in the next 5 years for this section lies in land on the east bank which is part of 
the former Bishops Court estate. There is a field of about 8 hectare which is presently cut for 
hay. It has some fine old crack willow and oak on the river bank. The potential here is to 
develop some wood pasture through a combination of more dynamic grazing, perhaps with 
cattle and/or pigs, and some parkland tree planting. Land drains could also be blocked to 
speed the process of naturalisation. 

Lower Clyst 
This is a very significant area of freshwater grazing marsh and fen. It is at risk from sea level 
rise and the river banks downstream of Winslade Barton will not be defendable in the long 
term. Over the next 5 years, we propose to appoint a skilled practitioner in stakeholder 
dialogue so that the objectives of landowners can be understood and options appraised. 
This might be funded by ELMS. Technical assessments might also be required. 

The route of the proposed Clyst Valley Trail from Darts Farm follows the ridge to the east of 
the river. This will be a multi-use trail, but a return footpath following the toe of the ridge back 
to Dart’s Farm would provide great opportunities for naturally screened wildlife viewing of the 
river and marsh, and a beautiful circular walk for all abilities. 

 

  

Figure 34 The Lower Clyst valley looking towards the water tower at Topsham 

page 237



56 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Other site-specific projects 
 

Ashclyst Forest 
The National Trust provides access to 272 hectares of the forest along a choice of colour-
coded trails ranging from 2.4 km to 11.3 km, and including a 3.5 km butterfly trail suitable for 
wheelchairs and buggies. The forest is an important site for pearl-bordered and small pearl-
bordered fritillary butterflies, twelve species of bats, dormice, and breeding birds. It is 
probably of national importance. Continuing ride management and glade creation are crucial 
for the butterflies in particular, populations of which have been declining nationally. 

The clay soil does render paths very muddy in winter but the National Trust have surfaced 
some paths to make them accessible all year round. Signage has also been improved. 
Ancient oak pollard trees have been identified and work has begun to clear conifers from 
around them as part of the restoration of wood pasture. 

The National Trust plans to make the forest a more-attractive and enjoyable destination for 

walking, cycling and horse-riding. The intention is to create a visitor hub at Ashclyst Farm 

and an outdoor field studies centre at Caddihoe, the latter in collaboration with the Scout 

Association. There is potential for outdoor education about the deserted Medieval 

landscape, how the forest was established, the ecology and conservation management of 

ancient trees and butterflies, and plans to establish wood pasture. 

Bishops Court 
Bishops Court is a place of great antiquity right on the doorstep of Exeter. Ownership is split 
across three private land holdings but all have a desire to protect and enhance the natural 
and built heritage. A public footpath crosses part of the site. 

Over the next five years, parkland tree planting should continue alongside protection and 
maintenance of the existing old trees, one of which (an English oak) is estimated to be 700 
years old. A new 
permissive path and 
picnic area in Alder 
Croft woodland (noting 
presence of Medieval 
earthworks) could 
create a circular trail 
from Sowton village 
without needing to use 
Bishops Court Lane, 
which is a ‘rat run’ 
during rush hour. There 
is also scope for natural 
regeneration of 
floodplain woodland.  

As the name suggests, 
the adjacent Bishops 
Court Gardens 
Business Park occupies 
the whole site of the 
former 19th century 
gardens. The modern 
buildings also 
immediately abut the tithe barn and stables. This use is not sympathetic to the heritage. A 

Figure 35 Bishop’s Court on the right, Alder Croft on the left, remnant parkland in 
the middle (Westpoint car park top right) 

page 238



57 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

priority for the next 5 years is to establish an area policy and masterplan for Bishops Court 
through the new local plan. A strategy needs to be defined, and funding secured, to restore, 
and if possible, provide public access to the wonderful tithe barn and stables. 

Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANGS) 
It is EDDC policy for developers of major housing allocations to deliver Suitable Alternative 
Natural Greenspace in mitigation for impacts on Natura 2000. However, EDDC also collects 
a levy from developments that cannot deliver their own SANGS. It is a primary objective of 
the Regional Park to bring forward SANGS in advance of development, although SANGS 
can be delivered outside the Regional Park, provided they meet the criteria established by 
Natural England. The potential for SANGS on the Killerton Estate has been assessed (Liley, 
2015) 

100 hectares of land is safeguarded for SANGS on the Policies Map for the Cranbrook 
Development Plan Document (DPD). Policy CB15 of the DPD sets out the full details, but in 
summary the specific sites are as follows. 

 

Bluehayes Park 
Bluehayes Park and the adjacent Cranbrook Flood Compensation Area. 

Elbury Meadow 
This land is to be managed on a 100 year lease from the National Trust. A planning 
application has been submitted. 

Grange 
Land either side of the Woodland Trust’s Percy Wakely Woodland. 
 

Treasbeare 
Land adjacent to the existing Cranbrook County Park and also with proposed greenspace at 
Rockbeare Court. The potential therefore exists to create a large, linked publically accessible 
greenspace with natural habitats, and enhanced landscape, as a buffer to Rockbeare village. 
Treasbeare was the Battle Headquarters for RAF Exeter and a key component of the 1940 
Battle of Britain anti-invasion story. Historic structures survive above and below ground and 
should be linked to interpretation of other wartime infrastructure. 

Hayes Farm 
Hayes Farm is owned by the Church Commissioners and provides a green buffer between  
housing to be built at Mosshayne and the Lidl depot. This is the only remaining recreational 
green space of useable size for the community of Cyst Honiton. Planning obligations 
secured the enhancement of wetland habitats, including the creation of reed bed and 
additional wet woodland. A further planning obligation linked to permission for the Amazon 
depot requires the Church Commissioners to provide quiet public access compatible with the 
enhancement and enjoyment of nature. 

Pin Brook Country Park 
The enhancement of the biodiversity, landscape and heritage value of the Pin Brook is a 
priority, together with securing public access on foot along it. The Brook is an important 
wildlife corridor flowing out of Pinhoe and into the River Clyst. The section west of the M5 is 
in Exeter and is being delivered by Linden Homes. East of the M5, the 7 ha “Minerva 
Country Park” has been delivered by Barratt David Wilson Homes in conjunction with new 
housing at Tithebarn Green. A further 3 ha immediately adjacent to it has been secured as 
public greenspace through a planning obligation linked to Mosshayne housing development, 
with an additional 1 ha for the creation of woodland. 

page 239



58 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

Poltimore House & Park 
Poltimore House Trust and their dedicated volunteers continue to make excellent progress 
towards the conservation of the house and gardens. The ‘Transforming Lives’ project, now 
‘Thrive and Grow’, has constructed polytunnels for growing herbs and vegetables. Paths in 
the arboretum have been improved and there are plans for a disability ‘sensory garden’ 
route. Full restoration of the 
house is acknowledged as a 
multi-million pound project.  

A planning obligation has 
secured the restoration of 34 
hectares of parkland in 
connection with housing at Old 
Park Farm. This includes the 
restoration of the old 
carriageway and establishment 
of a public bridleway along it, 
extensive tree planting and 
linear permissive public access 
for 30 years. 

A further 13 ha is part of the 
1840’s parkland extension.  
Presently it is subject to a 
housing application, but this 
would significantly impact the listed Poltimore House. 

Winslade Park 
Winslade Park is a late-18th century mansion built for an East India merchant. The present 
owners Burrington Estates have secured planning permission for mixed use, including 
enhancement of the heritage, landscape and wildlife value of the historic park and public 
access.  

Woodbury Parish traffic-free routes and wildlife corridors 
The Parish Council has identified the following projects. 

A. The route from Exton to Woodbury along the “historic route” running alongside Gilbrook 
to be made into a shared route for walkers and cyclists but not for motor vehicles; 

B. A new walking route from Woodbury Cricket field to the start of the existing walking 
route leading upward from Cottle’s Farm and the “area” to be designated a wildlife 
corridor. Increase the number of hedge trees and width of hedgerows; 

C. Designate Gilbrook, Woodbury Wood and Rushmore Wood a wildlife corridor; 
D. Designate the whole length of Porter’s Lane and Stoney Lane a Quiet Lane and to 

increase the number of hedge trees and width of hedgerows; 
E. Designate Castle Lane and Warkidons Way Quiet Lanes and protect the upper 

stretches of Warkidon’s Way; 
F. Develop routes from the Parish to Clyst St George and Clyst St Mary using existing 

roads around Postlake and Bonds Lane; 
G. Include two new areas in Woodbury Salterton to enhance the wildlife corridor; and 
H. Reduce the speed limit along Village Road in Woodbury Salterton to make it a “shared” 

route. 
The green (wildlife) corridor at Greendale Business Park has been identified because it 
follows the Grindle Brook. It's important that the industrial development does not impact on 
the stream any further, and the land within the floodplain, in particular, is improved for 
wildlife. 

Figure 36 Thrive & Grow volunteers at Poltimore House 

page 240



59 | Clyst Valley Regional Park Masterplan: Post consultation version 
 

  

page 241



 

60 | P a g e  
 

Action plan 

Theme  Objective  
Key Projects  

(* denotes multi-objective 
project) 

Timescale 

Funding 

Target 

1-5 
years 

5 
years 

+ 
1-5 years 5 years + 

Nature 

To protect irreplaceable 
habitats, restore natural 
processes, ensure that 
internationally important 
wildlife sites achieve their 
conservation objectives, and 
increase the size, quality, 
quantity and connectivity of 
priority natural habitat and 
populations of key species. 

Comprehensive survey of 
priority habitat & condition 

   

£100k for consultant 
ecologist  
funded as part of 
development phase 
of National Lottery 
Heritage Fund (NLHF) 
bid. Beyond 5 years 
staff salaries. 

Report & spatial 
data 

  

Local plan policy & 
development control 

   
EDDC salaries of 
District Ecologist & GI 
Project Manager 

Policy & Strategic 
Planning Guidance 

  

Net gain for biodiversity  

£20k to fund legal 
costs of establishing 
compensation sites 
via £100k bid to 
Investment Readiness 
Fund (NEIRF) 

100 Biodiversity 
Credits 

  

Priority habitat 
creation/restoration within 
Nature Recovery Network* 

 

£1million initially via 
delivery phase NLHF, 
then Environmental 
Land Management 
Scheme (ELMS). 

60ha 200ha 

Mitigation strategy for Natura 
2000 

   
£20k EDDC via budget 
for Local Plan 
evidence 

Mitigation 
strategy 

  

page 242



 

61 | P a g e  
 

Theme  Objective  
Key Projects  

(* denotes multi-objective 
project) 

Timescale 

Funding 

Target 

1-5 
years 

5 
years 

+ 
1-5 years 5 years + 

Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace (SANGS)* 

   

Cranbrook SANGS 
paid for and delivered 
by developer. 
£2million from 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) for delivery by 
EDDC for other 
development sites. 
Forward funding of 
SANGS linked to new 
local plan via 
Government 
development grant & 
public borrowing 

100ha 
Quantum determined 
by local plan allocations 

10% for nature*    

£100k for Farm 
Advisor for 3 years 
funded as part of £4 
million bid to NLHF 

10% of holdings 
meeting target 

All holdings meeting 
target 

Education  

To create opportunities for 
people of all ages and abilities 

to learn outside the 
classroom. 

Annual public forum with 
talks and walks 

   

Initially from Routes 
for Roots project 
budget, then via 
membership of 
Friends of Clyst Valley 

Annual forum Annual forum 

Self-discovery network 
established to promote 
understanding across all 
objectives 

  

£500k funded as part 
of £4 million bid to 
NLHF 

  
Network with in-field 
and online educational 
materials 

page 243



 

62 | P a g e  
 

Theme  Objective  
Key Projects  

(* denotes multi-objective 
project) 

Timescale 

Funding 

Target 

1-5 
years 

5 
years 

+ 
1-5 years 5 years + 

Geology trail particularly 
around historic quarries and 
holloways describing 
evolution of the landscape 
and historic buildings 

  
£100k from charitable 
fund 

  Geology trail 

Research studentship 
established on the 
development of the Regional 
Park 

   
Exeter University 
grant 

Research 
studentship 

  

Education strategy    
£50k from 
development phase 
of NLHF bid 

Education strategy 

Every pupil from 
schools and colleges 
within the Regional 
Park spends at least 5 
days per year learning 
outdoors 

Website  

Initially from Routes 
for Roots project 
budget, then new via 
delivery phase of 
NLHF bid 

Website Website 

People 
To enhance the health and 

wellbeing of residents 

Achieve Natural England’s 
Accessible Natural 
Greenspace Standards by 
creating new high quality, 
nature-rich green space, 
prioritising the most deprived 
communities first  

 

700ha via S106 
obligation. 240ha at 
capital & 
maintenance cost of 
estimated £24million 
over 80 years from 
diverse portfolio of 
private, public and 
charitable sources. 

200ha 740ha 

page 244



 

63 | P a g e  
 

Theme  Objective  
Key Projects  

(* denotes multi-objective 
project) 

Timescale 

Funding 

Target 

1-5 
years 

5 
years 

+ 
1-5 years 5 years + 

Audit the barriers preventing 
people accessing greenspace 
and using the traffic-free 
network, focusing first on 
those from the most deprived 
communities and those with 
protected characteristics. 

   
£100k from 
development phase 
of NLHF bid 

Report & spatial 
data 

30% of residents in 
Exeter/East Devon 
cycling at least once 
per week. 80% of 
residents walking for at 
least 10 minutes at 
least 5 times per week. 
Minimum carriage 10/2 
(train/bus) 
bicycles/mobility 
vehicles. 

Deliver and maintain a high 
quality network of traffic-free 
routes and quiet ways 

 

£35million of which 
£7million via S106, 
remainder via diverse 
portfolio of private, 
public and charitable 
sources.  

17km 

80km comprising; 7km 
footpath, 12km 
bridleway, 20km traffic-
free trail, 42km quiet 
way 

Build and maintain 50% of the 
Clyst Valley Trail 

   

£7million from 
Government green 
transport funds, CIL, 
delivery phase NLHF. 

7km 7km 

Work with partners to deliver 
and maintain a sustainable 
programme of activities 

 

£50k from 
development phase 
of NLHF bid for audit 
of present provision 
and future needs, 
then £500k from 
delivery phase. 

Report with 
recommendations. 

Provide an annual 
volunteer programme, 
with at least 12 
activities in each year 

page 245



 

64 | P a g e  
 

Theme  Objective  
Key Projects  

(* denotes multi-objective 
project) 

Timescale 

Funding 

Target 

1-5 
years 

5 
years 

+ 
1-5 years 5 years + 

Hayes Farm new public access    

Legals & path 
maintenance via 
S106. £50k for visitor 
infrastructure from 
charitable fund & 
Crowdfund  

14ha   

Climate 

To rapidly reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions and increase 

resilience to extreme weather 
events and rising sea levels 

Decarbonized public 
transport 

 

£500k Enterprise 
Zone (EZ) + Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) + 
Local/Government 
funds 

50 Electric bikes at 
5 transport hubs  

  

Lower Clyst*  

£20k to fund 
independent 
stakeholder dialogue 
with all landowners 

  
220ha priority habitat 
restored or created 

Clyst Canopy*  

£1.5million 
Countryside 
Stewardship + 
Woodland Carbon 
Guarantee + NEIRF 
next 5 years. ELMS + 
blend of private, 
public and charitable 
funds thereafter.  

12% canopy cover 
in Clyst catchment 

20% canopy cover in 
Clyst catchment 

page 246



 

65 | P a g e  
 

Theme  Objective  
Key Projects  

(* denotes multi-objective 
project) 

Timescale 

Funding 

Target 

1-5 
years 

5 
years 

+ 
1-5 years 5 years + 

Water & Soil 

To achieve good ecological 
status in the River Clyst and 
tributaries, enhance natural 

flood storage, and restore soil 
health. 

Crystal Clear Clyst*  

Flood Defence Grant 
in Aid and Water 
Environment 
Improvement Fund 
next 5 years. Project 
officer funded via 
agri-environment to 
facilitate farmer 
collaboration in 
readiness for ELMS. 

3km of river 
restored 

Good Ecological Status 
for the River Clyst and 
Cranny Brook (or, in the 
case of the Lower Clyst, 
Good Ecological 
Potential, because it is 
heavily modified). 

Landscape  

To restore landscape 
character and promote local 

distinctiveness and to 
maintain the high landscape 

setting of Killerton. 

Landscape sensitivity study as 
part of evidence base for new 
local plan and extension of 
CVRP policy boundary* 

 

£10k EDDC via budget 
for Local Plan 
evidence 

Landscape 
sensitivity study  

  

Local plan policy that protects 
and enhances certain key 
landscape, nature and 
heritage assets in the CVRP* 

 
EDDC salary for 2 x GI 
officers/planners 

New local plan 
policy 

  

Development control   

EDDC/DCC salary for 
1FTE heritage 
planning officer 
dedicated to Regional 
Park 

    

Heritage  

To protect historic landscapes, 
sites, buildings and their 

settings, enhance them where 
appropriate and promote 

public access to and 
enjoyment of them. 

Historic characterisation of 
the river to ensure that 
nature recovery is compatible 
with restoration of key 
historic landscapes and 
features. 

   
£100k from 
development phase 
of NLHF bid 

Historic 
characterisation 
report 

  

page 247



 

66 | P a g e  
 

Theme  Objective  
Key Projects  

(* denotes multi-objective 
project) 

Timescale 

Funding 

Target 

1-5 
years 

5 
years 

+ 
1-5 years 5 years + 

Interpret and celebrate 
history through exciting and 
innovative ways as the traffic-
free network and new 
greenspaces are delivered. 

  

£250k from delivery 
phase of NLHF bid + 
other charitable funds 
+ Crowdfunding 

    

Bishops Court local plan 
policy & masterplan to 
protect and restore 

 

£50k from 
development phase 
of NLHF bid 

Plan policy, 
masterplan and 
funding strategy 

  

Employment  
To increase and sustain high 

value jobs 

Support green recovery from 
Covid-19 

   
£1million from Green 
Recovery Fund 

50 high-value jobs 
created or, where 
threatened with 
redundancy, 
retained. 

  

Annual celebration of high 
quality local food & drink 
businesses and biannual 
forum to support the 
development of businesses 
that help to deliver Regional 
Park objectives 

   

£50k per annum 
raised from business 
sponsorship + LEP + 
visitor payback 
scheme 

  
500 new high-value 
jobs created 

Support inward investment in 
the area, and create direct 
and indirect employment as a 
result of delivering high 
quality green space and 
traffic-free network 

  

£20k per annum for 
direct, targeted 
marketing of CVRP 

  
£10 million invested in 
'West End' of EDDC 

  

page 248



 

67 | P a g e  
 

Recreational strategy 
 

The provision of recreational areas and trails for the growing population is a primary goal. 
The consultation on the draft masterplan highlighted the demand for more adventurous 
activities for both adults and children, such as mountain biking, jump/BMX/pump tracks, 
roller/inline skating, mud walks, tree canopy walks, zip wires, wild swimming and artificial 
beaches. There is also a request for quieter activities such as fishing. In association with all 
of these, there is demand for more camping/glamping. 

However, our values emphasize the importance of striking a balance with wildlife 
conservation. Some species are not tolerant of disturbance and need sanctuaries. There is 
also a demand for quiet, nature-rich places, where more mindful activities can be practiced. 
There is a desire to reduce the impact of noise and light pollution. In a future where electric 
cars are more prevalent, it should be possible to reduce noise levels at least. 

Fig 37 below defines recreational zones/hubs and sanctuary areas. It should only be used as 
a guide to where broad types of recreational development are likely to be acceptable on 
environmental grounds. It is indicative and provides technical guidance only in support of 
relevant policies and strategies of the approved East Devon Local Plan, most notably 
Strategy 10 on the Clyst Valley Regional Park. It should be used to start a conversation with 
landowners, recreational providers, potential funders and statutory agencies as to where 
some of the more adventurous activities could come forward. 
 

Recreational zones 
Red – high potential for adventurous recreational activities and facilities 

White – potential for quiet recreation activities and facilities 

Red – wildlife sanctuary area, potential for controlled public access only e.g. wildlife tours 

Recreational hubs 
In Fig 37, activity hubs are depicted with a star. Existing facilities are shown red, developing 

facilities are shown green and those with potential are shown as a yellow star. 

Visitor destinations are shown as a circle, with blue for existing and yellow for potential.  

page 249



 

68 | P a g e  
 

  

Figure 37 Recreational zones/hubs and sanctuary areas 
(indicative only) 

page 250



 

69 | P a g e  
 

Funding strategy 
 
Delivering on all of the objectives for the Regional Park will require innovation in how capital 
is raised and just as crucially, how assets are maintained. Projects will often require a 
bespoke blend of money from public, private and charitable sectors. Our approach will 
therefore be to calculate the full social, environmental and economic benefits of investment 
in each project using tools available, such as the Outdoor Recreational Valuation Tool 
(University of Exeter, 2018), the Health Economic Assessment Tool (HEAT) for walking and 

cycling (World Health Organisation, 2019) and i-Tree www.itreetools.org. In this way, we 
can approach potential investors with a clear offer. 
 

Developer contributions 
The majority of funding for new green infrastructure is expected to come via Section 106 
planning obligations. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is also an important source of 
funding and the Regional Park is listed as a priority 1 project in the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan (EDDC, 2017). The CIL budget will be used to match-fund projects. 
 
The mandating of net gain for biodiversity is an opportunity to deliver habitat creation and 
restoration in the Regional Park. Developers will need to work harder to firstly avoid, then 
mitigate loss of biodiversity. However, there will be occasions where it is not possible to 
achieve the mandatory 10% net gain on the development site, and offsets will be required, 
secured through conservation covenants. We have estimated that funding of £9.3 million 
could come via this route over the next 25years. It is vital that the new Local Plan includes a 
policy for net gain and a process for delivering it. 
 

Business sponsorship 
Local businesses will be approached for a financial contribution where there is a 
demonstrable benefit resulting from implementing a project. For example, it has been 
calculated that £1 capital spent on cycle trail construction yields £13 in user spend in the 
local economy on such things as accommodation, food & drink, bike hire and maintenance.  

In creating the UK's newest Regional Park, EDDC is implementing the recommendations of 
the Future Parks Accelerator. A report commissioned by the National Trust on behalf of the 
project partners recommended creating 10 large-scale regional parks in the urban fringe. 
Using the 'Greenkeeper' tool and Green Book compliant methods, these urban parks would 
generate £600 million per annum in health benefits, contribute 8% of the national tree 
planting target, and provide £2 of health and amenity benefits for every £1 invested over 30 
years. (National Trust, 2020) 

High-value, skilled people are more likely to be attracted and retained in the area if they are 
able to live in and access attractive, nature-rich areas. There is a powerful positive 
correlation between the quality of the environment and a healthy and productive workforce. 
LiveWest employees helped to plant and maintain woodland near their offices. Many 
companies encourage employees to seek volunteering opportunities under their Corporate 
Social Responsibility policy. 

The momentum towards establishing markets for ‘ecosystem services’ is gathering with the 
recent publication of ‘The Economics of Biodiversity - the Dasgupta review’ (H M Treasury, 
2021). For example, South West Water already fund upstream land management on the Exe 
that prevents pollution entering water courses. Another example is offsetting unavoidable 
greenhouse gas emissions by investing in carbon capture and storage in natural vegetation. 
Insurance companies may be willing to invest in reducing flood risk to properties. The 

page 251

https://www.itreetools.org/


 

70 | P a g e  
 

recently launched Natural Environment Investment Readiness Fund is an opportunity for us 
to establish a market place, identify potential investors and set out a business plan. 

Charities 
The National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) uses money raised by National Lottery players 
to help people across the UK explore, enjoy and protect the heritage they care about. This 
includes natural heritage and NLHF provides around £100 million of grant funding to UK 
landscape and nature projects each year, with a particular focus on connecting people with 
nature.  
 
EDDC has successfully secured £120,000 from the NLHF for the ‘Great trees in the Clyst 
Valley’ project (now finished) and the ‘Routes for Roots’ project (live). This capital has been 
matched by £62,000 from a great variety of Regional Park supporters; EDDC itself, National 
Trust, Woodland Trust, Devon County Council, Environment Agency, Devon Gardens Trust, 
EON Energy, LiveWest, Active Devon, Sport England, Cranbrook Town Council, the Parish 
Councils of Broadclyst, Clyst Honiton, Poltimore and Whimple. 
 
In addition to the above, EDDC is a funding partner in Saving Devon’s Treescapes, which is 
led by Devon Wildlife Trust. The Clyst Valley is a focus area of action. Having demonstrated 
to our funders and partners that we can deliver, we’re now ready to apply for a large grant 
from the National Lottery Grants for Heritage. We are also keen to work more directly with 
Sustrans to develop the traffic-free network.  

Environmental Land Management Schemes (ELMS)  
The present agri-environment schemes already provide vital funding to farmers to deliver 
wildlife and landscape maintenance and enhancement. However, they do not promote the 
conservation and appropriate enhancement of, or access to, heritage assets, the historic 
environment or historic landscapes as well as past schemes did. Only a small proportion of 
heritage assets are on the SHINE database (Selected Heritage Inventory for Natural 
England). Management options are limited and seldom linked to other environmental 
outcomes. The successor scheme being piloted now will put more emphasis and money into 
delivering enhancements, including soil conservation, carbon sequestration, and water 
quality and flood amelioration. There is an opportunity for local initiatives and knowledge to 
target options to areas where there can be multiple environmental benefits, including for 
heritage conservation.  

Government agencies 
We are delighted that our partners National Trust have been awarded a grant to protect 
ancient trees and plant new woodland from the Government Green Recovery Fund. A 
second round of funding has just been announced. 

In ‘Gear Change’ (Department for Transport, 2020), the Government has pledged £2 billion 
over the next 5 years mainly channelled through Local Planning Authorities but administered 
by Active Travel England, which will be a new statutory consultee for sustainable travel 
projects. The Government has signalled an end to stop-go funding and instead wants a 
pipeline of projects identified in local Cycling & Walking Investment Strategies. 

We will develop a closer relationship with Highways England. Their Environment Fund 
should be used to prevent pollution from Sowton entering the river via a culvert beneath the 
M5. It should also be used for tree planting and potentially for a green bridge over the M5 
and/or A30 to ecologically reconnect habitat either side. The ‘Users & Communities Fund’ is 
another potential source of funding https://highwaysengland.co.uk/designated-funds/users-
and-communities-fund/ 

page 252

https://highwaysengland.co.uk/designated-funds/users-and-communities-fund/
https://highwaysengland.co.uk/designated-funds/users-and-communities-fund/


 

71 | P a g e  
 

Sport England have chosen Exeter and Cranbrook as one of 12 areas to work on bold new 
approaches to build healthier, more active communities across England. Presently in a ‘test 
& learn’ phase, this ‘Local Delivery Pilot’ (2018-2021) has secured £1.7 million of initial 
funding and has the potential to draw on funding of £4 million over the next 6 years. The 
ambition is for Cranbrook to be a model of best practice in encouraging families to be active 
together.  

Capital funding programmes of the Environment Agency will be important sources of match-
funding where water environmental objectives can be delivered. This funding still comes with 
a duty under the Environment Act 1995 to have regard to protecting the historic environment. 

Public giving 
There is strong support for establishing a not-for-profit membership organisation. However, 

some people qualified their support, stating that there would have to be an incentive e.g. free 

car parking, and some were prepared to fund nature but not trails. There was also 

endorsement of the role of Crowdfunding to raise funds for features that might be regarded 

as the ‘icing on the cake’, for example, public art. There was also encouragement to identify 

celebrities & philanthropists with roots in the valley; the Devon Environment Foundation 

https://devonenvironment.org/ has an express goal to channel funds from businesses and 

philanthropists to grassroots nature regeneration projects. 

page 253

https://devonenvironment.org/


 

72 | P a g e  
 

Figure 38 Lane to Poltimore by local artist Mandi Street 

Summary & next steps 
 

The Clyst Valley Regional Park is crucial for the health and wellbeing of a growing 
population, and to restore the natural capital on which we all depend. The purpose of this 
masterplan is to establish a platform for partnership. The action plan sets out the priorities 
for delivery and if successful, a major funding bid will enable significant progress to be made 
on the five-year actions. This masterplan will be revised and updated following approval of a 
new Local Plan. Progress with the action plan will be monitored and reported annually to 
EDDC. 

 

 

  

page 254



 

73 | P a g e  
 

References 
 

Brazier, R. E. (2020). River Otter Beaver Trial: Science and Evidence Report.  

Burton, V. E. (2018). Reviewing the evidence base for the effects of woodland expansion on 
biodiversity and ecosystem services in the United Kingdom. Forest Ecology and 
Management, 366-379. 

Clayden, B. (1971). Soils of the Exeter District. Rothamsted Experimental Station. 

Committee on Climate Change. (2020, January 23). Land use: Policies for a Net Zero UK. 
Retrieved from https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/land-use-policies-for-a-net-
zero-uk/ 

Defra. (2018). A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment. HM 
Government. 

Department for Transport. (2020). Gear Change: A bold vision for cycling and walking.  

Devon County Council. (2011). Devon & Torbay Local Transport Plan 3 (2011-2026). 
Retrieved from Devon County Council: 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/roadsandtransport/traffic-information/transport-
planning/devon-and-torbay-local-transport-plan-3-2011-2026/ 

Devon County Council. (2012). Rights of way improvement plan. Retrieved from Devon 
County Council: https://www.devon.gov.uk/prow/rights-of-way-improvement-plan/ 

Devon County Council. (2015). Transport Infrastructure Plan 2030. Devon County Council. 

Devon County Council. (2016). East and Mid Devon Rivers Catchments NMP Project. 
Retrieved from Devon County Council: 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/the-devon-historic-environment-
record/emdrc_nmp/ 

Devon County Council. (2019, 11 15). What are public rights of way? Retrieved from 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/prow/what-are-public-rights-of-way/ 

Devon County Council. (2020, March 26). Broadclyst Electoral Division. Retrieved from 
Community Health and Wellbeing Profiles: 
https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/jsna/profiles/community-
profile/?areaCode=DIV11 

Devon County Council. (2020, March 24). Devon Character Areas. Retrieved from Devon 
County Council: https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-
policies/landscape/devon-character-areas/east-devon-area/clyst-lowland-farmlands 

Devon Health and Wellbeing Board. (2019, October). Devon’s Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy for 2020 to 2025. Retrieved from 
https://dcc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/Cascade/index.html?appid=a57ef336552c4124b26
420c4a604e4cd 

Devon LNP. (2020). Investing in natural capital for the Heart of the South West. Devon LNP. 

page 255



 

74 | P a g e  
 

DfT. (2006). The quiet lanes and home zones (regulations) 2006.  

East Devon Catchment Partnership. (2017). Retrieved from West Country Rivers Trust: 
https://wrt.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/soils-and-nfm.pdf 

East Devon Catchment Partnership. (2019). East Devon Catchment Partnership Action Plan. 
Retrieved from Catchment Based Approach: 
https://catchmentbasedapproach.org/get-involved/east-devon/ 

East Devon District Council. (2019, February). Cranbrook Plan. Retrieved from East Devon 
District Council: https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2810797/cranbrook-plan-dpd-
submission-draft.pdf 

EDDC. (2017). Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Retrieved from 
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2270747/idp-review-2017_report.pdf 

Environment Agency. (2014). Managing flood and coastal erosion risk for the Exe Estuary.  

Environment Agency. (2021, March 9). Devon & Cornwall Area Drought Plan. Retrieved from 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/732390/DC_Drought_Plan_July_2017.pdf 

Exeter & East Devon Growth Point Team. (2009, December). Green Infrastructure. 
Retrieved from East Devon District Council: 
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/environment-and-green-
infrastructure/green-infrastructure/ 

Exeter City Council. (2019). Exeter and Cranbrook Sport England Local Delivery Pilot: 
Implementation and Investment Strategy.  

Financial Plan. (2019). Retrieved from East Devon District Council: 
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2902786/financial-strategy-2019-2029.pdf 

Fiona Fyfe Associates. (2019). East Devon and Blackdown Hills Landscape Character 
Assessment. Fiona Fyfe Associates. 

Garnett, T. e. (2017). Grazed and confused? Ruminating on cattle, grazing systems, 
methane, nitrous oxide, the soil carbon sequestration question - and what it all 
means for greenhouse gas emissions. Oxford: Food and Climate Research Network. 

Government. (2013, February 23). Retrieved from gov.uk: https://www.gov.uk/equality-act-
2010-guidance 

H M Treasury. (2021, February 2). Final Report - The Economics of Biodiversity: The 
Dasgupta Review. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-
report-the-economics-of-biodiversity-the-dasgupta-review 

Hayhow D B, e. (2016). State of Nature 2016: England. The State of Nature Partnership. 

Hegarty, C., Knight, S., & Sims, R. (2016). East and Mid Devon River Catchments National 
Mapping Programme Survey Phases 1 and 2 Final report. Historic England. 

Historic England. (2017). Strategic Stone Study - A Building Stone Atlas of Devon.  

Historic England. (2019). Retrieved from https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-
risk/search-register/ 

page 256



 

75 | P a g e  
 

HM Government. (1981). Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981. Retrieved from legislation.gov.uk: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/69/schedule/1 

Houghton, E. (2019). The historic landscape and gardens of Bishop's Court, Sowton. East 
Devon District Council/University of Exeter. 

House of Commons. (2019). Environment Bill. House of Commons. 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan Review. (2017, November). Retrieved from East Devon District 
Council: https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2270747/idp-review-2017_report.pdf 

Joint Local Authorities. (2019). Retrieved from Greater Exeter Strategic Plan: 
https://www.gesp.org.uk/ 

Land Use Consultants. (2013). Killerton Setting Study. Land Use Consultants. 

Land Use Consultants. (2015). The Killerton Estate: Opportunities arising from the Exeter 
and East Devon Growth Point. National Trust. 

Lawton, J. e. (2010). Making Space for Nature: a review of England’s wildlife sites and 
ecological network. Defra. 

Liley, D. &.-D. (2015). SANGS opportunities at the National Trust’s Killerton Estate, Devon. 
National Trust. 

Met Office. (2019, September 16). UK Climate Projections. Retrieved from Met Office: 
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/approach/collaboration/ukcp/index 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. (2019). National Planning Policy 
Framework. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. 

National Health Service. (2019, January). Retrieved from 
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/ 

National Trust. (2020). Levelling up and building back better through urban green 
infrastructure: An investment options appraisal. Future Parks Accelerator. 

Natural England. (2010). Nature Nearby - Accessible Natural Greenspace Guidance 
(NE265).  

Natural England. (2012). Carbon storage in habitat. NERR043.  

Natural England. (2013). NCA Profile 148: Devon Redlands. Retrieved from Natural 
England: http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6150022 

Natural England. (2013, October 30). Section 41. Retrieved from Access to evidence: 
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4958719460769792 

Natural England. (2019). Building partnerships for nature's recovery - Action Plan 2019/20. 
Natural England. 

Natural England. (2020, March 27). Peoples engagement with nature. Retrieved from 
https://defra.maps.arcgis.com/apps/Cascade/index.html?appid=d5fe6191e3fe400189
a3756ab3a4057c 

page 257



 

76 | P a g e  
 

Natural England. (2021, March 9). Designated Sites View. Retrieved from 
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/ReportConditionSummary.aspx?SiteCo
de=S1002089&ReportTitle=Exe%20Estuary%20SSSI 

Panter, C. &. (2016). Exeter Valley Parks capacity estimates. Unpublished report by 
Footprint Ecology. 

Secretary of State for Transport. (2006). The Quiet Lanes and Home Zones (England) 
Regulations. HMSO. 

Spalding Associates. (2013). Killerton Nature Conservation Overview.  

Sustrans. (2015). A vision for the Killerton estate: a future for cycling and walking. National 
Trust. 

Sustrans. (2018). Paths for everyone. Sustrans. 

UK Government. (2020, January). Retrieved from 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/environmental-bodies-set-joint-vision-to-tackle-
climate-change 

University of Exeter. (2018, Feb). Outdoor Recreation Valuation Tool . Retrieved from Land, 
Environment, Economics and Policy Institute: https://www.leep.exeter.ac.uk/orval/ 

West Country Rivers Trust. (2015). Growth Point & Clyst Valley Regioal Park Environmental 
Services Evidence Review.  

World Health Organisation. (2019, May). Health Economic Assessment Tool (HEAT) for 
walking and cycling . Retrieved from Health Economic Assessment Tool (HEAT): 
https://www.heatwalkingcycling.org/#homepage 

 

  

page 258



 

77 | P a g e  
 

Appendices 
 

Appendix 1: Strategy 10 – Green Infrastructure in East Devon’s West End 
 
We will ensure that the Green Infrastructure Strategy for East Devon's West End dovetails 
with comparable work being undertaken in Exeter to provide a green framework within which 
strategic development occurs. All development proposals of the West End will individually 
and collectively contribute to the implementation and long-term management of green 
infrastructure initiatives through appropriate contributions and/or on site provision, and 
Green Infrastructure initiatives should feature in all developments. 
 
Clyst Valley Regional Park 
 
Land to accommodate the Clyst Valley Regional Park is allocated on the Proposals Map. 
Developer contributions, the Community Infrastructure Levy and other agricultural-
environmental funding streams will be used in combination to deliver this ‘landscape’ scale 
strategic project.   Landowner, developer and multi-agency collaboration will be essential to 
achieve the broad range of outcomes intended for this area to ensure the planned growth is 
delivered sustainably over the plan period. The Clyst Valley Regional Park will: 
 
Provide high quality natural green space that is complementary to development and will be a 
stimulus to encourage commercial and business development of the highest standard. 
Ensure natural ecosystems function in the West End of our District and ensure residents, 
workers, school children and visitors of all abilities have easy access to high quality open 
spaces, with linked benefits to health, education and food production. 
Take recreation pressure away from more environmentally sensitive locations thereby 
overcoming concerns arising from application of the Habitat Regulations that would 
otherwise prevent development coming forward.  Provision of the park could help address 
need and requirements arising from development in other parts of East Devon, Exeter and 
potentially Teignbridge.  We will encourage a park that ‘reaches into’ the open spaces of our 
neighbouring authority partners. 
Provide new wildlife corridors that enhance the biodiversity of the West End. 
Provide green corridors, open space and biodiversity enhancement areas. Enhance cycling 
and walking opportunities to link habitats and sustainable movement networks that promote 
the overall recreational experience for the West End. 
Conserve and enhance heritage assets and their setting to reflect their intrinsic importance, 
maximise beneficial outcomes for park users and to encourage use of the park and to enrich 
the cultural identity of the area. 
 
The park will be designed and managed to highest natural green design standards and it will 
be subject to parkland, open and recreation space and countryside and green infrastructure 
policies. Development will not be allowed in the designated area unless it will clearly achieve 
valley park specific objectives for people and wildlife.  Countryside policies of the plan will 
still apply in non-allocated development locations and areas. 
 
Habitat Regulations and West End Development 
 
Where the likelihood of significant effects on internationally protected wildlife sites cannot be 
ruled out from developments in the West End, the Council will undertake an appropriate 
assessment of impacts and will only support and approve proposals where it can be 
demonstrated that adverse effects on site integrity can be prevented. 
 

page 259



 

78 | P a g e  
 

Of particular relevance to the Habitat Regulations will be the need for continued checks and 
monitoring to ensure that any mitigation measures for built development, linked to Clyst 
Valley Regional Park provision, achieve the ends envisaged and offers effective mitigation 
against adverse impacts that could otherwise occur.  Each phase of any development 
occurring and park provision will be assessed and monitored. 
 
Mitigation measures in respect of the West End established as needed to comply with 
Habitat Regulation assessment will need to accord with measures set out in the ‘South-east 
Devon European Site Mitigation Strategy’. Provision of SANGS will be an essential part of 
the overall West End development. Where possible SANGS should dovetail with wider 
Green Infrastructure policies and be compatible with neighbouring authorities’ plans. The 
functionality of any potential SANGS and its contribution to the avoidance of a likely 
significant effect must be clearly demonstrated.  

page 260



 

79 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 2: Environmental opportunities relevant to the Clyst Valley Regional 
Park 
 

Natural England has published National Character Area Profile 148 for the Devon Redlands, 
within which the Park is situated. Relevant environmental opportunities are listed below. 

 Creating reed beds and buffer strips in the upper reaches of the principle rivers and their 
tributaries, particularly in association with intensive agricultural and livestock activities to 
act as silt and nutrient traps. 

 Managing and encouraging the creation of areas of low-input grassland to, for example, 
provide sustenance zones and strategic flyways for bats and to meet wider objectives, 
especially where located over sandstone aquifers and on steeper slopes in order to help 
to prevent soil erosion and nutrient leaching.  

 Restoring and managing existing woodland and encouraging new woodland planting, 
particularly in the priority catchment areas of the rivers Exe and Otter, in order to prevent 
soil erosion, slow nutrient run-off, increase water infiltration and reduce the risk of 
flooding, and to act as a buffer to intensive agricultural activities.  

 Supporting and re-introducing sustainable traditional woodland management techniques 
and the skills needed to maintain these practices, such as selective felling and coppicing, 
particularly on the steeper valley sides, providing a sustainable source of local wood fuel 
and biomass close to areas of demand.  

 Restoring and managing existing wet and riparian habitats and encouraging new wetland 
habitat creation, which would serve to enhance biodiversity, improve water quality by 
reducing sedimentation and nutrient leaching, and reduce flooding.  

 Restoring, managing and planting new ‘traditional’ orchards for the benefit of the 
landscape and sense of place, biodiversity and retention of genetic diversity found in old 
varieties.  

 Managing and restoring existing hedge banks and hedgerows and where appropriate 
creating new ones to reinforce landscape character and sense of place, to enhance 
wildlife networks, and to control soil erosion and encourage water infiltration, especially 
within the priority catchment areas of the rivers Exe and Otter, and across the main flood 
plains of the area.  

 Preserving and managing ancient, veteran and hedgerow trees and encouraging a new 
generation through planting and selective management, benefiting landscape character, 
sense of place, history and biodiversity.  

 Reinforcing field patterns by the creation of wide grass buffer strips adjacent to 
boundaries protecting wetlands and watercourses from nutrient enrichment and 
sedimentation.  

 Supporting environmentally sound arable farming measures such as low-input winter 
stubbles and conservation headlands to benefit farmland birds, including the cirl bunting, 
and arable plants.  

 Maintaining landscape character, ‘iconic’ views, tranquillity, a sense of ‘wildness’ and 
connection to the maritime environment by sensitive, responsive planning of future land 
use and offshore developments, for example large-scale photovoltaic farms and offshore 
wind farms.  

 Improving access along and connecting with the South West Coast Path National Trail, 
the National Cycle Network, promoted routes including the East Devon Way and Exe 
Valley Way, and throughout the rights of way network. Promoting enjoyment, awareness 
and understanding of the National Character Area, particularly less well-known sites and 
features, to relieve pressure on busier destinations in order to maintain existing levels of 
tranquillity, remoteness and landscape character.  

page 261



 

80 | P a g e  
 

 Improving the number, quality and accessibility of green spaces and recreational 
opportunities near to where people live and stay, and around areas of planned 
development.  

 Protecting and managing the use of fragile habitats, particularly those in close proximity 
to areas of significant development. The Clyst Valley Regional Park is needed as 
Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANGS) to mitigate the recreational impact of 
additional visitors on the internationally protected wildlife sites of the East Devon 
Pebblebed Heaths and the Exe Estuary. A number of existing assets make the area an 
ideal candidate as SANGS, not least more than 100km of Public Rights of Ways and 
permissive trails, and open access to 434ha of the National Trust Killerton estate. 

 The delivery of SANGS is a major legal driver, without which much of the housing 
development in the growth point would not be acceptable. 

 Ensuring that the network of existing sunken lanes and their character remain intact and 
promoting their use for non-motorised transport and quiet recreation.  

 Managing, by extensive grazing and scrub removal where current land cover and use 
threatens, and protecting, by planning the location of new development, the integrity of 
sites of heritage significance and value, particularly in areas of high sensitivity, for 
example iron-age hill forts at Stoke Hill and Woodbury Castle, and providing 
opportunities for understanding and awareness of these assets.  

 Conserving and managing historic parklands, including the planting of trees that are 
sensitive to historic character. Encouraging appropriate management of ancient and 
veteran trees and the retention of deadwood.  

 Encouraging practices that conserve, manage and replant traditional orchards, 
particularly where they include local varieties that may be of genetic interest 

 Maintaining and managing the dispersed settlement pattern and form, in particular the 
relationship between farmsteads, hamlets and ‘parish’ villages linked by a network of 
winding sunken lanes that lack modern engineered features.  

 Planning and managing the introduction of new vertical elements and renewable energy 
technologies in the landscape to maintain character and setting.  

 Using understanding of the area’s traditional and historic architecture, including materials 
(cob, stone, thatch and pebble) and the distinct patterns of settlement, to inform 
appropriate conservation and use of historic buildings and the integration of renewable 
energy technologies, and to plan for and inspire new development which makes a 
positive contribution to local character.  

 Seeking and realising opportunities, such as woodland planting, to mitigate the impacts 
and effects of existing and new development and infrastructure at the edges of 
settlements and along main transport routes, as on the fringes of Exeter and along the 
M5 corridor.  

 Creating new accessible and natural green spaces and links to help to integrate new 
areas of development with existing ones, particularly around the significant development 
of the ‘West End’, and providing a range of natural and cultural benefits through the 
implementation of the various green infrastructure delivery plans.  

 Supporting sustainable transport options to major existing visitor destinations, notably 
along the coast.  

 Developing and improving the network of public rights of way and promoting open 
access land that provides more opportunities for informal recreation, access to nature 
and public enjoyment. 

  

page 262



 

81 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 3: Key Performance Indicators 
 

Objective KPI Notes 

People Percentage of people 
walking or cycling to 
work, school, or for 
recreation 

The percentage of residents who cycle at 
least once per week in Exeter/East 
Devon is about 15%. This compares 
favourably to an England average of 
10%, but poorly to the top performing 
local authority, Cambridge, where the 
figure is 49%. 
Percentage of residents who walk for at 
least 10 minutes at least 5 times per 
week is better, at about 50% for 
Exeter/East Devon, compared to an 
England (and Cambridge) average of 
45%. 

People Accessibility of 
greenspace to all 

Using Natural England’s Accessible 
Natural Greenspace Standards11, and 
data from the EDDC Open Space Study 
(June 2014), we know that there are 
deficiencies in natural green space at 
Clyst St Mary, Clyst St George, Clyst 
Honiton, Clyst St Lawrence, Poltimore 
and Whimple. No assessment has been 
completed on how accessible any of 
these sites are for vulnerable people 
such as children and those with 
disability. 

People Higher quality 
greenspace (Green 
Flag Award) 

The Green Flag Award scheme sets the 
benchmark standard for the 
management of recreational outdoor 
spaces across the United Kingdom and 
around the world. Seaton Wetlands and 
Stover Local Nature Reserve are both 
Green Flag sites. However, there are not 
yet any Green Flag sites in the project 
area. 

People Amount of land in 
ecologically 
sustainable food 
production 

This would include land in agri-
environment schemes, organic 
production, allotments and communal 
growing spaces  

                                                

11 Everyone has an accessible natural greenspace of at least: 

 2 hectares in size, no more than 300 metres (5 minutes’ walk) from home; 

 20 ha within two kilometres of home; 

 100 hectare within five kilometres of home; and 

 500 hectare within ten kilometres of home; plus 

a minimum of one hectare of statutory Local Nature Reserves per thousand population. 

page 263



 

82 | P a g e  
 

Objective KPI Notes 

Education Number of person 
days spent learning 
outdoors 

This would include Forest Schools, and 
events run by National Trust and EDDC 
Countryside Team, amongst others. 

People Number of person 
days spent actively 
volunteering 

This would require coordination across 
partners. We would count any activities 
that directly linked to the Regional Park 
objectives 

Education Number of people 
who report an 
increase in 
understanding 
following events or 
project 
implementation 

For example, this could be via short 
surveys of people attending a walk and 
talk. An annual survey of randomly 
selected people could be asked to 
answer a few specific questions on the 
heritage of the Regional Park.  

Nature Delivery of Suitable 
Alternative Natural 
Greenspace in the 
Regional Park 

To mitigate impacts of the growing 
population on internationally protected 
wildlife sites. 

Nature Extent and condition 
of priority habitats. 
Status of priority 
species (abundance 
and distribution). 
 

We have a Service Level Agreement with 
the Devon Biological Record Centre 

 

Nature Number of 
Biodiversity Credits 
delivered by 
development control. 
Area of compensation 
habitat under 
agreement. 

Measured using the Defra Biodiversity 
Net Gain calculator and implemented 
through policy and guidance in the new 
Local Plan. 

Nature/heritage/water/s
oil 

Area of land in agri-
environment scheme 

This would be used to measure progress 
towards out target of “10% for nature” on 
every farm holding. 

Climate Tonnes of CO2 

equivalents 
sequestered through 
land use change 

The Woodland Carbon Code will be 
used. For farms, Carbon Auditing for 
Land Managers is a well-developed tool, 
but there are others. Natural England are 
about to release updated guidance on 
sequestration in natural habitats and this 
could be used in combination with other 
data sets to calculate change over time. 

Landscape Condition of 
Landscape Character 
Units, quality of 
protected viewpoints 

The action plan includes a target to 
define Landscape Character Units in the 
Regional Park and assess their 
sensitivity to development. 

Heritage Listed buildings on 
‘heritage at risk’ 
register 

Data from Historic England 

page 264



 

83 | P a g e  
 

Objective KPI Notes 

Water & soil Good ecological 
status for the River 
Clyst and Cranny 
Brook 

The Water Framework Directive (WFD) 
looks at the ecological health of stretches 
of rivers, as well as traditional chemical 
standards. Rivers are now classified 
according to their overall ecological 
status, as being high, good, moderate, 
poor or bad quality. For the Rivers Clyst 
and Cranny Brook, the objective is ‘good’ 
overall status by 2027. For all the 
stretches, the present condition is 
‘moderate’ except for the Lower Cranny 
Brook, which is in ‘poor’ condition. 

Water & soil Number of properties 
at risk of flooding 

Devon County Council 

Employment New high value jobs 
created (direct and 
indirect) 
 

We have a list of businesses operating 
within the Regional Park but more work 
will be needed to quantify the number of 
jobs in the core areas of land 
management, low carbon, tourism, 
leisure and environmental sectors 

 

 

Figure 39 Cranbrook Active Mums group on a ride through Ashclyst Forest 

 

  

page 265



 

84 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 4: Relevant policies 
 

Objective Organisation Plan Policy 

Climate Committee 
on Climate 
Change 

Land use: 
Policies for a 
net-zero UK  

Increasing UK forestry cover from 13% 
to at least 17% by 2050 by planting 
around 30,000 hectares (90 – 120 
million trees) of broadleaf and conifer 
woodland each year. 

Climate Environment 
Agency, 
Forestry 
Commission, 
and Natural 
England 

Joint vision on 
climate change 
2020 

Outlines a shared vision to use nature-
based solutions to tackle the climate 
emergency  

Heritage Heritage 
England 

Corporate Plan 
2019-2022 

Allocates resources to “reduce 
Heritage at Risk through repair, 
adaptation and re-use; Provide advice 
to owners on caring for their assets; 
Provide advice to planners and 
developers on sustainable change; 
Build capacity (knowledge and skills) 
in communities; Provide more 
opportunities for people to contribute 
to our work through volunteering both 
in Historic England and elsewhere”. 

Nature Defra 25-Year 
Environment 
Plan 

Creating or restoring 500,000 hectares 
of priority habitat within a Nature 
Recovery Network. 12% woodland 
cover by 2060 and support for 
community forests, agro-forestry and 
biomass tree planting. One million 
urban trees by 2022. 

Nature Government Environment Bill Long term targets for the natural 
environment, and people’s enjoyment 
of it will be set, with review periods. 
Biodiversity Net Gain will mandate that 
new developments enhance 
biodiversity by 10% maintained for at 
least 30 years after the development is 
completed. 

Nature Ministry of 
Housing, 
Communities 
and Local 
Government 

National 
Planning Policy 
Framework  

Paragraph 114 instructs local 
authorities to plan for green 
infrastructure, whilst Para 175 sets out 
development control tests to ensure 
net gain for biodiversity and 
strengthening of the protection given 
to ancient and veteran trees. 

page 266



 

85 | P a g e  
 

Objective Organisation Plan Policy 

People Defra 25-Year 
Environment 
Plan 

Encouraging children to be close to 
nature, in and out of school, with 
particular focus on disadvantaged 
areas. Social prescribing, where 
nature-based interventions are used to 
treat people with health conditions. 
Supporting a national expansion of 
care farming by 2022, trebling the 
number of places to 1.3 million per 
year for children and adults in 
England. Encouraging all local Health 
and Wellbeing Boards to put access to 
the natural environment at the heart of 
their strategies. 

People National 
Health 
Service 

Long-term plan Make sure everyone gets the best 
start in life, for example, by taking 
further action on childhood obesity. 
Delivering world-class care for major 
health problems, for example, by 
helping 380,000 more people get 
therapy for depression and anxiety by 
2023/24. Supporting people to age 
well. 

Climate, 
Heritage, 
Nature and 
People 

National 
Trust 

National 
strategy 
‘Playing our 
Part’ 

Growing the diversity of people who 
visit and work with us, and developing 
the quality of the experiences they 
have. 

By 2030 become carbon net zero and 
establish 18,000 hectares of new 
woodland made up of more than 20 
million trees. 

By 2025 create 25,000 hectares of 
new wildlife habitats, and at least 50 
per cent of farmland will be 'nature-
friendly', with protected hedgerows, 
field margins, ponds, woodland and 
other habitats allowing plants and 
animals to thrive. 

Greater recognition of cultural and 
natural heritage sites that matter to 
local people and the delivery of 20 
new green corridors: large areas of 
nature-rich land, connected to urban 
areas by safe and beautiful routes. 

page 267



 

86 | P a g e  
 

Objective Organisation Plan Policy 

Growing the number of people who 
support our cause, acting together for 
nature and heritage. 

Climate, 
Heritage, 
Nature and 
People 

Killerton 
Estate 
(National 
Trust) 

Local Plan Creating a Destination Estate for 
Killerton, which seeks to establish a 
wide range of propositions and 
activities across the Estate as a series 
of hubs or nodes, connected through 
integrated transport network, whilst 
delivering the Trust’s Playing our Part 
ambitions. 

All Parish 
Council 

Neighbourhood 
Plans 

 

Various policies for protecting and 
enhancing nature, and improving 
access. 

All East Devon 
District 
Council 

Local Plan Strategy 10 sets out the policy to 
deliver the Cyst Valley Regional Park. 

Climate Devon 
County 
Council 

Devon Carbon 
Plan 

Declaration of a climate emergency, 
committing to a reduction of carbon 
emissions to net-zero by 2050 at the 
latest and collaboration with other 
organisations to respond to the Devon 
Climate Emergency. 

Climate & 
people 

East Devon 
District 
Council 

Cranbrook 
Development 
Plan Document 
2013-2031 

In order to meet the plan’s vision of a 
zero carbon new town, policy CB13 
states that “all developments which 
propose the construction of new 
homes or non-residential floor space 
must demonstrate that they: 

1.Minimise the need to travel and 
where necessary enable travel by low 
carbon means through: 

a)Designing neighbourhoods around 
400m walkable zones so that 
occupiers are located within walking 
distance of basic services and 
facilities; 

b)Being served by good quality 
walking and cycling links and regular 
public transport routes;  

page 268



 

87 | P a g e  
 

Objective Organisation Plan Policy 

Heritage East Devon 
District 
Council 

Local Plan Strategy 49 states: “The physical and 
cultural heritage of the district, 
including archaeological assets and 
historic landscape character, will be 
conserved and enhanced…” 
 

Landscape East Devon 
District 
Council 

Local Plan Strategy 46 states that: “Development 
will need to be undertaken in a 
manner that is sympathetic to, and 
helps conserve and enhance the 
quality and local distinctiveness of, the 
natural and historic landscape 
character of East Devon.” 
 

Nature East Devon 
District 
Council 

Cranbrook 
Development 
Plan Document 
2013-2031 

Policy CB15 safeguards 100 ha of 
land for Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace (SANGS). 

People Devon Health 
& Wellbeing 
Board 

‘Healthy and 
Happy 
Communities’ -
Devon's Joint 
Health and 
Wellbeing 
Strategy, 2020 
– 2025 

Create conditions for good health, 
physical activity and social interaction. 
Prevent ill health by enabling people to 
live healthier lives. 

People East Devon 
District 
Council 

Cranbrook 
Development 
Plan Document 
2013-2031 

Policy CB1 states that to maintain and 
improve the good health and wellbeing 
of individuals and the community, 
development proposals must: 

“Develop an attractive and legible built 
and natural environment that links into 
its surroundings, including the wider 
West End of East Devon and Exeter 
Airport; [and] 

Create well designed streets and 
spaces using the Healthy Streets 
Approach to encourage walking, 
cycling and social activity.” 

People & 
nature 

Exeter City 
Council  

Core Strategy Policy CP16 safeguards a strategic 
green infrastructure network and 
states that: “To the east of the city 
green corridors, that incorporate multi-
use trails (for cycling, walking and 
horse riding) and provide high quality 
biodiversity habitat, will link Exeter to 

page 269



 

88 | P a g e  
 

Objective Organisation Plan Policy 

the proposed Clyst Valley [Regional] 
Park and on to Cranbrook”. 

People and 
nature 

Devon Local 
Nature 
Partnership 

Purpose and 
aims 

“To ensure that a healthy natural 
environment underpins a high quality 
of life across Devon, with a strong 
green economy and healthy 
communities. 

Our three aims are: 

1. To protect and improve 
Devon’s natural environment 

2. To grow Devon’s green 
economy 

3. To reconnect Devon’s people 
with nature” 

Water Environment 
Agency 

Managing flood 
and coastal 
erosion risk for 
the Exe 
Estuary. 

Sets out the approach to managing 
the River Clyst between Clyst St Mary 
and Topsham The strategy for the east 
bank is to maintain it in the short term 
or until alternative measures are 
decided (it will not be possible to 
maintain these defences in the longer 
term due to sea level rise). The 
embankments around Winslade 
Barton and Frog Lane currently protect 
30-70 local properties and the A376 
from tidal flooding with an annual risk 
of 1 in 1000 (0.1%). The risk from 
fluvial flooding is greater than this. The 
policy is therefore to maintain the 
Winslade Barton to Frog Lane 
embankments. On the west bank, the 
policy is to breach embankments in 
agreement with landowners, to create 
21 hectares of new intertidal habitat.  

 

  

page 270



 

89 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 5 - Supporting policies and plans of our partners 
 

Active Devon 
‘Connecting Actively to Nature’ is a 5 year Devon Local Nature Partnership programme, 
funded by Sport England. We have partnered with Active Devon to deliver heritage walks in 
Pinhoe and Broadclyst for people aged 55+ who are currently inactive. This work is part of 
the ‘Routes for Roots’ initiative launching in 2020. 

Devon Gardens Trust 
The Devon Gardens Trust is a charity who aim: 

 to promote the wider understanding and appreciation of the historic gardens of 
Devon through research and garden visits 

 to protect gardens through our conservation casework and grant assistance 

 to encourage a new generation of gardeners through our work in schools and our 
bursary scheme 

 to provide advice to owners and public authorities in regard to the conservation and 
enhancement of Devon’s gardens 

 to offer a wide programme of events and activities to our members and volunteers 

Devon Link Up 
Devon Link Up are a Honiton-based charity for people with learning disabilities. They have 
recently acquired the lease of Heathfield Farm Ltd from the National Trust. Funds have been 
secured from the National Heritage Lottery to work up detailed plans to transform the farm 
into a land-based learning centre for people with learning disabilities and Autism. The centre 
will also provide benefits and services to the wider community, with the intention of being 
open 7 days a week in future, with a small core team to manage the farm. Five main 
enterprises are envisaged; horticulture, gardening, food and catering, fabrication, animals 
and training/learning/community. Subject to funding, a new building (including kitchen/café) 
will be constructed by March 2021. 

Environment Agency 
The Environment Agency has a strong delivery role in the East Devon Catchment 
Partnership, within which the River Clyst sits. The latest Action Plan (East Devon Catchment 
Partnership, 2019) has the following primary goals: 

 Prevent deterioration of the watercourse 

 Contribute to protected area objectives 

 Maintain and enhance water quality and habitat for ecology in and around 
watercourses to secure good status in the highest number of water bodies and the 
highest number of elements 

 Reduce wildlife impact of man-made structure in the water course 

 Reduce impact of diffuse and point source pollution 

 Control invasive species (Himalayan Balsam, Japanese Knotweed, Giant Hogweed) 

France-Alderney-Britain (FAB) Link Ltd 
The FAB Link Interconnector Project is a 220km proposed underground and subsea 
interconnector which will allow exchange and trading of up to 1400MW of electricity between 
France and Britain. The construction date has not yet been confirmed, but is expected to be 
sometime between 2023 and 2026. FAB Link Limited have no objection in principle to the 
aims and objectives of the Clyst Valley Regional Park. However, they do hold existing rights 
and permissions and several areas of the Nature Recovery Network overlap with the 
proposed route for the underground electricity cables. Further consultation will be needed to 
ensure compatibility of objectives.  

page 271



 

90 | P a g e  
 

Forestry England  
Forestry England have a national programme to get people active. At Haldon Forest, visitor 
numbers have grown to 400,000 per annum following the launch of self-guided Gruffalo and 
Zog trails. FE have volunteers at Haldon who help to maintain paths. The volunteers get a 
national pass to FE car parks. As they are local and regularly use the trails, they are often 
more aware than the rangers of defects and potential improvements, so it’s a mutually 
beneficial partnership. FE are keen to share their experience and they own Huxham Brake 
and Stoke Woods just north of Exeter.  

Historic England 
Historic England is the public body that looks after the historic environment, providing expert 
advice, helping people protect and care for it, and helping the public to understand and enjoy 
it. 

LiveWest 
LiveWest is the largest landlord in the southwest.  Their housing stock is affordable rented, 
supported living, shared ownership and intermediate rented homes (20% less than market 
rent). They presently have 350+ homes at Cranbrook, with plans for up to 1000 there and 
380 at Pinhoe. LiveWest values community investment and collaboration with like-minded 
local organisations to help create thriving, sustainable communities which are great places to 
live. 

Living Options Devon 
Living Options Devon is a user-led charity championing needs and rights, and providing vital 
support so people with disabilities and Deaf people (who use British Sign Language (BSL)) 
are empowered to live the life they choose. They have strong commitment to partnership 
working, particularly through joining up with other charities to provide better services for 
disabled people. Countryside Mobility provides safe, enjoyable access to the South West's 
most scenic locations for anyone who has difficulty walking, through an off road mobility 
scooter hire scheme. 

National Trust 
The National Trust protects and cares for places so people and nature can thrive. Many 
millions share the belief that nature, beauty and history are for everyone. So they look after 
the nation’s coastline, historic sites, countryside and green spaces, ensuring everyone 
benefits.  

From wild and precious places to the world outside your window, the National Trust offers 
access, enjoyment and a chance for everyone to help out. Nature and the historic 
environment are under threat. They’re essential to everyone, they enrich people’s lives and 
are part of the fabric of society and they urgently need more care. 

With its staff, members, volunteers and supporters, the National Trust is the biggest 
conservation charity in Europe. Everyone can get involved, everyone can make a difference. 

Natural England 
Natural England has taken an active role in the production of the Green Infrastructure 
strategy (Exeter & East Devon Growth Point Team, 2009) and the funding of delivery 
thereafter. ‘Building partnerships for nature’s recovery’ is NE’s action plan for 2019/20 
(Natural England, 2019). Natural England’s objectives for the Clyst Valley are set out in the 
National Character Area profile in Appendix 3. 

Parish Councils 
The parishes of Bishops Clyst, Clyst St George and Rockbeare all have ‘made’ 
neighbourhood plans with policies for the protection, enhancement, and increase of 

page 272



 

91 | P a g e  
 

footpaths. Several participate in the ‘Parish Paths Partnership’ scheme with Devon County 
Council. Pinhoe, Poltimore, Broadclyst & Whimple all have active history societies. The latter 
run heritage walks through the orchards in summer. 

Poltimore House Trust 
The Poltimore House Trust was set up in January 2000 as a charity and a Building 
Preservation Trust: 'To preserve for the benefit of the people of Devon and nation at large 
the building of special and architectural and historic interest known as Poltimore House in 
the County of Devon and its grounds and setting and any adjoining land or buildings which 
formed part of the Poltimore Estate.' 

The vision for the future is to: 

 Create a place which focuses education, training and research, share knowledge and 
create opportunities for innovation helping communities and organisations secure a 
sustainable future 

 Developing an active and innovative learning hub supporting studios and workshops 
for arts, traditional crafts and the creative industries, making use of technologies and 
practices that maximise environmental benefits 

 Providing a venue for arts events - exhibitions, performances, music, theatre and 
crafts 

 Becoming a venue for conferences, seminars, workshops and events 

 Making a major contribution to local employment and to volunteering activities 
focused on sustainable living and the arts 

 Continue to provide an inspiring meeting place where people can share ideas - 
people working with businesses, charities and within communities and learning 
organisations 

The Trust has made great strides forward through its ‘Transforming Lives’ programme and 
now ‘Thrive and Grow’. Polytunnels have been erected to enable people with mental and 
physical health barriers to lead more fulfilling lives by growing plants and 
maintaining/restoring the fabric and grounds of the house. The Poltimore Estate Research 
Society continues to reveal the heritage of the house, gardens and park and is helping with 
interpretation of the restored parkland. 

Ramblers Association 
The Ramblers Association is a charity that promotes the health, recreation and 
environmental benefits of walking, especially by protecting and extending the network of 
public paths and access in town and countryside, and safeguarding the countryside and 
open spaces so that walkers can enjoy their tranquillity and beauty. The Exeter and District 
Group has over 200 members and organises regular short walks during the working week 
and longer walks at weekends. The national project ‘Don’t Lose Your Way’ is supporting 
volunteers from all over England in finding lost rights of way and making applications to local 
authorities to get them back on the map before 2026. 

Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) 
The RSPB has welcomed this ambitious project. Their focus is on biodiversity, ensuring the 
proposed green infrastructure and SANGS effectively protect the statutorily designated sites 
from otherwise increased recreational impacts arising from new housing development in 
Exeter and East Devon, and that the Regional Park projects deliver individual and combined 
positive benefits for other nature. They also support the aims to enable more sustainable 
travel and to improve people’s health by connecting them with nature. 

page 273



 

92 | P a g e  
 

Sport England 
Sport England have chosen Exeter and Cranbrook as one of 12 areas to work on bold new 
approaches to build healthier, more active communities across England. Presently in a ‘test 
& learn’ phase, this ‘Local Delivery Pilot’ (2018-2021) has secured £1.7 million of initial 
funding and has the potential to draw on funding of £4 million over the next 6 years. The 
ambition is for Cranbrook to be a model of best practice in encouraging families to be active 
together. 

Sustrans 
Sustrans is the UK’s leading sustainable transport charity. Their vision is a world in which 
people choose to travel in ways that benefit their health and the environment. They work on 
practical, innovative solutions to the transport challenges facing us all. Sustrans is the charity 
behind the award winning National Cycle Network, Safe Routes to Schools, Bike It, 
TravelSmart, Active Travel, Connect2 and Liveable Neighbourhoods, all projects that are 
changing our world one mile at a time. Sustrans have already made a valuable contribution 
to the vision for cycling and walking in the Regional Park (Sustrans, 2015). 

Together for Devon 
The NHS is encouraging more collaboration between GPs, their teams and community 
services, by establishing ‘Integrated Care Systems’. In Devon, the new partnership is called 
‘Together for Devon’. Their long term plan is yet to be published, but their priorities include 
investing more in prevention. ‘Social prescribing’ is one method of preventing ill health which 
is being successfully implemented in Exeter. The Regional Park has a major role to play in 
delivering the spaces where activities such as healthy walks, mindfulness, care farming, and 
‘green gym’ can take place. 

Woodland Trust 
The Woodland Trust wants to see a UK rich in woods and trees. 

 We plant woods and trees to combat climate change, build a greener future for the 
UK and create havens for wildlife; 

 We restore damaged ancient woods so wildlife can thrive once again; 

 We protect woods and trees from decimation and lead the fight against tree pests 
and diseases; 

 We care for over 1,000 woods, keeping them open for you to explore and enjoy. 

Percy Wakely Wood is owned by the Woodland Trust and lies just south of Cranbrook.  

 

page 274


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Initial feedback report - Local Plan issues and options consultation
	1a.Consultation feedback report Ver 02
	1bComms Strategy Report

	8 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Consultation feedback report
	2bSACommentsin full

	9 Scoping and vision report for the new Local Plan
	10 Local Plan engagement with site promoters through the Local Plan process
	11 Call for Evidence: permitted development rights
	12 Clyst Valley Regional Park masterplan
	6c.CVRP masterplan FINAL


